

MEDIA AND COMMUNICATION

Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies

Edited by Felix Reer, Teresa de la Hera, and Salvador Gómez-García

Volume 13 2025

Open Access Journal ISSN: 2183-2439





Media and Communication, 2025, Volume 13 Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies

Published by Cogitatio Press Rua Fialho de Almeida 14, 2º Esq., 1070-129 Lisbon Portugal

Design by Typografia® http://www.typografia.pt/en/

Cover image: © Sabrina Bracher from iStock

Academic Editors Felix Reer (University of Muenster) Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam) Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid)

Available online at: www.cogitatiopress.com/mediaandcommunication

This issue is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY). Articles may be reproduced provided that credit is given to the original and *Media and Communication* is acknowledged as the original venue of publication.



Table of Contents

Games and Game Studies Are Meaningful—Are They? Felix Reer, Teresa de la Hera, and Salvador Gómez-García

Dive Into the Past: Chinese Intangible Cultural Heritage Represented in Chinese Mobile Games Yixiang Que, Teresa de La Hera, and Jeroen Jansz

Contemporary Political Discourse in Digital Games: A Systematic Approach Jenniffer Soto de la Cruz, Sara Cortés Gómez, and Pilar Lacasa

Experiencing the Call of Duty: Exploring Emotions in Commercial War Games Joseph Pattison

The Case of Cities: Skylines Versions—Affordances in Urban Planning Education Laura Cañete Sanz, Sjors Martens, and Teresa de la Hera

FABLE: A New Horizon in Digital Learning and Serious Game Design Salvador Reyes-de-Cózar and Alba Merino-Cajaraville

Amplifying Player Experience to Facilitate Prosocial Outcomes in a Narrative-Based Serious Game Lewen Wei, Mike Schmierbach, Bingjie Liu, Jin Kang, Cheng Chen, Frank E. Dardis, Ryan Tan, and Olivia Cohen

Parasocial Interactions in Otome Games: Emotional Engagement and Parasocial Intimacy Among Chinese Female Players

Hao Gao, Ruoqing Guo, and Qingqing You

Empowered by the Experience: Playing as Female Characters in Video Games Teresa Lynch, Annie Dooley, and David M. Markowitz

"I bet she's 'not like other girls'": Discursive Construction of the Ideal Gaming Woman on r/GirlGamers Maria Ruotsalainen and Mikko Meriläinen

Sympathy for the Devil: Serial Mediation Models for Toxicity, Community, and Retention Mingxuan Liu, Jack Lipei Tang, and Dmitri Williams

Introduction of the Digital Gaming Relationship Miikka Sokka, Kwok Ng , Sami Kokko, and Pasi Koski



Table of Contents

A Survey Study on Public Attitudes Toward Gaming Disorder

Felix Reer, Lena Maria Küpper, Florian Wintterlin, and Thorsten Quandt

Beyond Play: Researching the Transformative Power of Digital Gaming in Deeply Mediatized Societies

Christian Schwarzenegger, Erik Koenen, Kerstin Radde-Antweiler, and Karsten D. Wolf





Open Access Journal

Games and Game Studies Are Meaningful—Are They?

Felix Reer ¹^o, Teresa de la Hera ²^o, and Salvador Gómez-García ³^o

¹ Department of Communication, University of Muenster, Germany

² Department of Media and Communication, Erasmus University Rotterdam, The Netherlands

³ Department of Journalism and Global Communication, Complutense University of Madrid, Spain

Correspondence: Felix Reer (felix.reer@uni-muenster.de)

Submitted: 9 January 2025 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This editorial is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

Building on the idea that digital games are more than trivial pastimes and can have deeper meanings, this article collection brings together emerging findings from the field of game studies. The foundation for this thematic issue was laid at the 2023 symposium of the Digital Games Research Section of the European Communication Research and Education Association (ECREA) held in Madrid. The articles in this collection examine the rich content of games as cultural artifacts and how they encourage reflection, the role of games as social environments and learning tools, the dynamics of identity negotiation and socialization in gaming contexts, the societal perceptions of games, and the increasingly important roles of games and game studies in mediatized societies.

Keywords

cultural artifacts; digital games; eudaimonia; game studies; meaningfulness; media effects; serious games

1. Introduction

The foundation for this thematic issue was developed in 2023 at the symposium entitled *Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies*, organized by the Digital Games Research Section of the European Communication Research and Education Association (ECREA) in Madrid. The event examined the diverse facets of games' meaningfulness, fostering dialogue on what constitutes meaningful engagement in gaming and exploring the future trajectory and cultural relevance of game studies as a field.



For a long time, digital games were regarded as trivial and superficial entertainment, primarily providing *hedonic* gratifications such as fun and amusement (Oliver et al., 2016). In general, game studies is still a relatively new research field, and within media and communication studies, it is often perceived as a niche topic (Chess & Consalvo, 2022; Siitonen et al., 2021). However, in recent years, digital games have become more complex and differentiated, and interest in their deeper meanings as cultural artifacts and social environments has increased (e.g., de la Hera et al., 2021; Reer & Quandt, 2020). For example, more researchers are now focusing on the *eudaimonic* aspects of gaming, examining the potentials of digital games to elicit self-reflection, social relatedness, psychological need satisfaction, and emotional engagement (Daneels et al., 2021; Jacobs & Jansz, 2021; Possler et al., 2023; Reer & Quandt, 2020). Further, scholars have called for game studies to be taken more seriously and to recognize the central role they can play in an increasingly convergent media culture (Chess & Consalvo, 2022).

Against this background, this collection of articles positions games as cultural artifacts with the power to engage deeply with questions of identity, ethics, and social norms. In this sense, the authors explore how these experiences extend beyond traditional academic frameworks, arguing that games—through their immersive and interactive nature—invite players into unique forms of engagement with profound personal and social implications.

The articles in this issue approach game studies from diverse perspectives, each contributing to a nuanced understanding of games' role as instruments of cultural insight and social impact. This plurality underscores the heterogeneity of game studies, a field that thrives on multiple methodological approaches. In the following section, we provide an overview of the articles, highlighting how they explore the meaningfulness of games in today's media landscape.

2. Articles Included in the Thematic Issue

The article collection begins with contributions that focus on the diverse content transported in games and the significant roles they play in different societal contexts.

In the first article, Que et al. (2025) demonstrate that mobile games can hold deeper meanings by representing intangible elements of Chinese cultural heritage, such as folklore, traditional crafts, dialects, and customs. By weaving cultural heritage into character design, world-building, and combat mechanics, these games provide players with an immersive, culturally rich experience that promotes understanding and appreciation of Chinese traditions. Through a thematic analysis of 30 Chinese mobile games, the authors situate game content within broader social and historical contexts, emphasizing the potential of games as tools for cultural education and representation.

Further examining the rich content of games and the messages they convey, Soto de la Cruz et al. (2025) provide a comprehensive review of the scientific literature on how digital games communicate contemporary political discourse. Based on a review of 25 journal articles, the authors propose a new framework for categorizing political messages communicated through games, which they call the PRICE model— participation, representation, ideology, conflict, and education. Their study notes that first-person shooters and newsgames are frequently analyzed in this context, likely due to their immersive qualities and broad audience reach.



Delving deeper into the meanings of war-themed first-person shooters, Pattison (2025) examines how players experience and interpret games of the *Call of Duty* franchise. Through 25 thematic interviews, the author explores how these games evoke emotions such as guilt, discomfort, and remorse—particularly when players are confronted with war and violence. These emotional responses often prompt players to engage in self-reflection, positioning them as active agents in constructing meaning from their gaming experiences. Although commercial war games are frequently criticized for glorifying conflict, the author suggests that they can also foster introspection, encouraging players to question the realities of war.

Commercial games can not only encourage self-reflection, but can also teach valuable skills and serve as tools in learning contexts. Sanz et al. (2025) investigate the unique educational affordances of different versions of *Cities: Skylines* (i.e., digital, board game, and virtual reality) in urban planning education. The study identifies the specific educational strengths of each format: The digital version enables simulations of urban systems, the board game promotes collaborative planning and policy discussions, and the virtual reality version engages students in sustainable design practices and urbanization. The findings underscore the adaptability of games to various learning objectives and their significant potential in enhancing urban planning education.

In line with the idea that educational games must be thoughtfully designed to maximize their learning potential, Reyes-de-Cózar and Merino-Cajaraville (2025) provide a systematic review of serious game design models and propose a novel framework called FABLE (fun and balanced learning experience). FABLE highlights the importance of balancing entertainment with educational goals to create impactful and engaging learning experiences. By aligning game mechanics with learning outcomes, the model provides a structured approach to developing serious games that effectively promote meaningful learning.

Wei et al. (2025) contribute to the discussion on educational games with a focus on the design and impact of serious games aimed at promoting prosocial behaviors, specifically within the context of anti-bullying interventions. Their research examines how two design features—player-avatar similarity and in-game control—affect the narrative engagement, empathy, and prosocial intentions of players. One central finding of Wei et al.'s (2025) study is that the player's perspective (bully vs. victim) is decisive in determining whether these design features enhance empathy and prosocial intentions through increased narrative engagement.

Focusing on the social aspects of gaming, Gao et al. (2025) examine the development of romantic parasocial relationships and emotional bonds between female players and virtual characters in otome games. Through in-depth interviews with 25 female Chinese players, the authors find that female players establish intimate connections with male characters through game mechanics, such as character customization and branching narratives, as well as through their imaginative engagement. While these relationships are virtual, they impact players' perceptions of real-life intimacy and self-identity, providing emotional support and helping them manage negative emotions.

Further exploring gender in gaming contexts, Lynch et al. (2025) challenge conventional critiques of female stereotypes in games by focusing on the positive experiences players have when interacting with well-developed female characters. Through a mixed-methods approach with 751 participants, the authors reveal that both male and female players experience feelings of empowerment when engaging with strong female protagonists, suggesting that such representation can enhance players' well-being and offer eudaimonic gaming experiences.



Ruotsalainen and Meriläinen (2025) likewise take an interesting and novel perspective on gender in gaming by examining female players' hostile behaviors (instead of focusing on their role as victims). Conducting a critical discourse analysis of the subreddit r/GirlGamers, the authors examine how women discuss and critique each other's behavior, highlighting the complexity of female identity in gaming. They identify four main discourses and indicate the characteristics of the "ideal gaming woman," one who must balance different expectations, potentially restricting her freedom of expression and agency.

Liu et al. (2025) contribute to the discussion on hostile behaviors in gaming contexts by exploring how toxicity affects player retention and community dynamics. Drawing on the group engagement model and rejection-disidentification model, the authors propose a mediation model that is tested using gameplay data and survey responses from 1,217 players. The analyses reveal that both reporting toxic behavior and being reported contribute to decreased player engagement. The perceived discrimination of players and a weakened sense of community are identified as mediators.

Accounting for the complexity of the many different social and psychological dimensions of gaming, Sokka et al. (2025) introduce the digital gaming relationship framework (DGR)—a novel theoretical approach to understanding how and why games become meaningful to players. Based on concepts developed in sports and physical activity research, DGR assumes that the relationship between players and games is shaped by many factors (including individual, social, and cultural) and varies over one's lifetime. The authors emphasize that DGR goes beyond motivation-oriented approaches and understands meaning-making in gaming as an individual socialization process.

The contribution by Reer et al. (2025) shifts the focus away from players' experiences toward the question of how digital games are perceived by the public. Specifically, the authors examine attitudes toward the addictive use of games (gaming disorder) based on a survey of German internet users aged 16 to 84. The results show that many German citizens hold skeptical opinions about games and that gaming disorder rates are often overestimated. Moreover, individual gaming habits and demographic factors (such as age and gender) can influence how games and gaming are perceived.

In the final article of this thematic issue, Schwarzenegger et al. (2025) elaborate on the increasingly important roles of games and game studies in mediatized societies. They advocate for a holistic approach to game studies that acknowledges the broad influence of digital games and their integration with culture and other media. A core concept introduced in the article is "gamevironments," referring to the dynamic media ecosystems surrounding digital games. These ecosystems include "transmedia narratives, cross-media adaptations, social interactions, user-generated content, and the cultural and educational impacts of gaming" (Schwarzenegger et al., 2025, pp. 7–8). According to the authors, digital games have to be considered a vital part of mediatized life, significantly transforming culture and the public.

3. Conclusion

In the headline of this editorial, we posed a somewhat provocative question: "Games and Game Studies Are Meaningful—Are They?" The articles in this collection clearly demonstrate the complexity of games and gaming, showing that they can take on meaningful roles in different respects—be it as cultural artifacts that convey meaningful messages and encourage reflection, as tools for learning and socializing, or as



multilayered virtual worlds and platforms for identity negotiation and socialization. Given an increasingly convergent and mediatized society, the importance of game studies as a research field is likely to grow further in the future.

However, it is imperative to remain critical and reflective as we navigate the evolving landscape of digital media, ensuring that the study of games remains dynamic and responsive to societal shifts. We aim to inspire further dialogue and research in game studies, encouraging scholars to delve deeper into understanding the impact of games. We invite readers to join this conversation, contributing to a field that is as rich and varied as digital games themselves.

Acknowledgments

The editors would like to thank all the authors and reviewers who made this article collection possible. We also extend our gratitude to the team of the journal *Media and Communication* for their support and for accepting our thematic issue proposal.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

References

- Chess, S., & Consalvo, M. (2022). The future of media studies is game studies. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, 39(3), 159–164. https://doi.org/10.1080/15295036.2022.2075025
- Daneels, R., Bowman, N. D., Possler, D., & Mekler, E. D. (2021). The 'eudaimonic experience': A scoping review of the concept in digital games research. *Media and Communication*, 9(2), 178–190. https://doi.org/ 10.17645/mac.v9i2.3824
- de la Hera, T., Jansz, J., Raessens, J., & Schouten, B. (2021). *Persuasive gaming in context*. Amsterdam University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1hw3z1d
- Gao, H., Guo, R., & You, Q. (2025). Parasocial interactions in otome games: Emotional engagement and parasocial intimacy among Chinese female players. *Media and Communication*, 13, Article 8662. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8662
- Jacobs, R., & Jansz, J. (2021). The present of persuasion: Escalating research into persuasive game effects. In T. de la Hera, J. Jansz, J. Raessens, & B. Schouten (Eds.), *Persuasive gaming in context* (pp. 185–200). Amsterdam University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9789048543939-013
- Liu, M., Tang, J. L., & Williams, D. (2025). Sympathy for the devil: Serial mediation models for toxicity, community, and retention. *Media and Communication*, 13, Article 8676. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac. 8676
- Lynch, T., Dooley, A., & Markowitz, D. M. (2025). Empowered by the experience: Playing as female characters in video games. *Media and Communication*, 13 Article 8733. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8733
- Oliver, M. B., Bowman, N. D., Woolley, J. K., Rogers, R., Sherrick, B. I., & Chung, M. Y. (2016). Video games as meaningful entertainment experiences. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, *5*(4), 390–405. https://doi.org/10.1037/ppm0000066
- Pattison, J. (2025). Experiencing the Call of Duty: Exploring emotions in commercial war games. *Media and Communication*, 13, Article 8667. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8667
- Possler, D., Bowman, N. D., & Daneels, R. (2023). Explaining the formation of eudaimonic gaming experiences: A theoretical overview and systemization based on interactivity and game elements. *Frontiers in Communication*, 8, Article 1215960. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomm.2023.1215960



- Que, Y., de La Hera, T., & Jansz, J. (2025). Dive into the past: Chinese intangible cultural heritage represented in Chinese mobile games. *Media and Communication*, 13, Article 8749. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8749
- Reer, F., Küpper, L. M., Wintterlin, F., & Quandt, T. (2025). A survey study on public attitudes toward gaming disorder. *Media and Communication*, 13 Article 8701. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8701
- Reer, F., & Quandt, T. (2020). Digital games and well-being: An overview. In R. Kowert (Ed.), *Video games and well-being: Press start* (pp. 1–21). Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-32770-5_1
- Reyes-de-Cózar, S., & Merino-Cajaraville, A. (2025). FABLE: A new horizon in digital learning and serious game design. *Media and Communication*, 13, Article 8647. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8647
- Ruotsalainen, M., & Meriläinen, M. (2025). "I bet she's 'not like other girls'": Discursive construction of the ideal gaming woman on r/GirlGamers. *Media and Communication*, *13*, Article 8802. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8802
- Sanz, L. C., Martens, S., & de la Hera, T. (2025). The case of Cities: Skylines versions—Affordances in urban planning education. *Media and Communication*, 13, Article 8747. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8747
- Schwarzenegger, C., Koenen, E., Radde-Antweiler, K., & Wolf, K. D. (2025). Beyond play: Researching the transformative power of digital gaming in deeply mediatized societies. *Media and Communication*, 13, Article 8800. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8800
- Siitonen, M., de la Hera, T., & Reer, F. (2021). Looking ahead in games research: Entry points into a pragmatic field of inquiry. *Media and Communication*, 9(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.v9i1.3685
- Sokka, M., Ng, K., Kokko, S., & Koski, P. (2025). Introduction of the digital gaming relationship. *Media and Communication*, 13, Article 8738. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8738
- Soto de la Cruz, J. S., Gómez, S. C., & Lacasa, P. (2025). Contemporary political discourse in digital games: A systematic approach. *Media and Communication*, 13, Article 8689. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8689
- Wei, L., Schmierbach, M., Liu, B., Kang, J., Chen, C., Dardis, F. E., Tan, R., & Cohen, O. (2025). Amplifying player experience to facilitate prosocial outcomes in a narrative-based serious game. *Media and Communication*, 13, Article 8637. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.8637

About the Authors



Felix Reer is a postdoctoral researcher in the Department of Communication at the University of Muenster, Germany. His research interests include social media and online communication, the effects of digital games, and the use of highly immersive media technologies, such as virtual reality and augmented reality devices. He is chair of the Digital Games Research Section of the European Communication Research and Education Association (ECREA).



Teresa de la Hera is an associate professor in persuasive gaming at Erasmus University Rotterdam, in the Netherlands, where she is a member of the Virtual Environments, Games and Society Research Cluster. Her expertise is in the study of the use of games and play to positively change players' attitudes and behaviors. She is the author of the book *Digital Gaming and the Advertising Landscape* (2019) and the main editor of the volume *Persuasive Gaming in Context* (2020), both published by Amsterdam University Press. She is a member of the Pan European Game Information Expert Group and vice-chair of the Digital Games Research Section of the European Communication Research and Education Association (ECREA).





Salvador Gómez-García is an associate professor at the Complutense University of Madrid, Spain. His research focuses on media history and the impact of emerging narratives on both traditional and new media platforms. He is currently leading the project Politainment in the Face of Media Fragmentation: Disintermediation, Engagement, and Polarisation, funded by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation. Additionally, Gómez-García serves as the vice-chair of the Digital Games Research Section within the European Communication Research and Education Association (ECREA) and is the deputy director of the summer courses at the Complutense University of Madrid. ARTICLE



Open Access Journal 👌

Dive Into the Past: Chinese Intangible Cultural Heritage Represented in Chinese Mobile Games

Yixiang Que[®], Teresa de La Hera[®], and Jeroen Jansz[®]

Department of Media and Communication, Erasmus University Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Correspondence: Yixiang Que (que@eshcc.eur.nl)

Submitted: 27 May 2024 Accepted: 29 July 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

This study delves into the representation of intangible Chinese cultural heritage in Chinese mobile games. Nowadays, even with huge economic potential, Chinese mobile games are still faced with negative comments, especially from parents. To develop their reputation, Chinese mobile games have portrayed considerate Chinese intangible cultural heritage (ICH). The representation of cultural heritage in video games has been a subject of discussion for a long time, while console and computer games and tangible cultural heritage have been at the centre of academic studies. Hence, we strived to investigate how Chinese ICH is depicted in Chinese mobile games. A thematic analysis was conducted on data collected through analytical gameplay of 30 Chinese mobile games selected from Apple's App Store and the Chinese TapTap platform. Our analysis indicates that Chinese ICH is represented in Chinese mobile games to fulfil the persona of game characters, to create a more engaging and immersive game world experience, to provide more intense combat moments, to offer visually enjoyable virtual goods, and to deliver culturally driven updates during traditional festivals. Among the various forms of Chinese ICH, Chinese traditional craftsmanship is found to be used most frequently because of the huge effort it requires to be mastered, which could be educational to players. Theatrical traditions were found to be depicted in most game elements because they combine visual, audio, and motional elements. Lastly, folk and classical literature is portrayed in Chinese mobile games to provide a narrative resource that culturally resonates with players.

Keywords

Chinese culture; Chinese mobile games; intangible cultural heritage; cultural heritage representation



1. Introduction

Nowadays, smartphone hardware and software technologies are evolving to provide new opportunities for more exquisite visual design in mobile games, which supplements the flexibility and easy accessibility that mobile games are already gifted with. China, as one of the biggest markets for mobile games, has gained attention from leading Chinese game investment companies ("Why mobile games are so popular," 2022). Even with their considerable economic potential, mobile games developed by Chinese game studios and initially played by Chinese players have to deal with negative reputations, especially from parents of teenagers ("Chinese parents look happy," 2021). The debates on the harmfulness and worthiness of video games began decades ago (Haddon, 1988; Kirkpatrick, 2016). To develop their public image, Chinese mobile game studios have opted to portray a significant amount of Chinese intangible cultural heritage (ICH) in their games. These studios either adapted their previous computer games with a large slice of historical inspiration to mobile platforms, or created new mobile games with Chinese ICH as part of their design.

China enjoys a long history of cultural heritage, especially of the intangible variety, encompassing traditions, performing arts, social practices, festive events, and so on (UNESCO, n.d.). This provides abundant resources for game content creation. It is an effective way to disseminate Chinese ICH through new digital technology, which promotes China's national reputation and stimulates cultural identities of Chinese players in mobile games (Edney, 2015; Fung, 2014). With the evolving reputation of Chinese mobile games and the growing depiction of Chinese ICH, it is socially relevant to understand how Chinese ICH is represented within these games.

Our previous systematic literature review on the representation of cultural heritage in entertainment video games (Que et al., 2023) showed that there has been a focus on tangible cultural heritage depicted in video games (e.g., Champion, 2020; López, 2021). We also found that there is a research orientation towards mainly Western culture in English-language academia. In terms of game platform, a large number of studies have focused on video games released on computer and consoles, while mobile games have received little attention. Therefore, in this article, we focused on Chinese ICH represented in Chinese mobile games by investigating 30 mobile games developed by Chinese studios. Our research was led by the research question:

RQ: How is Chinese ICH represented in mobile games developed by Chinese studios?

2. Video Games, Chinese Cultural Heritage, and Representation

2.1. The Representation of Chinese Cultural Heritage

Cultural heritage is understood as the social, historical, and aesthetic legacies that are inherited from generation to generation (UNESCO Institute for Statistics, 2009). Within cultural heritage, ICH refers to the "traditions and living expression inherited from our ancestors and pass[ed] on to our descendants" (UNESCO, n.d., para. 1). Chinese ICH representation in media has been explored in the fields of film, new media, and anime, while its representation in video games has received less attention. For example, Tan (2022) explored the potential of film as the carrier of Chinese ICH, Han and Sun (2024) investigated the innovative dissemination of Chinese ICH through the short-video platform TikTok as a kind of new media, while Wang (2021) analysed the depiction of Chinese ICH in some representative Chinese anime. In game studies,



especially in mobile games studies, Chinese academia has only discussed the potential of video games in representing Chinese ICH by investigating single games. For example, Cui et al. (2021) discussed the representation of Chinese Hangzhou cuisine in a light game based on the WeChat platform. Gao and Liu (2024) analysed how the game Honor of Kings (TiMi Studio Group, 2015) plays a role in disseminating Chinese ICH. Research on single games only provides results regarding limited game mechanisms and Chinese ICH aspects. Therefore, it is vital to conduct a comprehensive study on Chinese mobile games of mainstream genres with a systematic analysis of various aspects of Chinese ICH.

2.2. The Representation of Cultural Heritage in Video Games

Previous academic studies have extensively explored the representation of cultural heritage in video games. Based on the systematic literature review we conducted (Que et al., 2023), previous studies on the representation of tangible cultural heritage in video games paid special attention to the depiction of architecture (e.g., Champion, 2020; López, 2021; Wright, 2022), historical people (e.g., Dong & Mangiron, 2018; Yao & Chen, 2022), and minority populations (e.g., Miller, 2008; Nacher & Jankowski, 2021; Nijdam, 2021; Wills, 2021). Conversely, the representation of ICH in video games is less studied. Additionally, based on our review (Que et al., 2023), existing studies do not clearly distinguish between tangible and intangible cultural heritage, studying both aspects at the same time. Hence, there is an academic gap in the study of the representation of ICH specifically. Existing studies into the representation of ICH in video games focus their attention on the representation of historical times (e.g., Finney, 2017; López, 2021; Šisler et al., 2022). There are also a few studies into the representation of minorities' behaviours (e.g., Chism, 2020; Locke & MacKay, 2021) and languages (e.g., Kuin, 2016; Zabecki, 2019). In the English academic realm, studies mainly conduct research on Western cultural heritage represented in video games, such as the battlefields in Europe during the First and Second World Wars (e.g., Šindelář, 2022) and European myths (e.g., Bainbridge &Bainbridge, 2007; Šisler, 2017). Our literature review suggests that there are only a few studies focusing on the representation of cultural heritage in mobile games (e.g., Yao & Chen, 2022), leaving a huge academic gap in cultural heritage study.

3. Methodology

To investigate how Chinese ICH is represented in Chinese mobile games, we carried out a thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2021). We used Apple's App Store and TapTap for game sampling. Apple's iPhone is famous for its huge player base and dominant market share among mobile game platforms (Haider, 2022). TapTap is the biggest platform for mobile games information, rankings, and gameplay guides in Chinese-speaking regions (King, 2024), making our sampling regionally embedded.

We conducted purposive sampling to collect mobile games for our analysis (Flick, 2007, Chapter 3). The following sampling criteria were taken into consideration: (a) the games are developed by Chinese companies; (b) they have evident representation of Chinese cultural heritage; and (c) they are listed in the top 50 ranking of 2024 and most recommended ranking in 2024 on the platforms. We opted for top-ranking mobile games for the considerable public attention they have gained. It is socially valuable to investigate how Chinese ICH is integrated into Chinese mobile games that are already successful in the market. Following these criteria, we selected 30 games for analysis. Among the sampled mobile games, role-playing games (RPGs) were the largest category (14/30). Other genres of games analysed were multiplayer online



battle arena games, dress-up games, simulation games, love games, real-time tactics games, and shooting games. In terms of continuity, most of the games (24/30) provide constant updates of new content and activities, while other games can be played offline.

To guide our data collection process, we adopted the "utilitarian" analytical play approach as described by Mäyrä (2008), in which analytical play links game content to a wider social, cultural, and historical context. This process requires special attention to "structural elements" like game rules and interaction with players, and "thematic elements" like representations of symbols and messages. With this objective, we gathered data from the three areas of study of game analysis raised by Fernández-Vara (2019), which are (a) the context in which the game content is released, (b) an overview of information about the game, and (c) the formal elements of textual and audio-visual representations. As such, we started data collection by gathering information on the selected games, including game genre, development engine and company, allowed number of players, and available server. We then recorded our gameplay, taking screenshots, video and audio recordings, and notes of those moments in the games in which we identified traces of Chinese ICH. Lastly, we gathered external and contextual data, including continuous game content released at special times of the year. We also gathered videos that the developers posted online for a better description of the ICH they depicted in the games.

The codebook for our analysis was drawn from the categorisation of Chinese ICH by the State Council of the People's Republic of China (2008), consisting of 10 categories of ICH: (a) folk literature, (b) traditional music, (c) traditional dance, (d) theatrical tradition, (e) folk art, (f) traditional sports and entertainment, (g) traditional fine arts, (h) craftsmanship, (i) traditional medicine, and (j) folk customs. Under each category, there are Chinese national ICH cases listed with detailed descriptions provided, based on which we could effectively identify depictions of Chinese ICH in our listed games. We used this categorisation as our theoretical framework to identify the Chinese ICH depicted in our sampled games, and hence investigated how different categories of Chinese ICH are integrated into Chinese mobile games. For the detailed codebook that guided this research, please see the Supplementary File, Appendix A.

To analyse the collected data, we conducted a thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2021) on Atlas.ti. Concretely, we started the analysis by familiarising ourselves with the gaming content we collected from analytical gameplay. We began our gameplay by collecting general information regarding the games in advance, which assisted us in estimating what kinds of Chinese ICH are expected to be identified in our selected games. We then conducted the analytical gameplay through different game elements to have a complete overview of the game content, such as observations of game characters, game world exploration, combat experience, and game store browsing. This was conducted to make sure there was nothing significant missing regarding Chinese ICH. The Chinese ICH elements identified were coded by documenting them with screenshots, video recordings, and audio recordings. The ICH elements, together with the associated game content, were coded together. Then, we identified the representation of Chinese ICH in the games with the assistance of the codebook. We continued by identifying the initial sub-themes of how Chinese ICH is integrated within the analysed games. Then, we reviewed all the sub-themes and developed them based on their similarities and differences. We finished the analysis by refining all the sub-themes and grouping them into bigger themes.



4. Results

This section presents the results of our game content analysis, encompassing the different categories of Chinese ICH identified in Chinese mobile games and how the categories are represented in the games under analysis. We have divided the results of our analysis into five main themes: culture-driven character design, culturally immersed players' game experience, culturally based combat game mechanics, culturally inspired virtual goods design for monetisation, and culturally based game updates. A coding tree with an overview of the themes and sub-themes identified is presented in the Supplementary File, Appendix B.

4.1. Culture-Driven Character Design

Fourteen out of the 30 games analysed integrate a variety of Chinese ICH in character design, including the position of characters in the game, their background story, and their skill design. This is commonly seen in mobile games with gacha mechanics which treat game characters as random items that players get from banners. It is also evident in RPGs where avatars of players serve different positions in a team.

4.1.1. Folk Literature-Inspired Character Design

Folk literature, understood here as orally passed-on stories and mythologies, provides an abundant source of folk belief, traditional symbols, and motional traditions. These ICH elements are commonly used in Chinese mobile games' character design (8/30), especially in their skills design, usually to attribute them mysterious, heroic, and formidable characteristics. An example is Xiao, a character within Genshin Impact (miHoYo, 2020), a gacha game with various rare characters. He is a god-like character who has fought the demon and been affected by miasma. His persona is represented by a mixture of divinity and uncontrollable madness. Xiao's character design (see Figure 1) is inspired by a creature in Chinese folk literature that connects divine beings with monstrous spirits, namely Shanxiao, which caters to the sense of fatalism that Chinese people prefer



Figure 1. Character portraits of Xiao, Mao Xiangling, and Yunjin in Genshin Impact. Source: miHoYo (2020).



seeing in an immortal character. This mixed persona discussed in Chinese folk literature is borrowed both for his visual design and his skills design. When casting his elemental skill, there are tangled strokes of black and cyan blue boosted around Xiao's body. When casting his elemental burst, Xiao puts on a mask inspired by Chinese Nuo culture, and his skill motions are borrowed from Nuo culture's "demon dance," which shows his complex and powerful persona. As such, the borrowed folk literature is manifested in the visual, narrative, and motional character design, and it is commonly seen in Chinese mobile games, in which character levelling-up is one of the central mechanisms.

There are five other selected games that gain inspiration from Chinese folk literature for character design. For example, in the gacha RPG Arknights (Hypergryph & Studio Montagne, 2019), there is one species with the horns of Loong (Chinese dragon), which is a noble and powerful image in Chinese folk literature. In these games, rare characters are mostly designed as noble, heroic, and powerful, so game designers mainly use folk literature, especially folk mythology, for characters' background and skill design. This not only fits the expected strength of a rare character, but it also caters to the expected stereotypical image of immortals in Chinese culture.

Elements regarding immortal beings, demons, and monsters in folk literature help the games provide folk and exaggerated visual designs manifested in characters and their skills. The folk literature works are all used to fulfil the pre-established character personas in mobile games. Such character design shows the detailed research conducted by game developers, which enhances the cultural depth of these games and their characters.

4.1.2. Traditional Craftsmanship-Inspired Character Design

Traditional craftsmanship encompasses the skills required for traditional crafts, and our analysis shows that such elements are also used in Chinese mobile games' character design. In five out of the 30 selected games, traditional craftsmanship cultural heritage is used as an inspiration for character design. Such implementation is shown, for example, in MMORPGs (massively multiplayer online role-playing games) and games with gacha mechanics. In the game Moonlight Blade (Tencent Games, 2020), one aspect of character design that is inspired by traditional craftmanship is Tangmen, a kung fu school for avatars that is inspired by traditional Chinese wooden puppetry and robot-making. Concretely, avatars from Tangmen can use machine-building and puppet control to attack opponents. Another example is the character Mao Xiangling (see Figure 1) in Genshin Impact (miHoYo, 2020). She is designed to be a famous cook in the game. Not only is she gifted with Pyro (fire element) talent that is closely related to cooking, but also her elemental skill consists of a chilli pepper that boosts her damage capacity. The cultural elements of cooking and fire are hence integrated into the character design of Mao Xiangling.

Certain craftsmanship is selected by Chinese mobile games because of the popularity it enjoys. Cuisine and culinary traditions are the cultural pride of Chinese people and are deeply embedded into Chinese people's daily lives. Hence, Xiangling is culturally and emotionally connected to Chinese players. Additionally, wooden puppetry and robot-making represent the long history of sophisticated Chinese craftsmanship, so Chinese mobile games use them in character design to show how certain kung fu avatars are powerful and maestros in building tools for combat.



4.1.3. Theatrical Traditions-Inspired Character Design

Theatrical traditions refer to traditional Chinese live performing traditions, such as singing, dancing, and dialogues. Traditional Chinese dramas and operas are sometimes used by Chinese mobile game designers as inspiration for character design (4/30). Representations of Chinese theatrical traditions are related to the design of RPGs' characters, especially within those games with gacha mechanics. Concretely, Chinese mobile games tend to borrow the whole identity of theatrical performers to design the background story of their characters. For example, Yunjin, a character from Genshin Impact (miHoYo, 2020), is inspired by the well-known Beijing Opera (see Figure 1). Her moves, including elemental skills, idle pose, and figure expression, were all inspired by the Beijing Opera. The game also dedicated a cut scene to her Beijing Opera performance that summarised a side-quest narrative.

Another example of theatrical tradition-inspired character design was found in MMORPGs, in which the avatars are often treated as players themselves. In this case, the use of theatrical traditions as design inspiration is relatively indirect. In the game A Chinese Ghost Story (NetEase, 2016), a damage dealer role that players could choose is called Zhankuang (Berserker). To cater to Zhankuang's image of fanaticism, the designers were inspired by a famous part of traditional Chinese Kun Opera, Ye Ben (Fleeing by Night), which illustrates a heroic story and includes many masculine, strong, and wide-open moves. The game used these moves as Zhankuang's attacking motions. Theatrical traditions combine visual, audio, and motional features, from which there could be lots of elements used in games. Chinese theatrical traditions enjoy a long-lasting reputation but low audience attention in legacy media. Hence, integration of theatrical traditions brings about more media exposure and could be educational for gamers.

4.2. Culturally Immersed Players' Game Experience Design

Twelve out of the 30 Chinese mobile games analysed take inspiration from Chinese ICH for players' game experience design. This is mostly seen in RPGs where an immersive game world is needed for players to explore. It is also evident in simulation games where the game world itself is designed for players to plan and run. In the following sections, we discuss how the design of the game experience is inspired in Chinese mobile games by oral expressions, classical and folk literature, and traditional craftmanship.

4.2.1. Oral Expressions for Nostalgia

Oral expression is understood as a cultural heritage only passed on through human voices. In our analysis we identified that Chinese dialects are frequently used in the game world design of Chinese mobile games (7/30). For example, Treacherous Waters Online Mobile (NetEase, 2022) entails a story taking place in China's Song dynasty when China's capital cities were Kaifeng and Hangzhou. In the game, these two cities are depicted with detailed cultural elements. While exploring these cities, players can encounter non-player characters (NPCs) that speak the dialects of the local regions represented as well as NPCs that are travellers from other regions who speak different dialects. In total, Treacherous Waters Online Mobile (NetEase, 2022) uses over 20 different dialects to depict a rich game world in which players can find connections to their hometowns' oral expressions. This way, it creates a game experience that is culturally close to players' identity. Hence, the game serves as a virtual space to fulfil the players' nostalgic needs.



Following the same logic, oral expression is also included in simulation games. In the game Canal Towns (Coconut Island Games, 2020), players are required to plan a city and upgrade it to a prosperous region in China's Ming dynasty. The NPCs in this game are either historical people or fictional characters that can work for the players. Some characters in Canal Towns (Coconut Island Games, 2020) speak certain dialects to cater to their persona. For example, a florist in this game speaks Shanghai dialect and starts the conversation by complimenting the players. This portrays a calculative image of the florist who is good at running a business, because Shanghai people have a stereotypical image of being calculating and strict in budgeting. Dialects have a clear directivity towards people from a certain region, which helps create a vivid and lively persona for NPCs. This NPC design approach fosters a more attractive game experience for players.

4.2.2. Classical and Folk Literature for Familiarity

Traditional literature, either classical or folk literature, provides abundant sources of inspiration for narratives, game world settings, and historical background design. Hence, Chinese mobile games with a huge budget, such as those developed by Tencent and NetEase, tend to choose classical and folk literature as the inspiration for the design of the game world experience for their RPGs. Open-world game design not only requires a tangible world to be explored, but also an attractive narrative that players follow willingly. To fulfil this goal, some Chinese mobile games (3/30) used classical and folk literature for world design.

For example, A Chinese Ghost Story (NetEase, 2016) is inspired by the Chinese classical book *Strange Stories in Oriental Society*, entailing stories of Chinese ghosts and spirits. The game is inspired by a chapter in the book about how a female ghost falls in love with a scholar, and it includes several well-known plots of the story in the game. This directly triggers players' familiarity with the original story, which makes the game story easier to comprehend and accept.

Another example is the game Moonlight Blade (Tencent Games, 2020), which has a game setting and narrative inspired by the famous folk book *Moonlight Blade*. This MMORPG requires the players to select a school of kung fu and follow the narrative by treating the avatar as themselves. Most of the kung fu schools represented in the game are mentioned in the original novel, and the narrative of the game follows a typical Chinese combat within martial brotherhood. Hence, we can conclude that Chinese literature is clearly represented in several mobile RPGs. All the classical literature works are well-known classics in China. By adopting the narrative and background settings that players are already familiar with, these mobile games aim to connect with the gamers right at the start of the gameplay.

4.2.3. Traditional Craftsmanship for Education

We previously discussed how traditional craftsmanship is used as a source of inspiration for character design in Chinese mobile games. In this section, we discuss how traditional craftmanship is used in these games to enhance the game experience, namely by providing an experience that can be educational for players, which we identified in five games out of 30.

In most MMORPGs analysed, such as Treacherous Waters Online Mobile (NetEase, 2022), A Chinese Ghost Story (NetEase, 2016), and Moonlight Blade (Tencent Games, 2020), the weapon cultivation system is inspired by traditional Chinese craftsmanship (see Figure 2). A common situation identified in these games is





Figure 2. Blacksmith system in Treacherous Waters Online Mobile. Source: NetEase (2022).

that players are required to go to a blacksmith with the weapons and resources collected. These games then provide an interface designed with elements of fire, coal, and hammer in which players can experience how traditional craftmanship manual skills and knowledge are used. The craftsmanship of weapon cultivation is designed as a vital game mechanic that is strongly connected to players' damage capacity. The players need to experience this process frequently in gameplay, resulting in training themselves with blacksmith skills and traditional weapon-making.

Compared to oral expressions and literature, most forms of Chinese traditional craftsmanship are rarely seen in daily life. However, some Chinese mobile games still opted to include them in their game world for players to experience. An example of such implementation is the game Canal Towns (Coconut Island Games, 2020), a city-planning simulation game. To gain certain resources, players are required to set up several optional factories for production. Three options in the game are mother-of-pearl production, a Yue porcelain kiln, and a paper-making mill (see Figure 3). Players are asked to participate in the production process of these crafts and use them to upgrade their city. These forms of craftsmanship are either rarely seen in people's daily lives,



Figure 3. Mother-of-pearl production, Yue porcelain kiln, and paper-making mill in Canal Towns. Source: Coconut Island Games (2020).



or people are so subconsciously accustomed to using these crafts in daily life that they rarely think about how these crafts are made. As such, while catering to the mechanics of simulation games and supplementing the world design, the inclusion of unknown craftsmanship serves the purpose of educating players.

4.3. Cultural-Based Combat Game Mechanics

In-game combat is one of the most essential mechanics in RPGs and real-time tactics games, as it is a way to demonstrate players' strength. In 14 out of the 30 games analysed, several audio-visual combat elements were found to be inspired by Chinese ICH. These traditional cultural elements were represented within combat game mechanics that are intense and eye-catching. In the next paragraphs, we discuss how combat game mechanics design in Chinese mobile games is inspired by traditional music and arts, and motional traditions.

4.3.1. Mix of Traditional Music and Traditional Arts for Combat Tension

In Chinese mobile games, it is common that a combination of in-fight music with quick and strong beats is played when the players encounter combat during gameplay. When the combats take place in games with a Chinese story background or in regions inspired by Chinese culture, traditional Chinese music is used to create tension between the players and their opponents. For example, in the turn-based RPG Honkai: Star Rail (miHoYo, 2023), Xianzhou Luofu (God ship Luofu) is a spaceship inspired by Chinese culture. When fighting against the main boss Huanlong (Phantylia, a leader of the Antimatter Legion) on this map, Star Rail (miHoYo, 2023) adopts the singing of the Chinese Dong ethnicity with their own language. This singing imitates the sound of nature to create a wide and holy atmosphere. In this game, it is used during the battle to represent a huge contrast between the protagonist and the enemy Huanlong to highlight the huge difficulty of beating the latter, thereby exaggerating the tension in this combat.

Visual elements are also used to intensify combat. One way of achieving this goal is by representing traditional arts in a fight. For example, the shape of the three-legged crow is borrowed from the famous Sun and Immortal Birds Gold Ornament, and it is placed in the special visual effects when the character Haiyue is fighting others in Honor of Kings (TiMi Studio Group, 2015; see Figure 4 in this article), while Chinese arts elements like auspicious clouds and landscape paintings are commonly seen in mobile games with combat







elements, such as Honkai: Star Rail (miHoYo, 2023), Wuhua Mixin (Cipaishe Studio, 2024), and Genshin Impact (miHoYo, 2020). Chinese traditional arts provide abundant resources for arts patterns and cultural symbols, which are suitable for being borrowed into detail designs for visuality. These elements are usually mixed into fights to create dazzling visual experiences, stimulating the visual senses of players. Hence, at the same time that they enhance cultural depth with visual inspirations, these games increase the tension during combats to stimulate players' excitement.

4.3.2. Motional Traditions for Fighting Moves

Motional elements are inevitably a centre of game design during combats. Some of the Chinese mobile games analysed (11/30) include fighting moves inspired by a variety of Chinese traditional moves. This finding is firstly evident in most MMORPGs, such as Treacherous Waters Online Mobile (NetEase, 2022), Fantasy Westward Journey (NetEase, 2015), and Moonlight Blade (Tencent Games, 2020). The optional schools of kung fu available for players at the start of the gameplay have their unique weapons and martial characteristics, such as blades, spears, and swords. As such, martial moves using these weapons of traditional Chinese kung fu are used in the schools that are part of the game.

A second source of inspiration in Chinese motional tradition was found in five RPGs where theatrical moves are used in motional design for combat. For example, the character Yunjin in Genshin Impact (miHoYo, 2020) is designed to be a Beijing Opera performer. Hence, her fighting moves are all inspired by the female warrior role in the Beijing Opera. This shows that motional elements from Chinese ICH used in combat move design do not only supplement the cultural depth of combat moments in these games, but also fulfil the visual needs required by fighting scenes, namely to be gorgeous and elegant.

4.4. Culturally Inspired Virtual Goods Design for Monetisation

Given the free-to-play mechanic that most Chinese mobile games share, visually decorating items have become their main source of monetisation. This only changes the exterior of game avatars, so in most cases players do not rely on in-game purchases to get stronger. Our analysis shows that Chinese mobile games' virtual goods design is often inspired by Chinese ICH (18/30). This is often seen in dress-up games and mobile games with character design as their focus. In the next paragraphs, we discuss how virtual goods design in Chinese mobile games is inspired by traditional literature and fine arts.

4.4.1. Traditional Literature-Inspired Virtual Goods

Traditional Chinese literature, including classical and folk literature, usually contains detailed descriptions of characters' costumes, some of which have become classics in Chinese people's minds. In eight out of the 30 games analysed, we identified purchasable costumes that are inspired by Chinese literature. For example, the dress-up game Miracle Nikki (Papergames, 2015) includes the classical costumes of three main characters in the novel *The Story of a Stone*, which is one of the four greatest classical literature books in China (see Figure 5).

This phenomenon is also evident in multiplayer online battle arena games, in which there are usually dozens of characters available. For example, the game Honor of Kings (TiMi Studio Group, 2015) got inspiration from





Figure 5. Clothes design inspired by The Story of a Stone in Miracle Nikki. Source: Papergames (2015).

the classical novel *Journey to the West* and put several famous characters from the novel into its "heroes pool." This game follows the appearance, used weapons, and character audio that are described in the novel, providing an authentic audio-visual representation of these characters. By getting inspiration from Chinese traditional literature for exterior character design, Chinese mobile games gain cultural and historical depth and aim to build connections with gamers more quickly.

4.4.2. Fine Arts-Inspired Virtual Goods

Chinese mobile games also use fine arts and traditional music to decorate the virtual goods they sell. This is commonly seen in most MMORPGs where they sell avatar costumes in their in-game stores, and these costumes are inspired by elements of Chinese fine arts. For example, Moonlight Blade (Tencent Games, 2020) offers players a variety of clothes as virtual goods that integrate properties of Chinese fine arts in their design, such as the colour of Chinese blue-and-white porcelain, the ice cracks on Chinese porcelain, and Chinese calligraphy.

Another example is how the game Treacherous Waters Online Mobile (NetEase, 2022) represents famous Chinese landscape paintings in its clothes design. This strategy is also seen in dress-up games, in which, for example, Miracle Nikki (Papergames, 2015) collaborated with the Suzhou Museum, using the fan calligraphy by Wu Kai from the Qing dynasty on its clothes design. Using arts in virtual goods design adds to the artistry of games' exterior, and also helps to disseminate this part of Chinese culture.

Many virtual goods with inspirations from Chinese ICH focus primarily on visual exterior design, such as costumes, make-up, and weapon decorations. Different from other microtransactions of virtual items that increase players' damage capacity, exteriors only affect the appearance of characters. Chinese literature and fine arts contribute to a deeper cultural significance in the artistic visuality. Thus, visuality and cultural depth together create a greater attractiveness of in-game visual purchases. Therefore, the players pay for the visuality instead of the damage capacity, which effectively protects those who only spend minimally.



4.5. Culturally Based Game Updates

To gain long-lasting user activity and monetisation, most Chinese mobile games provide regular updates with new narratives and time-limited activities. We identified how Chinese mobile games get inspiration from Chinese traditional festivals to design timely updates (15/30). During the Chinese New Year, for example, some folk arts and festival customs are represented in these games.

4.5.1. Folk Arts for Nostalgic Engagement

Folk arts are made by ordinary people and generally appreciated across all layers of the population. In eight out of the 30 games analysed, we have identified that Chinese mobile games get inspiration from Chinese folk art to depict an accessible and down-to-earth festive atmosphere. During periods coinciding with Chinese festivals, Chinese mobile games use folk arts as inspiration for the design of in-game activities and specific user interfaces, aiming to create a sense of nostalgia. For example, the game Genshin Impact (miHoYo, 2020) uses shadow play as an activity for players to enjoy. Shadow play is deeply embedded within Chinese New Year custom, but it is rarely seen in contemporary life. The game used shadow play to design the interface of time-limited activities for the Chinese New Year in 2023, namely the Lantern's Rite in the game (see Figure 6). An update was released during the Chinese New Year in 2024, which involved bright colours in lantern paintings and Chinese New Year paintings, together with the Chinese symbols of fire,



Figure 6. User interface for Lantern's Rite in Genshin Impact. Source: miHoYo (2020).



lotus, and mountains, to represent a prosperous society and create a celebrative atmosphere. The folk arts selected for these "festive updates" are commonly seen every Chinese New Year, affirming the Chinese festive traditions and customs and providing a wholesome and immersive festival experience for their players.

4.5.2. Festival Customs in Time-Limited Activities

Chinese festive customs are also identified in mobile game updates. They occur in eight out of the 30 games analysed and include the representation of cultural activities and traditional performances of Chinese traditional festivals.

For example, players could participate in a dragon dance with their friends in the game A Chinese Ghost Story (NetEase, 2016; see Figure 7 in this article) during the 2024 Chinese New Year update. The game also used the godlike symbol of a dragon to offer players a ride which was a time-limited reward only available during the 2024 New Year celebrations. Another game that uses traditional festival-inspired updates is Genshin Impact (miHoYo, 2020). This game specially designed a new character who is a professional lion dancer. It also integrated the traditional Chinese lion dance into a time-limited activity for players to compete against each other, which was again only available during the New Year celebrations.

The representation of festival customs is mostly seen in mobile games where there is an avatar controlled by players. An avatar representing players' identity is expected to create a deeper sense of immersion when players participate in the time-limited activities during special festivals. Combined with the online promotion video data, we found that these games chose classic and well-known traditional Chinese festival customs in order to promote Chinese culture, such as the dragon dance, lion dance, lantern riddles, and shadow play. Integrating these customs with game elements is used to connect to players' emotional needs for entertainment, family union, and nostalgic feelings during these periods.



Figure 7. Dragon dance activity in A Chinese Ghost Story. Source: NetEase (2016).



5. Conclusion

This study aimed to answer the research question of how Chinese ICH is represented in Chinese mobile games. A thematic game content analysis of 30 Chinese mobile games was conducted to investigate how different categories of Chinese cultural heritage are represented in these games, including in-game character design, players' game experience design, combat mechanics, virtual goods design, and game updates. This empirical study contributes to fill in the research gaps raised in our previous systematic review (Que et al., 2023). Concretely, it supplements the academic gap whereby most related studies focused on a tangible aspect of cultural heritage depicted in video games. Additionally, we focused on analysing mobile games, which fills the academic gap whereby most cultural heritage studies. Lastly, we provided a non-Western perspective of cultural heritage study, filling the gap whereby most relevant studies have focused on American and European cultural heritage.

Our analysis firstly showed that Chinese mobile games get inspiration from Chinese folk literature, craftsmanship, and theatrical tradition to design the background story and skills for their game characters. This is especially manifested in the design of the moves and visual effects of game characters. Secondly, we found various forms of ICH represented in players' game experience design in Chinese mobile games, including oral expression, folk literature, and traditional craftsmanship. These elements of cultural heritage are manifested in both the general narrative background and detailed daily experience in the game world. Thirdly, we identified elements from traditional Chinese music, arts, and motional traditions represented during the combat scenes in Chinese mobile games. These audio-visual elements are mixed in combat game design to bring an intense and exciting fighting experience. Fourth, we found uses of traditional literature, fine arts, and traditional music in Chinese mobile games for monetisation purposes. Lastly, we found Chinese traditional festival-related ICH represented in the updates of some of the Chinese mobile games analysed, including folk arts and festival customs. They are used to design time-limited activities and interfaces during Chinese traditional festivals, with the purpose of increasing user interactivity at special times of the year.

Our analysis suggests that Chinese mobile games largely focus on depicting traditional Chinese craftsmanship, theatrical traditions, and literature. Craftsmanship requires years of dedication and is rarely seen in daily life. By integrating craftsmanship into game mechanics, these games invite the players to participate in the production of crafts, which serves the purpose of educating players and disseminating Chinese culture. Secondly, theatrical tradition encompasses music, dance, cultural symbols, and classical stories. Functionally, it is convenient for games to integrate these elements in character design, combat design, and clothes design. Culturally, different Chinese theatrical traditions have their own origins, which demonstrates China's regional characteristics. The historically significant theatrical traditions receive low audience attention in legacy media. Using theatrical elements in games offers more interactive moments in games and educational knowledge to the games. Lastly, Chinese traditional literature is largely used in RPGs for background narrative and experience design. Stories already exist in classical literature, and they are mostly known to the players. This is considered economical to game designers in terms of time and money. Besides, the cultural and historical value of classical literature is educational to the players by creating an interactive world experience for players to immerse themselves in. These three categories of Chinese ICH are largely represented in Chinese mobile games, while other categories mentioned in our theoretical framework gain less representation in our selected games, especially traditional medicine and Quyi.



The results of this study are guided by the theoretical framework provided by the State Council of the People's Republic of China (2008). Based on our analysis, we firstly conclude that this categorisation of Chinese ICH is instrumental in serving the purpose of analysing the representation of Chinese ICH in digital games. With this study, we were able to identify complementary categories of Chinese ICH that were not considered in this framework. Concretely, our research identified the uses of traditional oral expression in game design, mostly Chinese dialects. Additionally, we differentiated uses of classical arts and folk arts in our analysis, in which classical arts served to create elegant and historic visual design, while folk arts are suitable for designing approachable and down-to-earth visuality. This differentiation could make a big difference to the messages brought by game developers, so it should be incorporated within the framework for game content analysis. This theoretical addition provides a more solid framework for future studies investigating ICH in game content.

This study has provided a more profound insight into the representation of ICH in mobile games. However, it still has its limitations. Firstly, most of our selected games are RPGs and MMORPGs that focus on character, world, and narrative design, meaning other game genres, such as multiplayer online battle arena, real-time tactics, and dress-up games are less represented in our sample. Therefore, future research could pay more attention to these game genres. Secondly, given the number of mobile games sampled in this study, we could not ensure that all Chinese ICH elements represented in these games were identified in our analysis. Nevertheless, this research presents detailed available approaches to representing Chinese ICH in Chinese mobile games and illustrates a deeper cultural image that mobile games could have.

Acknowledgments

The PhD programme is supported by the Chinese Scholarship Council.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

Supplementary Material

Supplementary material for this article is available online in the format provided by the author (unedited).

References

Bainbridge, W. S., & Bainbridge, W. A. (2007). Electronic game research methodologies: Studying religious implications. *Review of Religious Research*, 49(1), 35–53.

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). Thematic analysis: A practical guide. Sage.

- Champion, E. (2020). Culturally significant presence in single-player computer games. *Journal on Computing and Cultural Heritage*, 13(4), Article 29. https://doi.org/10.1145/3414831
- Chinese parents look happy with gaming restrictions by the government for children. (2021, September 20). *Outlook India*. https://www.outlookindia.com/website/story/world-news-chinese-parents-look-happywith-gaming-restrictions-by-the-government-for-children/395144
- Chism, C. (2020). Middle-earth, the middle ages, and the Aryan nation: Myth and history in World War II. In J. Chance (Ed.), *Tolkien the medievalist* (pp. 63–92). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203218013-13

Cipaishe Studio. (2024). Wuhua Mixin [Video game]. Bilibili Games.

Coconut Island Games. (2020). Canal Towns [Video game]. Bilibili Games.

Cui, C., Zhao, Y., & Wang, L. (2021). Protection and dissemination of Chinese intangible cultural heritage based



on digital games. International Communication of Chinese Culture, 8(4), 483–491. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40636-021-00237-x

- Dong, L., & Mangiron, C. (2018). Journey to the East: Cultural adaptation of video games for the Chinese market. *Journal of Specialised Translation*, *29*, 149–168.
- Edney, K. (2015). Between cultural confidence and ideological insecurity: China's soft power strategy for the cultural industries. In K. O. Oakley & J. O'Connor (Eds.), *The Routledge companion to the cultural industries* (pp. 507–516). Routledge.
- Fernández-Vara, C. V. (2019). Introduction to game analysis. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/97813511 40089
- Finney, P. (Ed.). (2017). Remembering the Second World War. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315 178905
- Flick, U. (2007). Sampling, selecting and access. In U. Flick (Ed.), *Designing Qualitative Research* (pp. 25–35). Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849208826
- Fung, A. Y. H. (2014). Online games and Chinese national identities. In H.-K. Lee & L. Lim (Eds.), *Cultural policies in East Asia* (pp. 53–68). Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137327772_4
- Gao, F., & Liu, J. (2024). Xin wenchuang yujing xia Wangzhe Rongyao dui Zhongguo feiwuzhi wenhua yichan de ronghe chuanbo. *Chuanmei Luntan*, 7(1), 83–86.
- Haddon, L. (1988). The home computer: The making of a consumer electronic. *Science as Culture*, 1(2), 7–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/09505438809526198
- Haider, A. (2022, June 24). Apple grows gaming market share as App Store dominates mobile space. *S&P Global Market Intelligence*. https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/latest-news-headlines/apple-grows-gaming-market-share-as-app-store-dominates-mobile-space-70922440
- Han, X., & Sun, Y. (2024). Cong xilie duanshipin Keai de Zhongguo kan xinmeiti shidai feiwuzhi wenhua yichan chuanbo chuangxin. *China Radio and TV Academic Journal*, *2*, 60–63.
- Hypergryph, & Studio Montagne. (2019). Arknights [Video game]. Hypergryph.
- King, B. (2024, March 6). What is TapTap, and is it a better way to find mobile games? *How-To Geek*. https://www.howtogeek.com/what-is-taptap-and-is-it-a-better-way-to-find-mobile-games
- Kirkpatrick, G. (2016). Making games normal: Computer gaming discourse in the 1980s. *New Media & Society*, 18(8), 1439–1454. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814558905
- Kuin, H. (2016). Huni Kuin: Yube Baitana [Video game]. Bobware.
- Locke, H. J., & MacKay, T. A. (2021). "You are a true progressive": Red Dead Redemption 2 and the depiction and reception of progressive era politics. *The Journal of the Gilded Age and Progressive Era*, 20(1), 174–193. https://doi.org/10.1017/S153778142000064X
- López, J. C. (2021). Game studies. Methodological approaches from the history of medieval art. *Espacio*, *Tiempo* y *Forma*: *Serie* VII *Historia del Arte*, *9*, 419–440.
- Mäyrä, F. (2008). An introduction to game studies. Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446214572
- miHoYo. (2020). Genshin Impact [Video game]. HoYoverse.
- miHoYo. (2023). Honkai: Star Rail [Video game]. HoYoverse.
- Miller, K. (2008). Grove Street Grimm: Grand Theft Auto and digital folklore. Journal of American Folklore, 121(481), 255–285. https://doi.org/10.2307/20487609
- Nacher, A., & Jankowski, F. (2021). Re-writing histories of colonization in video games: The case of Elizabeth LaPensée. *Images. The International Journal of European Film, Performing Arts and Audiovisual Communication, 29*(38), 123–141. https://doi.org/10.14746/I.2021.38.08
- NetEase. (2015). Fantasy Westward Journey [Video game]. NetEase Games.



NetEase. (2016). A Chinese Ghost Story [Video game]. NetEase Games.

- NetEase. (2022). Treacherous Waters Online Mobile [Video game]. NetEase Games.
- Nijdam, E. B. (2021). Sami-digital storytelling: Survivance and revitalization in Indigenous digital games. *New Media & Society*, *25*(11), 3093–3116. https://doi.org/10.1177/14614448211038902
- Papergames. (2015). Miracle Nikki [Video game]. Tencent Games.
- Que, Y., de la Hera, T., & Jansz, J. (2023). From reality to virtuality: A systematic literature review of cultural heritage representation in entertainment video games. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Šindelář, J. (2022). Playing through to Europe? Depiction and reception of the First World War in the videogame Valiant Hearts. *Journal of Contemporary European Studies*, 32(2), 386–399. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/14782804.2022.2097206
- Šisler, V. (2017). Procedural religion: Methodological reflections on studying religion in video games. New Media & Society, 19(1), 126–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444816649923
- Šisler, V., Pötzsch, H., Hannemann, T., Cuhra, J., & Pinkas, J. (2022). History, heritage, and memory in video games: Approaching the past in Svoboda 1945: Liberation and Train to Sachsenhausen. Games and Culture, 17(6), 901–914. https://doi.org/10.1177/15554120221115402
- State Council of the People's Republic of China. (2008, June 7). Guowuyuan guanyu gongbu dierpi guojiaji feiwuzhi wenhua yichan minglu he diyipi guojiaji feiwuzhi wenhua yichan kuozhan xiangmu minglu de tongzhi. https://www.gov.cn/gongbao/content/2008/content_1025937.htm
- Tan, X. (2022, October 29). Xin shidai beijing xia, dianying zhutui Zhongguo tiyu feiwuzhi wenhua yichan de chuancheng sikao-yi dianying Xiongshi Shaonian wei li [Paper presentation]. The 2022 Sports Intangible Cultural Heritage Academic Conference, Shanghai, China.
- Tencent Games. (2020). Moonlight Blade [Video game]. Tencent Games.
- TiMi Studio Group. (2015). Honor of Kings [Video game]. Tencent Games.
- UNESCO. (n.d.). What is intangible cultural heritage? https://ich.unesco.org/en/what-is-intangible-heritage-00003
- UNESCO Institute for Statistics. (2009). 2009 UNESCO framework for cultural statistics. https://uis.unesco.org/ sites/default/files/documents/unesco-framework-for-cultural-statistics-2009-en_0.pdf
- Wang, Y. (2021). Guochan dongman dianying zhong feiwuzhi wenhua yichan yuansu de jiegou. *News Tribune*, 1, 103–106.
- Why mobile games are so popular: Major reasons behind the trend. (2022, September 19). Juego Studios. https://www.juegostudio.com/blog/why-mobile-games-are-so-popular-major-reasons-behind-the-trend
- Wills, J. (2021). "Ain't the american dream grand": Satirical play in Rockstar's Grand Theft Auto V. European Journal of American Studies, 16(3). https://doi.org/10.4000/ejas.17274
- Wright, E. (2022). Rockstar Games and American history. De Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110 716610
- Yao, S., & Chen, Y. (2022). Reconstructing history and culture in game discourse: A linguistic analysis of heroic stories in Honor of Kings. *Games and Culture*, 17(7/8), 977–996. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 15554120211070890
- Zabecki, K. (2019). Promoting and preserving indigenous languages and cultures in the Americas through video games. In D. S. Brunn & R. Kehrein (Eds.), *Handbook of the changing world language map* (pp. 1785–1802). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-02438-3_114



About the Authors



Yixiang Que is a PhD candidate at Erasmus University Rotterdam. He has obtained an MA in media study and an MSc in sociology. His PhD project is related to the representation of cultural heritage in Chinese mobile games, and he is also interested in how Chinese players and game producers perceive such representation. He conducts research at the Erasmus Research Institute for Media, Culture, History & Society (ERMeCHS). His research aims to investigate the meaningfulness of video games and how it makes a difference to the society and cultural identities of gamers.



Teresa de la Hera is associate professor of persuasive gaming at Erasmus University Rotterdam. Her expertise is related to understanding how digital games can be used as media for communication and tools for engagement, motivation, and persuasion. De la Hera is author of the book *Digital Gaming and the Advertising Landscape* (2019) and editor of the volume *Persuasive Gaming in Context* (2021), both published by Amsterdam University Press. She is also member of PEGI's Experts Group.



Jeroen Jansz (PhD) is full professor of communication and media at Erasmus University Rotterdam. He holds the chair of communication and media in the Department of Media & Communication. He is a member of the Erasmus Research Institute for Media, Culture, History & Society (ERMeCHS). His research takes the ubiquity of the internet as a starting point and aims to understand and explain the changing relations between media consumers and media producers in contemporary participatory culture.

ARTICLE

< cogitatio



Contemporary Political Discourse in Digital Games: A Systematic Approach

Jenniffer Soto de la Cruz[®], Sara Cortés Gómez[®], and Pilar Lacasa[®]

Department of Philology, Communication, and Documentation, University of Alcalá, Spain

Correspondence: Jenniffer Soto de la Cruz (jenniffer.soto@edu.uah.es)

Submitted: 15 May 2024 Accepted: 25 July 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

This study reviews existing literature on how video games are being used to convey contemporary political discourse. Digital games, as meaningful cultural artifacts, have become a communication medium in their own right. They can serve as social mirrors, framing contemporary reality through metaphors that represent and recreate transcendent events or social facts through immersive experiences. Likewise, video games have played a significant role in shaping our current politics and culture. This article seeks to answer the research question: How has contemporary political discourse been explored through digital games in academic literature? To do so, we conducted a systematic literature review following the SALSA (search, appraisal, synthesis, and analysis) framework. We identified N = 25 journal articles written in English and Spanish, published between January 2013 and September 2023. We found that first-person shooter games were the most frequently discussed game genre in the academic literature, followed by newsgames. We propose a new method for categorizing political messages in digital games, which we have called the PRICE dimensions model (participation, representation, ideology, conflict, and education). The studied papers were classified into five main thematic groups: (a) video games as a tool for digital propaganda; (b) video games aiming to raise awareness of political issues; (c) games and gamification elements for radicalization; (d) game design that justifies, minimizes, or downplays violence; and (e) players' role in conveying political messages.

Keywords

digital games; first-person shooters; newsgames; political communication; political discourse; political games



1. Introduction

Play and games shape many aspects of people's daily lives, as well as contemporary societies. In game studies, this has been conceptualized as the "ludification of culture" (Raessens, 2006), which refers to the increasing influence of game elements in various aspects of culture, the economy, society, and politics in the context of the digital era. This phenomenon has also been referred to as "the cultivation of ludus" or "the gameful world" (Walz & Deterding, 2014). In this sense, Flanagan (2015, p. 249) states that ludic language involves "a game's cultural conventions, privileging agency with responsive feedback, and connoting meaning through the way in which players take actions and authenticate themselves through this action." Ultimately, game and play can be complex and multifaceted (Reer et al., 2024) and can serve as a guide on how to organize an experimental setting with players, roles, rules, and a scenario (Mayer, 2009).

Digital games as meaningful cultural artifacts (Salen & Zimmerman, 2004) have become a communication medium in their own right. A wide range of governance structures and ideologies are found in contemporary political systems, which can be broadly classified into two categories: democratic and non-democratic systems. To study their role in these systems, video games have been divided into two macro-dimensions (Torres-Toukoumidis et al., 2023, p. 6). First, serious games, aiming to offer players a learning experience, which were also subdivided into persuasive games and expressive games. Second, entertainment games, designed exclusively for fun. The rhetorical potential in-game rules design, the ethical component of discourse, and persuasive effects in games have been addressed by numerous authors (Bogost, 2006, 2007; de la Hera et al., 2021; Ferrara, 2013; Frasca, 2007; Grace, 2021; Jacobs et al., 2017; Pérez Latorre, 2015; Sicart, 2011, 2023; Siriaraya et al., 2018).

Likewise, de la Hera (2019) studied the persuasive dimensions that game designers can use to persuade players within immersive spaces. In this sense, game systems and mechanics can embody beliefs (Flanagan, 2009) and persuade players in particular situations (Bogost, 2007). For instance, as Chess and Consalvo (2022, p. 161) state: "Video games have had as much (or more) impact on our current politics and culture wars than many care to acknowledge." They argue that video games have emerged as a pivotal element in the convergence of media content, platforms, and audiences.

Pérez Latorre (2015, p. 415) has analyzed the relationships between game design in conveying ideological values and the construction of social reality through social discourse in video games. He proposes a model based on three elements: (a) the representation of the character/player, (b) the game world, and (c) the main actions carried out in it. Thus, digital games can serve as social mirrors, framing contemporary reality through metaphors that seek to represent and recreate transcendent events or social facts through immersive experiences. We adopted Gee's (2010) framework to refer to "political discourse," in which discourse involves more than just language; it also includes other social practices within a specific group. In this vein, political discourse consists of the language-in-use, behaviors, values, ways of thinking, and other social practices that are associated with politics. This includes the language used by politicians, the rhetoric of political campaigns, the language used in political news coverage, and the everyday conversations that people have about politics—in this specific context, within digital games and social platforms.

With respect to the political context, scholars have studied how play and games can facilitate civic engagement and encourage political participation (Bennett, 1979; Lerner, 2014; Mayer, 2009). Specifically,



Glas et al. (2019, p. 19) argue that "the simultaneous ludification and digitization of culture has given rise to new connections between citizenship and participatory media technologies that are shaping our culture." Moreover, the expressive dimension of video games allows the transmission of meaning essentially through the language of ludic design, which refers to game rules design and ludic interactive dynamics (Pérez Latorre, 2015, p. 416). Games (both analog and digital) have been used for diverse political purposes, such as political campaigns (Akbar & Kusumasari, 2022; Baltezarević et al., 2019; Leng et al., 2010; Miller, 2013; Tran et al., 2021), military recruitment (Nieborg, 2004; Schulzke, 2013), representation of democracy (Torres-Toukoumidis et al., 2023), or promoting civic learning experiences (Santos et al., 2018).

Regarding political discourse, Lerner (2014, p. 30) explains that "games serve as a symbol or rhetoric frame, to illustrate how politics works." Recent studies show how video games become part of an individual argumentative repertoire (Randour et al., 2020; Torres-Toukoumidis et al., 2023). Borges Lima (2017, p. 71) argues that they contribute to day-to-day political discussions when they become part of media narratives. In addition, games can empower players to take civic action by protesting in a playful and expressive manner (Stokes & Williams, 2018) and partaking in playful resistance to authoritarian governance and the capitalist logic of gaming (Huang & Liu, 2022). However, games can also be linked to propaganda dissemination, radicalization, and mobilization by extremist groups (Kowert et al., 2022; Lakomy, 2019; Schlegel & Kowert, 2024).

This study aims to review the existing literature in order to better understand how digital games are being used to convey contemporary political discourse. Given the increasing social polarization, the fragmentation of democracy, the radicalization of extremist groups, and the disinterest of younger generations in politics, it is necessary to study video games as a vehicle to promote political and ideological rhetoric. Specifically, this article seeks to address the following research question:

RQ: How has contemporary political discourse been explored through digital games in academic literature?

To this end, we propose a new model to analyze political messages in digital games, which we have called the PRICE dimensions model, according to the following categories: participation, representation, ideology, conflict, and education.

2. Methodology

In order to answer the research question of this study, we conducted a qualitative literature review with a systematic approach. Booth et al. (2016) have established three main considerations: first, clarity—meaning a clear structure, focused question, and explicit search strategies; second, validity, referring to the review's relevance and rigor to prevent bias; and third, auditability to increase transparency.

We chose the SALSA (search, appraisal, synthesis, and analysis) framework (Grant & Booth, 2009) as a tool, since it is specifically designed for conducting systematic reviews and aims to streamline the process. This framework comprises four steps: search, appraisal, synthesis, and analysis, which we used to guide the review process and ensure that the data were conceptually rich to provide a better understanding of the phenomenon under study.



2.1. Search

This step comprises organizing the search process, which involves an initial exploration of the literature to obtain an overview of the existing academic work on the topic. This includes scoping search, conduct search, bibliography search, verification, and documentation.

We selected the following multidisciplinary and specialized databases to search for documents: Scopus (Elsevier), Science Direct (Elsevier), Web of Science (Clarivate), Research Library (ProQuest, part of Clarivate), Academic Search Premier (EBSCO), and Dialnet Plus (Fundación Dialnet).

In order to retrieve relevant studies conducted on "contemporary political discourse," we used the following keywords and Boolean operators to build the search equation in English: (("political discourse" OR "political communication" OR "political rhetoric" OR "political message" OR "propaganda") AND ("videogames" OR "video games" OR "computer games" OR "digital games" OR "propagames" OR "serious games")). And for papers in Spanish: (("discurso político" OR "comunicación política" OR "retórica política" OR "mensaje político" OR "propaganda") AND ("videojuegos" OR "juegos de ordenador" OR "juegos digitales" OR "propagames" OR "juegos serios")).

The entire process was recorded in a protocol document to register all the details of the decisions made. In addition, we used Zotero, a bibliographic reference manager, to organize the results into collections and subcollections. We also used tags and saved searches to classify, review, discriminate, and filter out the retrieved documents.

2.2. Appraisal

Appraisal consists of selecting the studies that are suitable for answering the research question. We employed a systematic selection process based on pre-defined inclusion and exclusion criteria to refine the initial set of documents into a collection of relevant studies. To do this, we started with a data corpus of 325 documents retrieved from the previous search. Subsequently, we evaluated each document by applying the following inclusion and exclusion criteria (see Figure 1): journal articles published from January 2013 to September



Figure 1. Appraisal process steps.



2023, covering the last 10 years, since we are analyzing literature on contemporary political discourse. Only papers written in English and Spanish were chosen. To ensure an in-depth analysis, only papers with the full text available were included. This allows for a complete evaluation of the methodology, results, and discussion sections, leading to a more accurate and well-rounded review. Then, we removed duplicates. Finally, only papers relevant to the research question were considered. This resulted in 25 papers to be analyzed.

To conduct a proper critical appraisal in qualitative research, it is important to consider whether the findings are applicable, transferable, or generalizable. To this end, Booth et al. (2016, p. 148) argue that "assessing the evidence base focuses on the practical application of research, and similar pragmatism is required when you are performing quality assessment."

2.3. Synthesis

Synthesis is an iterative process that seeks to identify any common threads, patterns, and themes that emerge from the data. In qualitative approaches, synthesis can be aggregative, configurative, or integrative (Booth et al., 2016). Also, it is important to pre-specify and examine the data extraction in order to determine which pieces of data can be identified in each individual study. To this end, we summarized the findings by creating a literature matrix that included the relevant information from each paper selected in the previous phase: ID, reference, aim of the study, theoretical/methodological approach, game genre, game element, political discourse, main observation, other observations, and future research.

In this study, we used interpretative data extraction to optimize the explanatory value of the results. We extracted data in the form of specific findings and illustrative text excerpts. Furthermore, we examined the papers to identify gaps that needed to be filled in future research (Petticrew & Roberts, 2006).

2.4. Analysis

This step involves identifying methods, interventions, and potential research gaps in the field. Booth et al. (2016, p. 274) state that the contribution of evidence synthesis to existing research could be: theory testing or validation, theory generation, problem solving, or fact finding. In this study, we used fact finding. Therefore, we focused on three aspects to explore how contemporary political discourse can be conveyed through digital games.

First, we examined the full text of the 25 final papers to identify the purpose and the theoretical and/or methodological approach—whether quantitative, qualitative, or mixed. We sought to understand the method used and the line of theory or empirical research established. We also classified the papers according to their scope and objective, as outlined by Dempsey et al. (1996): research, theory, review, discussion, and development papers (see Figure 2).

Second, we extracted all the individual game titles mentioned in the selected papers; we decided to only count each single title, independently of how many times it was cited. We then categorized each game according to genre (Sevin & DeCamp, 2020) and identified the most frequently discussed genres in relation to political discourse in the studied papers (see Figure 3).



Finally, we conducted a thematic analysis approach (Braun & Clarke, 2006) on the 25 selected papers. This method is used to identify patterns (themes) within the data that are consistent with the categories of analysis used in this study. We then analyzed the political messages by focusing on figurative meaning (Lempert & Silverstein, 2012; Silverstein, 2003). In addition, we devised the PRICE dimensions model (see Figure 4), an acronym formed by the first letter in each of the following five categories: participation, representation, ideology, conflict, and education. All of them aim to identify and classify the political rhetoric found in digital games, such as the language used by politicians and organizations, election campaign messages, and players' political conversations and behaviors.

2.4.1. Overview of Studies on Contemporary Political Discourse in Digital Games

2.4.1.1. Study Types

In this work, papers exploring political discourse within digital games were categorized (see Figure 2) primarily as research articles (N = 16), which seek to contribute new knowledge to the understanding of video games as political and/or ideological tools through systematic data gathering and analysis (e.g., Ashraf, 2013; Hopp et al., 2018). The second category was theory papers (N = 5), aiming to enhance understanding and interpretation of games and propaganda by proposing conceptual models or frameworks (e.g., Andrews, 2023; Bossetta, 2019). Less frequent were discussion articles (N = 2), which explore ideas, criticize existing perspectives, or examine implications of findings about the persuasive potential of games (e.g., Seiffert & Nothhaft, 2015). The development study (N = 1) focuses on practical innovations in video games as technopolitical devices (Carrubba, 2018). Finally, the review paper (N = 1) provides an overview and evaluation of research on war games, identifying gaps and suggesting future research directions (del Moral Pérez & Rodríguez González, 2021).






2.4.1.2. Purpose of the Studies

The purpose of the papers can be classified into five thematic groups (see Table 1). First, video games as a tool for digital propaganda (N = 11 studies). Second, video games aiming to raise awareness of political issues (N = 5 studies). Third, games and gamification elements used for radicalization (N = 4 studies). Fourth, game design that justifies, minimizes, or downplays violence (N = 3 studies). Fifth, players' role in conveying political messages (N = 2 studies).

We identified that 23 of the examined papers follow a qualitative approach, 13 of which are case studies. Only two papers can be classified as mixed (qualitative and quantitative). It is plausible that the choice of keywords and the framing of the research question could have influenced the predominance of qualitative studies over mixed ones in the retrieved results.

Purpose of Study	Number of Studies	Examples in Literature
Group 1 Video games as a tool for digital propaganda	Total: 11 2 QUAL	"The findings reveal that PCGs [political campaigning games] exemplify changing dynamics in digital campaigning, reify the enduring effectiveness of conflict framing, and codify how games can be designed to enact political rhetoric." (Bossetta, 2019) "Our previous analysis reveals some ways through which historical military propagames [propagandistic games] effectively integrate entertainment and propaganda. The developers of Kangzhan Online create a local imaginary world instead of a Western one." (Ming-Tak Chew & Wang, 2021)
	7 QUAL CS 2 QUAL/QUAN	
Group 2 Video games aiming to raise awareness of political issues	Total: 5 3 QUAL 2 QUAL CS	"The 4 video games proposed as part of this study have been received as political communication tools around the theme of housing and tourism, proposing awareness-raising processes in the players, as well as links between the community of game creators and the community of activists who develop activities in urban spaces." (Carrubba, 2018)
		"Video games, as a mediated experience, are a unique format through which to denounce human rights violations and encourage critical judgment." (Moya Martínez, 2021)
Group 3 Games and gamification elements for radicalization	Total: 4 3 QUAL 1 QUAL CS	"Along with these modifications, titles directly linked to the terrorist world have also been developed, such as the Special Force saga, linked to Hezbollah. The West also has a high responsibility in relation to this propagandistic and video-ludic game, because for years and years, in its great war titles it has identified the enemy with Islam, enhancing a negative and demonized image of the same among the general public." (Moreno Cantano, 2022)
		"Both gamification and video games have the potential to influence radicalization processes. Top-down as well as bottom-up gamification have already been observed in relation to extremism, attesting to the increasing prominence gamified elements have for the development of tools by extremist organizations." (Schlegel, 2020)

 Table 1. Purpose of the studies on contemporary political discourse in digital games.



Purpose of Study	Number of Studies	Examples in Literature
Group 4	Total: 3	"This article argues that the desire to minimise the impact of in-game deaths by rendering victims as 'monsters' enacts a type of
Game design that justifies, minimizes, or downplays violence	1 QUAL	cultural violence by dehumanising them. This aesthetic dehumanisation of in-game victims echoes propaganda strategies
	2 QUAL CS	used to justify historical violence." (Kocurek, 2015)
		"The second conclusion is that Japanese video games promote a positive image of the military and warfare. This is not based on racial superiority, as in World War II, but on the defense and protection of the most defenseless individuals." (Galván Jerez, 2016)
Group 5	Total: 2	"It is found that many aspects of political activism in games tightly align with aspects of everyday life activism, but some aspects
Players' role in conveying political messages	1 QUAL	appear novel, different, and original." (Cermak-Sassenrath, 2018)
	1 QUAL CS	"The results show the audience's active role in the construction of nationalist identities and demonstrate how authoritarian regimes promote them." (Moya Martínez & Moreno Cantano, 2022)

Table 1. (Cont.) Purpose of the studies on contemporary political discourse in digital games.

Notes: QUAL = qualitative; QUAN = quantitative; QUAL CS = qualitative case study.

The reason most papers take a qualitative approach to studying political discourse in video games could be due to the nature of the subject matter. Political discourse is often complex, nuanced, and context-dependent, making it well-suited to qualitative methods that allow for an in-depth exploration of themes and patterns.

As for the prevalence of case studies, these are popular in qualitative research because they allow for an intensive analysis of a specific instance or context. Examining a particular game can provide valuable insights into the dynamics of political discourse within that specific context.

2.4.1.3. Game Genres

We observed that first-person shooters (FPSs) are the most common genre in the studied sample (see Figure 3). They were mentioned on 79 occasions across the papers, representing 36% of the total. Some of the titles mentioned were America's Army, BioShock Infinite, Call of Duty, and Counter-Strike. Following them are newsgames, representing 14.61% of the total with 32 mentions. Games as The Waffler or The Federator are some examples of this genre.

The wide presence of FPS games (entertainment games) in the papers might respond to the fact that they are popular and effectively convey political discourse due to their immersive and emotional gameplay, as well as their wide audience reach, modifiability (the ability to implement mods), and narrative control. They also allow for impactful political messages, emotional resonance, audience engagement, and content alteration for specific political themes. For example:

Usually, activists select game titles which offer gameplay and game content related to the political message (e.g., violent and militaristic FPS games). Other factors are popularity and availability in the target player community (for example Counter-Strike used as a platform by the activist mod Velvet-Strike). (Cermak-Sassenrath, 2018, p. 64)





Figure 3. Most frequent game genres in the reviewed papers.

Newsgames (serious games), the second most prevalent game genre in the studies analyzed, can offer interactive engagement with real-world events and issues, providing an engaging and memorable experience. They serve as educational tools with real-world relevance, making complex issues accessible and understandable:

Political newsgames that fulfill this function are both editorial and educational. In this sense, these games contribute to informed political discussions by presenting facts and data in a way that is accessible to the general public through a cartoonish style, caricatures, and satire similar to traditional political cartoons. (Gómez García & de la Hera, 2023, p. 282)

2.4.2. PRICE Dimensions Model: Identifying Political Discourse in Digital Games

Contemporary political discourse through digital games is portrayed in academic literature in five main ways (see Figure 4): (a) participation by protesting, voting, and producing in the game world; (b) representation of political figures, political parties, and political events; (c) ideology for promoting, criticizing, recruiting, raising awareness, and building identities; (d) conflict by presenting and gamifying; and (e) education by gamifying, motivating, interacting, and reflecting.

2.4.2.1. Participation

By participation, we refer to the way in which digital games encourage citizens to engage with political processes. We found that the most common forms of civic participation discussed in the papers are protesting, voting, and producing.





Figure 4. The PRICE dimensions model.

In regard to protesting, players dissent through symbolic actions and in-game political expressions, such as rallies, demonstrations, pacifist guilds, and gender-bending (Cermak-Sassenrath, 2018). Similarly, they defend causes, such as real-life political positions, lifestyle choices, and in-game practices. Through game mechanics like standing, sitting, walking, or sailing to occupy a location, players imitate aspects of real-life activism. They use signs with political slogans, images, and symbols, and reproduce typical behaviors, such as addressing and discussing with passers-by and counter-demonstrators. Moreover, players integrate original aspects like shouting or chanting (text, voice chat, or pre-recorded audio) into their performances. For example:

Two areas of activism can be identified which exclusively refer to in-game practices. One is works which protest and aim to overcome game violence; the other is works which protest rules and policies (such as top-down corporate control without residents' participation in Second Life). Activists might also protest against the imminent shut down of a platform, such as Club Penguin. (Cermak-Sassenrath, 2018, p. 64)

Concerning voting, through in-game persuasive strategies, political marketers intend to attract young voters in an entertaining space (Soto de la Cruz et al., 2023). One example is provided by Bossetta (2019, p. 3434): "The game's final boss, Theresa May's battle bus with the slogan '#LIES,' primes players to make the connection between the Conservative Party and the highly controversial messaging used by the Vote Leave campaign in the 2016 Brexit referendum."



As for producing, players take on the role of game developers by producing mods of commercialized released games to enhance the gaming experience (Cermak-Sassenrath, 2018; Robinson & Whittaker, 2020). In this sense, sympathizers of extremist groups and terrorist organizations create mods to engage with and spread their ideology (Schulzke, 2014, 2016):

To take an illustrative example, the modifications that have been made to the game ARMA3 to allow the player to play as a member of IS/AQ necessarily still rely on gameplay structured by the original game. While the changes serve to shift the positionality of the player, enabling them to embody a group that was absent from the original game—and in so doing, also allows the player to shoot and destroy those from "the West" that the original game frames as heroes—it still uses gameplay mechanics from the original. (Robinson & Whittaker, 2020)

2.4.2.2. Representation

Representation means characterizing, symbolizing, and giving a sense of authenticity to politicians and government institutions through political rhetoric in entertainment games and serious games. The papers studied mention the use of a pixelated or cartoonish aesthetic to convey political messages for parodic or humoristic purposes (Gómez García & de la Hera, 2023). In the analyzed studies, representation takes three forms: political figures, political parties, and political events.

In relation to political figures, with in-game political communication strategies, candidates seek authenticity by cultivating a youthful public image (Cerqueira Sobrino, 2020) and aim to foster players' emotional empathy (Soto de la Cruz et al., 2023). In this sense, some papers examined candidates' strategies to reach younger voters through new channels and formats, such as Twitch and games like Among Us.

The case of Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez, who on October 20 livestreamed on Twitch a game, along with prominent content creators, of the video game Among Us, with a peak audience of more than 400,000 people connected at the same time, in which [sic] could be established as a new form of connecting with the people. (Cerqueira Sobrino, 2020)

Relative to political parties, these can promote their political position through communication strategies using metaphors, such as fights, races, and tropes, to frame politics (Bossetta, 2019). In electoral campaigns, advergames (branded games) can serve as vehicles to convey a political agenda. For example:

Fiscal Kombat clearly characterizes the campaign as a battle, not only through its storyline but also through a "beat-'em-up" style of gameplay. Corbyn Run, meanwhile, conveys campaigning as a race, encoded through Corbyn's forward motion and his eventual surpassing of Theresa May's battle bus. (Bossetta, 2019, p. 3437)

Concerning political events, the persuasive potential of video games allows game developers to create and recreate real-life events and situations linked with politics, such as wars, terrorist attacks, and social revolutions, in a playful format. They often do so to maintain a certain image or to change the established perception of these events (Ming-Tak Chew & Wang, 2021; Moreno Cantano, 2022; Schulzke, 2014, 2016):



Kangzhan Online encourages gamers to cultivate memories of the War of Resistance. It does this through both game design and game management. Like most historical military games found in Western markets, Kangzhan Online's design realistically reproduces war-related details in its imaginary world. (Ming-Tak Chew & Wang, 2021, p. 9)

2.4.2.3. Ideology

Ideology focuses on how political ideologies are addressed in video games. We have identified five ways in which this occurs throughout the articles: promoting, criticizing, recruiting, awareness, and identities.

In regard to promoting, political and ideological organizations seek to persuade players with pro-war messages (Galván Jerez, 2016), entertainment and authoritarian propaganda (Ming-Tak Chew & Wang, 2021), and radicalization by desensitizing individuals to violence (Schlegel, 2020). This includes extremist views:

Video games with extremist content may play a part in facilitating susceptibility to radicalization by familiarizing individuals with narrative structures, such as a return to a glorified past, the importance of individual agency and the individual capability (if not duty) to fight evil, advocated by many contemporary extremist movements. (Schlegel, 2020, p. 26)

Concerning criticizing, games can take positions on social and political issues by condemning the dangers of nationalism and fanaticism in historical portrayals (Schubert, 2018), as well as endorsing war-making to the detriment of peacemaking (Hopp et al., 2018). One example is BioShock Infinite's visual manifestation:

In terms of how the events at Wounded Knee are portrayed in this exhibition, the Native Americans appear as the sole aggressors, with no mention of a massacre committed by US soldiers, instead honoring their heroic battle. Again, this depiction is partly influenced by the actual history of Wounded Knee, which at times was also considered a "battle" in US history but is nowadays usually recognized as a massacre. (Schubert, 2018, p. 15)

As for recruiting, political, military, and terrorist organizations use video games to engage or recruit young people. Moreno Cantano (2022) explains this phenomenon:

Video games have a strong emotional charge, significant psychological impact, and a vast field of dissemination thanks to the Internet. This interest has not gone unnoticed by the most dangerous terrorist organizations, especially those related to Islamic jihadism, which have used this medium to spread their messages and try to garner support for their cause among young people, those most familiar with this digital format. (pp. 399–400)

In relation to awareness, games can create new playful narratives to raise citizens' awareness of political issues. We found that the studied papers discuss urban phenomena like housing shortages or homelessness (Carrubba, 2018), denounce human rights violations, and encourage critical thinking (Moya Martínez, 2021). This example illustrates an effort to raise citizen awareness by playing as a homeless character:



The game [The Last Hope] is a simulation of the day-to-day life of a homeless person. Its aim is to invite the player to put themselves in the shoes of this individual to experience the problems of this group first-hand, as well as to connect this experience with the available data on the homeless population in the city of Barcelona. (Carrubba, 2018, p. 229)

As for identities, video games use narratives to foster communities. These are often rooted in nationalistic values, cultivating a sense of belonging among players (Moya Martínez & Moreno Cantano, 2022):

Individual users like Gu Wenlong, who has created within the video game H1Z1: King of the Kill (Daybreak Game, 2015) the group Red Army, which attacks in this virtual space any foreign player who goes against China, forcing them to shout "China No. 1" if they do not want their avatar to be eliminated. (p. 31)

2.4.2.4. Conflict

Conflict refers to how political conflicts are described, resolved, or promoted within digital games. In the studied papers, two modes are discussed: presenting and gamifying.

In regard to presenting, games can create a positive image of powerful countries or extremist organizations, as well as seek a moral justification for criminal interferences (Ashraf, 2013) by dehumanizing in-game enemies and masking the impact of in-game deaths by alternative blood and monstrousness (Kocurek, 2015). Also, through the cult of the insurgent (Schulzke, 2014), games can be used to rationalize the use of force (Schulzke, 2016), presenting countries like Russia, the Middle East, and Latin America as real-world threats (Valeriano & Habel, 2016). Here is an example of how conflict can be depicted:

Games about the Israel-Gaza Conflict relied on many of the persuasive techniques that are ubiquitous in propaganda. Each game constructed the conflict in a way that supported a particular side by demonising the opponent, affirming the favoured side's justness, and excusing that side's actions. (Schulzke, 2016, p. 592)

Concerning gamifying, terrorist organizations can use game elements to manipulate reality. In attack footage, terrorists can imitate or resemble FPS games, increasing the affective appeal of propaganda (Andrews, 2023). For example:

The obvious point is that Christchurch, and similar attacks, produced footage that looked like FPS games that strive to be realistic, and which place a heavy emphasis on modern warfare, accurate reproduction of weaponry, lifelike animations, and immersive game mechanics that mimic the tropes of popular war media. (Andrews, 2023, p. 62)

2.4.2.5. Education

Education consists of using video games to instruct players about certain political issues through soft news and historical content. In the studied papers, we observed four ways to accomplish this: gamifying, motivating, interacting, and reflecting.



In relation to gamifying, players and educators can benefit from game elements applied to educational contexts to explore and understand the historical context of war. In this regard, Díaz (2014, as cited in del Moral Pérez & Rodríguez González, 2021, p. 221) argues that the gamification of war scenarios and first-person gameplay help to understand and empathize with victims by making decisions in extreme situations. It prompts reflection and attitude change.

As for motivating, through games, students can immerse themselves in virtual worlds that encourage learning and reward players who adopt non-violent strategies.

These video games can promote learning of historical content, although it is acknowledged that not all of them faithfully represent historical facts. Some merely present events in a trivial and decontextualized manner, omitting crucial elements, such as the causes that led to wars and their resulting consequences. (del Moral Pérez & Rodríguez González, 2021, p. 224)

Regarding interacting, games can be used for educational purposes to promote social connection among students in attractive scenarios. In this sense, Marcano (2014, as cited in del Moral Pérez & Rodríguez González, 2021, p. 216) explains that it enhances sensory perception and fine motor skills, social competence when playing in a team, and tolerance towards weaknesses and differences.

Finally, for reflecting, through games, players are encouraged to develop critical thinking, particularly on political issues (Gómez García & de la Hera, 2023) and moral dilemmas. This is illustrated in the following example:

Spec Ops: The Line promotes reflection and provokes a feeling of guilt in the player for the decisions made; This War of Mine shows the emotional impact of war on victims, allowing for reflection on moral dilemmas, and the Metal Gear series offers a critical view of the Cold War from the perspective of the opposing sides. Meanwhile, the study focused on the Call of Duty series shows a biased view of various war conflicts by omitting the presence and suffering of civilians. (Verino, 2019, as cited in del Moral Pérez & Rodríguez González, 2021, p. 223)

In summary, political rhetoric in digital games can be studied using the PRICE dimensions model as a systematic model, which can be an effective tool for understanding current knowledge of this topic.

3. Future Research

After analyzing the selected articles, we identified research gaps that need more attention from the academic community. Following the same reasoning as in the Analysis section, the 25 papers were classified into the five established thematic groups, as we did when categorizing the studies according to their purpose (Section 2.4.1.2).

First, video games as a tool for digital propaganda: On this topic, future studies could investigate the effects on players' political interest and participation in propagames and compare it with the exposure to political advertisements (Bossetta, 2019; Soto de la Cruz et al., 2023). In addition, multidisciplinary studies could provide a better understanding through an in-depth analysis of the discourse within the games themselves



(Gómez García et al., 2022). It is also necessary to study the new contexts and new actors in video games generating propaganda (Schulzke, 2016). Similarly, how propagames integrate entertainment with authoritarian propaganda could be examined (Ming-Tak Chew & Wang, 2021). Finally, the use of live-streaming gaming platforms as advertising spaces for political purposes needs to be explored (Cerqueira Sobrino, 2020).

Second, video games aiming to raise awareness of political issues: In this category, further research could study the use of video games to explore citizens' reactions to different social issues in different urban contexts (Carrubba, 2018). Addressing the critical aspect of war games could also be necessary, particularly in how they present events, facilitate critical thinking (del Moral Pérez & Rodríguez González, 2021), and incorporate civilians in decision-making (Valeriano & Habel, 2016).

Third, games and gamification elements for radicalization: Future studies could examine the psychological harm online activity can have in the physical world, as well as how recruitment and radicalization might take place in the metaverse (Lakhani, 2023). In this vein, further research is needed on how extremists, terrorists, and their sympathizers engage in game spaces (Robinson & Whittaker, 2020).

Fourth, game design that justifies, minimizes, or downplays violence: Future research could explore whether the vilification of certain ethnic groups in video games has real-life consequences (Kocurek, 2015). Studies might also analyze whether masking violence in video games desensitizes players to violence in real life or, on the contrary, creates a clearer separation between the fantasy world and the real world (Galván Jerez, 2016).

Fifth, players' role in conveying political messages: An in-depth study on how players disseminate political views and organize rallies and demonstrations within video games would be necessary, as well as how they use other adjacent platforms, such as YouTube (Cermak-Sassenrath, 2018). Similarly, further research could address the analysis of gaming communities as opinion spaces for digital technonationalism (Moya Martínez & Moreno Cantano, 2022).

4. Conclusion

The aim of this study was to review existing literature on how digital games are used to convey contemporary political discourse. We used the SALSA framework, which is an effective tool for a systematic literature approach. A novel contribution of this study is the PRICE dimensions model, a systematic model providing categories and subcategories to identify and classify current political rhetoric in digital games.

The results show that most of the papers examined fell under the category of research, indicating a strong empirical approach to understanding this complex intersection of politics and gaming. Theory, discussion, development, and review studies were also present in the sample, in this order.

The methodologies employed in these papers predominantly involve qualitative approaches and case studies, underscoring the importance of theoretical analysis and empirical research in examining current political discourse within gaming spaces.



The papers analyzed primarily fell into five thematic groups according to how political discourse is integrated into video games, namely the use of games as digital propaganda tools, their ability to raise political awareness, the role of gamification in radicalization, game design that justifies, minimizes, or downplays violence, and the role of players in conveying political messages.

In our sample of studies related to political rhetoric, we observed that FPSs are the most frequently explored genre followed by newsgames. The prevalence of FPS games mentioned and discussed in the analyzed papers may be attributed to their ability to convey political messages effectively through immersive and emotionally engaging gameplay, their extensive audience reach, their modifiability, and narrative control.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the anonymous reviewers for their constructive feedback.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

References

- Akbar, F., & Kusumasari, B. (2022). Making public policy fun: How political aspects and policy issues are found in video games. *Policy Futures in Education*, 20(5), 646–660. https://doi.org/10.1177/147821032 11033071
- Andrews, S. (2023). The 'first person shooter' perspective: A different view on first person shooters, gamification, and first person terrorist propaganda. *Games and Culture*, 19(1), 55–74. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/15554120231153789
- Ashraf, A. (2013). War game: A panoptical narrative of terror. *Pakistaniaat*, 5(3), 14–30.
- Baltezarević, R., Baltezarević, B., Baltezarević, V., Kwiatek, P., & Baltezarević, I. (2019). Political marketing in digital games: 'Game over' for traditional political marketing methods. *Acta Ludologica*, 2(2), 28–47.
- Bennett, W. L. (1979). When politics becomes play. *Political Behavior*, 1(4), 331–359. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00989808
- Bogost, I. (2006). Playing politics: Videogames for politics, activism, and advocacy. *First Monday*, 2006(Special Issue #7). https://doi.org/10.5210/fm.v0i0.1617
- Bogost, I. (2007). Persuasive games: The expressive power of videogames. MIT Press.
- Booth, A., Sutton, A., & Papaioannou, D. (2016). Systematic approaches to a successful literature review (2nd ed.). Sage.
- Borges Lima, L. A. (2017). Videogames as a political medium: The case of mass effect and the gendered gaming scene of dissensus. In S. Tosoni, N. Carpentier, M. F. Murru, R. Kilborn, L. Kramp, R. Kunelius, A. McNicholas, T. Olsson, & P. Pruulmann-Vengerfeldt (Eds.), *Present scenarios of media production and engagement* (pp. 67–80). Lumiére.
- Bossetta, M. (2019). Political campaigning games: Digital campaigning with computer games in European national elections. *International Journal of Communication*, 13, 3422–3443.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Carrubba, L. (2018). El videojuego como dispositivo tecnopolítico. El caso de "Juegos del Común." *ICONO* 14, 16(1), 212-237. https://doi.org/10.7195/ri14.v16i1.1131
- Cermak-Sassenrath, D. (2018). On political activism in digital games. *MedieKultur*, 34(64), 87–115. https://doi.org/10.7146/mediekultur.v34i64.96924



- Cerqueira Sobrino, A. (2020). Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez y Twitch: El uso de nuevas plataformas para interactuar con audiencias en contextos propagandísticos. *TSN Transatlantic Studies Network*, 10, 121–130.
- Chess, S., & Consalvo, M. (2022). The future of media studies is game studies. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, 39(3), 159–164. https://doi.org/10.1080/15295036.2022.2075025
- de la Hera, T. (2019). Digital gaming and the advertising landscape. Amsterdam University Press. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/j.ctvnp0j4g
- de la Hera, T., Jansz, J., Raessens, J., & Schouten, B. (Eds.). (2021). *Persuasive gaming in context*. Amsterdam University Press. https://doi.org/10.5117/9789463728805
- del Moral Pérez, M. E., & Rodríguez González, C. (2021). Revisión sistemática de investigaciones sobre videojuegos bélicos (2010–2020). Revista de Humanidades, 42, 205–228. https://doi.org/10.5944/rdh.42. 2021.27570
- Dempsey, J., Rasmussen, K., & Lucassen, B. (1996). *The instructional gaming literature: Implications and 99 sources* (Technical Report No. 96-1). University of South Alabama.
- Ferrara, J. (2013). Games for persuasion: Argumentation, procedurality, and the lie of gamification. *Games and Culture*, 8(4), 289–304. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412013496891
- Flanagan, M. (2009). *Critical play: Radical game design*. MIT Press. https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/7678.001. 0001
- Flanagan, M. (2015). Playful aesthetics: Toward a ludic language. In S. P. Walz & S. Deterding (Eds.), *The gameful world: Approaches, issues, applications* (pp. 249–272). MIT Press. https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/9788. 001.0001
- Frasca, G. (2007). *Play the message. Play, game and videogame rhetoric.* [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. IT University of Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Galván Jerez, E. (2016). Lo cuqui va a la guerra: Estrategias de comunicación probélicas en videojuegos japoneses. *Revista de Filología Románica*, 33(Especial), 67–77. https://doi.org/10.5209/RFRM.55859
- Gee, J. P. (2010). An introduction to discourse analysis: Theory and method (3rd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/ 10.4324/9780203847886
- Glas, R., Lammes, S., Lange, M., Raessens, J., & Vries, I. (Eds.). (2019). The playful citizen: Civic engagement in a mediatized culture. Amsterdam University Press. https://doi.org/10.5117/9789462984523
- Gómez García, S., Chicharro Merayo, M. d. M., Vicent Ibáñez, M., & Durántez Stolle, P. (2022). La política a la que jugamos. Cultura, videojuegos y ludoficción política en la plataforma Steam. *index.comunicación*, 12(2), 277–303. https://doi.org/10.33732/ixc/12/02Lapoli
- Gómez García, S., & de la Hera, T. (2023). Games as political actors in digital journalism. *Media and Communication*, 11(2), 278–290. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.v11i2.6515
- Grace, L. D. (2021). Macro, micro, and meta-persuasive play to change society. In T. de la Hera, J. Jansz, J. Raessens, & B. Schouten (Eds.), *Persuasive gaming in context* (pp. 119–138). Amsterdam University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1hw3z1d
- Grant, M. J., & Booth, A. (2009). A typology of reviews: An analysis of 14 review types and associated methodologies. *Health Information and Libraries Journal*, *26*(2), 91–108. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-1842.2009.00848.x
- Hopp, T., Parrott, S., & Wang, Y. (2018). Use of military-themed first-person shooter games and militarism: An investigation of two potential facilitating mechanisms. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 78, 192–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.09.035
- Huang, V. G., & Liu, T. (2022). Gamifying contentious politics: Gaming capital and playful resistance. *Games* and Culture, 17(1), 26–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/15554120211014143



- Jacobs, R. S., Jansz, J., & de la Hera, T. (2017). The key features of persuasive games: A model and case analysis. In T. Quandt & R. Kowert (Eds.), *New perspectives on the social aspects of digital gaming: Multiplayer 2* (pp. 153–171). Routledge.
- Kocurek, C. A. (2015). Who hearkens to the monster's scream? Death, violence and the veil of the monstrous in video games. *Visual Studies*, *30*(1), 79–89. https://doi.org/10.1080/1472586X.2015.996402
- Kowert, R., Martel, A., & Swann, W. B. (2022). Not just a game: Identity fusion and extremism in gaming cultures. *Frontiers in Communication*, 7, Article 1007128. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomm.2022.1007128
- Lakhani, S. (2023). When digital and physical world combine: The metaverse and gamification of violent extremism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 17(2), 108–125.
- Lakomy, M. (2019). Let's play a video game: Jihadi propaganda in the world of electronic entertainment. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 42(4), 383–406. https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2017.1385903
- Lempert, M., & Silverstein, M. (2012). Creatures of politics: Media, message, and the American presidency. Indiana University Press.
- Leng, H. K., Quah, S. L., & Zainuddin, F. (2010). The Obama effect: An exploratory study on factors affecting brand recall in online games. *International Journal of Trade, Economics and Finance*, 1(1), 1–5.
- Lerner, J. (2014). Making democracy fun: How game design can empower citizens and transform politics. MIT Press.
- Mayer, I. S. (2009). The gaming of policy and the politics of gaming: A review. *Simulation & Gaming*, 40(6), 825–862. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046878109346456
- Miller, W. J. (2013). We can't all be Obama: The use of new media in modern political campaigns. *Journal of Political Marketing*, 12(4), 326–347.
- Ming-Tak Chew, M., & Wang, Y. (2021). How propagames work as a part of digital authoritarianism: An analysis of a popular Chinese propagame. *Media, Culture & Society, 43*(8), 1431–1448. https://doi.org/10.1177/01634437211029846
- Moreno Cantano, A. C. (2022). Terrorismo, guerra de ideas y videojuegos: Teoría y práctica. *Araucaria*, 24(50), 381–405. https://doi.org/10.12795/araucaria.2022.i50.16
- Moya Martínez, J. A. (2021). Mensajes políticos y derechos humanos en los videojuegos. *Communication Papers: Media Literacy and Gender Studies*, 10(21), 7–22.
- Moya Martínez, J. A., & Moreno Cantano, A. C. (2022). Debates transmedia e identidades nacionalistas a través de videojuegos: Teoría y práctica. *Contratexto*, 38, 21–41. https://doi.org/10.26439/contratexto2022. n038.5873
- Nieborg, D. B. (2004). America's Army: More than a game? In T. Eberle, W. C. Kriz, M. Puschert, & F. Glötzner (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 35th Conference of the International Simulation and Gaming Association, Munich, 2004.* Swiss Austrian German Simulation and Gaming Association.
- Pérez Latorre, O. (2015). The social discourse of video games analysis model and case study: GTA IV. *Games and Culture*, 10(5), 415–437. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412014565639
- Petticrew, M., & Roberts, H. (2006). Systematic reviews in the social sciences: A practical guide (1st ed.). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470754887
- Raessens, J. (2006). Playful identities, or the ludification of culture. *Games and Culture*, 1(1), 52–57. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412005281779
- Randour, F., Perrez, J., & Reuchamps, M. (2020). Twenty years of research on political discourse: A systematic review and directions for future research. *Discourse & Society*, 31(4), 428–443. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0957926520903526
- Reer, F., Siitonen, M., & de La Hera, T. (2024). Editorial: The dark and the light side of gaming. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14, Article 1349479. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1349479



Robinson, N., & Whittaker, J. (2020). Playing for hate? Extremism, terrorism, and videogames. *Studies in Conflict* & *Terrorism*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610x.2020.1866740

Salen, K., & Zimmerman, E. (2004). Rules of play: Game design fundamentals. MIT Press.

- Santos, H., Saldanha, L., Pinto, M., & Ferreira, P. (2018, November 28). *Civic and political transgressions in videogames: The views and experiences of the players* [Paper presentation]. DiGRA Nordic '18, Bergen, Norway.
- Schlegel, L. (2020). Jumanji extremism? How games and gamification could facilitate radicalization processes. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 23, 1–44.
- Schlegel, L., & Kowert, R. (2024). *Gaming and extremism: The radicalization of digital playgrounds* (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003388371
- Schubert, S. (2018). Dystopia in the skies: Negotiating justice and morality on screen in the video game BioShock Infinite. *European Journal of American Studies*, 13(4). https://doi.org/10.4000/ejas.14089
- Schulzke, M. (2013). Rethinking military gaming: America's Army and its critics. *Games and Culture*, 8(2), 59–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412013478686
- Schulzke, M. (2014). Simulating terrorism and insurgency: Video games in the war of ideas. *Cambridge Review* of International Affairs, 27(4), 627–643. https://doi.org/10.1080/09557571.2014.960508
- Schulzke, M. (2016). War by other means: Mobile gaming and the 2014 Israel-Gaza conflict. *Review of International Studies*, 42(3), 575–596. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0260210515000510
- Seiffert, J., & Nothhaft, H. (2015). The missing media: The procedural rhetoric of computer games. *Public Relations Review*, 41(2), 254–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2014.11.011
- Sevin, R., & DeCamp, W. (2020). Video game genres and advancing quantitative video game research with the genre diversity score. *The Computer Games Journal*, 9(4), 401–420. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40869-020-00115-3
- Sicart, M. (2011). Against procedurality. Game Studies, 11(3). https://gamestudies.org/1103/articles/sicart_ap
- Sicart, M. (2023). The beautiful rule: Thinking the aesthetics of game rules. *Games and Culture*, 18(7), 889–906. https://doi.org/10.1177/15554120221149532
- Silverstein, M. (2003). The whens and wheres—As well as hows—Of ethnolinguistic recognition. *Public Culture*, 15(3), 531–558. https://doi.org/10.1215/08992363-15-3-531
- Siriaraya, P., Visch, V., Vermeeren, A., & Bas, M. (2018). A cookbook method for persuasive game design. International Journal of Serious Games, 5(1), 37–71. https://doi.org/10.17083/ijsg.v5i1.159
- Soto de la Cruz, J., de la Hera, T., Cortés Gómez, S., & Lacasa, P. (2023). Digital games as persuasion spaces for political marketing: Joe Biden's campaign in Fortnite. *Media and Communication*, 11(2), 266–277. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.v11i2.6476
- Stokes, B., & Williams, D. (2018). Gamers who protest: Small-group play and social resources for civic action. *Games and Culture*, 13(4), 327–348. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412015615770
- Torres-Toukoumidis, A., Gutiérrez, I. M., Becerra, M. H., León-Alberca, T., & Curiel, C. P. (2023). Let's play democracy, exploratory analysis of political video games. *Societies*, 13(2), Article 28. https://doi.org/10.3390/soc13020028
- Tran, C. H., Ruberg, B., Lark, D., & Guarriello, N.-B. (2021). Playing at the polls: Video games in/as platforms for political participation. AoIR Selected Papers of Internet Research, 2021. https://doi.org/10.5210/spir. v2021i0.12134
- Valeriano, B., & Habel, P. (2016). Who are the enemies? The visual framing of enemies in digital games. *International Studies Review*, 18(3), 462–486. https://doi.org/10.1093/isr/viv007
- Walz, S. P., & Deterding, S. (Eds.). (2014). The gameful world: Approaches, issues, applications. MIT Press.



About the Authors



Jenniffer Soto de la Cruz earned her PhD in communication, information, and technology of the network society from the University of Alcalá (Spain) in September 2023. Her research focuses on the intersection of digital games, marketing, and communication, exploring how new media platforms shape public opinion and player engagement. She is particularly interested in exploring digital persuasion through digital games in social, cultural, and political contexts.



Sara Cortés Gómez holds a PhD in audiovisual communication and advertising from the University of Alcalá (Spain). She is also a member of the Images, Words, and Ideas (GIPI) research group of the University of Alcalá. Her research focuses on education, new technologies, and video games as cultural tools, and her new lines of research focus on the use of video games from the idea of creators and designers, considering these instruments as multimodal narratives from their production.



Pilar Lacasa (PhD) is an emeritus professor at the University of Alcalá (Spain) and senior eminent researcher at the International University of La Rioja. She has been a visiting researcher in the MIT Comparative Media Studies (CMS) program and at the Digital Ethnography Research Centre (DERC) at RMIT University (Melbourne, Australia). She coordinates the Images, Words, and Ideas (GIPI) research group at the University of Alcalá. Her research focuses on fan communities, video games, narratives, and digital media.

ARTICLE

 cogitatio

Open Access Journal

Experiencing the Call of Duty: Exploring Emotions in Commercial War Games

Joseph Pattison

Department of Social Sciences, Northumbria University, UK

Correspondence: Joseph Pattison (joe2.pattison@northumbria.ac.uk)

Submitted: 13 May 2024 Accepted: 29 July 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

This article explores how players interpret and reflect on themes in mainstream war videogames, specifically the Call of Duty franchise. Scholars have long focused on the ideological content of war games, which is marked by increased collusion of military institutions with the gaming industry and assumptions about the influential capabilities of war games, in which player agency is often downplayed. This study builds on Lenoir and Caldwell's (2018) observations that the interpretation of mainstream franchises should focus more on their attempts to create an "affective framework" that emphasises certain emotions in players. Through a thematic analysis of semi-structured interviews with 25 participants, this study found that participants outlined their discomfort in certain missions, to the point where they even altered their playstyle, suggesting that players often reflect critically on the aspects of war these games explore. This article concludes that mainstream franchises, like Call of Duty, should be considered complex cultural artefacts consisting of various layers of meaning. Rather than directly transmitting militaristic ideologies, these games craft an emotional aesthetic capable of exploring more controversial aspects of war. The key to understanding these franchises lies directly with the players themselves, which is why audiences should be treated as conscious agents who play an active role in drawing meaning from such an aesthetic.

Keywords

affect; audience research; Call of Duty; commercial war games; emotion; military; videogames

1. Introduction

Videogames have come a long way from the moral panics and associations with societal violence dating back to the 1990s. At the centre of this controversy was the first-person shooter (FPS), which continues to be one



of the most popular gaming genres. Over time, however, FPS games have come to be defined by their embrace of militaristic themes and narratives (Voorhees, 2012). According to Schulzke (2020, p. 141), military games celebrate simulated violence as necessary acts that aid national security interests and encourage players to identify with real armed forces. Most Western-made military-themed games allow players to experience a predominantly celebratory view of war. This has led to a growing concern amongst scholars over the potential of these games to reinforce certain attitudes surrounding war and the military (Nieborg, 2010; Power, 2007). However, Sicart (2016, p. 317) outlines that it is possible to view military games as devices for reflection, which create experiences that are open to more nuanced interpretations. Therefore, within these discussions, it is also essential to acknowledge the active role of the player in determining meaning from topics covered within the games they play.

This article seeks to understand how players, as active participants, determine meaning from their experiences playing war-themed games. The term "war-themed games" incorporates various genres, but this research looks at civilian-developed FPS games, namely Call of Duty. The article sets out to answer the question: How do players make meaning from their experiences playing commercial war games? Drawing from 25 semi-structured interviews conducted with active videogame players, the article demonstrates that players came to define their experiences through the emotions they felt during play. More specifically, participants outlined numerous missions that channelled more negative emotions, such as guilt and discomfort, in which certain moments made for an unsettling experience. This study highlights how commercial games create an affective experience of war and that certain mainstream games expand on this by confronting players with moral dilemmas which expose them to the harsh realities of war. Despite franchises like Call of Duty glorifying conflict, they also feature immoral moments that highlight more controversial aspects of war, including war crimes and the consequences of war on civilian populations. These controversial moments place the player in uncomfortable situations, which open opportunities for reflection on the game's content and their virtual actions. The key to understanding these war games lies with the players, who play a crucial role in determining meaning.

The article begins by exploring debates on military videogames and how they have come to be defined by their celebration of military themes and support for militarisation. Commercial videogames play a pivotal role in this process, and their popularity among gamers demonstrates how entrenched militaristic themes have become, especially within the FPS genre. The article proceeds to explore the unique way commercial war-themed games generate meaning by exploring Lenoir and Caldwell's (2018) "affective framework," which outlines the affect of emotions within these games, which immerse players into a personalised war experience. The article sets out the research methodology and how audience-based interviews with players can contribute to a better understanding of these affective experiences. The analysis explores how participants experienced more negative emotional reactions to two campaigns from the Call of Duty franchise: Modern Warfare 2 (Infinity Ward, 2009) and the reboot of Modern Warfare (Infinity Ward, 2019)—these moments confronted players with moral dilemmas, which left them feeling guilty and uncomfortable, providing opportunities for reflection on their virtual actions.

2. The Military and Gaming

Most of the existing literature characterises military videogames through their close affiliation with the military, with scholars from various disciplines documenting the extensive structural relationship between



game developers and the military dating back to some of the earliest videogames (Halter, 2006; Herz, 1997; Huntemann & Payne, 2010; Lenoir, 2000). This historic collaboration between the military and the gaming industry has come to be understood as the "military-entertainment complex" or what Der Derian refers to as the "military-industrial-media-entertainment-network" (Der Derian, 2009, p. 83). One of the most infamous products from this collaboration is America's Army (US Army, 2002), a game created by the US Army to encourage players to enlist in the military. However, these structural studies serve as primarily descriptive studies that reveal little about the content of these games. Schulzke (2013, p. 72) argues that demonstrating these military connections does not tell us what ideological messages the games promote or how military games are experienced. Other studies have focused more on the content of military games, like America's Army, and have accused them of promoting militaristic ideologies that contribute to the growing militarisation of society by glamorising war and promoting military service (Nichols, 2010; Robinson, 2012). Power (2007) notes that military games put a "friendly, hospitable face on the military, manufacturing consent and complicity among consumers for military programmes" (p. 278). Delwiche (2007) provides the most literal take on the military themes found in videogames by claiming that they "have the potential to shape attitudes and behaviour in ways that Goebbels could never have dreamed" (p. 92).

However, irrespective of the messages within games, the assumption that players will simply absorb these messages without critical reflection is problematic. The audience plays an active role in determining meaning, which should be taken into account when considering the effects of war games. Players demonstrate some degree of agency in how they play and experience videogames, which makes it challenging to make definitive assertions about a game's meaning (Schulzke, 2017, p. 615). Stuart Hall outlines the various ways audiences can read a text in his "encoding/decoding" model, where reading falls into three categories: it can be "dominant/hegemonic" in that it follows the encoded message inscribed into the text; it can be oppositional in that audiences reject the message; and it can be negotiated (S. Hall, 1980). Audience engagement with popular media is complex, and they often negotiate and struggle over the given meaning of a product (Glynn & Cupples, 2015, p. 272). Therefore, any analysis looking for "ideological reference in a given video game might yield astonishingly different results depending on the diversity of players' values" (Cassar, 2013, p. 341).

Audience-based research has previously emphasised the diverse ways players experience military games, with very few fully subscribing to their themes. Huntemann (2010) conducted interviews with 26 military videogame players and found that while these games create a sanitised fantasy that glamorises military action, she was unconvinced that they prevent players from critically engaging with the content. Festl et al. (2013) carried out a representative survey of 4,500 gamers and concluded that the "development of militaristic attitudes cannot be attributed to the use of military-themed computer games" (p. 403). Even games that are considered more critical in their messaging can reveal the diversity of player engagement. For example, Jørgensen (2020, pp. 84–85) conducted an ethnographic interview with players of This War of Mine (11 bit studios, 2014), a survival game that focuses on the civilian experience of war, and found that some players were opposed to the rhetorical messages of the game. Relating to Hall's "encoding/decoding" model, these reception studies demonstrate that the way audiences interpret messages is not as straightforward and underscores the idea that the meaning of a given piece of media is contested and subject to multiple interpretations. Players do not always accept the meaning of a videogame but offer a more active role in determining meaning from their gaming experiences, allowing for more significant insights into the militaristic themes in these games and how players come to make sense of them.



3. Affective Experiences in Commercial War Games

It is important to consider how audiences make meaning from military games, especially considering how popular the genre has become over the past 20 years. The turn of the 21st century saw the rise of popular commercial military-themed games, including FPSs, such as Call of Duty and Battlefield, which have become some of the most successful franchises in the gaming industry and have immense global outreach. Militarism remains integral to these games, which adopt an Anglo-Western political and ideological perspective on war through narrative themes and visual imagery (Godfrey, 2022). Commercial war games invite players to participate in a cinematic experience of past, present, and even futuristic wars. For example, Call of Duty (Infinity Ward, 2003) originally started as a World War 2 shooter, allowing players to participate in historical battles like D-Day. In 2007, Call of Duty leapt into a more contemporary setting with the release of Modern Warfare, which explored issues including terrorism and the threat of nuclear war. The content of these games has undeniably been shaped by real-world events, especially in the aftermath of 9/11 and the "War on Terror" (Robinson, 2019, pp. 14–15). The world in these games is depicted through a Western lens, and they "draw upon and are reflective of contemporary US geopolitical intrigues" (Bos, 2018, p. 57). According to Gagnon (2010), games like Call of Duty echo the militarist ideology that has been dominant in the post-9/11 US national security debate. These studies demonstrate how prevalent militarism is within commercial war games in which players are immersed in an entertaining war experience inspired by modern geopolitical developments.

Developers exert considerable effort to make an entertaining and pleasurable experience for consumers, and at the core of these franchises is their emotional appeal. Lenoir and Caldwell (2018) argue that the focus on commercial games as being grounded in communicating militaristic ideologies is unfruitful, and more attention should be paid to how they create an entertaining and stimulating experience that appeals to players. They suggest the key to understanding commercial military games is through:

The construction of an aesthetic—an affective framework for experience—that targets and exploits embodiment more than cognition to immerse the player in the game world. Far from concerning themselves with communicating propagandistic values or skills that are unique to the military, wargame developers focus their most significant efforts on constructing the gaming experience—that is, how players feel when immersed in their game. (Lenoir & Caldwell, 2018, p. 84)

In their view, commercial games can be better understood through their attempts to translate war, an act that is not inherently pleasant, into a positive affective experience that is entertaining for the player. The priority for developers is to create an exhilarating experience that depicts war as a spectacular event with which consumers can connect. War itself is not fun on its own and requires significant rewriting in order to create an experience that players support, which works to both legitimise and normalise the act of warfare (Godfrey, 2022, p. 679). Franchises like Call of Duty emphasise certain emotions through their sensational and dramatic narratives, exhilarating set pieces, and well-written characters, which all combine to create a positive affective encounter of war that makes players feel excited and heroic. Call of Duty is infamous for its cinematic cutscenes and scripted set pieces that give the game meaning and "convey a stronger emotional punch" (Sicart, 2016, p. 311). Commercial war games utilise more pleasurable encounters to stimulate affect, which plays an influential role in shaping contemporary military imaginations. Dittmer and Bos (2019) note how commercial war games generate an affective experience of war, but one stripped



of danger and consequences. It is, therefore, not surprising that most commercial games present a more sanitised experience of war that fails to cover more controversial and negative aspects of conflict, such as the consequences of severe acts of violence. In this way, a flawed reality of war is presented (Pötzsch, 2017, p. 160). Creating a sanitised war experience makes playing the game less problematic and more enjoyable, encouraging broader demographics to buy the game.

In addition to the affective framework outlined by Lenoir and Caldwell, other scholars have emphasised that war-themed games utilise emotions to constitute specific meanings. Payne (2016) uses the concept of "ludic war" as a "pleasurable experience of playing military-themed videogames" (p. 11). Games like Call of Duty are described as "first-personal shooters" as they appeal directly to the player's emotions by making them empathise with narratives of military sacrifice. He also uses the term "sacrificial citizenship" to describe how avatars, and, by extension, the player, "participate in dramatic acts of virtual patriotism" in service of their virtual nation (Payne, 2016, p. 92). In the opening mission of Modern Warfare (Infinity Ward, 2007), the player experiences a segment in which their character is executed by a gunshot to the face by a terrorist called Al-Asad. This "face-to-face" confrontation sets up the plot and serves as a critical moment in which the imagery of Al-Asad pulling the trigger becomes "the face of enmity, and the fight is made personal" (Welsh, 2012, p. 403). Seeing their own avatar or another squadmate die is a very personal moment for the player and is likely to create a strong emotional response if the player has developed a close attachment to that character.

This affective framework primarily considers how videogames create powerful emotional moments that shape players' attitudes on specific issues and contribute to a more positive outlook on war and the military. However, it is important to consider that affect is not just used for militaristic means but is pliable and can be put to any end of any political persuasion (Dittmer & Bos, 2019, p. 139). When discussing emotions in videogames, it is important to look beyond the facilitation of positive affective experiences when, in actuality, videogames offer complex, paradoxical emotional experiences that can also be precarious and unpleasant (McSorley, 2020). In other words, it is just as possible for these games to explore more negative emotions and create a distressing experience for the player. Players should be considered an essential element when making sense of this emotional aesthetic. Through their interactions with games, they have the capacity to critically consume and reflect on their in-game actions (Bowman et al., 2022). Through considering the complexities of emotions in war games, it is important to understand how players make meaning from this aesthetic, especially when considering the possibility of videogames presenting players with more controversial aspects of war. When discussing the effects of videogames, scholars tend to downplay the agency of players in constructing meaning. It is crucial to acknowledge that audiences play an active role in how they make meaning from their experiences. Furthermore, given the success of commercial war game franchises like Call of Duty, it is important to consider the emotional impacts of these games, specifically the impact of more negative emotional experiences on how players determine meaning. This research will engage directly with gamers to understand how they experience commercial military games, specifically focusing on their emotional reactions during play. The following section outlines the methodology used to explore how players make meaning from their in-game experiences.

4. Methodology

This study is part of a larger project that delves into the ideological complexities of modern military videogames. A key aspect of this project is to consider the viewpoints of players, aiming to contribute to a



more comprehensive understanding of how average gamers make meaning from the games they play. In line with Jørgensen's (2011, 2020) call to include more player perspectives in serious videogame investigations and treat players as experts, this research examines how players interpret and determine meaning from playing commercial war games.

The study involved 25 FPS players who expressed an interest in military-themed games. A poster campaign across Newcastle upon Tyne, UK, was used to recruit participants. Gaming-related student societies were contacted across universities in the North-East region (Northumbria, Newcastle, Sunderland, and Teesside). Advertisements were also posted in online forums, including Reddit and Discord servers, which catered to FPS games, including Call of Duty. The online recruitment strategy proved to be a significant asset, attracting international players and providing a unique global perspective on how different audiences experience commercial military games. Participants hailed from the UK, the US, Ireland, Greece, Hungary, Brazil, and the Philippines. Twenty participants identified as male, three as female, and two as Other. They were invited to participate in an interview to share their experiences playing military-themed games. The interviews were conducted in person in private rooms and online via Microsoft Teams and one-on-one Discord calls and were audio recorded, manually transcribed, and analysed using NVivo. Pseudonyms were also assigned to ensure the confidentiality of participants.

The interview questions were intentionally open, inviting participants to discuss their experiences of any military-themed games they had played. This approach aimed to include more participants from across multiple games, fostering a sense of inclusivity in the study. Call of Duty was discussed by all 25 participants, a testament to the franchise's popularity, having sold more than 425 million copies over 20 years of annual releases (Park, 2023). The semi-structured interview questions followed an established list of open-ended questions that allowed more exploration of areas of interest. Cote and Raz (2015) outline a helpful question structure that involves a series of "warm-up questions" to build rapport before moving on to more "substantive questions about what motivations players had for playing FPS games and their gaming habits, which eased the participants into the interview process and gathered information about the participant's background as a gamer before moving on to questions that focused on the participant's engagement with the games, asking them to recall memorable moments. This led to questions about the emotions and reactions of participants at specific moments within the games, reflections on their actions, and prominent themes featured in the narrative. These questions were designed to explore how players interacted with key moments in commercial war games and how they drew meaning from their experiences.

Using a thematic analysis of the interviews, the study found that Call of Duty created an emotionally charged experience that resonated with participants. More specifically, players outlined that they remembered more uncomfortable and controversial moments from their time playing, which often made them critically reflect on the themes of the narrative and the consequences of their virtual actions.

5. Analysis

Call of Duty has several different modes of play in which players can immerse themselves. Almost every Call of Duty entry in the franchise (apart from Black Ops 4 in 2018) contains a single-player campaign, a story-driven experience spread across several missions. Call of Duty is also renowned for its online multiplayer, which allows



for social interaction with other players and a progression system that gives this mode a high replay value and heightens the appeal amongst players (Marcano Lárez, 2014, p. 35). While all the participants admitted to spending most of their time playing the multiplayer mode, this did not mean they neglected the single-player experience. Ethan (21) outlined how he approached each new Call of Duty release:

With Call of Duty, the campaign is still essential to the experience. Once you finish the campaign, you go and play multiplayer with friends. But I will always make sure to play the campaign first before I touch any of the other modes.

Ethan described a ritual among Call of Duty players: They initially play through the single-player campaign before moving on to the online modes. Nevertheless, despite the more limited engagement with the single-player, at least compared to the multiplayer, it still formed an integral part of the player's overall experience. It was frequently mentioned within the interviews, except for two participants who claimed they stopped playing the campaigns as they grew older. Regardless, the participants could recall their time playing specific missions in the campaign mode and discussed key themes and events in great detail.

The analysis focuses on two Call of Duty games that routinely came up throughout the interview process. The first part examines the infamous mission "No Russian" from Modern Warfare 2. This mission is notable for the controversial decision to make the player participate in a terrorist attack, sparking intense discussion amongst players. The second part explores two missions from the 2019 Modern Warfare reboot: "Old Comrades," which allows the player to take part in an interrogation; and "Hometown," a mission that introduces a playable child for the first time in the franchise.

5.1. Analysis: "No Russian"

"No Russian" is the third mission in the Modern Warfare (2009) campaign. CIA agent Joseph Allen, the playable protagonist of the mission, is sent undercover to win the trust of Russian ultranationalist terrorist Vladimir Makarov, who is planning a false flag attack to trigger an international conflict between Russia and the West. The mission begins as the player and four gunmen exit an elevator into the terminal of a Russian airport, and suddenly, they begin firing into a crowd of civilians. There is no indication given in the mission briefing prior that the player would be expected to shoot unarmed civilians. Kyle (24) discussed his reactions to the opening moments of the mission: "It starts as a typical mission; the elevator doors open, and suddenly, hundreds of civilians are being mowed down in front of you."

The player is suddenly thrust into a position where they are now taking part in this mass shooting. The airport section of the mission is populated primarily by unarmed civilians who pose no threat to the player. All 18 participants who discussed "No Russian" in the interviews admitted to taking part in the shooting the first time they played it, and all described it as a different experience from the rest of the game. Oliver (22) claimed that when he aimed down the sights to see unarmed civilians, he felt awful about his actions, which was something he had never experienced in a game before. He reflected on his gaming habits and said:

When playing these games, you're in a "shoot and kill mode." When those elevator doors opened, I started shooting. I willingly participated in that, and I don't know how to feel. It's just something you've been doing for the entire game, and now, suddenly, it feels bad.



Players like Oliver had become accustomed to the core mechanics of these FPS games, which involve shooting armed enemies. The core mechanics of "No Russian" are no different, with the only exception being that the area is populated with defenceless civilians. The civilians' behaviour reinforces their status as innocent people who pose no threat to the player. Some civilians attempt to surrender, whilst others drag the bodies of wounded people to safety. Players are constantly confronted with the brutal consequences of the shooting as they are forced to slowly walk through the terminal as the massacre unfolds. The combination of civilian behaviour and deliberate restrictions on the player's movement creates a distressing experience for the player. When asked about their emotional reaction when they were walking through the airport, Karter (25) admitted to feeling bad about their role in the shooting: "It wasn't really a good feeling. Going through it, you think, "What have I just done? What the hell was all that about?" And you talk to your friends about it, and they were all in the same boat."

Karter expressed feelings of remorse over the shooting of virtual civilians, leading to some critical reflection on their morals. This also included discussing the mission with friends, meaning that the emotions felt after playing "No Russian" spurred conversations among players about their actions during this mission. Feelings of guilt among players have been highlighted in previous studies involving virtual violence despite players understanding that no actual actions of aggression have occurred (Krcmar et al., 2018). The experience of "No Russian" instigates these adverse reactions from players, which are grounded in feelings of grief, guilt, and remorse (Bowman et al., 2022). Welsh (2012) believes that "No Russian" is purposefully staged to affect and re-sanitise players to the point where players will likely feel some degree of sympathy for these virtual victims and have genuine concerns about their own involvement in what happens to them (pp. 410–411). By analysing participant experiences, "No Russian" can evoke an affective response from certain players in which they assign some semblance of humanity to these virtual civilians.

There is very little direct agency granted to players during this mission, and it is impossible to prevent the attack from taking place as Makarov and the other terrorists are invulnerable. Sicart (2016) is critical of "No Russian" because of the lack of autonomy given to the player who is placed in an "uncomfortable middle ground that does not help develop a critical understanding of the game actions" (p. 317). However, this study found that certain players altered their playstyles when they played "No Russian." Marc (25) admitted to taking part in the shooting the first time he played, and he recalled that shooting the civilians made him feel uncomfortable. In subsequent replays, he discussed an alternative approach to the mission:

The difference between then and now was that I figured out you could shoot your gun at the floor or the ceiling to avoid killing civilians. So, there was a way to complete the mission without taking part in the killing.

Marc demonstrated some degree of agency by actively choosing not to take part in the shooting and doing everything in their power to avoid killing civilians. Participants like Marc went against the established conventions of Call of Duty by refusing to kill. Mohammad Alavi, a designer at Infinity Ward, explains how "No Russian" uses player discomfort to create an emotionally charged experience that would remain anchored in people's minds. He explained that the big question of "No Russian" is "How far should America go in the pursuit of homeland security?" and refusing to take part in the shooting is a way for the player to voice their answer through their virtual actions (Purslow, 2023). This reveals that the developers attempted to create moments that confront the player with moral questions, and the player's response to these moments can be reflected through changes in their gameplay.



"No Russian" is an emotionally charged experience. However, instead of making the player feel excited and satisfied, participants recalled that it was an uncomfortable sequence that confronted them with the consequences of their virtual actions. Players had become accustomed to immersing themselves as the hero who defeats the enemy and protects civilians. "No Russian" rips the player out of that fantasy and thrusts them into a distressing position.

5.2. Analysis: Modern Warfare 2019

Participants hesitated to name alternatives when asked about other emotionally intense moments in the Call of Duty franchise; however, Modern Warfare (2019) came up multiple times. Participants discussed how specific missions in the campaign tackled controversial aspects of war, such as the role of non-combatants in conflict zones, which resonated with some participants. Matt (25), for instance, said:

I rarely replay a Call of Duty campaign after going through it the first time. But I have replayed Modern Warfare 2019 multiple times, even recently. It felt much more realistic regarding the story and tried to take itself more seriously. It was nice to play something more serious and not have everything exploding every five minutes. I loved how grounded and real it felt.

In the interviews, players talked much more positively about Modern Warfare (2019). They praised its attempts to tell a more serious and grounded story rather than creating an exciting spectacle like in previous Call of Duty instalments. Overall, 13 participants discussed Modern Warfare (2019) and outlined how the campaign elicited more negative emotional responses by confronting players with uncomfortable moral choices and visceral imagery.

In the mission "Old Comrades," the player apprehends a terrorist known as "The Butcher" during a chase through the streets of St. Petersburg. The player is tasked with leading the interrogation to find the location of a hidden bomb somewhere in the city. A "package" is delivered to the room, and it is revealed it is the wife and son of "The Butcher" and the player is given a gun and ordered to shoot them as they beg for their lives. Shooting the gun reveals it is unloaded, yet this is not indicated to the player, who believes the gun contains bullets. Henry highlighted this moment in his interview and said:

I had a trigger finger the first time I played. Aiming down the sights to see a woman and child cowering was a weird experience, but you needed that information. I did take that shot, and you find out it's not loaded. The guilt just flooded over me. I was just like, "Oh no, what have I done?"

Henry indicated feelings of remorse over his actions in the interrogation. The imagery of aiming a weapon towards an innocent child as he pleads for his life elicited an uncomfortable reaction. This moment served as a moment of reflection on just how far the player would be willing to go to get that information, and the act of shooting what they believed was a loaded gun at an innocent woman and child was too much. The revelation that the gun contains no bullets is taken as a moment of relief, but that does not change the fact that players pulled the trigger as if they were going to kill an innocent child. At the end of the interrogation, "The Butcher" finally reveals the location of the bomb after the player is given real bullets to load into the gun.

Given the linear nature of Call of Duty, the player is given limited agency on how to interact in this scene. It is worth noting that players can refuse to take part in the interrogation outright, having it be resolved



off-screen. This allows the player to draw a line on what they would be willing to do. However, all participants who discussed this mission chose to participate in the interrogation. Ryan (28) admitted to taking part in the interrogation but was uncomfortable harming a child and took steps to avoid shooting the hostages before realising the gun was unloaded. He said:

You can refuse outright. There are many different ways to approach it. But on my first time playing, I went into the room, but I wasn't going to go as far as to shoot a kid, so I just aimed above their heads and fired, and the mission still progressed.

Players like Ryan managed to maintain a degree of agency by refusing to aim at the hostages, shooting at the wall instead. Whilst Ryan was willing to do what needed to be done to get the information, the idea of threatening a child was an act he was not comfortable with. Causing harm to children in a virtual space is still a controversial topic within videogame circles, and it is extremely rare for a game to feature killable child characters (Schulzke, 2020, p. 117). In general, the gaming community tend to view violence against children in games as ethically wrong (Cassar, 2013, p. 349). Developers tend to avoid such content over fear of generating controversy, but, in the case of "Old Comrades," no violence takes place against the child, only the expectation of harm. It serves as a moment for reflection on what the player would be willing to do in the interests of security. The player is given the means to stop a terrorist attack but takes unorthodox actions which involve harming a child. It was a difficult scenario for participants like Henry and Ryan to process.

Another part of the campaign that participants discussed was the mission "Hometown." This mission is a flashback that tells the backstory of Farah, a freedom fighter from the fictional country of Urzikstan, which has been under Russian occupation. The player assumes control of young Farah, who experiences the invasion of her village by Russian soldiers. The player is stripped of their advanced movement, moves significantly slower, and can be killed in one shot, making the mission a highly vulnerable experience. The mechanics attempt to emulate what being a child in a warzone would be like. Players like William (23) discussed how unique the mission was, which made it stand out from the rest of the game, but spoke of how eye-opening it was to experience an invasion through the position of a child: "It was really interesting to see war from a child's perspective. It made me think about how children are affected by war when they happen to be caught up in the middle of it."

Throughout the mission, the player witnesses horrific scenes as Farah flees through the village, including the use of chemical weapons. Farah also sees the deaths of both her parents. Kalim (22), an American-Egyptian gamer, said he had mixed feelings about the mission but praised how it included the experiences of civilians caught up in war:

It does show the reality of what happens in these combat zones. People are just doing their normal lives; they go to school, hang out with friends, and do normal things. And then, when war comes, they have nowhere to go; they truly suffer, which you never see in videogames because it's unpleasant. It does make you think of the Arab people caught up in the conflict in the Middle East. I just wish they spoke Arabic instead of English. I feel like that was a missed opportunity.

Despite his criticisms of some aspects of the mission's presentation of Arab people, Kalim acknowledged the importance of representing the lived experiences of people currently experiencing conflict. It is rare for a



game like Call of Duty to feature any explicit attention to such issues of war; yet, "Hometown" is an entire mission dedicated to showcasing real people's struggles, which is a unique experience for the player. These reflections relate to the findings of Kessner and Cotes (2023), who believed that missions like "Hometown" created deeply visceral experiences that allow players to develop civic empathy with the lived experiences of their avatar's real-world counterparts. Missions like "Hometown" craft an unsettling emotional experience that raises awareness of the negative consequences of war, which is an aspect rarely featured in commercial military games.

Modern Warfare 2019 is another example of a Call of Duty campaign that creates an affective experience for the player. The campaign confronts players with uncomfortable truths of war and moral dilemmas that depend on the player's actions.

6. Discussion

Throughout the interviews, participants consistently emphasised how they interpreted their experiences based on the negative emotions they were confronted with in missions like "No Russian," "Old Comrades," and "Hometown." These emotions prompted them to reflect on their in-game actions and the problematic themes featured in the narrative. Despite the franchise's celebratory interpretation of war, participants came to define their experiences by recalling moments that made them feel uncomfortable and guilty.

Central to all of these missions is the focus on civilians; their presence raises questions about the conduct of war and forces players to consider the existence of non-combatants, especially when discussing a mission like "Hometown" in which the player embodies a civilian and the trauma they endure. It is rare for a war game to feature civilians. Instead, they often consist of battlefields populated by nothing but enemies and are "conspicuously void of civilians" to maintain a simple and unproblematic depiction of war (Keogh, 2013, p. 2). If civilian deaths are presented, they are usually disconnected from the player's actions. However, the negative emotions recalled by participants in the interviews were typically linked to the presence of civilians in some form.

A common theme was that participants actively contemplated their actions when confronted with civilians. In both "No Russian" and "Old Comrades," the player is positioned in a situation in which they are presented with the possibility of committing horrendous acts that involve harming innocents, whether civilians in the airport or the young child in the interrogation. These moments confronted players with significant moral dilemmas in which they often contemplated their own justifications for their actions. Reflecting on Payne's (2016) concept of "sacrificial citizenship" is particularly relevant here. The idea of giving up one's life for the sake of the nation is a reoccurring trope across many military games, including Call of Duty. However, in "No Russian" and "Old Comrades," players are forced to sacrifice their humanity by committing unspeakable things in the name of national security. For many participants, the game asked them to do something they knew was wrong, making them reflect on their own actions and morals.

Certain players demonstrated agency and interacted with the game space in an alternative way to avoid such negative emotions by refusing to harm civilians whom they regarded as innocent. Ian Bogost refers to exploring the game's space by testing the rules imposed onto the player as the "possibility space" (Bogost, 2007, pp. 42–43). This is important to consider, given the linear nature of the missions in action games like



Call of Duty, in which the game designer maintains authorial control over the player's experience, granting them little interactivity and agency (Schleiner, 2017, p. 79). This contrasts with games like Metal Gear Solid (Konami, 1998), which grants players agency by offering more choices in how the player approaches a mission through incentivising non-lethal stealth. Therefore, the "possibility space" of a game like Metal Gear Solid is much broader compared to linear military shooters like Call of Duty (Jarvis & Robinson, 2021, p. 204). The choice of players not to shoot is impactful, given how shooting at enemy NPCs (non-playable characters) is the primary way for the player to interact with the game world. Linear games like Call of Duty can address moral considerations in their narratives, which affect the overall feel of the game as well as how players' interactions with the games are framed (Schulzke, 2020, p. 131). Player agency is still possible in Call of Duty, as demonstrated when participants altered their gameplay habits when confronted with unsettling situations and moral dilemmas.

7. Conclusion

Commercial videogames, like Call of Duty, have come to be understood through their affective framework, immersing players in an entertaining virtual war experience. This research found that some players made meaning through the negative emotions they experienced playing Call of Duty. Specific missions stood out for these players, which confronted them with complex moral issues, primarily by including civilians within these moments. This led to players experiencing guilt and discomfort, resulting in opportunities to address and reflect on critical issues and their own actions.

However, it is important to reiterate that although the participant discussion in this research highlighted the critical potential of specific missions in Call Duty, the franchise continues to depict a predominantly celebratory view of war and the military. For example, whilst "No Russian" exposes players to moral questions about their role in causing suffering to innocents, the same cannot be said for the rest of the game. Likewise, with Modern Warfare (2019), even though the game attempts to tell a gritty story that emphasises the consequences of war, it still generated controversy for its narrative depictions of certain groups, including Russians. For example, the game replicates the infamous "Highway of Death" in which the US bombed retreating Iraqi military personnel in Kuwait during the 1991 Gulf War. "Highway of Death" is the title of one of the missions in Modern Warfare 2019, in which the Russian forces bombed a stretch of road as civilians attempted to escape (C. Hall, 2019). This study does not claim that these games are inherently critical products. However, they have the ability to explore more controversial aspects of war by facilitating negative emotional experiences that resonate with players and encourage reflection.

It is also important to point out that the experiences outlined by the participants in this research are not universal. Given the relatively small sample size of 25, this study only captures some potential ways players engage with these products. Not all players determine meaning in the same way, so the findings of this study should not be perceived as an assumption of how all players make meaning from Call of Duty but rather that certain players can reflect on their emotional experiences and draw alternative meanings. Audience-focused research provides valuable insight into how videogames are experienced and how their themes resonate with players, and further research should seek to study the ability of players to determine meaning actively. Looking beyond Call of Duty at other commercial war-themed franchises such as Battlefield could produce a more general insight into how these games utilise different emotions in their stories. Furthermore, looking beyond established gamers to analyse how people who are not self-described FPS players make sense of the



themes featured in games like Call of Duty could provide a more diverse understanding of how these games are experienced.

This research seeks to contribute to the conversation on how commercial war games generate meaning by expanding the emotional aesthetic and considering negative affective experiences. Whilst these games often create an entertaining depiction of war, they also explore more troubling themes that are emotionally challenging for the player. The player is the key to understanding this emotional aesthetic, which is why audiences need to be treated as active agents who can engage with their experiences within the game, reflect on contentious issues, and draw meaning from experiencing more challenging emotions.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank the peer reviewers for their insight and constructive feedback and the support and advice from my supervisors during this process.

Funding

This article is part of a wider PhD project in international relations at Northumbria University, which is funded by a research studentship provided by the Department of Social Sciences at Northumbria University.

References

11 bit studios. (2014). This War of Mine [Video game].

Bogost, I. (2007). Persuasive games: The expressive power of videogames. MIT Press.

- Bos, D. (2018). Answering the Call of Duty: Everyday encounters with the popular geopolitics of militarythemed videogames. *Political Geography*, *63*, 54–64.
- Bowman, N. D., Bowen, D. A., Mercado, M. C., Resignato, L. J., & De Villemor Chauveau, P. (2022). "I did it without hesitation. Am I the bad guy?": Online conversations in response to controversial in-game violence. *New Media & Society*, *26*(4), 2315–2335.

Cassar, R. (2013). Gramsci and games. Games and Culture, 8(5), 330-353.

Cote, A., & Raz, J. G. (2015). In-depth interview for games research. In P. Lankoski, & S. Björk (Eds.), *Game research methods*: An overview (pp. 93–116). ETC Press.

Delwiche, A. (2007). From green berets to America's Army: Video games as a vehicle for political propaganda. In J. P. Williams & J. H. Smith (Eds.), *The players' realm: Studies on the culture of video games and gaming* (pp. 91–109). McFarland.

Der Derian, J. (2009). Virtuous war. Westview Press.

Dittmer, J., & Bos, D. (2019). Popular culture, geopolitics, & identity (2nd ed.). Rowman & Littlefield.

Festl, R., Scharkow, M., & Quandt, T. (2013). Militaristic attitudes and the use of digital games. *Games and Culture*, 8(6), 392–407.

- Gagnon, F. (2010). "Invading your hearts and minds": Call of Duty® and the (re)writing of militarism in U.S. digital games and popular culture. *European Journal of American Studies*, 5(5/3), Article 8831. https://doi.org/10.4000/ejas.8831
- Glynn, K., & Cupples, J. (2015). Negotiating and queering US hegemony in TV drama: Popular geopolitics and cultural studies. *Gender, Place & Culture, 22*(2), 271–287.
- Godfrey, R. (2022). The politics of consuming war: Video games, the military–entertainment complex and the spectacle of violence. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 38(7/8), 661–682.
- Hall, C. (2019, October 30). Call of Duty: Modern Warfare's Highway of Death controversy, explained.



Polygon. https://www.polygon.com/2019/10/30/20938550/call-of-duty-modern-warfare-highway-of-death-controversy

- Hall, S. (1980). Encoding/decoding. In S. Hall, D. Hobson, A. Lowe, & P. Willis (Eds.), *Culture, media, language* (pp. 128–139). Hutchinson.
- Halter, E. (2006). From Sun Tzu to Xbox: War and video games. Thunder's Mouth Press.

Herz, J. C. (1997). *Joystick nation*. Brown and Company.

Huntemann, N. B. (2010). Playing with fear: Catharsis and resistance in military-themed video games. In
N. B. Huntemann & M. T. Payne (Eds.), *Joystick soldiers: The politics of play in military video games* (pp. 223–236). Routledge.

- Huntemann, N. B., & Payne, M. T. (Eds.). (2010). *Joystick soldiers: The politics of play in military video games*. Routledge.
- Infinity Ward. (2003). Call of Duty [Video game]. Activision.

Infinity Ward. (2007). Call of Duty: Modern Warfare [Video game]. Activision.

Infinity Ward. (2009). Call of Duty: Modern Warfare 2 [Video game]. Activision.

Infinity Ward. (2019). Call of Duty: Modern Warfare [Video game]. Activision.

- Jarvis, L., & Robinson, N. (2021). War, time, and military videogames: Heterogeneities and critical potential. *Critical Military Studies*, 7(2), 192–211.
- Jørgensen, K. (2011). Players as co-researchers: Expert player perspective as an aid to understanding games. *Simulation & Gaming*, 43(3), 374–390.
- Jørgensen, K. (2020). Understanding war game experiences: Applying multiple player perspectives to game analysis. In P. Hammond & H. Pötzsch (Eds.), *War games: Memory, militarism and the subject of play* (pp. 73–88). Bloomsbury.
- Keogh, B. (2013). Spec Ops: The Line's conventional subversion of the military shooter. In C. Pearce, J. Sharp,
 & H. W. Kennedy (Eds.), Proceedings of DiGRA 2013: DeFragging Game Studies. Digital Games Research Association.
- Kessner, T. M., & Cortes, L. P. (2023). Mechanics and experience in *Call of Duty: Modern Warfare*: Opportunities for civic empathy. *Simulation & Gaming*, 54(2), 167–183.
- Konami. (1998). Metal Gear Solid [Video game].
- Krcmar, T. M., McGloin, R., & Li, S. S. (2018). 'What is my Call of Duty?': Exploring the importance of player experience in a first-person shooter video game. *Journal of Gaming & Virtual Worlds*, 10(2), 167–187.
- Lenoir, T. (2000). All but war is simulation: The military-entertainment complex. Configurations, 8(3), 289-335.

Lenoir, T., & Caldwell, L. (2018). The military-entertainment complex. Harvard University Press.

Marcano Lárez, B. (2014). Graphics, playability and social interaction, the greatest motivations for playing Call of Duty. Educational reflections. *New Approaches in Educational Research*, *3*(1), 34–41.

- McSorley, K. (2020). Playing in the end times: Wargames, resilience and the art of failure. In P. Hammond & H. Pötzsch (Eds.), *War games: Memory, militarism and the subject of play* (pp. 37–52). Bloomsbury.
- Nichols, R. (2010). Target acquired: *America's Army* and the video games industry. In N. B. Huntemann & M. T. Payne (Eds.), *Joystick soldiers: The politics of play in military video games* (pp. 39–52). Routledge.
- Nieborg, D. B. (2010). Training recruits and conditioning youth: The soft power of military games. In N. B. Huntemann & M. T. Payne (Eds.), *Joystick soldiers: The politics of play in military video games* (pp. 53–66). Routledge.
- Park, G. (2023, October 28). 20 years in, Call of Duty is a cultural and financial titan. *The Washington Post*. https://www.washingtonpost.com/entertainment/video-games/2023/10/28/call-of-duty-20-years
- Payne, M. T. (2016). Playing war: Military video games after 9/11. New York University Press.



- Pötzsch, H. (2017). Selective realism: Filtering experiences of war and violence in first- and third-person shooters. *Games and Culture*, 12(2), 156–178.
- Power, M. (2007). Digitized virtuosity: Video war games and post-9/11 cyber-deterrence. *Security Dialogue*, 12(2), 271–288.
- Purslow, M. (2023, October 24). How No Russian became Call of Duty's most memorable mission. *IGN*. https://www.ign.com/articles/how-no-russian-became-call-of-dutys-most-memorable-mission-art-of-the-level
- Robinson, N. (2012). Videogames, persuasion and the war on terror: Escaping or embedding the military– entertainment complex? *Political Studies*, 60(3), 504–522.
- Robinson, N. (2019). Military videogames: More than a game. The RUSI Journal, 164(4), 10-21.
- Schleiner, A. M. (2017). The player's power to change the game. Amsterdam University Press.
- Schulzke, M. (2013). Rethinking military gaming: America's Army and its critics. Games and Culture, 8(2), 59–73.
- Schulzke, M. (2017). Military videogames and the future of ideological warfare. *The British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 19(3), 609–626.

Schulzke, M. (2020). Simulating good and evil: The morality and politics of video games. Rutgers University Press.

Sicart, M. (2016). We the soldiers: Player complicity and ethical gameplay in Call of Duty: Modern Warfare. In P. Harrigan & M. Kirschenbaum (Eds.), *Zones of control: Perspectives on wargaming* (pp. 309–318). MIT Press.

US Army. (2002). America's Army [Video game].

- Voorhees, G. (2012). Monsters, nazis, and tangos. In G. A. Voorhees, J. Call, & K. Whitlock (Eds.), *Guns, grenades, and grunts: First-person shooter games* (pp. 89–112). Bloomsbury.
- Welsh, T. (2012). Face-to-face. In G. A. Voorhees, J. Call, & K. Whitlock (Eds.), Guns, grenades, and grunts: First-person shooter games (pp. 389–414). Bloomsbury.

About the Author



Joseph Pattison is a PhD student in International Relations at Northumbria University. His research examines ideology and political messaging in modern military videogames and how players experience them. His main areas of interest in videogame studies also include political activism in gaming, the use of videogames by political actors (including the military), videogames as pedagogical tools, and the relationship between gaming and extremism.

ARTICLE



Open Access Journal 👌

The Case of Cities: Skylines Versions—Affordances in Urban Planning Education

Laura Cañete Sanz¹^o, Sjors Martens²^o, and Teresa de la Hera³^o

¹ Department of Information and Documentation, University of Murcia, Spain

² Academy of Built Environment and Logistics, Breda University of Applied Science, The Netherlands

³ Erasmus School of History, Culture and Communication, Erasmus University Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Correspondence: Teresa de la Hera (delahera@eshcc.eur.nl)

Submitted: 27 May 2024 Accepted: 3 October 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

Studies on city-building games as educational tools show positive results in addressing different learning objectives, but also identify a missing link to reality, as they are mostly computer-based. Given the differences between existing games and their capabilities, the exact function of these games in an urban planning curriculum is unclear. The city-building game Cities: Skylines currently has three different versions (Digital, Tabletop, VR). Through an affordance analysis of the game's three versions, this study analyses how the versions afford four primary knowledge dimensions, and in doing so identifies different educational applications for each version of Cities: Skylines in different planning disciplines. The results show that: (a) the board game is strong in fostering player participation and critical thinking more suited for the social and health studies, public policy, and citizen participation domains of urban planning; (b) the digital version functions as moddable simulator, ensuring familiarity with existing systems and monitoring their effects, useful in logistics and transportation planning; (c) the VR form viscerally involves players in the simulated processes, applicable in design-focused segments of urban planning, such as sustainable design theory, housing, and land-use management. The results of this study can help urban planning educators identify possible uses for different versions of Cities: Skylines.

Keywords

affordances; city-building games; knowledge dimensions; urban planning; urban planning education



1. Introduction

In 2023, the Dutch municipality of Sliedrecht used the commercial computer game Cities: Skylines (hereafter C:S; Colossal Order, 2015) to inform the urban planning department about the impacts of the redevelopment of an urban neighbourhood (see Figure 1). A local urban planner recreated the entire city in the game to comprehensively visualise choices and directly involve stakeholders in discussions about area development, regardless of their knowledge (Monster, 2023). This example illustrates that C:S is a relatively cheap and accessible simulation tool with a potential function in urban planning education. To help urban planning educators identify applications for different versions of C:S, this study aims to understand how different affordances of the C:S versions facilitate different dimensions of knowledge.



Figure 1. Sliedrecht neighbourhood built in C:S. Source: Monster (2023).

Games in urban planning have mostly been studied from an ontological perspective-how and when are these games effective (Ashtari & de Lange, 2019). As the number and diversity of city-building games (CBGs) continue to grow across different platforms, the process of city building in games can take different forms, reflect various systems, and contain diverse educational perspectives on how cities function, impacting said efficacy. When studying the application of CBGs in a classroom, Bereitschaft (2021, p. 21) urges to "consider carefully which CBG is the most appropriate given specific learning objectives," indicating a need for a deeper dive into the capabilities of the games themselves. C:S now has three different versions-a computer game version (abbreviated here as C:S-C), a board game version (C:S-BG; Håkansson, 2019), and a VR version (C:S-VR; Fast Travel Games, 2022). When a game has three different versions, its formal characteristics will vary, resulting in different uses and effects. These formal elements that differ per type of game and platform used afford different playstyles. Affordances, as defined by Norman (2013, p. 11), stand for "a relationship between the properties of an object and the capabilities of the agent that determine just how the object could possibly be used." The afforded playstyles result in different applications in urban planning, such as the visualisation and discussion applications in the Sliedrecht case. To provide insights into how different CBGs can afford different urban planning competencies and facilitate urban planning educators in the application of CBGs in their classes, this article draws on the four knowledge dimensions



framework of Anderson and Krathwohl (2001) as a lens for our analysis of C:S versions to provide an understanding of which disciplines of urban planning are best served by different CBGs. We do so by means of a case study on the game C:S, entailing an exploratory analysis—both comparatively and formally—of three existing versions of the game, and by answering the following research question: How do the formal characteristics of the computer, board game, and VR versions of C:S afford interaction with different dimensions of knowledge that can be used in urban planning education?

2. The Study of CBGs for Urban Planning Education

Games have been used as tools in urban planning since the 1940s. These games, mostly designed as board games, were initially used to educate players about existing systems (Light, 2008, p. 363), described by Shakeri (2022, p. 225) as "an educational or complete simulation of the future development or participation process, at times, at the expense of the player's experience and fun qualities." Over the years, games in planning have shifted attention from simulating a system to "communication and encouraging stakeholders' involvement" (Shakeri, 2022, p. 225). With increasing computing power, games in urban planning have developed along four trends, according to Shakeri (2022, p. 223): urban games initiated as entertainment focusing more on (participatory) play, serious games, simulation games, and full-on gamification relying on system simulation. Although all versions of C:S started out as playful entertainment, the three C:S versions have seen increasing use in urban planning as test grounds for urban systems. Shakeri's continuum of CBG trends gives an indication of possible uses, yet the versatility of CBGs like C:S complicates a clear positioning and consequently a straightforward idea of their use for game-based learning in an urban planning classroom.

Game-based learning is shown to have promising results both in academic and vocational education (Dahalan et al., 2024). Vlachopoulos and Makri (2017) and Sierra-Daza et al. (2024) found through a systematic literature review that cognitive outcomes help develop specific skills regarding deep learning, critical thinking, scientific reasoning, and perceptual abilities (especially with virtual experiences). Behavioural effects, such as teamwork, collaboration, and other soft skills such as leadership skills or project management, are facilitated through games. While these educational effects are positive, the importance of the context variables of the player as well as the game should not be underestimated, requiring special emphasis on the player's perceptions and the educator's attitudes (Khan & Zhao, 2021). It is therefore academically relevant to provide more knowledge on the specific application of CBGs and how this is connected to the concrete affordances of these games and the knowledge dimensions they can foster. While positive effects may be achieved with the game, the specific application in a curriculum and urban planning domain of each of these versions has not been studied in detail. In this study, we aim to fill this gap by providing a comparative formal analysis of the three different versions of C:S.

The majority of studies on game-based learning to date typically focus on a singular game. As such, a comparison of the various design dimensions across different games has yet to be addressed. When studying the application of the different versions of C:S, these design categories become particularly significant. Tsai et al. (2021), for instance, explain that a board game creates a space where students learn by trial and error, experiencing simulations of specific events that improve face-to-face participation by exploring the game mechanisms and worlds created, enhancing skills such as decision-making or cooperation. VR has been shown to boost student motivation (Shabalina et al., 2015), and it is deemed a more attractive learning tool by higher education students (Young et al., 2020), and students retain more



information by engaging in VR activities (Krokos et al., 2019). Despite the prevalence of board games throughout the history of urban planning, comprehensive comparisons of different media used are scarce. Sousa (2024) compared the board game and computer game versions of C:S as tools to teach urban planning concepts through collaborative decision-making processes. The author stresses the differences between the C:S versions, in that "they propose a similar progression but use different game mechanisms, progression, and feedback loops" (Sousa, 2024, p. 269). Therefore, this study extends beyond the current state of the art by exploring the differences in formal C:S characteristics across various platforms. This exploration yields insights that enhance our understanding of the different applications of C:S in particular, and CBGs in general.

3. Learning Competencies in Urban Planning

Translating the platform-specific variables into the pedagogical use of games in urban planning requires an understanding of learning competencies in urban planning. This was studied by Bereitschaft (2021) through an in-depth literature review focusing on the use of commercial CBGs as learning tools. He found that although most of the revised studies do not follow a specific learning framework, these games have the potential to communicate four primary types of knowledge levels: factual, conceptual, procedural, and metacognitive. These levels of knowledge were derived from a revision of Bloom's taxonomy of learning by Anderson and Krathwohl (2001). This framework acknowledged the varying applicability of games in urban planning, depending on their capabilities. In our analysis, we built on these four knowledge dimensions in CBGs to examine how each dimension is afforded in C:S versions, highlighting potential applications of the different game versions in different disciplines of urban planning.

The first dimension is factual knowledge, in which students interact with terminologies and specific details of objects or events. Cuccurullo et al. (2013) discussed, for instance, how a CBG focused on waste management familiarises students with the correct terminology, while Yildiz and Yildiz (2011) identified improved attention to architectural specifics through CBGs. However, Pinos et al. (2020) stressed that a key consideration in the didactic potential of CBGs is that modding commercial games is often required to go beyond a gamified abstraction and foster the transfer of knowledge to real life, placing a limitation on the achievability of factual knowledge. Affording this factual dimension in a game helps teach students to understand the basic elements of physical, social, and economic urban issues.

The second dimension is conceptual knowledge, requiring students to understand interrelationships between elements and theories or classifications. Czauderna and Budke (2022) used different CBGs to make students simulate different geographical theories, ensuring an experiential understanding of conceptual challenges. Later, Jolly and Budke (2023) specifically studied how a conceptual sustainable city could be constructed using games. The conceptual dimension allows for increasing the tangibility of theories and system interactions, but the extent to which games can convey this themselves can vary.

The third dimension is procedural knowledge. This dimension focuses more on subject-specific skills and methods, as well as criteria for evaluation. Fernández and Ceacero-Moreno (2021) used C:S to train students in necessary procedures should a natural disaster occur. Both subject-related skills and soft skills like problem solving were successfully facilitated through the game. Dhatsuwan and Precharattana (2016) specifically explored logical thinking and the application of urban planning simulations to real-life actions.



This dimension of knowledge enables students to experiment with simulated urban planning processes and consider their further application.

Finally, the dimension of metacognitive knowledge deals with the possibility of self-reflection and knowledge about learning. Droll and Söbke (2021), for instance, studied the use of C:S when teaching water management but reflected on the lack of realistic modelling. Therefore, they resorted to modding the original game, explicitly including the shortcomings of CBGs in the student assignment. This dimension deals more with perspectives on CBGs themselves, and often critically assesses the applicability.

While games have been used in urban planning for a long time, the concrete use of a game like C:S in urban planning education defies positioning due to its three different versions. Despite the proven value of using games in education, there is a lack of curriculum use cases that demonstrate their general benefits. Furthermore, the differences between platforms are considered important but have not yet been studied in formal detail, leaving the application of different forms of C:S confusing. This study fills this knowledge gap by exploring how CBGs can be used to convey four primary knowledge dimensions in urban planning education, which differ depending on the tool used and the educational setting, providing a fruitful avenue to study the areas of application of CBGs.

4. Methodology

4.1. Case Study

As C:S has held an average of 30 thousand players since its release (only sinking in 2024 due to the release of its sequel) it is likely to be known by many urban planning students (Steam Charts, n.d.). Since its release in 2015, C:S has been expanded with a variety of downloadable content packs that add new urban systems, such as public transport or sustainable design, and has enjoyed a strong modding community adding new assets to the game. In addition to these, a board game version and recently a VR version were released. All three versions place the player or players in the role of an omnipotent city official who must build a city by setting up a variety of urban systems and ensuring the population's happiness. The computer, board game, and VR versions of the game all require players to build a city and provide facilities on a geospatial grid. However, the different designs of each version afford different adaptations and uses in urban planning education.

The computer version of C:S is a single-player game on an externally visible screen where the player must build a city by setting up a variety of urban systems and making it run fluently. The VR version, also a single-player game, follows a similar playthrough as the computer version, only now seen through a private headset and the player can fly through the game area in a first-person perspective, rather than just hovering above it. The computer game (i.e., the template for the VR game) was designed to "feature deep micromanagement-based play that would also appeal to less experienced players, and [the designers] realised that the real-time, flow-y nature of traffic could be the key" (Wiltshire, 2017). Starting with a highway connection, players must build a road network along which housing, commercial zones, industry zones, or other facilities can be placed. More building and improvement options unlock with population milestones, attained when more inhabitants move into the city. The necessities of the population regarding health, waste, energy, water, education, transport, and leisure must be met to ensure growth. All these facilities can be selected from an access bar at the bottom of the screen in the computer version (see



Figure 2) or conjured from the handheld controllers in the VR version. Each facility building has an action radius and characteristics that define its properties. For a city to function, each facility has to be connected to its dependent systems through roads, as they are factored in the dynamic functioning and flow of the city, instead of being a static box being ticked (Wiltshire, 2017). The game comes with predefined buildings, facilities, and maps, although the computer version allows for modding and the addition of personalised downloadable content (the VR version has no such capabilities or expansions). The game ends when the city goes bankrupt, or if the player has built a functioning city and chooses not to build further.



Figure 2. The possible building options the player can choose from in C:S. Note: While simulating different urban systems, such as water, healthcare, and public transport, the choices are predetermined.

The board game is different from the computer and VR versions. It can be played as a single-player game, but also as a cooperative game with multiple players. It consists of a set of base tiles with a road network on them that must be unlocked in specific manual-defined configurations with in-game currency. Each zone on the tiles bordered by roads is a district and can be built upon. At the start of a multiplayer game, each player picks a role, such as an architect or marketing expert, which grants that person special bonuses during their turn. During each player's turn, while deliberating with other players, they can play a construction card, swap cards, or end a milestone. Playing a card means processing its effect on the facility bar charts; an in- or decrease in money, energy, water, waste, pollution, traffic, crime, employment, or happiness. After this, an inefficiently shaped tile of the constructed building must be placed in a district (see Figure 3). While some service buildings have a proximity requirement, the constructions can be placed anywhere, if they do not overlap roads or each other. Policy cards or news cards impose new limitations on the gameplay, such as a rise in crime coinciding with a decrease in happiness. When districts have at least two buildings, players can end a milestone. This adds a happiness score to the milestone score bar based on the success of the city, after detracting happiness depending on the level of crime, traffic, and pollution, and costs money depending on the employment, energy, waste, and water bar. When the players run out of money or all tiles have been filled, the game ends. The final happiness score is read from the milestone score bar; the higher, the better the state of the city.



Figure 3. The building blocks of C:S-BG. Notes: Different resources are represented in randomly drawn cards and they have an impact on various other resources, such as population or pollution; they are subsequently placed on the board with inefficiently shaped tiles.



4.2. Method Outline

This study takes a qualitative approach to determine the differences between the three versions of C:S and identify the unique characteristics afforded by each, considering the game characteristics of each platform. Using observation, data collection, and data screening, this study formally analyses the use of C:S as a pedagogical tool by following two theoretical frameworks: Aslam and Brown's (2022) affordances framework and Anderson and Krathwohl's (2001) four knowledge dimensions framework.

Firstly, building on Aslam and Brown (2022), we conducted an affordance analysis, focused on exploring connections, lessons, rules, and interactions in the game without guidance. Unlike Aslam and Brown's fully associative playtest, we used the formal design characteristics of Fullerton (2014) as focal lenses to gauge affordances. An important caveat in this methodology is that the affordance analysis is delimited by a focus on using C:S versions as urban system simulators. This approach was used to keep the general use of the game clear, and thus we ignored alternative possible uses, such as building roads in the shape of letters. The use of C:S games to learn about urban systems and urban planning was opted for to limit the scope of this study.

The three games were played and analysed by two researchers—a game scholar and an urban planning educator with 60 hours of experience with the game—between April and November 2023. Following the distinction made by van Vught and Glas (2018, p. 214), the playthroughs sought to be instrumental—trying to identify all possible actions. Due to the complexity of C:S, this requires a shift from rational player—trying to optimise the achievement of milestones—to free play—pushing against the rules to identify possible alternative forms of play. Screenshots and pictures were taken in the three versions to collect relevant data and note version differences. During play, relevant information was collected in two tables—one for affordances per formal characteristic, and one for the knowledge dimension touched upon.

The digital version (base game without DLC) was played several times to explore different play styles. Each time, the game was played until every building option was unlocked and the city was profitable and happy. By discussing the choices, one researcher oversaw the data collection process while the other played the game. A total of eight hours were spent playing the game.

The board game version was played three times in single-player, cooperative mode with basic cards, and cooperative mode including roles and news cards. The main purpose was to play all the possible options from different perspectives until all the tiles were unlocked or the players ran out of money. A total of six hours were spent in gameplay.

For the VR version, one of the researchers experienced the immersive action through the Oculus Quest 2 VR headset, while the other researcher commented and coded the information by observing the gameplay on a television. The game was played until every building option was unlocked and the city was profitable and happy. A total of six hours were spent during the gameplay.

Secondly, the inventoried affordances of the formal characteristics were compared to the knowledge dimensions in urban planning education. This was done by comparing the playstyle and possible actions to the four knowledge dimensions of Anderson and Krathwohl (2001). The affordance of a knowledge


dimension does not indicate the probability that a particular interaction with the game version will occur. Rather, it provides an overview of *possible* interactions that can be turned into use cases in the classroom.

4.3. Analysing the Formal Characteristics

Given the different affordances of different platforms, the list of formal elements we analysed should allow for multiplatform designs. To this end, we followed the list of formal characteristics introduced by Fullerton (2014) due to its focus on forms of play—an action occurring in each platform—instead of types of games. The general categories were further detailed with an indication of possible variables through Fernández Vara's (2015) identifiers for game overview and formal elements, as shown in Table 1. Although repetition of indicators across different formal elements is possible, these characteristics serve as focal points for analysing affordances in C:S, exploring possible play actions with each category in each version.

Formal Characteristics Description (Fullerton, 2014)		Indicators (Fernández-Vara, 2015)					
Players	The number and role of the	Single vs. multiplayer					
	players, as well as their position	Player(s) vs. game					
	in the game	Player vs. player					
		Mediation: how the player is placed in the game					
Objective	The results that the players are	Rule driven: rules created endless conditions					
	trying to achieve	Goal driven: an ultimate goal can be reached					
		Game dynamics: freedom in goal-oriented actions					
Procedures	The actions and methods	Rules of the world: frameworks to obey					
	players are and are not allowed	Procedural design vs. hard-coded content					
	framework set by the	Controls and controllers					
	system/narrative	Choice design					
		Representation and identity					
		Cheating and modding possibilities					
Rules	Rules pose limits on actions but	Simulation rules: the stats of objects, etc.					
	also define the characteristics	Diegetic vs. extradiegetic elements					
		Rules of the fictional world (e.g., justice systems)					
		Game state control: save games possibility					
Resources	Assets to be used to attain	Space of the game: available objects, etc.					
	goals and the systems	Metagame support: communities or references					
	Soverning the exchange	In-game economies					
Conflict	Rules, procedures, and	Rules of the world					
	situations that hamper players	Player dynamics: how they play					
		Values: dilemmas or wicked choices					
		Game balance					

Table 1. Formal elements in games according to Fullerton (2014) and Fernández-Vara (2015).



Formal Characteristics (Fullerton, 2014)	Description	Indicators (Fernández-Vara, 2015)				
Boundaries	The rigidity of the difference	Game format and controller				
	between the game and the	Diegetic vs. extradiegetic rules				
	non game setting	Spaces of the game and the magic circle				
Outcomes	Possible end states of the	Game communities: social engagement				
	game; this includes system end, but also possible serious use	Procedural rhetoric and message				
		Representation: how is it communicated				
		Choice design: what is rewarded and unlocked				

Table 1. (Cont.) Formal elements in games according to Fullerton (2014) and Fernández-Vara (2015).

4.4. Assessing the Knowledge Dimensions

As shown in the literature review, CBGs have been shown to teach specific learning competencies that are pursued in urban planning education, organised in Anderson and Krathwohl's (2001) four knowledge dimensions: factual, conceptual, procedural, and metacognitive. In the current study, the affordances of each version of C:S are interpreted by asking which knowledge dimension is engaged with when playing accordingly. While not every affordance of a formal characteristic will translate into a knowledge dimension, seeing which C:S version makes more use of which knowledge dimension gives direction to possible areas of application in urban planning education.

5. Results

The results of the analysis were structured per knowledge dimension. In Sections 5.1 to 5.4, for each dimension, the formal characteristics that afford exploration of the dimension are discussed. After the knowledge dimension overview, in Section 5.5, possible use cases of the three C:S versions in different domains of urban planning education are provided.

5.1. Factual Knowledge Dimension

In this section, we discuss the results of our analysis that help us understand how the concrete affordances of the different versions of C:S facilitate the acquisition of factual knowledge. Factual knowledge is understood here as students' interactions with terminologies and specific details of objects or events. In our analysis, we established that factual knowledge is present when the players must engage with realistic planning terminologies or elements.

5.1.1. Objectives and Procedures

In both C:S-C and C:S-VR, players must make choices about what to build where. In this process, the player has a large degree of freedom, as apart from space and money constraints, buildings can be placed everywhere as long as they are connected to roads, sewage, and energy, simulating urban systems. As the focus is on building and integrating urban elements into a larger urban system, the games afford familiarisation with key interactable elements in cities. The player is ultimately limited by the coded



frameworks of the building requirements. As such, they are limited by the game systems more than the actual urban systems—like a toybox, players can choose out of semi-realistic toys. Key terminologies and elements of urban planning disciplines are highlighted in both the C:S-C and C:S-VR versions, as they are the main indicators of progress towards the objective. The importance of the resources and their interaction with procedures relies strongly on factual knowledge. However, the player is not bound by this, as multiple options are possible: it is possible to realistically place sewers under roads, but ultimately the game rewards realistic or unrealistic construction equally when the systems are connected.

Furthermore, C:S-C and C:S-VR are provided with stock-building representations that the player has no control over—what the city looks like is procedurally generated, limiting factual representations. However, C:S-VR affords the exploration of the city from a ground level in its procedures (see Figure 4), allowing for a more factual understanding of height and distance. However, the dependence on pre-made models reduces the aesthetic or realistic affordances of the computer version, leaving the representation often wanting. In contrast, C:S-C allows for modding, resulting in the possibility of adding realistic assets—such as copies of real buildings. As such, C:S-C affords the factual recreation of a city, allowing students to consider key buildings or elements of a city, albeit with a high technical requirement, while C:S-VR allows for the factual representation of realistic heights and distances.



Figure 4. First-person perspective in C:S-VR. Note: The ground-level view can familiarise the player with the scale of buildings and size of open space.

C:S-BG instead relies largely on interactions between elements, such as housing and urban management, based on predetermined costs as dictated on cards. Subjected to a gamified logic, C:S-BG does not familiarise players with the factual functioning of different elements through their choices, but instead subjects the procedures to an abstracted logic. Additionally, C:S-BG is more goal oriented, aiming for an arbitrary high score in the form of a happiness score bar. Here the objective is detached from factual terminologies or urban elements, instead opting for a gamified alternative wherein the terminology is explained in game terms instead of planning terms.



5.1.2. Rules and Resources

The formal characteristics of rules and resources are shared amongst all three versions. The resources of space, buildings, energy, water, waste, crime, pollution, traffic, health, education, happiness, and money—as important elements of urban systems—are present in all three versions, familiarising students with key terminologies. The rules surrounding these resources furthermore indicate the interrelationships between them, such as the resources needed for each building to function (e.g., schools need residential zones, and educated citizens need to go to office zones). While C:S-C and C:S-VR use semi-realistic rules to simulate and visualise the interrelationships due to the processing power of the digital devices, C:S-BG abstracts the relationships into relatively arbitrary rules (e.g., a dog park costs three money tokens and is only effective right next to a residential area). Instead, the rules of C:S-BG deal with permanent choices, as opposed to free experimentation in the other versions. The permanent choices confront players more with the factual dimension of city building—once the choice is made, it is set in motion—while free experimentation affords students to become more familiar with factual terminologies.

5.2. Conceptual Knowledge Dimension

In this section, we discuss the results of our analysis that help us understand how the concrete affordances of the different versions of C:S facilitate the acquisition of conceptual knowledge. The conceptual knowledge dimension deals with a more abstract interpretation of the factual elements—classifications, generalisations, and theories (Anderson & Krathwohl, 2001). In our analysis, we established that CBGs can foster conceptual knowledge acquisition through the semi-realistic selection of factual elements and their interactions. However, the theoretical possibilities of CBGs are dependent on the focus on either the city building or the game itself.

5.2.1. Procedures, Rules, and Resources

Both C:S-C and C:S-VR simulate a semi-realistic urban system. In doing so, the relationships between different classifications of buildings are an essential part of the game. To make office zones work, for instance, the rules dictate that a higher-educated population is needed. For higher education to function, several procedures to establish housing, lower education, amenities, and transport must be followed. Some theories, such as the decaying catchment area of public transport stops (Andersen & Landex, 2009), are simulated in these games as well. In that sense, both C:S-C and C:S-VR, due to their simulation and processing power, encourage players to experience theories and classifications through mechanical action, albeit subjected to the limits of the system; theories can be experienced by understanding the coded logic, or visually in C:S-VR, but new theoretical logic cannot be easily added to be tested.

5.2.2. Boundaries and Outcomes

C:S-BG has a strict boundary with reality. While using the same elements as the other two versions, C:S-BG instead subjects these to a game logic within a structured game. The player is considerably limited in terms of available space (e.g., roads and board shapes cannot be moved) and building options, due to the random availability of facilities in the card decks and the shapes of the buildable elements. The game pursues a puzzle outcome, finding the best possible fit for your role-dictated turn with the resources available and the framework set by the news items and building cards (see Figure 5), rather than simulating city building.







Instead of engaging with planning theories or classifications, players are focused on the game logic instead of urban planning theories. The outcome of the game is wholly determined in abstracted game terms (e.g., 18 happiness points or five money tokens), making even a conceptual understanding of a city difficult.

5.3. Procedural Knowledge Dimension

In this section, we discuss the results of our analysis that help us understand how the concrete affordances of the different versions of C:S facilitate the acquisition of procedural knowledge. The procedural knowledge dimension revolves around understanding and optimising the planning of a city using subject-specific skills or methods (Bereitschaft, 2021). Through our analysis, we established that this dimension is mostly present when players can use the game to dive into specific aspects of urban planning, such as sustainability, participation, and traffic flow, to reflect on best practices.

5.3.1. Procedures, Rules, and Resources

C:S-C and C:S-VR afford conceptual knowledge dimensions in the simulation of the interrelationships between urban system elements. However, building a city for maximum profit and happiness does not directly constitute optimisation through subject-specific skills. Procedural knowledge is afforded by these two versions due to the transient nature of the simulation; players can undo their actions, pause the game to build different scenarios, and even freely experiment with no monetary costs in sandbox mode, while still receiving quality metrics of each specific resource. The interactable procedures, non-binding rules, and



resources focused on the urban system allow students to optimise traffic, access to education, healthcare, etc., in an experimental setting, using the in-game feedback procedures. The experimental frameworks—the rules—within which the procedures must be optimised can be set during the lesson.

C:S-C can increase the complexity of procedural knowledge through its affordance of modification. Although they require programming or modelling skills, modifications can be made to the mechanics of C:S-C to correspond more closely to realistic options. By downloading or adding digital alterations to the game, players can add building textures, allowing for personal representations, or add new system management tools, such as advanced traffic light management operators in the Traffic Manager: Presidential Edition Mod (see Figure 6), or incorporate more comprehensive monitoring tools within the game, allowing for optimised traffic management. Apart from affording more experimental capabilities, this modification-based affordance also forces players to reflect on the differences between the simplistic systems contained in C:S-C and optimal functioning in different fields of urban planning. C:S-C can therefore afford even more procedural knowledge if a technical requirement can be overcome.



Figure 6. The Traffic Manager: Presidential Edition Mod. Notes: Traffic management in C:S is limited to the presence or absence of traffic lights; mods allow players to install more realistic traffic management systems. Source: YUMBL (2021).

5.3.2. Players, Conflicts, and Boundaries

In C:S-BG, the interpersonal conflict allows for the testing of the game's boundaries, specifically through the optional game elements of player roles and news items. These allow players to influence transactions based on their role or impose limiting conditions, such as a crime wave that increases the crime metric twice as fast. These options allow for playing with role-specific skills and methods in specific urban dynamics, albeit translated to game-focused mechanics. However, the analogue nature allows for the easy adaptation of these roles and their function in collaborative debate. The boundary between local planning roles and conventions and in-game rules can be broken to use C:S-BG to simulate a planning session. Furthermore, procedures and physical assets can be added due to the paper-based gameplay, possibly tailoring the game to local contexts. In this way, the game functions as a direct experiment with subject-specific skills.



C:S-C and C:S-VR are hard-coded and largely single-player games, so they cannot easily introduce local rules or interactions into a play session. C:S-C affords multiplayer discussion of the gameplay due to a visible screen. However, only the coded or modded procedures can be discussed as the digital programming remains dominant; reflection is possible, but optimisation is challenging. C:S-VR is characterised by a solitary screen. Discussing urban planning concepts in this version is possible through casting but has more technical obstacles than the other two versions. They do afford the pursuit of a specific outcome in the shape of a city built according to predetermined principles. Building a fully sustainable city, an underwater city, or a city reliant only on public transport can be set as goals by the players or the instructor. This poses conflicts in the available choices and limits certain resources, but ultimately allows players to reflect on required resources, payoffs, and shortcomings in their design to attain an ideal city. Even without these goals, the general outcome of C:S-C and C:S-VR games relies on a functioning, happy, and profitable city, which furthermore relies on optimising city dynamics. These two versions therefore afford a deep dive into planning optimisation.

5.4. Metacognitive Knowledge Dimensions

In this section, we discuss the results of our analysis that help us understand how the concrete affordances of the different versions of C:S facilitate the acquisition of metacognitive knowledge. The metacognitive knowledge requires self-reflection and identifying strengths and weaknesses in the learning process (Anderson & Krathwohl, 2001). When the formal characteristics of the game draw attention to the design of the game, metacognitive knowledge can be fostered in CBGs by facilitating confrontation with the discipline of urban planning in the game that can be identified as abstracted, or a reflection on one's own role in urban planning.

5.4.1. Players, Objectives, Procedures, Rules, Conflicts, Boundaries, and Outcomes

Although C:S-BG is subjected to game logic, it is its main procedure—discussion with other players—that affords reflection on player positions in a planning team. As an analogue discussion-led game, C:S-BG affords engagement with and discussion of planning practices within a planning team as fellow players. By selecting who the fellow players are—the rest of a planning team, residents, politicians, etc.—a play session can become a conversation starter or a reflective contrast to the complexity of urban planning. This can be conveyed even more strongly if the game completely breaks the magic circle boundary and is played according to local planning rules, thus limiting the available procedures—for instance, by not allowing industrial zone tiles, which represent factories, to be placed next to residential zones, regardless of the money and space available. In this sense, the objective of the game shifts from being goal-oriented to being a planning simulation or discussion, with conflict arising from differences of opinion. This changes the outcome to a team-building exercise for a planning team, requiring metacognitive knowledge to position oneself.

C:S-C and C:S-VR can evoke metacognitive knowledge by bending the boundaries of reality. The experimental and trial-and-error simulation allows players to design absurd creations that conflict with urban planning staples. It is precisely this contrast that allows further reflection on proper techniques, especially in C:S-C, if the built cities, as attempted recreations of real cities, are scrutinised by other players. The outcome of C:S then also affords a more reflective discussion in a team, or even identifies the need for missing elements that require a modding community to be added. The outcome of C:S-VR affords reflection on a built environment from a ground perspective, with adequate distances and sight lines. In C:S-VR, both absurdist building and planning-informed building afford metacognitive knowledge.



5.5. Learning Competencies and Possible Application Domains

Given the different afforded interactions with urban planning topics through the formal characteristics, CBGs can have varying applications in education. Table 2 provides an overview of the relationships between different knowledge dimensions and concrete affordances of CBGs. Following our comparative analysis of the three versions of C:S, Table 2 also includes an indication of the version required for these applications as indicated with C:S-C, C:S-BG, or C:S-VR. Additionally, reflecting on the most prevalent knowledge dimension per version and ease of use, it illustrates probable uses within urban planning education.

C:S-C relies largely on the conceptual and procedural knowledge domain due to its semi-realistic simulation of relevant urban planning elements, and the added realism through modding. To build an urban design and to consider the interrelationships of specific systems, the computer version is well suited, for instance, within the domains of transportation and logistics in urban planning. However, due to modding being a specialist activity, and the rules and procedures being largely hard-coded, adaptability is hindered. Therefore, the most accessible application will use C:S-C as a simulator of planning procedures, relying on the computing capacity and feedback more so than realism.

C:S-VR overlaps with the computer version in required competencies, yet the lack of addable mods or DLC make it less suited for realistic urban system simulations or monitoring realistic designs. Alternatively, the affordance of experiential imagery touches on factual and conceptual knowledge in that it makes concepts

C:S Application
 Procedures and objectives for players to freely experiment with urban elements to remember relevant systems and facilities (C:S-C & C:S-VR)
 Procedures to experience the size and spread of a planned design (C:S-VR)
 Rebuild existing cities (C:S-C)
 Engagement with a simplified version of urban systems (all)
 Becoming familiar with interactions between urban elements (all)
 Reflecting on spatial planning and zoning theories put into visible practice (C:S-VR)
 Interacting and optimising realistic simulations of urban interactions (C:S-C & C:S-VR)
 Designing an urban simulation according to specific objectives, rules and resources set by players (e.g., green city; C:S-C & C:S-VR)
 Trying out realistic urban management systems (after modding; C:S-C)
 Altering the rules, resources, and procedures to match local planning frameworks (C:S-BG)
 Taking place in a team of urban planners to build a city (C:S-BG)
 Adapting existing procedures to approach a more realistic simulation (C:S-BG)
 Compiling a team of diverse city builders to reflect on the city built (C:S-C & C:S-BG)
 Experiencing the appeal of a city built (C:S-VR)

Table 2. Applications of	C:S versions in urbar	n planning education	based on afforded	knowledge dimensions
in each game.				



and theories more empirical, and on metacognitive knowledge in that it allows for the personal exploration of agreeable designs. This C:S-VR is then suited to be used in the more design-focused domains of urban planning, such as sustainable design theory, housing, land-use management, and urbanisation, according to the overview of Sanchez and Afzalan (2018).

In C:S-BG, due to its abstracted and goal-oriented nature, conceptual and procedural knowledge is recontextualised in the strictly rule-bound nature of the game. While factual knowledge is still touched upon by using the same elements as in the other versions, the functioning of the elements is subjected to the logic of the game. However, metacognitive knowledge is the greatest strength of C:S-BG. Through collaboration, reflections on the actual functioning of urban planning can be discussed. Inspired by resources of the game, such as the roles and news cards, the metacognitive knowledge dimension is called upon specifically because of the abstraction. The physical form subsequently affords easy adaptation, and involving actual urban planning stakeholders can tailor C:S-BG to a local situation. This reliance on reflection and group discussion makes this version more suited for social and health studies, public policy, and citizen participation domains of urban planning—domains which do not focus on testing and optimising existing systems, but on agreements and compromise.

6. Conclusions

This study focuses on providing an understanding of how the concrete affordances of CBGs can be used to foster different knowledge dimensions in urban planning education. For this purpose, we conducted a comparative formal analysis of the computer, board game, and VR versions of the CBG game C:S. The results showed that the computer version relies on detailed and interrelated procedures and rules, leading to open outcomes. This results in a detailed and semi-realistic system simulation that thrives on conceptual and procedural knowledge dimensions that afford free-form experimentation. The board game is best suited as a discussion facilitator and adaptable simulator of urban planning teams due to its multiplayer nature and agreement-based conflicts. Despite its abstract approach, the appeal to metacognitive knowledge through interpersonal additions and role-play makes this game a team discussion facilitator. Finally, the VR version thrives on factual and metacognitive knowledge because of its procedures that allow players to take a first-person perspective on a city, and consequently its blurred boundaries with actual planned cities.

This study can facilitate urban planning instructors in applying C:S as an accessible ludic tool for their classes. Furthermore, it has provided deeper insight into the affordances of different platforms when judged as ludic tools for urban planning. This study is limited to C:S versions, however, and despite formal characteristics being comparable in other CBGs, future research should explore other commercial games and serious games focused on urban planning education, or other subjects, such as geography. Furthermore, the results outlined here require further empirical testing with urban planning educators to understand the embedding in the curriculum, possibly involving even the designers themselves. Apart from the affordances of the games, contextual variables, such as demographics, digital literacy levels of students and instructors, and technological limitations in the classroom can facilitate or limit knowledge dimensions. Nevertheless, this case study of the formal differences of C:S has shown that teaching the design of skylines of cities can be done in different ways.



Funding

This study was funded by the European Union–NextGenerationEU through the Programa para la Recualificación del Sistema Universitario Español, Modalidad "Margarita Salas".

Conflict of Interests

In this article, editorial decisions were undertaken by Felix Reer (University of Muenster) and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid).

References

- Andersen, J. L. E., & Landex, A. (2009). GIS-based approaches to catchment area analyses of mass transit. In 2009 Esri International User Conference Proceedings (pp. 1–13). Esri.
- Anderson, L. W., & Krathwohl, D. R. (Eds.). (2001). A taxonomy for learning, teaching, and assessing: A revision of Bloom's taxonomy of educational objectives. Longman.
- Ashtari, D., & de Lange, M. (2019). Playful civic skills: A transdisciplinary approach to analyse participatory civic games. *Cities*, 89, 70–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2019.01.022
- Aslam, H., & Brown, J. A. (2022). Affordance theory in game design: A guide toward understanding players. Springer Nature. https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-031-02123-7
- Bereitschaft, B. (2021). Commercial city building games as pedagogical tools: What have we learned? *Journal of Geography in Higher Education*, 47(2), 161–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/03098265.2021.2007524
 Colossal Order. (2015). *Cities: Skylines* [Video game]. Paradox Interactive.
- Cuccurullo, S., Francese, R., Passero, I., & Tortora, G. (2013). A 3D serious city building game on waste disposal, 11(4), 112–135. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.4018/ijdet.2013100108
- Czauderna, A., & Budke, A. (2022). Players' reflections on digital games as a medium for education: Results from a qualitative study. In C. Costa (Ed.), 16th European Conference on Games Based Learning (pp. 180–188). Dechema e.V. https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85141148873& partnerID=40&md5=d483e4c360c31da1ca982f7dd3e73c4a
- Dahalan, F., Alias, N., & Shaharom, M. S. N. (2024). Gamification and game based learning for vocational education and training: A systematic literature review. *Education and Information Technologies*, 29(2), 1279–1317. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-022-11548-w
- Dhatsuwan, A., & Precharattana, M. (2016). BLOCKYLAND: A cellular automata-based game to enhance logical thinking. *Simulation and Gaming*, 47(4), 445–464. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046878116643468
- Droll, D., & Söbke, H. (2021). Realism of simulation models in serious gaming: Urban water management in Cities: Skylines. In F. de Rosa, I. M. Schottman, J. B. Hauge, F. Bellotti, P. Dondio, & M. Romero (Eds.), *Games and Learning Alliance*: 10th International Conference (pp. 277–282). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-030-92182-8_29
- Fast Travel Games. (2022). Cities: VR [Video game]. Fast Travel Games.
- Fernández, P., & Ceacero-Moreno, M. (2021). Study of the training of environmentalists through gamification as a university course. *Sustainability*, 13(4), Article 2323. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13042323
- Fernández-Vara, C. (2015). Introduction to game analysis. Routledge.
- Fullerton, T. (2014). Game design workshop: A playcentric approach to creating innovative games (3rd ed.). CRC Press.

Håkansson, R. (2019). Cities: Skylines-The boardgame [Board game]. Paradox Interactive.

Jolly, R., & Budke, A. (2023). Assessing the extent to which players can build sustainable cities in the digital city-builder game "Cities: Skylines." *Sustainability*, 15(14), Article 10780. https://doi.org/10.3390/su151410780



- Khan, T. A., & Zhao, X. (2021). Perceptions of students for a gamification approach: Cities skylines as a pedagogical tool in urban planning education. In D. Dennehy, A. Griva, N. Pouloudi, Y. K. Dwivedi, I. Pappas, & M. Mäntymäki (Eds.), Responsible AI and Analytics for an Ethical and Inclusive Digitized Society: 20th IFIP WG 6.11 Conference on e-Business, e-Services and e-Society (pp. 763–773). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-85447-8_64
- Krokos, E., Plaisant, C., & Varshney, A. (2019). Virtual memory palaces: Immersion aids recall. *Virtual Reality*, 23(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10055-018-0346-3
- Light, J. (2008). Taking games seriously. *Technology and Culture*, 49(2), 347–375. https://doi.org/10.1353/ tech.0.0007
- Monster, J. (2023, October 24). Een computerspel als ideale gids in de gebiedsontwikkeling-zoektocht. Gebiedsontwikkeling.nu. https://www.gebiedsontwikkeling.nu/artikelen/een-computerspel-als-idealegids-in-de-gebiedsontwikkeling-zoektocht
- Norman, D. A. (2013). The design of everyday things. The MIT Press.
- Pinos, J., Vozenilek, V., & Pavlis, O. (2020). Automatic geodata processing methods for real-world city visualizations in cities: Skylines. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 9(1), Article 17. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijgi9010017
- Sanchez, T. W., & Afzalan, N. (2018). Mapping the knowledge domain of urban planning. In T. W. Sanchez (Ed.), *Planning Knowledge and Research* (pp. 64–80). Routledge.
- Shabalina, O., Mozelius, P., Vorobkalov, P., Malliarakis, C., & Tomos, F. (2015). Creativity in digital pedagogy and game-based learning techniques; theoretical aspects, techniques and case studies. In N. Bourbakis, G. A. Tsihrintzis, & M. Virvou (Eds.), 2015 6th International Conference on Information, Intelligence, Systems and Applications (IISA) (pp. 1–6). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/IISA.2015.7387963
- Shakeri, M. (2022). Unstable wormholes: Communications between urban planning and game studies. *Urban Planning*, 7(2), 218–228. https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v7i2.4953
- Sierra-Daza, M. C., Martín-del-Pozo, M., & Fernández-Sánchez, M. R. (2024). Videojuegos y aprendizaje en educación superior: Una revisión sistemática. *Revista de Educación*, 405, 64–85. https://doi.org/10.4438/1988-592X-RE-2024-405-629
- Sousa, M. (2024). Cities: Skylines: The digital and analog game design lessons for learning about collaborative urban planning. In L. V. Costa, N. Zagalo, A. I. Veloso, E. Clua, S. Arnab, M. Vairinhos, & D. Gomes (Eds.), *Videogame sciences and arts* (Vol. 1984, pp. 257–271). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-51452-4_18
- Steam Charts. (n.d.). Cities: Skylines. https://steamcharts.com/app/255710
- Tsai, J.-C., Liu, S.-Y., Chang, C.-Y., & Chen, S.-Y. (2021). Using a board game to teach about sustainable development. *Sustainability*, 13(9), Article 4942. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13094942
- van Vught, J., & Glas, R. (2018). Considering play: From method to analysis. *Transactions of the Digital Games Research Association*, 4(2), 205–242. https://doi.org/10.26503/todigra.v4i2.94
- Vlachopoulos, D., & Makri, A. (2017). The effect of games and simulations on higher education: A systematic literature review. International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education, 14(1), Article 22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-017-0062-1
- Wiltshire, A. (2017, February 14). Why road-building in Cities: Skylines is a pleasure. Rock, Paper, Shotgun. https://web.archive.org/web/20170214134011/https://www.rockpapershotgun.com/2017/02/10/cities-skylines-roads
- Yildiz, S., & Yildiz, E. (2011). A study on pc–Video games in terms of the space awareness from childhood to youth. Procedia–Social and Behavioral Sciences, 28, 796–800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.11.145



Young, G. W., Stehle, S., Walsh, B. Y., & Tiri, E. (2020). Exploring virtual reality in the higher education classroom: Using VR to build knowledge and understanding. *Journal of Universal Computer Science*, 26(8), 904–928. https://doi.org/10.3897/jucs.2020.049

YUMBL. (2021, March 24). *Traffic manager explained! Mod tutorial* [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube. com/watch?v=TERVATwI9uo

About the Authors



Laura Cañete Sanz is a postdoctoral researcher at the University of Murcia. She specialises in the persuasive use of digital games in serious contexts. Her studies gather topics from the use of branded games in marketing campaigns, such as city branding and games, brand narrative expansion, or the evolution and contextualization of digital games in the marketing ecosystem, to the functions of digital games with pedagogical uses.



Sjors Martens is a project lead and lecturer of smart mobility at Breda University of Applied Sciences in the Netherlands. He holds a PhD in communication science, with a focus on game design and smart cities. His research interest is in traffic management, public transport transitions, urban planning, game design, and playful cities as a response to smart cities. He has worked at Utrecht University before and has an independent game design company.



Teresa de la Hera is associate professor of persuasive gaming at Erasmus University Rotterdam. Her expertise is related to understanding how digital games can be used as media for communication and tools for engagement, motivation, and persuasion. De la Hera is the author of the book *Digital Gaming and the Advertising Landscape* (2019) and editor of the volume *Persuasive Gaming in Context* (2021), both published by Amsterdam University Press. She is also member of PEGI's Experts Group.

REVIEW

 cogitatio



FABLE: A New Horizon in Digital Learning and Serious Game Design

Salvador Reyes-de-Cózar[®] and Alba Merino-Cajaraville[®]

Department of Communication and Education, Universidad Loyola Andalucía, Spain

Correspondence: Alba Merino-Cajaraville (amerino@uloyola.es)

Submitted: 9 May 2024 Accepted: 29 July 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

Serious games have stood out as a new pedagogical format capable of motivating students through interactive learning. The lack of standards in the conception of these video games has led to the creation of different models, where the ludic aspects often prevail over the educational ones. This research analyzes the models present in the literature to identify those key elements in the design of serious games and to determine the presence of ludic-pedagogical elements. A systematic review is carried out following the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) statement to identify the existing models for creating serious games. A qualitative analysis of the selected models is carried out to extract the key elements that should be present when creating a guide for designing serious games and to evaluate a ludic-pedagogical elements in the selected models. The results show a lack of attention paid to the elements of the pedagogical dimension of the game in the studies reviewed. Other elements, such as the format or the audience, are not specified, and most models prove incomplete. From this study emerges FABLE (Fun And Balanced Learning Experience), a model that incorporates both the playful and pedagogical dimensions of the serious game.

Keywords

educational technology; game-based learning; ICT; interactive learning; serious games; video games

1. Introduction

The last decade has witnessed the transformation of learning through new tools and methods that have revolutionized traditional education. According to recent studies, the adoption of educational technologies



has improved not only access to information but also the motivation and engagement of students in their learning process (Bedenlier et al., 2020; Kowitlawakul et al., 2022; Wei, 2022). This scenario has opened the door to new ways of teaching that go beyond conventional methods, employing innovative tools inside and outside the classroom. Consequently, digital resources in education have become prominent tools, bridging emerging pedagogical needs with the expectations of current generations. This transformation has prompted educators and researchers to explore new teaching strategies (Chung & Pan, 2023), such as gamification, escape rooms, or video games, framed in the educational paradigm 4.0, that emphasizes personalized and flexible learning, utilizing adaptive systems powered by advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence, big data, and cloud computing to meet the specific needs of each student in interactive and immersive virtual learning environments (Almeida & Simoes, 2019). In this context, educational games have begun to gain ground in education, understood as a tool capable of offering a combination of entertainment and learning that appeals to today's generations (Min et al., 2022). The success and recognition are such that teachers are starting to integrate them into classrooms (Egea-Vivancos & Arias-Ferrer, 2021), while, in parallel, this expansion has led the scientific community to investigate the educational potential of this format (Ashinoff, 2014; Coroller & Flinois, 2023; Sousa & Costa, 2018; Toh & Kirschner, 2020).

Known as serious games, these games are designed with specific pedagogical objectives combining entertainment and educational aspects (Juan et al., 2017). To achieve their teaching purpose, they take advantage of the very nature of the format to expose students to different simulated scenarios and involve them in learning (Amzalag, 2021; Gao et al., 2020), placing them at the center of the process (Konopka et al., 2015). Recent studies have shown that educational video games can effectively improve students' academic performance and motivation (Manzano-León et al., 2021; Obodo et al., 2020). Thanks to their potential, serious games offer an innovative approach to enhancing traditional learning methods. From the earliest educational levels (Chang & Yen, 2023) to higher education (Artal-Sevil, 2020), integrating these narratives vields various benefits (Pérez-Colado et al., 2019). Firstly, video games positively impact players' emotional states, fostering interest and motivating them to persist in the game. Furthermore, some studies indicate that serious games promote the cognitive processes associated with the emergence of intrinsic motivation (Leitão et al., 2022), encouraging learning for its own sake rather than solely for grades. Secondly, as virtual tools, video games provide immersive training, allowing safe skill acquisition through simulated real-world scenarios (Chanchí-Golondrino et al., 2022), such as problem-solving (Pacheco-Velázquez et al., 2023), critical thinking (Elvsaas et al., 2023), and teamwork (Wong et al., 2022). Moreover, by immersing students in interactive environments, serious games present challenges that enhance educational engagement, effectively countering the burnout phenomenon in contemporary education (Reyes-de-Cózar et al., 2023).

However, these advantages are accompanied by some uncertainties. Several studies have concluded that learning outcomes from serious games are not consistently met, and engagement doesn't always increase (Imlig-Iten & Petko, 2018). Additionally, designing educational video games presents a complex challenge: ensuring knowledge transfer while maintaining entertainment and enjoyment for players (Andreoli et al., 2018). Striking the right balance between the "game" and "serious" dimensions is crucial (Gros, 2017). If educational content dominates, motivation may decline; if entertainment dominates, learning opportunities may be limited (Ravyse et al., 2017). Therefore, efforts to overcome these challenges and to compensate ludic and pedagogical elements in serious games are crucial for their effectiveness in education. Achieving this is complex and demands attention to pedagogical theories, learning mechanisms, game



elements, player experience, and various outcomes (Natucci & Borges, 2021). An educational video game with ludic and pedagogical elements present in its design can enhance learning (Lamrani et al., 2019) and student motivation (Westera, 2019). Also, categorizing those game design elements into fundamental educational game design principles can provide a more precise overview for application (Ahmad, 2019). Overall, integrating educational elements in serious game design is essential for creating effective and engaging learning experiences.

From this standpoint, theorists propose models for video game creation from two angles: ludic and educational. Within the ludic approach, a prominent model is Mechanics Dynamics Aesthetics by Hunicke et al. (2004), comprising an iterative framework based on three components: mechanics, which involves the rules of the video game; dynamics, related to the responses provided by the system; and aesthetics, addressing the visual and emotional aspects of the game. Other models, such as Nitsche's (2008), construct the video game around five conceptual planes: the rule-based space, the mediated space (the technological medium), the fictional space, the play space, and the social space. Authors like Green (2017) emphasize narrative, arguing that video games should integrate gameplay and narrative, supported by immersion, world-building, and agency.

From an educational perspective, Gee (2007) introduces elements such as interactivity, adapting the game to the student's learning style, game identity (personalization of characters), ordering problems/challenges by complexity, providing challenges according to difficulty, incorporating repetition for learning reinforcement, and ensuring depth and fairness to achieve objectives. These concepts form the basis for subsequent models, such as Klopfer et al.'s (2018), who propose design principles for educational games focused on creating meaningful learning experiences aligned with educational contexts. Their principles cover both preliminary and evaluative aspects, including the necessity of focus groups and game testing to ensure effective learning in the target audience and the importance of collecting relevant data to assess educational intervention effectiveness.

In this scenario of booming gamified learning environments, and amid theoretical advancements in the field, there's a rising community demand for a unified guide on serious game creation to establish a standardized approach (All et al., 2016; Ávila-Pesántez et al., 2017). Many of the shortcomings of video game-based learning may stem from the absence of consensus regarding creating high-quality serious games (De-Lope et al., 2017). To address this, researchers are endeavoring to find solutions by developing models, guidelines, or methodologies that guide the future of serious games.

On one side, some theoretical frameworks aim to guide designers in creating educational video games (Barianos et al., 2022), while others focus on the game's actual creation or implementation (Tsekleves et al., 2016). Additionally, some authors present methodologies focusing on technical aspects (Silva, 2020). Given these divergent approaches, it becomes crucial to unify models for designing educational video games (Mestadi et al., 2018). This emphasis should encompass educational elements and communicative and game components for a more cohesive approach. For the stated purpose, this study addresses the following research questions:

- RQ1: Is it feasible to identify common characteristics in models for serious game design?
- RQ2: What are the main elements in the models studied for developing serious games?
- RQ3: How are the ludic and pedagogical dimensions represented in the models reviewed?



2. Method

2.1. Research Design

The methodology followed for this research, which follows a qualitative design, is carried out in three stages. Initially, a systematic literature review on serious game design models is conducted, adhering to PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) statement criteria for validity and accuracy (Hutton et al., 2016). Eligibility, inclusion, and exclusion criteria, as well as search strategies, are defined through the structure of the PICO (Participants, Intervention, Comparator, Outcomes) model. In the second phase, a qualitative analysis of the selected studies is performed to identify the key elements in the design and development of serious games. Finally, a directed content analysis (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005) is carried out to check whether the created model improves those selected in the review.

2.1.1. Phase 1: Systematic Review

The initial search began in February 2023 using the combination of the terms "serious games" and "educational video games" in the Web of Science and Scopus databases, as the most representative in the field of social sciences since the object of study of this research is framed in education and communication. Subsequently, the search was broadened using the Boolean operators AND and OR with descriptors like "model", "education," "pedagogical," and "framework," among others. These searches yielded a substantial number of scientific publications, providing an overview of the research object and existing models in serious games literature, and highlighting the importance of conducting a systematic review.

The final systematic search was concluded in March 2023, covering a 10-year period from 2014 to 2023. The final combination of terms was:

(Model OR guidelines OR principles OR dimensions) AND (Development OR design OR evaluation) AND ((educational AND games) OR (serious AND games) OR (applied AND games) OR (learning AND games) OR (pedagogical AND games))

This search yielded 13,692 results, with 3,985 from Scopus and 9,707 from Web of Science. The inclusion and exclusion criteria utilized are shown in Table 1.

	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Participants	Any	None
Intervention	Any	None
Context	Published 2014–2023 Articles Published	Published in another year Other than articles Not published
Outcomes	Focused on models or frameworks for designing and developing serious games Educational video games	Others Commercial video games

 Table 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria according to the PICO model.

Note: The Comparator section of the usual PICO format was changed to Context, following Reyes-de-Cózar et al. (2022).



After identifying the 13,692 results, duplicate articles across the two databases (n = 2,957) were discarded, leaving 10,735 results. After reading the title, n = 10,626 were discarded because they were not considered relevant to the object of study. Many of these articles focused on isolated game attributes or commercial video games, while others centered on designing classroom interventions rather than providing a framework for serious game design. Upon abstract review, n = 4 articles inaccessible for full-text reading and n = 40articles not meeting inclusion criteria were excluded, leaving a sample of n = 61. After reading the full text of the selected articles, n = 40 were discarded because they did not meet some of the above criteria not detected in the previous screening phases. Therefore, n = 21 articles were included in the systematic review (see Figure 1).

To ensure the level of consensus in the screening phase, the reviewers (the authors of this article) were trained. Initially, 20 randomly selected articles were analyzed to assess agreement levels. Disagreements were resolved through discussion until consensus was achieved. This process was repeated until an adequate agreement level was reached (Cohen's Kappa > 0.8). Once reviewer training concluded, all articles were screened. Consensus articles were included in the final selection, while those without consensus were discussed for potential inclusion.

The same procedure was followed for the second phase of the study. Reviewer training involved randomly selecting five articles, assessing consensus, and discussing disagreements. The level of consensus was adequate (Cohen's Kappa > 0.8), so the process was not repeated. Finally, reviewers independently categorized the articles, and the final categorization included articles where both reviewers agreed.

2.1.2. Phase 2: Qualitative Analysis

First, an analysis of the formal elements of the models (such as target audience, methodology, approach, or format) has been carried out in order to identify the main characteristics.

Secondly, following the conventional content analysis technique proposed by Hsieh and Shannon (2005), the main elements of the models studied have been extracted. The procedure begins with observation by reading the different articles and the models proposed by the authors. After having a global overview, we carefully



Figure 1. Planning, identification, and eligibility process workflow. Note: WoS means Web of Science.



read each model, extracting the categories and elements described and tabulating them in a spreadsheet. After finishing the tabulation of the elements, they are grouped by similarity, and preliminary coding is performed. Subsequently, some codes are merged, while others are divided into subcategories. Finally, the final codes are examined to organize the information into a hierarchical structure. The explanation is accompanied below with an example of coding during the data analysis phase:

- After preliminary coding, we proceed to unify the elements found, grouping them by similarity (for example, synonyms such as storytelling, plot, dialogues, storyline, etc.), giving rise to a specific subcategory ("history");
- These subcategories, together with others of the same hierarchy but with different subject matter (e.g., "scenes" or "characters"), are grouped into a higher-order category ("narrative");
- Finally, these categories are grouped into higher-level layers according to the nature of their elements (playful, educational, or mixed).

As a result of the analysis and classification of the identified elements emerges FABLE (Fun And Balanced Learning Experience), a model structured in layers, categories, and subcategories that proposes an approach that includes both ludic and pedagogical aspects.

2.1.3. Phase 3: Directed Content Analysis

After the emergence of FABLE as a result of conventional content analysis, and following Hsieh and Shannon (2005), the methodological technique of directed content analysis is used in the last phase. This method involves categorizing the selected studies based on a previous model or approach, provided they are justified. Therefore, FABLE is compared with the selected models to determine whether the creation improves on the models studied.

3. Analysis and Results

3.1. General Characteristics of the Selected Models

To answer RQ1, the selected models were analyzed in order to extract common characteristics from them. The scientific production of models to create serious games in recent years has been constant over time (see Table 2), with a decrease observed in 2017 and 2018, where no selectable research was found. The years 2015 and 2021 represent the peak in production, accounting for 38% of studies conducted in the last decade. Methodologically, all articles employ a qualitative research design.

Regarding the format, 95.2% of models are not oriented towards specific serious game typologies (see Figure 2). Additionally, 61.9% of models do not specify a target audience, though those that do mainly target young people such as children, adolescents, and students.



Article	Authors	Year	Methodology
A01 A02	Padilla-Zea et al. (2014) Starks (2014)	2014	
A03 A04 A05 A06	Kim and Lee (2015) Plass et al. (2015) Shi and Shih (2015) Zarraonandia et al. (2015)	2015	
A07 A08 A09	Daylamani-Zad et al. (2016) Roungas (2016) Weitze (2016)	2016	_
A10 A11	McGann et al. (2019) Mokhtar et al. (2019)	2019	Qualitative
A12 A13 A14	Khowaja and Salim (2020) Tahir and Wang (2020) Tsikinas and Xinogalos (2020)	2020	_
A15 A16 A17 A18	Abidin et al. (2021) Beristain-Colorado et al. (2021) Jaccard et al. (2021) Ledezma and Simini (2021)	2021	
A19 A20 A21	Ishaq et al. (2022) Jiang and Shangguan (2022) Razali et al. (2022)	2022	_

Table 2. Selected models after systematic review.





3.2. Key Elements for the Creation of Serious Games Models From the Literature

To answer RQ2, a qualitative analysis of the selected articles was carried out. The main elements were extracted to identify the key elements that should be present when creating a guide for the design of serious games. For their understanding, they have been classified together with their corresponding references to the articles that mention them into four layers: prerequisites, ludic experience, pedagogical experience, and evaluation.



3.2.1. "Prerequisites" Layer

The "prerequisites" layer is the initial one and comprises the "ludic-pedagogical requirements" and "specific educational considerations" categories.

The "ludic-pedagogical requirements" category (see Figure 3) includes the initial criteria to consider when designing an educational video game. This category involves both game-related aspects like the genre (A12, A21), objectives (A15), game outline (A17), and debriefing (A06), which should detail the game's format to adapt other components effectively. It also covers educational aspects such as the learners' profile (A17), their age (A08), the context or environment in which they will play (A08, A17), learning prerequisites (A09) or requirements (A19), the users' prior knowledge (A08), and the intended learning outcomes (A12).

The category "specific educational considerations" refers to particular details that influence the design of an educational game because they affect the achievement of educational goals. Some models in the literature include specific guidelines for developing games for children with autism (A12, A14), using the multiple intelligences approach (A02), or for students with reading (A15) or language learning difficulties (A19).

3.2.2. "Ludic Experience" Layer

The "ludic experience" layer defines the game components related to user experience and gameplay. This layer is composed of four categories: "game structure," "narrative," "aesthetic," and "interaction."

The category "game structure" includes all elements related to actions within the serious game. It is divided into three subcategories: "mechanics," "dynamics," and "gameplay." "Mechanics" refers to the rules that define the game, such as interaction patterns, skills, and instructions that control the game state. These are also known as game mechanics (A03, A04, A06, A12, A13, A17), core mechanics (A20), or game mechanisms (A05). "Dynamics" are the technical aspects like technology and software, including fidelity and simulation models (A17), accessibility and adaptability (A16), interface (A06, A08, A13, A14, A17), and game media (A20). "Gameplay" covers the game's identity and user experience (A17), including goals and objectives (A03, A08, A20), challenges (A10, A11, A14), rewards (A06, A10, A11, A20), badges (A03), points (A03, A19), rank (A19, A21), and levels (A03, A07, A08, A19, A21), among others.

The "narrative" category (see Figure 4) includes all elements related to the game's plot, divided into three subcategories: "history," "scenes," and "characters." The "history" subcategory encompasses storytelling (A06, A12), the plot (A08), dialogues (A08), the storyline (A15), narrative cinematics (A01), and emotional narratives (A20). The "scenes" subcategory (A01, A06, A12) includes all the scenarios (A01, A06, A11, A18) where the story unfolds, which are further divided into sequences (A01) and chapters (A01).

LAYERS	CATEGORIES	ARTICLES
Droroquisitos	Ludic-pedagogical requirements	A05, A06, A08, A09, A12, A13, A14, A15, A17, A19, A21
Prerequisites	Specific educational considerations	A02, A07, A10, A12, A14, A15, A19, A20

Figure 3. Prerequisites layer, its categories, and sources.



LAYERS	CATEGORIES	SUBCATEGORIES	ARTICLES
	Game structure	Mechanics Dynamics Gameplay	A03, A04, A05, A06, A12, A13, A17, A20 A03, A06, A08, A12, A13, A14, A16, A17, A20 A01, A03, A04, A05, A06, A07, A08, A09, A10, A11, A13, A14, A15, A16, A17, A18, A19, A20, A21
Ludic	Narrative	History Scenes Characters	A01, A04, A05, A06, A08, A09, A12, A13, A15, A17, A20, A21 A01, A06, A11, A12, A18, A20 A01, A06, A07, A08, A12, A15, A18, A21
experience	Aesthetic	Audiovisual Sensation Sensory stimulation	A03, A04, A08, A13, A15, A17, A18, A21 A02, A03, A05, A06, A08, A09, A13, A14, A15, A16, A19, A20 A02, A09, A11, A13, A14, A15, A16, A20
	Interaction	Interactivity Socialization Feedback	A05, A06, A07, A09, A10, A15, A17, A20 A06, A07, A08, A09, A18, A20 A03, A04, A06, A08, A09, A10, A11, A14, A15, A16, A20

Figure 4. Ludic experience layer, its categories, its subcategories, and sources.

The "characters" subcategory (A01, A07, A08, A18) covers everything from avatars (A15) to NPCs (non-playable characters; A12).

The "aesthetic" category refers to the abstract reasons that attract users to continue playing, influenced by the artistic and visual presence of the game. It is subdivided into three subcategories: "audiovisual," "sensation," and "sensory stimulation." The "audiovisual" subcategory (A03, A04, A13, A21) pertains to the virtual elements (A03) of the game universe (A17), including visual aspects like color (A15), and auditory elements such as sounds (A08, A18) and music (A08). The "sensation" subcategory (A03, A08, A09, A20), freedom (A05), flow (A02, A13, A16), confidence (A03, A13), or mastery (A02). Lastly, "sensory stimulation" focuses on the consequences these sensations generate, like immersion (A13, A14, A16), concentration (A13, A16), or engagement (A02, A13).

The "interaction" category encompasses all reciprocal actions within the game, ranging from narrative interactivity to social engagement with other players. This category is divided into three subcategories: "interactivity," "socialization," and "feedback." The "interactivity" subcategory includes aspects such as decision execution (A07), choices (A09, A10), interaction with the game (A17), and player decisions (A07). The "socialization" subcategory involves elements like teams (A07), communication (A18), social relations (A09), and collective consciousness (A08). Finally, the "feedback" subcategory refers to the system's responses to the player's actions during the game (A03, A04, A06, A10, A11, A14, A15, A20).

3.2.3. "Pedagogical Experience" Layer

The "pedagogical experience" layer focuses on aspects related to learning and is divided into three categories: "pedagogical content," "educational objectives," and "learning process" (see Figure 5). The "pedagogical content" encompasses all elements related to the instructional material (A12) and educational resources (A13), including their design, structure (A15), and implementation. The "educational



LAYERS	CATEGORIES	ARTICLES
	Pedagogical content	A09, A12, A13, A15
Pedagogical experience	Educational objectives	A09, A13, A14, A15, A17
	Learning process	A04, A09, A10, A12, A13, A14, A17

Figure 5. Pedagogical experience layer, its categories, and sources.

objectives" (A13, A14, A15, A17) are defined as the learning goals (A09, A17) that shape the game's design. The "learning process" (A09) outlines the strategies (A13) and mechanics (A04, A17) to be used, the learning activities (A12), the functions (A17), the pedagogical scenario (A17) in which the game will be integrated, and whether any personalization for the learner is considered (A14).

3.2.4. "Evaluation" Layer

The purpose of the "evaluation" layer (see Figure 6) is to determine if the objectives of the serious game, both educational and ludic, have been achieved. This layer consists of two categories: "learning" and "game." The "learning" evaluation (A09, A17) assesses not only the learning outcomes achieved (A15) but also the expected outcomes (A12), along with game analytics (A14) that measure educational aspects. The "game" category (A04, A15, A17) focuses on evaluating the purely ludic elements and the adjustments (A16) made to the video game.

3.2.5. Ludic-Pedagogical Approach

To respond to RQ3, the elements present in the selected models are analyzed to determine the presence of ludic and pedagogical dimensions. According to the percentages obtained (see Figure 7), the "prerequisites" layer is present in 71.4% of the studies. This, in turn, contains two categories: "ludic-pedagogical requirements" (52.4%) and "specific educational considerations" (38.1%).

The "ludic experience" layer is included in 100% of the models. Regarding the categories that make it up, "game structure" is the most used category (95.2%). "Narrative" and "interaction" account for 71.4%, and "aesthetic" for 80.9%. These four categories are further divided into subcategories. "Gameplay" is the most common subcategory (90.4%). Far behind are "history" or "sensations" (57.1%), "feedback" (52.4%), and "dynamics" (42.8%). Meanwhile, 38.1% of the models include "mechanics," "characters," "audiovisual," "aesthetic," "sensory stimulation," or "interactivity." "Scenes" and "socialization" are the least represented subcategories in the literature (28.5%).

LAYERS	CATEGORIES	ARTICLES
Evoluction	Learning	A09, A12, A13, A14, A15, A17
Evaluation	Game	A04, A15, A16, A17





LAYERS	%	CATEGORIES	%	SUBCATEGORIES	%	ARTICLES
Prerequisites	71.4	Ludic-pedagogical requirements Specific educational considerations	52.4 38.1			A05, A06, A08, A09, A12, A13, A14, A15, A17, A19, A21 A02, A07, A10, A12, A14, A15, A19, A20
		Game structure	95.2	Mechanics Dynamics Gameplay History	38.1 42.8 90.4 57.1	A03, A04, A05, A06, A12, A13, A17, A20 A03, A06, A08, A12, A13, A14, A16, A17, A20 A01, A03, A04, A05, A06, A07, A08, A09, A10, A11, A13, A14, A15, A16, A17, A18, A19, A20, A21 A01, A04, A05, A06, A08, A09, A12, A13, A15, A17, A20, A21
Ludic experience	100	Narrative	71.4	Scenes Characters	28.5 38.1	A01, A06, A11, A12, A18, A20 A01, A06, A07, A08, A12, A15, A18, A21
	100	Aesthetic	80.9	Audiovisual Sensation Sensory stimulation	38.1 57.1 38.1	A03, A04, A08, A13, A15, A17, A18, A21 A02, A03, A05, A06, A08, A09, A13, A14, A15, A16, A,19, A20 A02, A09, A11, A13, A14, A15, A16, A20
		Interaction	71.4	Interactivity Socialization Feedback	38.1 28.5 52.4	A05, A06, A07, A09, A10, A15, A17, A20 A06, A07, A08, A09, A18, A20 A03, A04, A06, A08, A09, A10, A11, A14, A15, A16, A20
Pedagogical experience	38.1	Pedagogical content Educational objectives Learning process	19 23.8 33.3			A09, A12, A13, A15 A09, A13, A14, A15, A17 A04, A09, A10, A12, A13, A14, A17
Evaluation	38.1	Learning Game	28.5 19			A09, A12, A13, A14, A15, A17 A04, A15, A16, A17

Figure 7. Key elements from revised models.

The "pedagogical experience" layer has a considerably lower presence than the previous layers (38.1%). Likewise, the three categories that comprise it have slightly lower percentages: 33.3% for "learning process," 19% for "pedagogical content," and 23.8% for "educational objectives."

Something similar occurs with the "evaluation" layer (38.1%). At the category level, the evaluation of "learning" is included in 28.5% of the models, compared to 19% that incorporate an evaluation of "game."

After analyzing the percentages of the elements present in the literature, it is observed that the presence of ludic elements, both at the layer and category level, is greater than that of educational elements, so there is no equal representation between the ludic and educational components of the models.

3.3. FABLE: A Model With a Ludic-Pedagogical Approach for the Design of Serious Games

This study proposes FABLE, an integrative model that emerged from the systematic review, combining elements of both ludic and educational approaches. FABLE aims to provide a framework for designing serious games but does not attempt to be a reference with a 50/50 balance between the ludic and pedagogic dimensions. However, it highlights the importance of incorporating educational elements in the design, which is a lack detected in most models in the literature. In addition, FABLE emphasizes the early determination of format, audience, and typology to lay the foundations for game development. Furthermore, this model can serve a dual role: assisting developers in designing effective educational video games and serving as an evaluation tool for teachers to assess serious game usage.





Figure 8. FABLE model.

FABLE is conceived to design both general serious games and video games with specific needs. Therefore, it includes the category of "specific educational considerations" as an optional element, detailed only when necessary, depending on the serious game's nature and objectives. The model (see Figure 8) is structured into four layers: a ludic layer (ludic experience), an educational layer (pedagogical experience), and two mixed layers that integrate both educational and ludic elements (prerequisites and evaluation).

3.4. Comparison of FABLE With Models in the Literature

The methodological strategy of directed content analysis (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005) was carried out, using FABLE as a reference framework, to find out whether the created model improves the models for the design of serious games analyzed. To this end, an analysis of each model has been carried out, checking the presence or absence of the elements included in FABLE. The analysis was conducted at the category level, awarding one point to each category (11 points total). Each "ludic experience" category is divided into three subcategories, each scored on 1/3 to ensure that all categories have the same weight in the analysis (see Figure 9).

After analysis, only 28.6% of the models scored half of the points (5.5), which means that the remaining 71.4% have shortcomings in the proposed framework. On the one hand, there are models with only 1.33/11 (A01, A11) or 1.66/11 (A02, A18), while the majority range between a score of 2 and 4 (A03, A04, A05, A06, A07, A08, A10, A16, A19, A20, A21). On closer inspection, the lowest scoring items have their points accumulated mainly in the layer "ludic experience" (except for A02, which covers "specific educational considerations"). Layers such as "pedagogical experience" or "evaluation" are not very present in the selected models. These data reiterate the results of previous sections and show a lack of presence of educational elements in most of the models reviewed. At the other extreme are the highest-scoring models. The highest scoring model



LAYERS	CATEGORIES	SUBCATEGORIES	40	5 4 2	5 4	<u>5</u> 4	5 - 5 5	2 4 2	20 2	5 4	29 F	5° 42	47.	475	47.5	41 63	47.4	47.5	47.	470	470	;	, 42,
Prerequisites	Ludic-pedagogical requirements Specific educational considerations			٠			٠	٠	٠	٠	٠	٠		♦ ♦	•	♦ ♦	♦ ♦		•		♦ ♦	٠	
	Game structure	Mechanics Dynamics Gameplay	•		* * *	* *	♦	* * *	•	•	•	•	•	*	* *	¢	•	*	* * *	•	•	* *	
Ludic	History Narrative Scenes Ludic Characters	•	♦♦♦	•	♦♦	•		•	♦♦♦♦	•		♦♦		•	♦		*	 Image: A transmission of the second se					
experience	Aesthetic	Audiovisual Sensation Sensory stimulation		* * *	•	•		*	♦		•		* * *	♦	* * *		•	•	•	•			
	Interaction	Interactivity Socialization Feedback			•	•	•	* * *	*		* * *	◆◆	•			•	♦♦	•	•	•		* *	
Pedagogical experience	Pedagogical content Educational objectives Learning process													◆	$\blacklozenge \blacklozenge \blacklozenge$	♦	♦		♦♦				
Evaluation	Learning Game										٠					٠	♦		♦ ♦				
	Score (by category)*																						
* In the 1/3 poir	* In the ludic experience layer, the score of the different subcategories is weighted on 1/3 point to ensure an equal grading of the categories (each worth 1 point). Subcategory present in the model Category present in the model																						

Figure 9. Articles evaluation.

scores are 8.66/11 (A15), followed by 7.33/11 (A09, A13), although they are still incomplete compared to the emerged model.

4. Discussion and Conclusions

Research suggests that serious games serve as effective educational tools (Egea-Vivancos & Arias-Ferrer, 2021), motivating students and providing interactive and practical learning opportunities (Felicia, 2020), making them suitable for 21st-century learners. However, to ensure their efficacy in knowledge transfer, standardized approaches are needed to enhance serious game quality (Gentry et al., 2019). To this end, this study analyses models in search of guidelines and creates FABLE, a model for creating serious games with a focus on both playful and pedagogical aspects.

Regarding RQ1, the study investigated common characteristics in the design of serious games. Results indicate that audience and format are key identifiers of model characteristics. Interestingly, 61.9% of models do not specify an audience, while those that do mainly target young demographics such as students, children, or teenagers. This finding contrasts with other research emphasizing the benefits of serious games for older audiences and beyond academic settings, such as skill enhancement in older individuals (Abd-alrazaq et al.,



2022) and symptom reduction in depression (Saragih et al., 2022). Hence, proposing models targeting older audiences is beneficial to leverage the format's advantages and its contribution to fields beyond education. Despite format's crucial role in determining user experience (Caroux et al., 2023), it's largely overlooked in almost all studied models (95.2%), with only one detailing format considerations.

In response to RQ2, the study identifies key elements essential for creating a guide in serious game design by examining existing literature. Identification, categorization, and synthesis of these elements makes it possible to establish a framework incorporating the main elements from both ludic and pedagogical approaches. This represents a step towards creating holistic models that focus on both components, addressing some shortcomings observed in the studied models.

Regarding RQ3 and the determination of the presence of ludic and pedagogical elements in the selected models, the results are not encouraging. At the layer level, ludic components are present in all models (100%), while pedagogical elements (38.1%) and evaluation (38.1%) are scarce. At the category level, these percentages remain a decompensation. Categories with the highest presence in models in the literature align with the ludic layer ("game structure," "narrative," "aesthetic," and "interaction"), contrasting with low percentages (<25%) of elements related to the "pedagogical experience," including "pedagogical content," "educational objectives," and "learning process." These results invite us to reflect on the nature of the models themselves and show the relevance of proposing models that present a playful-pedagogical approach and do not lose sight of the main objective of any didactic tool: to promote learning (Gros, 2017). Developing a model serving as a guide for serious game creation necessitates finding an appropriate approach, considering both ludic and pedagogical elements (Egert & Phelps, 2020; Martínez et al., 2022), ensuring that the video game format promotes immersion and interactivity in learning while meeting educational objectives (Sasupilli et al., 2019).

Based on these findings, FABLE emerges as a ludic-pedagogical model consisting of four layers: one ludic, one pedagogical, and two mixed. This framework aims to take a first step in understanding serious game design, aligning with advocated approaches by authors such as Ávila-Pesántez et al. (2017). FABLE intends to overcome the shortcomings of game-based learning due to a lack of consensus, laying the foundations for digital learning (De-Lope et al., 2017). Moreover, FABLE underlines the importance of early determination of format, game typology, and target audience to establish the design and development of serious games on a coherent basis and tries to provide teachers and developers with a valuable instrument for designing educational video games. This model aims to provide a framework for designing serious games but does not attempt to be a reference with a 50/50 balance between the ludic and pedagogic dimensions. However, it highlights the importance of incorporating educational elements in the design, a lack that has been detected in most of the models reviewed despite being a demand for some authors (Ahmad, 2019; Lamrani et al., 2019; Natucci & Borges, 2021; Westera, 2019). The approach of FABLE is aligned with other studies that advocate the importance of the pedagogical component. Serious games should be designed with the objective of gamifying the educational process (Martin et al., 2021), always taking as a premise that guaranteeing learning is their primary objective. For this reason, the models and frameworks that serve as a guide for their creation should include the pedagogical dimension in order to be an effective reference when creating quality educational video games (Smith & Bowers, 2019). To achieve this, authors such as Linderoth and Sjöblom (2019) propose a solution to incorporate in the design process people with knowledge of pedagogical content, such as teachers themselves, so that the instructional goals are taken as a starting



point to guide the development process of serious games and fulfill the educational purpose for which they are created.

Furthermore, comparing FABLE with existing models reveals that 71.4% of articles do not incorporate the educational dimension into their models. The most incomplete frameworks often prioritize the "ludic experience" layer while neglecting essential elements like "pedagogical experience" and "evaluation," resulting in educational incompleteness. Authors such as Natucci and Borges (2021) emphasize the need for a holistic approach in serious game conception, recognizing them as digital games with objectives beyond mere entertainment. While entertainment should be ensured, it is not the primary goal. In summary, as noted by Merino-Cajaraville et al. (2023), these findings highlight the importance of guiding models and achieving a ludic-pedagogical approach, crucial for ensuring learning and knowledge transfer (Gentry et al., 2019) within an immersive and interactive gaming experience.

In conclusion, over the last decade, researchers and theorists have tried to contribute to the growth of serious games as tools for digital learning, providing theoretical foundations with different approaches. However, this study reveals a lack of consensus on what constitutes an adequate guide for creating serious games, despite the availability of various models. Moreover, the results show a decompensation between the ludic and pedagogical elements of the selected models, lending themselves as incomplete references to support the design of educational video games. In response to these findings, FABLE is created as a framework addressing the detected shortcomings. FABLE strives to achieve a ludic-pedagogical approach, ensuring learning while leveraging the immersive format's benefits. It also underlines the importance of determining aspects such as format and audience at an early stage. Therefore, FABLE emerges as a more comprehensive model than those evaluated, to take a first step in understanding serious game design.

Acknowledgments

This research is carried out under the Programme Erasmus+, with application number 626155-EPP-1-2020-2-LT-EPPKA3-PI-POLICY, titled Teaching to Be: Supporting Teachers' Professional Growth and Well-Being in the Field of Social and Emotional Learning.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

Data Availability

The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author.

References

- Abd-alrazaq, A., Alhuwail, D., Ahmed, A., & Househ, M. (2022). Effectiveness of serious games for improving executive functions among older adults with cognitive impairment: Systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Serious Games, 10(3), Article e36123. https://doi.org/10.2196/36123
- Abidin, S. R., Mat Noor, S. F., & Ashaari, N. S. (2021). Serious game conceptual model of brain-based learning for Halus student. *Pertanika Journal of Science & Technology*, 29(4), Article JST-2848-2021. https://doi.org/ 10.47836/pjst.29.4.49
- Ahmad, M. (2019). Categorizing game design elements into educational game design fundamentals. In I. Deliyannis (Ed.), *Game design and intelligent interaction* (pp. 1–17). IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/ intechopen.89971



- All, A., Castellar, E. P. N., & Van Looy, J. (2016). Assessing the effectiveness of digital game-based learning: Best practices. *Computers & Education*, 92/93, 90–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2015.10.007
- Almeida, F., & Simoes, J. (2019). The role of serious games, gamification and industry 4.0 tools in the education 4.0 paradigm. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, 10(2), 120–136. https://doi.org/10.30935/cet.554469
- Amzalag, M. (2021). Parent attitudes towards the integration of digital learning games as an alternative to traditional homework. International Journal of Information and Communication Technology Education, 17(3), 151–167. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJICTE.20210701.oa10
- Andreoli, R., Corolla, A., Faggiano, A., Malandrino, D., Pirozzi, D., Ranaldi, M., Santangelo, G., & Scarano, V. (2018). A framework to design, develop, and evaluate immersive and collaborative serious games in cultural heritage. *Journal on Computing and Cultural Heritage*, 11(1), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1145/3064644
- Artal-Sevil, J. S. (2020). Application of serious games in higher education. What are they? How, where and when to use them? In L. Gómez Chova, A. López Martínez, & I. Candel Torres (Eds.), *INTED2020 proceedings* (pp. 8641–8654). International Academy of Technology, Education, and Development.
- Ashinoff, B. K. (2014). The potential of video games as a pedagogical tool. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5, Article 1109. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01109
- Ávila-Pesántez, D., Rivera, L. A., & Alban, M. S. (2017). Approaches for serious game design: A systematic literature review. *Computers in Education Journal*, 8(3), 1–11.
- Barianos, A. K., Papadakis, A., & Vidakis, N. (2022). Content manager for serious games: Theoretical framework and digital platform. Advances in Mobile Learning Educational Research, 2(1), 251–262. https://doi.org/ 10.25082/AMLER.2022.01.009
- Bedenlier, S., Bond, M., Buntins, K., Zawacki-Richter, O., & Kerres, M. (2020). Facilitating student engagement through educational technology in higher education: A systematic review in the field of arts and humanities. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 36(4), 126–150. https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.5477
- Beristain-Colorado, M. D. P., Ambros-Antemate, J. F., Vargas-Treviño, M., Gutiérrez-Gutiérrez, J., Moreno-Rodríguez, A., Hernández-Cruz, P. A., Gallegos-Velasco, I. B., & Torres-Rosas, R. (2021). Standardizing the development of serious games for physical rehabilitation: Conceptual framework proposal. *JMIR Serious Games*, 9(2), Article e25854. https://doi.org/10.2196/25854
- Caroux, L., Delmas, M., Cahuzac, M., Ader, M., Gazagne, B., & Ravassa, A. (2023). Head-up displays in action video games: The effects of physical and semantic characteristics on player performance and experience. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 42(10), 1466–1486. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X. 2022.2081609
- Chanchí-Golondrino, G. E., Gómez-Álvarez, M. C., & Sierra-Martínez, L. M. (2022). Directrices para el diseño y la construcción de videojuegos serios educativos. *Revista Colombiana de Educación*, 84, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.17227/rce.num84-12759
- Chang, I. C., & Yen, C. E. (2023). Application of somatosensory computer game for nutrition education in preschool children. *Computers*, 12(1), Article 20. https://doi.org/10.3390/computers12010020
- Chung, C.-H., & Pan, H.-L. W. (2023). Assessing the effects of flow, social interaction, and engagement on students' gamified learning: A mediation analysis. *Sustainability*, 15(2), Article 983. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/su15020983
- Coroller, S., & Flinois, C. (2023). Video games as a tool for ecological learning: The case of Animal Crossing. *Ecosphere*, 14(3), Article e4463. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.4463
- Daylamani-Zad, D., Angelides, M. C., & Agius, H. (2016). Lu-Lu: A framework for collaborative decision making games. *Decision Support Systems*, 85, 49–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2016.02.011



- De-Lope, R. P., Arcos, J. R. L., Medina-Medina, N., Paderewski, P., & Gutiérrez-Vela, F. (2017). Design methodology for educational games based on graphical notations: Designing Urano. *Entertainment Computing*, 18, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.entcom.2016.08.005
- Egea-Vivancos, A., & Arias-Ferrer, L. (2021). Principles for the design of a history and heritage game based on the evaluation of immersive virtual reality video games. *E-Learning and Digital Media*, 18(4), 383–402. https://doi.org/10.1177/2042753020980103
- Egert, C. A., & Phelps, A. M. (2020). Balancing entertainment and educational objectives in academic game creation. In M. Farber (Ed.), *Global perspectives on gameful and playful teaching and learning* (pp. 164–192). IGI Global.
- Elvsaas, I. K. O., Garnweidner-Holme, L., Habib, L., & Molin, M. (2023). Development and evaluation of a serious game application to engage university students in critical thinking about health claims: Mixed methods study. *JMIR Formative Research*, *7*, Article e44831. https://doi.org/10.2196/44831
- Felicia, P. (2020). Using educational games in the classroom: Guidelines for successful learning outcomes. European Schoolnet; Interactive Software Federation of Europe.
- Gao, F., Li, L., & Sun, Y. (2020). A systematic review of mobile game-based learning in STEM education. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 68(4), 1791–1827. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09787-0
- Gee, J. P. (2007). What video games have to teach us about learning and literacy (rev. ed.). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gentry, S. V., Gauthier, A., L'Estrade Ehrstrom, B., Wortley, D., Lilienthal, A., Tudor Car, L., Dauwels-Okutsu, S., Nikolaou, C. K., Zary, N., Campbell, J., & Car, J. (2019). Serious gaming and gamification education in health professions: Systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(3), Article e12994. https:// doi.org/10.2196/12994
- Green, A. M. (2017). Storytelling in video games: The art of the digital narrative. McFarland & Company.
- Gros, B. (2017). Game dimensions and pedagogical dimension in serious games. In R. Z. Zheng & M. K. Gardner (Eds.), *Handbook of research on serious games for educational applications* (pp. 402–417). IGI Global.
- Hsieh, H., & Shannon, S. (2005). Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. *Qualitative Health Research*, 15(9), 1277–1288. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305276687
- Hunicke, R., LeBlanc, M., & Zubek, R. (2004). MDA: A formal approach to game design and game research. In *Proceedings of the AAAI Workshop on Challenges in Game AI* (pp. 17-22). Association for the Advancement of Artificial Intelligence. https://aaai.org/proceeding/ws04-04
- Hutton, B., Catalá-López, F., & Moher, D. (2016). La extensión de la declaración PRISMA para revisiones sistemáticas que incorporan metaanálisis en red: PRISMA-NMA. *Medicina Clínica*, 147(6), 262–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medcle.2016.10.003
- Imlig-Iten, N., & Petko, D. (2018). Comparing serious games and educational simulations: Effects on enjoyment, deep thinking, interest and cognitive learning gains. *Simulation & Gaming*, 49(4), 401–422. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1046878118779088
- Ishaq, K., Rosdi, F., Zin, N. A. M., & Abid, A. (2022). Serious game design model for language learning in the cultural context. *Education and Information Technologies*, 27(7), 9317–9355. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10639-022-10999-5
- Jaccard, D., Suppan, L., Sanchez, E., Huguenin, A., & Laurent, M. (2021). The co.LAB generic framework for collaborative design of serious games: Development study. *JMIR Serious Games*, *9*(3), Article e28674. https://doi.org/10.2196/28674
- Jiang, F., & Shangguan, D. (2022). Researching and designing educational games on the basis of "self-regulated learning theory." *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, Article 996403. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.996403



- Juan, A. A., Birgit, L., Daradoumis, T., & Ventura, S. (2017). Games and simulation in higher education. International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education, 14(1), Article 37. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s41239-017-0075-9
- Khowaja, K., & Salim, S. S. (2020). A framework to design vocabulary-based serious games for children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). Universal Access in the Information Society, 19(4), 739–781. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-019-00689-4
- Kim, J. T., & Lee, W. H. (2015). Dynamical model for gamification of learning (DMGL). *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 74, 8483–8493. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-013-1612-8
- Klopfer, E., Haas, J., Osterweil, S., & Rosenheck, L. (2018). *Resonant games: Design principles for learning games that connect hearts, minds, and the everyday.* MIT Press.
- Konopka, C., Adaime, M., & Mosele, P. (2015). Active teaching and learning methodologies: Some considerations. *Creative Education*, *6*(14), 1536–1545. http://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2015.614154
- Kowitlawakul, Y., Tan, J. J. M., Suebnukarn, S., Nguyen, H. D., Poo, D. C. C., Chai, J., Wang, W., & Devi, K. (2022). Utilizing educational technology in enhancing undergraduate nursing students' engagement and motivation: A scoping review. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 42, 262–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.profnurs.2022.07.015
- Lamrani, R., Abdelwahed, E. H., Chraibi, S., & Qassimi, S., & Hafidi, M. (2019). Early childhood education: How play can be used to meet children's individual needs. In M. Ezziyyani (Ed.), Advanced intelligent systems for sustainable development (AI2SD'2018). Vol 4: Advanced intelligent systems applied to health. Springer. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11884-6_22
- Ledezma, M. R., & Simini, F. (2021). Serious game design by unified block interactions to support educational transformations. *International Journal of Computing*, 20(4), 487–493. https://doi.org/10.47839/ijc.20.4. 2435
- Leitão, R., Maguire, M., Turner, S., & Guimarães, L. (2022). A systematic evaluation of game elements effects on students' motivation. *Education and Information Technologies*, 27, 1081–1103. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10639-021-10651-8
- Linderoth, J., & Sjöblom, B. (2019). Being an educator and game developer: The role of pedagogical content knowledge in non-commercial serious games production. *Simulation & Gaming*, *50*(6), 771–788. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046878119873023
- Manzano-León, A., Camacho-Lazarraga, P., Guerrero, M. A., Guerrero-Puerta, L., Aguilar-Parra, J. M., Trigueros, R., & Alias, A. (2021). Between level up and game over: A systematic literature review of gamification in education. *Sustainability*, *13*(4), Article 2247. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13042247
- Martin, S. M., Casey, J. R., & Kane, S. (2021). Ludology and the origins of games and learning. In S. M. Martin, (Ed.), *Serious games in personalized learning: New models for design and performance* (pp. 48–71). Routledge.
- Martínez, L., Gimenes, M., & Lambert, E. (2022). Entertainment video games for academic learning: A systematic review. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 60(5), 1083–1109. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/07356331211053848
- McGann, J., Issartel, J., Hederman, L., & Conlan, O. (2019). PaCMAn: A 'principled' framework, arising from a systematic review of the literature, to underpin design and deployment of video games for motor skill acquisition. *Entertainment Computing*, *31*, Article 100310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.entcom.2019. 100310
- Merino-Cajaraville, A., Reyes-de-Cózar, S., & Navazo-Ostúa, P. (2023). SCHEMA: A process for the creation and evaluation of serious games—A systematic review towards sustainability. *Sustainability*, 15(16), Article 12351. https://doi.org/10.3390/su151612351



- Mestadi, W., Nafil, K., Touahni, R., & Messoussi, R. (2018). An assessment of serious games technology: Toward an architecture for serious games design. *International Journal of Computer Games Technology*, 2018, Article 9834565. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/9834565
- Min, A., Min, H., & Kim, S. (2022). Effectiveness of serious games in nurse education: A systematic review. *Nurse Education Today*, 108, Article 105178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.105178
- Mokhtar, N., Ismail, A., & Muda, Z. (2019). Designing model of serious game for flood safety training. International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications, 10(5), 331–339. https://doi.org/ 10.14569/ijacsa.2019.0100541
- Natucci, G. C., & Borges, M. A. (2021). Balancing pedagogy, emotions and game design in serious game development. In S. Raupp Musse, V. Cassol, R. Queiroz, E. Soares de Lima, & H. Ayanoglu (Eds.), *Anais Estendidos do XX Simpósio Brasileiro de Games e Entretenimento Digital* (pp. 1013–1016). Sociedade Brasileira de Computação.
- Nitsche, M. (2008). Video game spaces: Image, play, and structure in 3D worlds. MIT Press.
- Obodo, A. C., Ani, M. I., & Thompson, M. (2020). Effects of improvised teaching-learning materials on the academic performance of junior secondary school students in basic science in Enugu State, Nigeria. *IOSR Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 10(4), 23–30.
- Pacheco-Velázquez, E., Salinas-Navarro, D. E., & Ramírez-Montoya, M. S. (2023). Serious games and experiential learning: Options for engineering education. *International Journal of Serious Games*, 10(3), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.17083/ijsg.v10i3.593
- Padilla-Zea, N., Gutiérrez, F. L., López-Arcos, J. R., Abad-Arranz, A., & Paderewski, P. (2014). Modeling storytelling to be used in educational video games. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 31, 461–474. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.04.020
- Pérez-Colado, V. M., Pérez-Colado, I. J., Freire-Morán, M., Martínez-Ortiz, I., & Fernández-Manjón, B. (2019). Simplifying the creation of adventure serious games with educational-oriented features. *Educational Technology & Society*, 22(3), 32–46.
- Plass, J. L., Homer, B. D., & Kinzer, C. K. (2015). Foundations of game-based learning. *Educational Psychologist*, 50(4), 258–283. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2015.1122533
- Ravyse, W. S., Seugnet Blignaut, A., Leendertz, V., & Woolner, A. (2017). Success factors for serious games to enhance learning: A systematic review. *Virtual Reality*, *21*, 31–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10055-016-0298-4
- Razali, N. E. M., Ramli, R. Z., Mohamed, H., Zin, N. A. M., Rosdi, F., & Diah, N. M. (2022). Identifying and validating game design elements in serious game guideline for climate change. *Heliyon*, 8(1), Article e08773. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e08773
- Reyes-de-Cózar, S., Merino-Cajaraville, A., & Salguero-Pazos, M. R. (2023). Avoiding academic burnout: Academic factors that enhance university student engagement. *Behavioral Sciences*, 13(12), Article 989. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs13120989
- Reyes-de-Cózar, S., Pérez-Escolar, M., & Navazo-Ostúa, P. (2022). Digital competencies for new journalistic work in media outlets: A systematic review. *Media and Communication*, 10(1), 27–42. https://doi.org/ 10.17645/mac.v10i1.4439
- Roungas, B. (2016). A model-driven framework for educational game design. *International Journal of Serious Games*, 3(3), 19–37. https://doi.org/10.17083/ijsg.v3i3.126
- Saragih, I. D., Everard, G., & Lee, B. O. (2022). A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials on the effect of serious games on people with dementia. *Ageing Research Reviews*, *82*, Article 101740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2022.101740



- Sasupilli, M., Bokil, P., & Punekar, R. M. (2019). Game design frameworks and evaluating techniques for educational games: A review. In A. Chakrabarti (Ed.), *Research into design for a connected world: Proceedings* of ICoRD 2019 volume 1 (pp. 277–286). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-5974-3_24
- Shi, Y. R., & Shih, J. L. (2015). Game factors and game-based learning design model. *International Journal of Computer Games Technology*, 2015, Article 549684. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/549684
- Silva, F. G. M. (2020). Practical methodology for the design of educational serious games. *Information*, 11(1), Article 14. https://doi.org/10.3390/info11010014
- Smith, P. A., & Bowers, C. (2019). Serious games advancing the technology of engaging information. In M. Khosrow-Pour (Ed.), Advanced methodologies and technologies in media and communications (pp. 153–164). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-7601-3.ch013
- Sousa, C., & Costa, C. (2018). Videogames as a learning tool: Is game-based learning more effective? *Revista Lusófona de Educação*, 40, 199–210. https://doi.org/10.24140/issn.1645-7250.rle40.13
- Starks, K. (2014). Cognitive behavioral game design: A unified model for designing serious games. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5, Article 28. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00028
- Tahir, R., & Wang, A. I. (2020). Codifying game-based learning: Development and application of LEAGUÊ framework for learning games. *Electronic Journal of e-Learning*, 18(1), 69–87. https://doi.org/10.34190/EJEL.20.18.1.006
- Toh, W., & Kirschner, D. (2020). Self-directed learning in video games, affordances and pedagogical implications for teaching and learning. *Computers & Education*, 154, Article 103912. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103912
- Tsekleves, E., Cosmas, J., & Aggoun, A. (2016). Benefits, barriers and guideline recommendations for the implementation of serious games in education for stakeholders and policymakers. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 47(1), 164–183. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12223
- Tsikinas, S., & Xinogalos, S. (2020). Towards a serious games design framework for people with intellectual disability or autism spectrum disorder. *Education and Information Technologies*, 25(4), 3405–3423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-020-10124-4
- Wei, Y. (2022). Toward technology-based education and English as a foreign language motivation: A review of literature. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, Article 870540. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.870540
- Weitze, C. L. (2016). Designing for learning and play: The Smiley Model as framework. *IxD*&A, 29, 52–75.
- Westera, W. (2019). Why and how serious games can become far more effective: Accommodating productive learning experiences, learner motivation and the monitoring of learning gains. *Educational Technology & Society*, *22*(1), 59–69.
- Wong, J. Y.-H., Ko, J., Nam, S., Kwok, T., Lam, S., Cheuk, J., Chan, M., Lam, V., Wong, G. T. C., Ng, Z. L. H., & Wai, A. K.-C. (2022). Virtual ER, a serious game for interprofessional education to enhance teamwork in medical and nursing undergraduates: Development and evaluation study. *JMIR Serious Games*, 10(3), Article e35269. https://doi.org/10.2196/35269
- Zarraonandia, T., Diaz, P., Aedo, I., & Ruiz, M. R. (2015). Designing educational games through a conceptual model based on rules and scenarios. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 74, 4535–4559. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-013-1821-1



About the Authors



Salvador Reyes-de-Cózar is a full-time senior lecturer in the Department of Communication and Education of the Universidad Loyola Andalucía (Seville, Spain). He holds a PhD in education sciences from the University of Seville (Spain) and an MA in management, evaluation, and quality of training institutions. He has participated in several research projects at the European level: DISCIPLINE, STAY IN, DEPIT, and Teaching to Be (T2B), acting as principal investigator within the partner Universidad Loyola Andalucía.



Alba Merino-Cajaraville is a research assistant in the Department of Communication and Education at Universidad Loyola Andalucía. She currently holds a FPU grant from Ministerio de Educación, Cultura y Deporte. She has taught digital content management and editing subjects. Her research interests are digital communication, advertising, and video games. She has participated as a researcher in the European project Teaching to Be, a gamified course to improve teaching wellbeing.

ARTICLE



Open Access Journal

Amplifying Player Experience to Facilitate Prosocial Outcomes in a Narrative-Based Serious Game

Lewen Wei ¹[®], Mike Schmierbach ²[®], Bingjie Liu ³[®], Jin Kang ⁴[®], Cheng Chen ⁵[®], Frank E. Dardis ²[®], Ryan Tan ⁶[®], and Olivia Cohen ⁷[®]

¹ School of the Arts and Media, University of New South Wales, Australia

² Donald P. Bellisario College of Communications, Pennsylvania State University, USA

³ School of Communication, The Ohio State University, USA

⁴ School of Information Technology, Carleton University, Canada

⁵ School of Communications, Elon University, USA

⁶ College of Journalism and Mass Communications, University of Nebraska – Lincoln, USA

⁷ Lew Klein College of Media and Communication, Temple University, USA

Correspondence: Lewen Wei (lewen.wei@unsw.edu.au)

Submitted: 7 May 2024 Accepted: 6 August 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

The rise and development of serious games have shown promise in addressing critical social issues, including school bullying. However, prior work often compares game-based interventions with the conventional non-game approach, failing to generate insights about which game features should be emphasized to create more effective games. To bridge this research gap, in light of video games' advantages for creating immersive experiences that benefit persuasion, we created a narrative-based serious game addressing school bullying and conducted two studies (Study 1, N = 130; Study 2, N = 250) to explore the persuasive effects of two game features, respectively player-avatar similarity and in-game control, on player experience (including player-avatar identification, narrative engagement, and empathy) and prosocial intention. We found mixed results subject to player perspective such that only when players took the bully's perspective did one of the game features—in-game control—successfully create the intended empathy via amplified narrative engagement toward the desirable prosocial intention.

Keywords

empathy; in-game control; narrative engagement; player-avatar identification; player-avatar similarity; prosocial intention; serious game



1. Introduction

Bullying as a major form of school toxicity causes tremendous long-lasting physical and psychological damage to both victims and bullies (Copeland et al., 2013). Through two studies, we add to an emerging body of research considering the potential for narrative-based serious games to create empathy and potentially reduce bullying behavior or tolerance (Q. Chen et al., 2023). In doing so, we add to theory on the mechanisms by which serious games specifically and immersive narratives in general can generate prosocial outcomes. In particular, we test whether specific game design features are ways to increase the effectiveness of a serious game, moving beyond general tests of games versus other non-game formats to consider specific common features that can be integrated into game-based bullying interventions.

2. Literature Review

2.1. Serious Games for Bullying Interventions

Capitalizing on the entertaining aspect of gameplay, serious games are mainly developed to educate, inform, and persuade players, helping them gain positive personal growth and internalize and act upon prosocial values (Michael & Chen, 2006; Peng et al., 2010). Serious games have been shown to be effective educational tools with positive outcomes across multiple contexts (Canet & Sánchez-Castillo, 2024), including improvements in mental health behaviors and attitudes (David et al., 2020). Research has indicated a link between playing prosocial games and subsequent attitudinal or behavioral outcomes that align with the game's message, based on the interactivity of the game (E. Lee et al., 2022) or simply individuals' general empathy (Davis, 2006) or awareness of the particular problem (e.g., bullying) within the game (Calvo-Morata et al., 2021).

Several serious games have been developed to address the issue of school bullying (e.g., Bradley & Kendall, 2019; Calvo-Morata et al., 2021; Garaigordobil & Martínez-Valderrey, 2015) and reviews and meta-analyses both support the use and effectiveness of such game-based tools (Calvo-Morata et al., 2020; Q. Chen et al., 2023). Yet, most relevant research focuses on comparing digital interventions to other approaches, and the outcome variables considered vary widely (Q. Chen et al., 2023). In this respect, despite growing literature on the topic, some notable gaps remain. It is unclear which features game developers should emphasize in creating serious games on the topic of bullying, and how the outcomes of such games can relate to a broader theoretical literature on persuasion through narrative and the creation of empathy through immersive experiences.

2.2. Engaging Experience With Narrative-Based Serious Gameplay

In order to realize and understand the potential of serious or persuasive games, scholars must identify specific features and mechanisms that contribute to their success. In this article, we focus on the specific outcome of game-induced empathy. Moreover, we propose that *narrative engagement* with a narrative-based serious game, including identification with characters, is key to the generation of empathy.

Several studies have used either a general approach to engagement or specific dimensions of engagement in predicting positive outcomes, including persuasion and enjoyment (Sherrick, 2018). Research in this area includes studies showing the importance of narrative engagement to eudaimonic enjoyment (Daneels et al.,



2021; Possler et al., 2020), games for health (Green & Jenkins, 2020; Zhou et al., 2020), and serious games (E. Lee et al., 2022; Naul & Liu, 2020; van't Riet et al., 2018). We follow the approach of Busselle and Bilandzic (2009), who proposed a measure that combined aspects of transportation, presence, emotional engagement, and attentional focus to offer a generalized measure of narrative engagement—"A state of intense cognitive and emotional focus on the story" (Bilandzic & Busselle, 2013, p. 208). Such a general approach may miss subtle variations in the experience of stories but has the benefit of both capturing the main mechanisms by which stories are thought to influence audiences and reflecting the broad mental models that people build. Narrower conceptualizations and measures risk imposing distinctions on user experiences that may not actually exist in their own understanding of a game or story.

There are several reasons to emphasize narrative engagement in the context of serious games. First, existing meta-analyses of the effectiveness of such games almost exclusively focus on titles with narrative elements (e.g., Girard et al., 2013). Despite Bogost's idea of persuasion through the mechanics of games (2007), most serious games use story to help persuade. Second, a significant body of literature shows the effectiveness of narrative persuasion (Braddock & Dillard, 2016; Ratcliff & Sun, 2020; F. Shen et al., 2015). Third, the specific goal of creating empathy encourages the use of narrative and identifiable characters. When players encounter an in-game character outside their immediate control, they have the opportunity to reflect on the motivations of that character and develop an understanding of the experiences and reasoning of others. Removing narrative elements and using an avatar who is totally interchangeable with the player minimizes the opportunity for engagement and empathy.

The literature on narrative persuasion in general offers multiple explanations for how serious games can persuade through the creation of engagement. The extended elaboration likelihood model suggests that narratives help to make complex information more digestible and comprehensible to a general audience (Slater & Rouner, 2002); the transportation imagery model posits that the immersive nature of narratives can take someone out of their own personal world and instead into the story world (Green & Brock, 2000). To synthesize these earlier theoretical advancements, Moyer-Gusé (2008) proposed an entertainment overcoming resistance model that exhaustively outlined experiential antecedents to reducing resistance, arguing that people's vicarious experience of in-story characters' cognitions, emotions, and behaviors would make it difficult for people to allocate their cognitive and affective resources to initiating counterarguing against persuasion (Slater & Rouner, 2002).

Taken further, when comparing interactive and traditional narrative-based messages, Green and Jenkins (2014) note that interactive narratives offer an individual multiple branch points inside the narrative to determine the direction and possible consequences of the plotline. This actively enlists the individual as a co-creator of the plotline, theoretically encouraging higher levels of transportation. In addition, interactive storytelling also encourages higher levels of enjoyment, and research has found that an enjoyable narrative experience is conducive to producing desirable persuasion outcomes (T. K. Lee & Kim, 2022). Serious gameplay has the natural advantage of facilitating such interactive storytelling.

2.3. Persuasive Game Features

To increase the persuasiveness of narrative-based serious games, it is promising to leverage game features that can effectively enhance players' narrative engagement. In accordance with the characteristics of narratives,


that is, character and plot (see Bilandzic & Busselle, 2013), we consider two game features as direct enablers of narrative engagement: player-avatar similarity and in-game control.

2.3.1. Player-Avatar Similarity

When processing narrative information, there exists an internal process where the message recipient resonates with and takes in the experience of a character (i.e., identification; Cohen, 2001), which can have further persuasive power by motivating behavioral mimicry or fostering favorable attitudes toward the character. Hence, the key to enhancing narrative engagement lies in designing the right avatar that the player controls. A recent meta-analysis related to narrative persuasion and character attributes concluded that the strongest persuasive impact occurred when the similarity between character and message recipients was made salient on prominent demographic and biographic characteristics (M. Chen et al., 2024). Hence, we focus on player-avatar similarity based on demographics and predict that increasing the similarity between a player and their controlling avatar will enhance their perception of player-avatar similarity. The perceived similarity then blurs the boundary between one's identity in real life and that in the game world, helping the player internalize the thoughts and feelings of their controlling avatar (Cohen, 2001), which facilitates the development of player-avatar identification (Li et al., 2013). With identification heightening one's emotional and cognitive connections with their controlling avatar (Fernández Galeote & Hamari, 2021), a player who identifies with their avatar is further likely to experience higher engagement with the narrative-based serious gameplay. Based on this rationale, we propose the following hypotheses:

H1: A high level of player-avatar similarity will increase one's perceived similarity with their avatar.

H2: One's perceived player-avatar similarity is positively associated with their player-avatar identification.

H3: One's player-avatar identification is positively associated with their narrative engagement.

2.3.2. In-Game Control

As a highly interactive medium, video games enable player control in many different ways, including customizing their representation (via the player avatar), the pace and general direction of gameplay (via gameplay decisions and navigation within game space), and even the content presented in a game's narrative (Toh, 2023). All these methods have been found to be linked with an elevated sense of in-game mastery agency over the presentation and flow of a video game experience in empirical research (e.g., Kim et al., 2015). Specifically, research suggests that it is the player's control over the flow and mechanics of the narrative experience that fosters deep engagement with video game narratives (Tanenbaum & Tanenbaum, 2010). The greater the level of control over gameplay, the greater a player's perception of their in-game autonomy should be. The degree of control over the content and flow of the experience influences players' perception of autonomy within the gameplay experience. Additionally, the degree of player identification with in-game avatars has been found to predict both immersion and autonomy (Birk et al., 2016), suggesting that players' perceptions of autonomy should be positively associated with how strongly they identify with their avatars. By affording players a high level of control (and, by extension, autonomy) in the context of an



interactive anti-bullying story for school students, stronger connections between players and both their in-game avatars as well as in-game actions can be established and problematized. We then predict:

H4: A high level of in-game control will increase one's perceived autonomy during gameplay.

- H5: One's perceived autonomy is positively associated with their player-avatar identification.
- H6: One's perceived autonomy is positively associated with their narrative engagement.

That said, although we expect the increased narrative engagement will attenuate resistance to persuasion, there are usually no *explicit* persuasive messages in serious games for players to counterargue with. That is, unlike designing campaign messages that usually include explicit persuasive arguments (e.g., "stop doing this"), serious game development tends not to carry out outright persuasion, but instead focuses more on amplifying player experience. In this respect, narrative-based serious gameplay might function better to foster prosocial cognitive and affective abilities.

Kors et al. (2018) pointed out that a common characteristic of prosocial persuasive games was their focus on building *empathy* among players to "feel and understand the struggles of another" (p. 493). On top of that, narratives have been found effective in initiating empathic processes (Oliver et al., 2012). Hence, there is great potential for narrative in serious games to create empathy as a result of increasing narrative engagement.

2.4. Creating Empathy in Persuasive Games

Although sometimes conceptualized as multidimensional, empathy is broadly defined as a process of sharing and understanding others' internal states (e.g., other's emotions and perspectives; Zaki & Ochsner, 2012). Under some circumstances, empathy seems to be automatic. However, past research has found empathy as effortful (e.g., Epley et al., 2004). That is, to empathize requires cognitive effort, and people avoid empathy when they perceive it to be more effortful and feel less efficacious in sharing others' perspectives and experiences (Cameron et al., 2019). According to this perspective, factors that enhance one's cognitive capacity to take another's perspective or share their experience and factors that reduce the needed effort for empathy should facilitate empathy.

A recent review suggests that high narrative engagement could enable the activation of social cognitive processes, including perspective-taking and empathy (Eekhof et al., 2022). In mediated environments (e.g., digital games, virtual reality, interactive narratives), individuals' cognitive resources may be allocated to both processing the information in the narratives and responding to the stimuli in their physical environments. The more narrative engagement, the more attention will be paid to the narratives, thereby preserving more cognitive resources available for individuals to empathize with the characters in the narratives. Specifically, in digital games, as players become more immersed in the game narrative, they pay greater attention to the in-game activities such as their interaction with the non-player characters (NPCs) and less attention to the world outside the game (Busselle & Bilandzic, 2009). Hence, greater cognitive resources will be allocated to processing the information related to the NPCs, which will further enable the players to take the NPCs' perspectives more easily, i.e., to empathize with the NPCs (Morelli & Lieberman, 2013).



Empirical research findings are generally congruent with the expectation that more engagement with the game narrative leads to greater empathy toward characters in the stories. For example, Wulansari et al. (2020) found that, in video games, morally engaging narratives increased players' perspective-taking, and perceived immersion was positively associated with empathy. Similarly, Shliakhovchuk (2024) found that in an immersive game (Papers, Please), by playing as an immigration inspector who decided whether a refugee should be admitted or turned away, participants experienced greater empathy for refugees, which led to more positive attitudes toward refugees. Therefore, we predict:

H7: One's narrative engagement is positively associated with their empathy toward the target NPCs.

2.5. Effect on Prosocial Intention

Taken further, the game-induced experience could affect prosocial intention, that is, one's voluntary actions that intend to benefit others (Batson & Powell, 2003). Specific to school bullying, DeSmet et al. (2018) found their 30-minute serious game effectively increased students' intention to act as a positive bystander to a bullying victim. Willems et al. (2024) found their four-week intervention program, encompassing a serious game, increased students' intention to help a victim in bias-based bullying situations (e.g., bullying based on race).

What could account for such game-induced influence? First, following what the entertainment overcoming resistance model postulates (Moyer-Gusé, 2008), players who become engaged with the game narrative may be more likely to act consistently with what is depicted in narrative outside of the gaming environment. For example, H. M. Lee and Li (2023) corroborated that higher immersion into immersive media was related to a higher intention to volunteer and donate to humanitarian causes. Second, decades of research using varied methods has shown a robust link between empathy and prosocial outcomes. As players develop empathy toward video game characters, they may be more likely to take the perspectives of those characters, understand their situations, and even experience the same emotions as those characters, resulting in prosocial intentions (Davis, 2006). For instance, Prot et al. (2014) found that children's prosocial gameplay in the first year predicted their level of empathy in the subsequent year, which in turn predicted their later prosocial behaviors. Hence, we predict:

H8: One's narrative engagement is positively associated with their prosocial intention after gameplay.

H9: One's empathy toward the target NPCs is positively associated with their prosocial intention after gameplay.

Figure 1 presents the conceptual model of our study.

3. Study 1

3.1. Method

We conducted a 2 (player-avatar similarity: low vs. high) \times 2 (in-game control: low vs. high) online between-subjects experiment with the experimental protocol approved by the pertinent institutional review





Figure 1. Conceptual model.

board. The data collection lasted from October 2019 until May 2021, with the extended time frame due to recruitment challenges and then the Covid-19 pandemic. The study proceeded as follows: After providing their informed consent, participants first self-reported their gender and race; then, they were randomly assigned to play a version of the game with features specific to their experimental condition; after that, they completed a questionnaire asking about their perception of and experience with the gameplay; finally, they were thanked and credited for their participation.

3.1.1. Game Design

We designed a role-playing serious game using the software RPG Maker MV (https://www.rpgmakerweb.com/ products/rpg-maker-mv), in which participants played the game as the central character, who went through a typical school day and interacted with students, staff, and faculty in four designated scenes. During those interactions, participants acted as a bully or victim in an alternating manner (i.e., twice as a bully, twice as a victim) for a richer experience; they interacted with four designated NPCs who were victims (Characters 1 and 3) or bullies (Characters 2 and 4) accordingly. More details of the game design can be found via the link in the Data Availability section.

Altogether, there are a total of 16 versions of the game depending on the experimental manipulation. Player-avatar similarity was manipulated by assigning participants an avatar that matched their self-report demographic attributes (i.e., gender and race) in real life or not, for which we created eight avatars by gender (female and male) and race (Asian, Black, Latino/a, and White). For participants assigned to the high similarity condition, the avatar exactly matched their self-reported gender and race; for participants assigned to the low similarity condition, an avatar matching neither their gender nor race was randomly assigned; for participants who self-reported to identify with non-binary gender and/or more than one racial category, they were randomly assigned to an avatar. In addition to the visual representation of race and gender, these



traits were reinforced by an early moment in the game where players were compelled to look in a mirror and given a description of their racial/ethnic and gender identity.

Regardless of experimental condition, participants could exercise the same level of basic control over their avatar by navigating freely around each small stage and interacting with a small number of items. The experimental manipulation of in-game control (i.e., the other critical persuasive game feature for the study) involved whether participants were able to make choices (among three options in a given dialogue when interacting with a target NPC) in the gameplay. Such choices occurred in both bully-related interactions (e.g., which kind of insults to use when acting as a bully) and unrelated ones (e.g., deciding on what outfit to wear for the day to get started). For participants assigned to the conditions where such critical control was absent, in those designated dialogues, one of the same three options was programmed to be randomly presented.

3.1.2. Sample

We recruited 130 participants from undergraduate classes at a large public university in the United States. They signed up for the study in exchange for extra course credits. There were 38 males, 91 females, and 1 indicating "other" ($M_{age} = 20.77$ years, $SD_{age} = 3.68$). Among all, 88 self-identified as White, 24 as Asian, 8 as Hispanic/Latino, 8 as Black, and 2 as "other."

We ran a post hoc power analysis to examine if our sample was sufficient for hypothesis testing. A recent meta-analytic review revealed a medium effect size (based on Cohen, 1992) for the positive influence of immersive media on individual prosociality (Canet & Sánchez-Castillo, 2024). Although there is a lack of generalized effect size of serious games in the context of school bullying, given the immersive nature of gameplays, we decided to adopt the medium effect size as the benchmark. With the analysis of variance as the target statistical analysis, effect size f = .25 (i.e., the medium effect size based on Cohen, 1992), $\alpha = .05$, and sample size N = 130, we used the G*Power software (Faul et al., 2007) and calculated that our study could achieve a statistical power of .81.

3.1.3. Measurement

Unless indicated otherwise, all variables were measured on a 7-point Likert scale where 1 = strongly disagreeand 7 = strongly agree. Bivariate correlations among measured variables are presented in Table 1. Details about the measurement and descriptive statistics by experimental conditions can be found via the link in the Data Availability section.

Perceived similarity with the central game character was measured with three items such as "the character and I have similar physical attributes," *Cronbach's* $\alpha = .94$, M = 2.24, SD = 1.59.

Perceived autonomy while playing the game was measured with three items such as "The game provided me with interesting options and choices" (Neys et al., 2014), *Cronbach's* $\alpha = .73$, M = 2.69, SD = 1.28.

Player-avatar identification was measured with three items adapted from Li et al. (2013) such as "the character and I were one and the same," *Cronbach's* $\alpha = .71$, M = 2.20, SD = 1.16.



Table 1.	Bivariate	correlations	in	Study 1.
----------	------------------	--------------	----	----------

	Perceived similarity	Perceived autonomy	Player– avatar identification	Narrative engagement	Empathy toward victim NPCs	Empathy toward bully NPCs	Prosocial intention
Perceived similarity	_						
Perceived autonomy	.23**	_					
Player–avatar identification	.42***	.56***	_				
Narrative engagement	.18*	.28**	.30***	_			
Empathy toward victim NPCS	.10	.18*	.15†	.55***	-		
Empathy toward bully NPCs	.31***	.29***	.48***	.22*	.33***	_	
Prosocial intention	03	.15†	.07	.16†	.10	02	_

Notes: * p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001; † p < .10; all 2-tailed.

Narrative engagement was measured using 12 items such as "at times during the gameplay, the story world was closer to me than the real world" (Busselle & Bilandzic, 2009), *Cronbach's* $\alpha = .77$, M = 4.00, SD = .89.

Empathy toward the target NPCs was measured respectively using 12 items, such as "I can feel the character's emotions" (L. Shen, 2010). We averaged the scores of empathy toward the two victim NPCs and those toward the two bully NPCs separately to create a respective index measuring participants' empathy toward the victim (*Cronbach's* α = .95, *M* = 4.32, *SD* = 1.31) and empathy toward the bully (*Cronbach's* α = .93, *M* = 2.58, *SD* = 1.41).

Prosocial intention was measured by asking participants "after playing the game, how likely are you," to which they responded to four prompts such as "to give help to bullied students?" (Paek et al., 2012), *Cronbach's* $\alpha = .90$, M = 4.91, SD = 1.54.

3.2. Results

Prior to hypothesis testing, we performed a set of analyses of variance to explore the total causal effects of persuasive game features on players' experience with the gameplay and prosocial intention. The statistics can be found in our supplementary materials via the link in the Data Availability section.

3.2.1. Original Model

To test our hypotheses, we conducted a path analysis using SPSS Amos 26 (IBM, 2022). The model fit is not ideal, χ^2 (DF = 23) = 67.41, p < .001, CFI = .812, TLI = .705, RMSEA = .122 (90%CI [.089, .157],



PCLOSE < .001). However, we decided to proceed with interpreting the path coefficients, which are still informative, and consider implications of the model fit afterward.

As shown in Figure 2, in support of H1, H2, and H3, playing an avatar similar to oneself increased perceived player-avatar similarity, which was further positively associated with player-avatar identification, and then narrative engagement.

For the other persuasive game feature, in support of H4 and H5, a higher level of in-game control increased one's perceived autonomy during the gameplay, which was further positively associated with player-avatar identification. Yet, rejecting H6, increased perceived autonomy was not significantly associated with more narrative engagement.

Furthermore, supporting H7, we found a significant positive association between narrative engagement and empathy; the association was stronger for empathy toward victim NPCs than empathy toward bully NPCs. However, neither narrative engagement nor empathy were associated with one's prosocial intention after gameplay in a significant manner, thus rejecting H8 and H9.

3.2.2. Modified Model

Recognizing the somewhat poor model fit, we followed prior work (e.g., Meier et al., 2020; Rieger et al., 2014) and added three paths to improve the model fit as shown in Figure 3, respectively (a) perceived similarity \rightarrow empathy toward bully NPCs, (b) perceived autonomy \rightarrow empathy toward bully NPCs, and (c) player-avatar identification \rightarrow empathy toward bully NPCs. When checking the modification indices to



Figure 2. Path analysis model with standardized coefficients (β) in Study 1. Note: *** p < .001, ** p < .01, * p < .05.





Figure 3. Modified path analysis model with standardized coefficients (β) in Study 1. Note: *** p < .001, ** p < .01, * p < .05.

improve model fit, SPSS Amos suggested co-varying the error terms of those variables. Yet, due to the lack of theoretical reasoning and concerns that this might subject our results to chance and sample-specific idiosyncrasies (Landis et al., 2010; MacCallum et al., 1992), we decided to add the directional paths instead considering their high correlations as shown in Table 1.

The fit for the modified model improved, χ^2 (DF = 20) = 30.65, p = .06, CFI = .955, TLI = .919, RMSEA = .064 (90%CI [.000, .107], PCLOSE = .28). With the modified model, we still found support for H1, H2, H3, H4, and H5. There was partial support of H7 such that narrative engagement was positively associated with empathy toward victim NPCs, but not with empathy toward bully NPCs. For the three newly added paths, we found a significantly positive association between player-avatar identification and empathy toward bully NPCs.

3.3. Discussion

In Study 1, we found some indication of specific game features amplifying player experience and generating empathy in a narrative-based serious game. However, neither narrative engagement nor empathy significantly predicted prosocial intention. Reflecting on the study procedure and results, especially the significant positive associations between empathy toward bully NPCs and other perceptual variables (as shown in Table 1), we speculate that our game design, which had participants act as both bullies and victims, might have interfered with their empathic processes that should have led to desired prosocial outcomes. Another possibility is that, although we proposed a conceptual model (Figure 1) derived from the gaming and persuasion literature, the poor fit of the tested model could indicate the presence of alternative mechanisms and/or the misalignment between theory and empirical data.



Without further evidence, it was difficult to conclude whether some of our null findings resulted from study-specific idiosyncrasies, the mis-specified conceptual model, or a combination of both. We therefore decided to conduct Study 2 to better address the role of the player perspective, exploring whether we could replicate findings from Study 1 with the same model. We propose an overarching research question as follows:

RQ1: How does player perspective (as victim vs. as bully) influence the effects of persuasive game features on player experience and prosocial intention?

4. Study 2

4.1. Method

We conducted a 2 (player–avatar demographic similarity: low vs. high) \times 2 (in-game control: low vs. high) \times 2 (player perspective: as victim vs. as bully) online between-subjects experiment lasting from October 2023 until March 2024 at two universities in the United States. The study procedure was consistent with that in Study 1.

4.1.1. Game Design

Building on the game design in Study 1, we further varied the perspective that participants would take during the gameplay and revised other parts of the game accordingly, resulting in a total number of 32 versions of the game. For participants assigned to the as-victim condition, in the four designated dialogues, they received insults from the respective bullying NPCs. For participants in the as-bully condition, in those scenarios, they acted as the bully to insult the respective victim NPCs.

4.1.2. Sample

A total of 426 undergraduate students signed up for the study. After filtering out incomplete responses, the final dataset consisted of 250 participants. There were 53 males, 196 females, and one indicating "other" ($M_{age} = 20.63$ years, $SD_{age} = 3.81$). Among all, 189 self-identified as White, 26 as Asian, 14 as Hispanic/Latino, 12 as Black, and 9 as "other." We ran another post hoc power analysis as done in Study 1 and found that our study could achieve a statistical power of .98.

4.1.3. Measurement

We adopted the same measurements as used in Study 1, including perceived similarity (*Cronbach's* $\alpha = .91$, M = 2.24, SD = 1.56), perceived autonomy (*Cronbach's* $\alpha = .81$, M = 2.87, SD = 1.45), player-avatar identification (*Cronbach's* $\alpha = .76$, M = 2.36, SD = 1.38), narrative engagement (*Cronbach's* $\alpha = .75$, M = 4.02, SD = .91), empathy (*Cronbach's* $\alpha = .98$, M = 3.46, SD = 1.52), and prosocial intention (*Cronbach's* $\alpha = .89$, M = 4.92, SD = 1.41). Notably, for participants assigned to the as-bully condition, they reported their empathy toward the four victim NPCs (which were then averaged); for participants assigned to the as-victim condition, their empathy was reported toward the four bully NPCs (which were then averaged). Table 2 presents the bivariate correlations. Descriptive statistics by experimental conditions can be found via the link in the Data Availability section.



	Perceived similarity	Perceived autonomy	Player–avatar identification	Narrative engagement	Empathy	Prosocial intention
Perceived similarity	_					
Perceived autonomy	.29**	_				
Player–avatar identification	.51***	.48***	_			
Narrative engagement	.19**	.35**	.41***	_		
Empathy	.06	.00	01	.07	_	
Prosocial intention	05	.10	.22***	.15*	.10	_

Table 2. Bivariate correlations in Study 2.

Notes: * p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001; all 2-tailed.

4.2. Results

4.2.1. Original Model

We specified the same original path analysis model as that in Study 1 using SPSS Amos 26 (IBM, 2022). The overall model fit improved as compared to the original model in Study 1, χ^2 (DF = 36) = 94.80, p < .001, CFI = .844, TLI = .757, RMSEA = .081 (90%CI [.061, .101], PCLOSE = .006).

Figure 4 and Figure 5 present path coefficients for each version of the player perspective manipulation. To answer RQ1, we further performed multi-group analysis to compare models based on player perspective, as shown in Table 3. Overall, the findings supported H1, H2, H4, and H5, and rejected H8 across the two player perspective conditions.

There are two hypothesized associations that are significantly different between the as-victim and the asbully conditions, based on the multi-group analysis. First, in partial support of H3, when playing the game as the victim, participants' player–avatar identification was positively associated with their narrative engagement, which was not observed in the as-bully condition. Second, we found a significant positive association between empathy and prosocial intention when participants played the game as a bully (rather than as a victim), offering partial support to H9.

Furthermore, as shown in Figure 5, in the as-bully conditions only, we observed a significant positive association between perceived autonomy and narrative engagement, and between narrative engagement and empathy. These findings provided partial support to H6 and H7.





Figure 4. Path analysis model with standardized coefficients (β) in Study 2 (player perspective = as victim). Note: *** p < .001.



Figure 5. Path analysis model with standardized coefficients (β) in Study 2 (player perspective = as bully). Note: *** p < .001, ** p < .01.



Table 3. Invariance tests between play-as-victim and play-as-bully perspectives in the original model.

	X ²	df	Δ χ ²	∆df	р	RMSEA	ΔRMSEA
Base model	94.80	36				.081	
Equal loadings	115.73	45	20.93	9	.013	.080.	001
Constraining player–avatar similarity → perceived similarity	95.32	37	.29	1	.591	.080.	001
Constraining in-game control → perceived autonomy	95.09	37	.51	1	.472	.080.	001
Constraining perceived similarity → player–avatar identification	94.86	37	.06	1	.806	.079	002
Constraining perceived autonomy → player–avatar identification	96.05	37	1.25	1	.263	.080.	001
Constraining player–avatar identification → narrative engagement	103.38	37	8.58	1	.003	.085	.004
Constraining perceived autonomy \rightarrow narrative engagement	97.63	37	2.83	1	.093	.081	0
Constraining narrative engagement \rightarrow prosocial intention	96.08	37	1.28	1	.258	.080.	001
Constraining narrative engagement $ ightarrow$ empathy	97.99	37	3.19	1	.074	.082	.001
Constraining empathy $ ightarrow$ prosocial intention	101.25	37	6.45	1	.011	.084	.003

4.2.2. Modified Model

We specified the same modified model to remain consistent with that in Study 1. The model fit improved when compared with the original model in Study 2, χ^2 (DF = 30) = 62.16, *p* = .001, CFI = .914, TLI = .840, RMSEA = .066 (90%CI [.042, .089], PCLOSE = .125). Figure 6 and Figure 7 present the path coefficients, while Table 4 presents the model comparisons.

The findings were mostly consistent with those in the original model. For the newly added paths, the association between perceived similarity and empathy significantly differed between the as-victim and the as-bully conditions based on the multi-group analysis. That is, when playing the game as the victim, participants' perceived similarity was positively associated with their empathy toward the NPCs, which was not observed in the as-bully condition.

5. General Discussion

Through two studies, we explored serious games as a means to tackle an important social issue—school toxicity—based on the unique engaging experience that video games can leverage for persuasion. First, our results extend prior work on player-avatar similarity (M. Chen et al., 2024) to the context of game-based bullying intervention, by confirming the effectiveness of matching a player with their controlling avatar based on demographic attributes to enhance their identification with the avatar. Study 2 further suggests that when people assumed the role of bully (rather than victim), the association between identification and narrative engagement weakened and became statistically non-significant.





Figure 6. Modified path analysis model with standardized coefficients (β) in Study 2 (player perspective = as victim). Note: *** p < .001, ** p < .01.



Figure 7. Modified path analysis model with standardized coefficients (β) in Study 2 (player perspective = as bully). Note: *** p < .001, ** p < .01, * p < .05.



 Table 4. Invariance tests between play-as-victim and play-as-bully perspectives in the modified model.

	X ²	df	Δχ²	∆df	р	RMSEA	ΔRMSEA
Base model	62.16	30				.066	
Equal loadings	94.63	42	32.48	12	.001	.071	.005
Constraining player-avatar similarity \rightarrow perceived similarity	62.44	31	.29	1	.591	.064	002
Constraining in-game control → perceived autonomy	62.67	31	.52	1	.472	.064	002
Constraining perceived similarity \rightarrow player-avatar identification	62.22	31	.06	1	.806	.064	002
Constraining perceived similarity \rightarrow empathy	71.32	31	9.16	1	.002	.072	.006
Constraining perceived autonomy → player–avatar identification	63.41	31	1.25	1	.263	.065	001
Constraining perceived autonomy \rightarrow empathy	62.20	31	.05	1	.824	.064	002
Constraining player–avatar identification → narrative engagement	70.73	31	8.58	1	.003	.072	.006
Constraining player–avatar identification \rightarrow empathy	63.75	31	1.59	1	.207	.065	001
Constraining perceived autonomy → narrative engagement	64.98	31	2.83	1	.093	.066	0
Constraining narrative engagement \rightarrow prosocial intention	63.44	31	1.28	1	.258	.065	001
Constraining narrative engagement \rightarrow empathy	67.51	31	5.35	1	.021	.069	.003
Constraining empathy \rightarrow prosocial intention	68.61	31	6.45	1	.011	.070	.004

Second, when it comes to in-game control, our findings corroborated the link between (sense of) autonomy and identification in existing research (Birk et al., 2016). Yet, as shown in Study 2, the association between (sense of) autonomy and engagement observed in prior work (e.g., Kim et al., 2015) was further subject to player perspective such that only acting as the bully was able to engage players with the storytelling.

Third, adding to both conceptual and empirical work (e.g., Eekhof et al., 2022; Wulansari et al., 2020), our findings substantiated the link between narrative engagement and empathy, especially when players were instructed to take the bully's perspective. With the imposed bully perspective, we further found the association between empathy and prosocial intention, thereby extending relevant prior research (Davis, 2006; Prot et al., 2014) by illuminating the boundary conditions.

Notably, in both studies, we also reported modified models with a better model fit to offer insights for future research. However, we do want to note the risks associated with this data-driven approach. While our original model did not fit the data well, it was developed based on relevant theoretical work. Therefore, our findings need to be carefully interpreted through the lens of both types of models, and the modified models are in greater need of replication.

In the next sections, we discuss the implications of these results, followed by suggestions for future directions.



5.1. Implications

The theoretical implications of our study are two-fold. First, we demonstrated the potential of serious games as one important genre of entertainment media for facilitating prosocial outcomes. Rather than exerting direct persuasive influences, serious games can induce social influence through persuasive game features as the enabler of engaging experience with the gameplay, in line with previous research on narrative persuasion (Moyer-Gusé, 2008).

Second, informed by research on narrative effects and empathy (Oliver et al., 2012; L. Shen, 2010), we explored empathy as an additional mechanism that might potentially help to overcome resistance to persuasion in role-playing serious games. Echoing and extending the perspective that generating empathy requires one's cognitive capacity (Cameron et al., 2019), we further found that whose cognitive capacity was used also matters. That is, only when people took the perspective of a bully did being engaged with the story increase their empathy toward the target NPCs with desirable behavioral implications. These findings provided critical preliminary insights into the boundary conditions with respect to creating empathy in persuasive games.

Practically, our studies encourage pertinent stakeholders (e.g., game designers, educators, and administrators) to closely examine the intended and unintended consequences resulting from persuasive game features that influence player experience when compared to static educational programs (Annetta, 2008). Across the two studies, we found relatively consistent effects of in-game control on enhancing player experience, making it a critical game feature to consider when designing relevant narrative-based serious games for prosocial outcomes. That said, the different model performances subject to player perspective (as shown in Figures 3–6) would caution relevant stakeholders when considering from which perspective a story should be told in serious games.

5.2. Limitations and Directions

In both studies, we observed relatively low mean scores for perceived similarity, perceived autonomy, and player-avatar identification, which might result from the limitations of our game designs. Despite our efforts to achieve player-avatar matching based on gender and race, participants in the high similarity conditions might still perceive their controlling avatar as not looking like themselves or a real person in their life, thereby finding it challenging to internalize the identity and experience of the avatar. Perhaps a game in which users could select avatars with whom they identify or a game design with more realistic graphics could help address this. Another factor limiting perceived similarity could be the stylized graphics used for avatars. While in-game texts reinforcing the identity (e.g., "I think I identify most with Asian" said by the player's controlling avatar in the introductory scene) were included as part of our game design, more could be done to signal identity both textually and visually.

Related to this, the serious game that we designed for the two studies is relatively simple and straightforward, and did not grant players many opportunities to explore the game world outside the programmed interaction scenes. This could help explain the lower sense of autonomy than expected. A game with more flexibility in the order of play could be advantageous. At the same time, however, too much freedom for players might distract them from the intended message or reduce the likelihood of exposure to key elements.



In both studies, the original model fit was shy of traditional cutoffs. This suggests that the underlying theory supporting that model may have been inadequate or incorrect. Some key mechanisms not included in our measures could require consideration, such as reactance, social norms, or social presence. Alternatively, with the modified models, we found some significant direct associations between one's perception of/experience with their in-game avatar and their empathy toward NPCs, without narrative engagement serving as a mediator. This might suggest that existing models of persuasion through narrative-based entertainment are insufficient to explain the potential effects of serious games.

Another consideration for future research could be expanding the persuasive message beyond simple narrative elements. Perhaps developers could integrate the consequences of bullying into the procedural rhetoric of the game, reinforcing the consequences for self-esteem or social connections through gameplay mechanics or rewards. Additionally, the game could more explicitly discourage bullying rather than relying on empathy to discourage the behavior, although this might risk triggering reactance.

6. Conclusion

In conclusion, narrative-based serious games can persuade for prosocial purposes without engaging explicit persuasive messaging. Instead, certain game features have shown promise in promoting prosocial action tendencies through deepening players' engagement with storyline and creating empathy toward the interactant NPCs. Scholars and practitioners in the broad field of entertainment education could consider incorporating narrative-based serious game development with persuasive game features to facilitate prosocial communication and behaviors.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the participants in our two studies for their time and effort. We also extend our thanks to the academic editors and the three anonymous reviewers for their constructive feedback.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

Data Availability

Details of the game design and the measurement and descriptive statistics can be found at https://osf.io/ wvsyj/?view_only=31434489d87246e9ab926c35983cab6d. Other data underlying this article are available upon reasonable request.

References

- Annetta, L. A. (2008). Video games in education: Why they should be used and how they are being used. *Theory Into Practice*, 47(3), 229–239. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405840802153940
- Batson, C. D., & Powell, A. A. (2003). Altruism and prosocial behavior. In T. Millon, M. J. Lerner, & I. B. Weiner (Eds.), *Handbook of psychology* (pp. 463–484). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471264385.wei0519
- Bilandzic, H., & Busselle, R. (2013). Narrative persuasion. In J. P. Dillard & L. Shen (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of persuasion: Developments in theory and practice* (2nd ed., pp. 200–219). Sage.
- Birk, M. V., Atkins, C., Bowey, J. T., & Mandryk, R. L. (2016). Fostering intrinsic motivation through avatar identification in digital games. In J. Kaye, A. Druin, C. Lampe, D. Morris, & J. P. Hourcade (Eds.), *Proceedings*



of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (pp. 2982–2995). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858062

- Bogost, I. (2007). Persuasive games: The expressive power of videogames. MIT Press.
- Braddock, K., & Dillard, J. P. (2016). Meta-analytic evidence for the persuasive effect of narratives on beliefs, attitudes, intentions, and behaviors. *Communication Monographs*, 83(4), 446–467. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/03637751.2015.1128555
- Bradley, E. G., & Kendall, B. (2019). Training teachers to identify and refer at-risk students through computer simulation. *Journal of Technology in Behavioral Science*, 4(4), 340–345. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41347-019-00106-w
- Busselle, R., & Bilandzic, H. (2009). Measuring narrative engagement. *Media Psychology*, 12(4), 321–347. https://doi.org/10.1080/15213260903287259
- Calvo-Morata, A., Alonso-Fernández, C., Freire, M., Martínez-Ortiz, I., & Fernández-Manjón, B. (2020). Serious games to prevent and detect bullying and cyberbullying: A systematic serious games and literature review. *Computers & Education*, 157, Article 103958. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103958
- Calvo-Morata, A., Alonso-Fernández, C., Freire, M., Martínez-Ortiz, I., & Fernández-Manjón, B. (2021). Creating awareness on bullying and cyberbullying among young people: Validating the effectiveness and design of the serious game Conectado. *Telematics and Informatics*, 60, Article 101568. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.tele.2021.101568
- Cameron, C. D., Hutcherson, C. A., Ferguson, A. M., Scheffer, J. A., Hadjiandreou, E., & Inzlicht, M. (2019). Empathy is hard work: People choose to avoid empathy because of its cognitive costs. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 148(6), 962–976. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000595
- Canet, F., & Sánchez-Castillo, S. (2024). Understanding how immersive media enhance prosociality: A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Communication Research*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1177/00936502241247534
- Chen, M., Dong, Y., & Wang, J. (2024). A meta-analysis examining the role of character-recipient similarity in narrative persuasion. *Communication Research*, *51*(1), 56–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/00936502231 204834
- Chen, Q., Chan, K. L., Guo, S., Chen, M., Lo, C. K., & Ip, P. (2023). Effectiveness of digital health interventions in reducing bullying and cyberbullying: A meta-analysis. *Trauma*, *Violence*, & *Abuse*, 24(3), 1986–2002. https:// doi.org/10.1177/15248380221082090
- Cohen, J. (1992). Statistical power analysis. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 1(3), 98–101. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.ep10768783
- Cohen, J. (2001). Defining identification: A theoretical look at the identification of audiences with media characters. *Mass Communication and Society*, 4(3), 245–264. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327825 MCS0403_01
- Copeland, W. E., Wolke, D., Angold, A., & Costello, E. J. (2013). Adult psychiatric outcomes of bullying and being bullied by peers in childhood and adolescence. JAMA Psychiatry, 70(4), 419–426. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.504
- Daneels, R., Malliet, S., Geerts, L., Denayer, N., Walrave, M., & Vandebosch, H. (2021). Assassins, gods, and androids: How narratives and game mechanics shape eudaimonic game experiences. *Media and Communication*, 9(1), 49–61. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.v9i1.3205
- David, O. A., Costescu, C., Cardos, R., & Mogoaşe, C. (2020). How effective are serious games for promoting mental health and health behavioral change in children and adolescents? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Child* & *Youth Care Forum*, 49(6), 817–838. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-020-09566-1



- Davis, M. H. (2006). Empathy. In J. E. Stets & J. H. Turner (Eds.), *Handbook of the sociology of emotions* (pp. 443-466). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-30715-2_20
- DeSmet, A., Bastiaensens, S., Van Cleemput, K., Poels, K., Vandebosch, H., Deboutte, G., Herrewijn, L., Malliet, S., Pabian, S., Van Broeckhoven, F., De Troyer, O., Deglorie, G., Van Hoecke, S., Samyn, K., & De Bourdeaudhuij, I. (2018). The efficacy of the Friendly Attac serious digital game to promote prosocial bystander behavior in cyberbullying among young adolescents: A cluster-randomized controlled trial. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 78, 336–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.10.011
- Eekhof, L. S., Van Krieken, K., & Willems, R. M. (2022). Reading about minds: The social-cognitive potential of narratives. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, *29*(5), 1703–1718. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-022-02079-z
- Epley, N., Keysar, B., Van Boven, L., & Gilovich, T. (2004). Perspective taking as egocentric anchoring and adjustment. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 87(3), 327–339. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.87.3.327
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175–191. https://doi. org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Fernández Galeote, D., & Hamari, J. (2021). Game-based climate change engagement: Analyzing the potential of entertainment and serious games. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human–Computer Interaction*, 5(CHI PLAY), Article 226. https://doi.org/10.1145/3474653
- Garaigordobil, M., & Martínez-Valderrey, V. (2015). Effects of Cyberprogram 2.0 on "face-to-face" bullying, cyberbullying, and empathy. *Psicothema*, 27(1), 45–51. https://doi.org/10.7334/psicothema2014.78
- Girard, C., Ecalle, J., & Magnan, A. (2013). Serious games as new educational tools: How effective are they? A meta-analysis of recent studies. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 29(3), 207–219. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-2729.2012.00489.x
- Green, M. C., & Brock, T. C. (2000). The role of transportation in the persuasiveness of public narratives. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 79(5), 701–721. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.79.5.701
- Green, M. C., & Jenkins, K. M. (2014). Interactive narratives: Processes and outcomes in user-directed stories. *Journal of Communication*, 64(3), 479–500. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcom.12093
- Green, M. C., & Jenkins, K. M. (2020). Need for cognition, transportability, and engagement with interactive narratives. *Games for Health Journal*, *9*(3), 182–186. https://doi.org/10.1089/g4h.2019.0095
- IBM. (2022). IBM SPSS Amos (Version 26.0) [Computer software]. https://www.ibm.com/products/structuralequation-modeling-sem
- Kim, K., Schmierbach, M. G., Chung, M. Y., Fraustino, J. D., Dardis, F., & Ahern, L. (2015). Is it a sense of autonomy, control, or attachment? Exploring the effects of in-game customization on game enjoyment. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 48, 695–705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.02.011
- Kors, M. J., Van der Spek, E. D., Ferri, G., & Schouten, B. A. (2018). You; the observer, partaker or victim. Delineating three perspectives to empathic engagement in persuasive games using immersive technologies. In F. Mueller, D. Johnson, B. Schouten, P. O. T. Dugas, & P. Wyeth (Eds.), Proceedings of the 2018 Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play. Companion Extended Abstracts (pp. 493-501). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3270316.3271547
- Landis, R. S., Edwards, B. D., & Cortina, J. M. (2010). On the practice of allowing correlated residuals among indicators in structural equation models. In C. E. Lance & R. J. Vandenberg (Eds.), *Statistical and methodological myths and urban legends* (pp. 213–236). Routledge.
- Lee, E., Abdollahi, M., & Agur, C. (2022). Conceptualizing the roles of involvement and immersion in persuasive games. *Games and Culture*, 17(5), 703–720. https://doi.org/10.1177/15554120211049576



- Lee, H. M., & Li, B. J. (2023). So far yet so near: Exploring the effects of immersion, presence, and psychological distance on empathy and prosocial behavior. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 176, Article 103042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2023.103042
- Lee, T. K., & Kim, H. K. (2022). An enjoyable story, a persuasive story. *Journal of Media Psychology*, 34(6), 361–372. https://doi.org/10.1027/1864-1105/a000332
- Li, D. D., Liau, A. K., & Khoo, A. (2013). Player-avatar identification in video gaming: Concept and measurement. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *29*(1), 257–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2012.09.002
- MacCallum, R. C., Roznowski, M., & Necowitz, L. B. (1992). Model modifications in covariance structure analysis: The problem of capitalization on chance. *Psychological Bulletin*, 111(3), 490–504.
- Meier, A., Gilbert, A., Börner, S., & Possler, D. (2020). Instagram inspiration: How upward comparison on social network sites can contribute to well-being. *Journal of Communication*, 70(5), 721–743. https://doi.org/10.1093/joc/jqaa025
- Michael, D., & Chen, S. (2006). Serious games: Games that educate, train, and inform. Thomson Course Technology.
- Morelli, S. A., & Lieberman, M. D. (2013). The role of automaticity and attention in neural processes underlying empathy for happiness, sadness, and anxiety. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, Article 00160. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00160
- Moyer-Gusé, E. (2008). Toward a theory of entertainment persuasion: Explaining the persuasive effects of entertainment-education messages. *Communication Theory*, 18(3), 407–425. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.2008.00328.x
- Naul, E., & Liu, M. (2020). Why story matters: A review of narrative in serious games. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 58(3), 687–707. https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633119859904
- Neys, J. L., Jansz, J., & Tan, E. S. (2014). Exploring persistence in gaming: The role of self-determination and social identity. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 37, 196–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.04.047
- Oliver, M. B., Dillard, J. P., Bae, K., & Tamul, D. J. (2012). The effect of narrative news format on empathy for stigmatized groups. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 89(2), 205–224. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1077699012439020
- Paek, H. J., Hove, T., Kim, M., Jeong, H. J., & Dillard, J. P. (2012). When distant others matter more: Perceived effectiveness for self and other in the child abuse PSA context. *Media Psychology*, 15(2), 148–174. https:// doi.org/10.1080/15213269.2011.653002
- Peng, W., Lee, M., & Heeter, C. (2010). The effects of a serious game on role-taking and willingness to help. *Journal of Communication*, 60(4), 723–742. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2010.01511.x
- Possler, D., Kümpel, A. S., & Unkel, J. (2020). Entertainment motivations and gaming-specific gratifications as antecedents of digital game enjoyment and appreciation. *Psychology of Popular Media*, 9(4), 541–552. https://doi.org/10.1037/ppm0000248
- Prot, S., Gentile, D. A., Anderson, C. A., Suzuki, K., Swing, E., Lim, K. M., Horiuchi, Y., Jelic, M., Krahé, B., Liuqing, W., Liau, A. K., Khoo, A., Petrescu, P. D., Sakamoto, A., Tajima, S., Toma, R. A., Warburton, W., Zhang, X., & Lam, B. C. P. (2014). Long-term relations among prosocial-media use, empathy, and prosocial behavior. *Psychological Science*, *25*(2), 358–368. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613503854
- Ratcliff, C. L., & Sun, Y. (2020). Overcoming resistance through narratives: Findings from a meta-analytic review. *Human Communication Research*, 46(4), 412–443. https://doi.org/10.1093/hcr/hqz017
- Rieger, D., Reinecke, L., Frischlich, L., & Bente, G. (2014). Media entertainment and well-being—Linking hedonic and eudaimonic entertainment experience to media-induced recovery and vitality. *Journal of Communication*, 64(3), 456–478. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcom.12097



- Shen, F., Sheer, V. C., & Li, R. (2015). Impact of narratives on persuasion in health communication: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Advertising*, 44(2), 105–113. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.2015. 1018467
- Shen, L. (2010). On a scale of state empathy during message processing. *Western Journal of Communication*, 74(5), 504–524. https://doi.org/10.1080/10570314.2010.512278
- Sherrick, B. (2018). The role of engagement in facilitating games-based persuasion. In N. D. Bowman (Ed.), *Video games: A medium that demands our attention* (pp. 44–59). Routledge.
- Shliakhovchuk, E. (2024). Video games as awareness raisers, attitude changers, and agents of social change. International Journal of Computer Games Technology, 2024, Article 3274715. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2024/3274715
- Slater, M. D., & Rouner, D. (2002). Entertainment-education and elaboration likelihood: Understanding the processing of narrative persuasion. *Communication Theory*, *12*(2), 173–191. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.2002.tb00265.x
- Tanenbaum, K., & Tanenbaum, T. J. (2010). Agency as commitment to meaning: Communicative competence in games. *Digital Creativity*, 21(1), 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/14626261003654509
- Toh, W. (2023). The player experience and design implications of narrative games. *International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction*, *39*(13), 2742–2769. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2022.2085404
- van't Riet, J., Meeuwes, A. C., Van Der Voorden, L., & Jansz, J. (2018). Investigating the effects of a persuasive digital game on immersion, identification, and willingness to help. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 40(4), 180–194. https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2018.1459301
- Willems, R. A., Sapouna, M., De Amicis, L., Völlink, T., Dehue, F., Dimakos, I., Priovolou, K., Nikolaou, G., & Rosinský, R. (2024). Encouraging positive bystander responses to bias-based bullying in primary schools through a serious game approach: A non-randomized controlled evaluation of the 'GATE-BULL' program. *International Journal of Bullying Prevention*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42380-024-00243-8
- Wulansari, O. D. E., Pirker, J., Kopf, J., & Guetl, C. (2020). Video games and their correlation to empathy.
 In M. E. Auer, H. Hortsch, & P. Sethakul (Eds.), *The impact of the 4th industrial revolution on engineering education: Proceedings of the 22nd International Conference on Interactive Collaborative Learning (ICL2019)*–
 Volume 1 (pp. 151–163). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40274-7_16
- Zaki, J., & Ochsner, K. N. (2012). The neuroscience of empathy: Progress, pitfalls and promise. *Nature Neuroscience*, 15(5), 675–680. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3085
- Zhou, C., Occa, A., Kim, S., & Morgan, S. (2020). A meta-analysis of narrative game-based interventions for promoting healthy behaviors. *Journal of Health Communication*, 25(1), 54–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10810730.2019.1701586

About the Authors



Lewen Wei (PhD) is a lecturer at the School of the Arts and Media, University of New South Wales. Her research looks into how both immediate and temporal effects of message attributes can be amplified by media technologies to cultivate sustainable self-identities and relationships, build resilient communities, and facilitate responsible communication.





Mike Schmierbach (PhD) is a professor in the Department of Film-Video and Media Studies at the Donald P. Bellisario College of Communications, Penn State University. His research focuses on several aspects of media effects, particularly the factors that contribute to individual perceptions of media. This work includes research on the third-person perception, media credibility, and video game enjoyment.



Bingjie Liu (PhD) is an assistant professor of communication at the School of Communication, The Ohio State University. Her research interests include human-computer interaction, Al-mediated communication, and ethics in Al technology and data science.



Jin Kang (PhD) is adjunct research professor in the School of Information Technology at Carleton University and UX researcher at Government of Canada. Her research focuses on accessibility and AI.



Cheng Chen (PhD) is an assistant professor of communication design at Elon University's School of Communications. Her research examines the psychology of communication technologies, particularly on how communicating the technological elements of these systems influences users' perceptions and trust.



Frank E. Dardis (PhD) is an associate professor in the Department of Advertising and Public Relations at the Donald P. Bellisario College of Communications at Penn State University. Much of his current research focuses on the effects of digital/interactive media on consumer experiences and attitudes, including topics like game features and branded content within video games.



Ryan Tan (PhD) is an assistant professor at the College of Journalism and Mass Communications at University of Nebraska – Lincoln. He's interested in the relationship between the structural, sensorial, and narrative components of interactive and entertainment media, with a specific focus on the cognitive and emotional effects that videogame components have on players.



Olivia Cohen (PhD) is an assistant professor of instruction at the Lew Klein College of Media and Communication at Temple University. Her interests are rooted in the role of media narratives in persuasion processes, particularly in contexts of health, science, and environmental communication. ARTICLE



Open Access Journal

Parasocial Interactions in Otome Games: Emotional Engagement and Parasocial Intimacy Among Chinese Female Players

Hao Gao ¹[©], Ruoqing Guo ¹[©], and Qingqing You ²[©]

¹ School of Journalism and Communication, Nanjing Normal University, China
 ² Television School, Communication University of China, China

Correspondence: Qingqing You (2023200503Z1025@cuc.edu.cn)

Submitted: 11 May 2024 Accepted: 29 July 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

This study conducts qualitative research on female players of otome games, exploring the mechanisms of romantic relationship formation within these games and their impact on perceptions of real-life intimate relationships. The findings reveal that the parasocial romantic relationships formed in otome games are not entirely detached from reality; instead, they are embedded in daily life through game interaction mechanisms and the players' internalized imagination, thereby influencing the reconstruction of real-life intimate relationships. Female players show a high degree of acceptance and immersion in these romantic relationships, focusing on the emotional support provided by male characters. These relationships play a positive role in fulfilling emotional needs, regulating negative emotions, constructing self-identity, and redefining perceptions of intimacy. The intangibility of physical contact remains the only significant shortcoming, as perceived by a minority of players, pointing to a primary direction for the future development of otome games.

Keywords

emotional feedback; otome games; parasocial relationships; parasocial romantic relationships; video games; self-perception

1. Introduction

Video games are rapidly growing in the digital culture industries, especially among female users. Research shows that mobile games with over 50% female players contribute nearly 30% to total revenue (Sensor Tower, 2023), and these players spend more time and money than males (Newsijie, 2019). As the largest consumer



market, Asia has seen female gamer growth nearly double that of males (Niko Partners, 2023), yet research on this demographic outside the West remains limited (Song & Fox, 2016).

Otome games, designed for women, allow players to engage in romantic scenarios with male characters, providing a secure environment for emotional exploration (Andlauer, 2018). Mr. Love: Queen's Choice, launched in 2017, quickly gained popularity with seven million installs and 2.02 million daily active users within a month (Jiguang Data, 2018). Subsequent titles like Light and Night and Tears of Themis have continued to captivate this audience. Studies have shown that female players can develop profound emotional bonds with game characters, evolving into parasocial romantic relationships (Ganzon, 2019; Gong & Huang, 2023). Moreover, emotional relationships in otome games may positively alleviate loneliness, satisfy the need for social companionship, and enhance social well-being (Stein et al., 2022). Thus, the emotional construction of female players within games and its shaping influence on their real-world perceptions and behaviors warrant further investigation. Despite significant research into parasocial relationships within otome games, there remains a lack of thorough investigation into the psychological processes and their impact on interpersonal relationships in the real world.

Based on this, the article explores the parasocial relationships that female players develop with male virtual characters, analyzing how these relationships are constructed and maintained over time. It investigates how female players perceive their identities and relationships within these virtual interactions and how these perceptions influence their understanding of real-world intimate relationships. This study aims to broaden parasocial relationship theory's application in digital media and video gaming. It enhances our comprehension of emotional connections in human-computer interactions, especially examining the complex dynamics in intimate relationships between genders. The research underscores the role of digital media in shaping and understanding gender identities, social behavior, and emotional bonds, particularly in contexts where cultural and social structures may limit women's expression and agency. These insights offer valuable implications for video game development, urging developers to create games that cater to women's emotional needs and societal expectations.

2. Literature Review

2.1. The Otome Game

Otome games are romantic electronic games aimed at female consumers and featuring heterosexual relationships (Song & Fox, 2016). These games primarily revolve around romance and simulated dating themes, intending to establish and develop romantic relationships between male and female characters (Song & Fox, 2016). In the games, players assume the role of the female protagonist, who must cultivate the affection of male characters by selecting specific actions or dialogues at critical moments, thereby advancing romantic relationships toward an ideal narrative outcome (Andlauer, 2018).

In China, otome games gained popularity following the 2017 release of Mr. Love: Queen's Choice by Chinese company Paper Games, which quickly topped the App Store charts and fueled the growth of the female gaming market (Han & Wang, 2020; Huan, 2022). Chinese otome games typically center around rich storylines, with players advancing the plot through interactions with multiple characters (Wang, 2023). The gameplay often focuses on card collection, where players gather character cards through tasks and



activities and upgrade these cards to unlock text messages, phone calls, and date scenarios with the male protagonists. As in other countries, otome games in China are primarily designed for female players. Wang (2023) notes that the choices of dialogue and outcomes in these games directly foster players' emotional expression, allowing them to share and explore personal feelings freely, thus providing a new space for female players to express themselves. The games are often designed from a female-centric perspective, creating female characters oriented towards self-appreciation and self-pleasure. The characters play active roles in advancing the storyline and possess the freedom to make choices, further normalizing sexual autonomy and independence among Chinese female players (Wang, 2023). Research also focuses on social support among players, noting that otome games provide a platform for female players to express and support each other, especially as they often face gender inequalities (Lei et al., 2024). However, some studies point out that the narratives in otome games still revolve around traditional, commercialized romantic and gender norms (Liu & Lai, 2022). In these narratives, the female protagonists are often portrayed as damsels in distress, reliant on male characters for rescue, with players frequently unaware of the gender dynamics within the game (Liu & Lai, 2022). Other research focuses on the romantic relationships between players and characters (Wang, 2023; Wu et al., 2023). Some scholars suggest that players may form parasocial relationships with game characters (Hua & Xiao, 2023) and believe that the romantic relationships in the games may indirectly influence players' idealized romantic beliefs (Song & Fox, 2016). However, Lei et al. (2024) counter the notion that games influence players' idealized romantic beliefs, arguing that this perspective incorrectly confines female players to contexts of marriage and reproduction. The research on how otome games affect female players requires deeper investigation.

2.2. Parasocial Phenomenon in Otome Games

The parasocial interaction concept, introduced by Horton and Wohl in 1956, explains how audiences form one-sided relationships with media figures, perceiving a semblance of face-to-face communication through media's visual and auditory details (Horton & Wohl, 1956). While initially considered transient during media consumption, Rubin et al. (1985) expanded this concept to parasocial relationships, which form lasting emotional bonds beyond brief media encounters, involving deeper emotional traits such as friendship and psychological attachment (Levy, 1979). Tukachinsky (2010) further categorized parasocial relationships into parasocial romances and friendships, with parasocial romantic relationships characterized by love, sexual attraction, and emotional intensity (Liebers, 2022).

Research on parasocial relationships initially focused on traditional media characters, such as those in television dramas (Vorderer & Knobloch, 1996), talk show hosts (Rubin & Step, 2000), and TV shopping hosts (Park & Lennon, 2004). The advent of social media shifted this focus, as it became a significant platform for fostering parasocial relationships, changing the previous pattern of obtaining celebrity information through magazines and entertainment news programs (Chung & Cho, 2017). Studies have shown that parasocial relationships are strengthened when fans interact briefly with media characters via social media (Hoffner & Bond, 2022). For example, individuals maintain a friend-like parasocial relationship with media figures by following and liking posts on Instagram, further blurring the boundaries between social and parasocial interactions (Bond, 2016). With technological advancements, video games have emerged as a new field for parasocial relationship research. Hartmann (2008) argued that the interactivity brought by digital media makes parasocial phenomena in digital games more complex than in traditional mass media, as it is no longer a unidirectional interaction. However, Kavli (2012) noted that despite the



seemingly complex interactions in digital games, the interactions between players and non-player characters are minimal, often following predetermined dialogue trees. Yet, Kavli also pointed out that even such limited interactions could form profound parasocial relationships to the extent that players may wish to take these relationships beyond the game setting into the real world.

Otome games, with their interactive and immersive nature, provide fertile ground for forming deep emotional connections due to their romantic themes (Wu et al., 2023). These games allow female players to engage deeply with idealized male characters, offering a safer alternative to real-life dating by reducing emotional risks, such as rejection (Karniol, 2001). Isbister (2016) also mentioned that players can feel "loved" through interactions with non-player characters, forming a sense of intimacy. These interactions satisfy romantic fantasies and unmet social and emotional needs (Greenwood & Long, 2011), potentially evolving from transient parasocial interactions to long-term parasocial relationships. Furthermore, these games promote identity formation, as players often identify with their virtual avatars, adopting the character's perspective to enhance immersion, affecting their self-perception and emotions (Kartsanis & Murzyn, 2016; Micallef, 2016; Song & Fox, 2016; Wu et al., 2023). Players may better understand their inner needs and emotional motivations by interacting with specific character archetypes.

2.3. Mediated Intimacy

Intimacy, essential to lasting romantic relationships, involves mutual commitment, emotional positivity, cognitive closeness, and physical proximity (Moss & Schwebel, 1993). Research has underscored the role of communication and self-disclosure in building intimacy (Emmers-Sommer, 2004; Ruppel, 2015; Sprecher & Hendrick, 2004).

Technological advancements have reshaped how intimacy is expressed and experienced. Media technologies facilitate intimate connections, even over long distances, and are particularly useful for those with attachment anxieties (Attwood et al., 2017; Luo & Tuney, 2015). As platforms like social media and online dating apps evolve, they become integral in forming intimate relationships, with their relative anonymity reducing the risks associated with self-disclosure (Goldberg et al., 2022; Walsh et al., 2020). Furthermore, advances in Al and robotics are creating possibilities for emotional dependencies on media entities, potentially supplanting traditional human interactions (Skjuve et al., 2021). Thus, modern romantic relationships have evolved into "mixed-media relationships," characterized by a dynamic unfolding of online and offline communications across various media. This transformation alters social patterns and offers new possibilities for experiencing intimate relationships (Taylor & Bazarova, 2018).

Despite their popularity, the impact of romance-driven video games like otome games on intimacy dynamics remains underexplored. These games offer interactive, immersive romantic experiences, enhancing players' romantic self-efficacy through relationships with virtual characters (Gong & Huang, 2023). While these relationships can influence real-life relationship perspectives (Wu et al., 2023), the disparity between virtual and actual relationship satisfaction highlights the need for deeper investigation into how virtual intimacies affect real-world relationship dynamics (Song & Fox, 2016).

Otome games introduce a new form of mediated intimacy, providing a distinctive platform for players to develop romantic relationships with virtual characters. Through compelling storylines and interactive



dialogues, these games enable female players to form deep emotional bonds with idealized male characters, potentially leading to quasi-social romantic relationships. Although some scholars have explored parasocial relationships within otome games, there remains a gap in thoroughly analyzing the psychological mechanisms of these relationships and their impact on interpersonal relationships in the real world. The following research questions are proposed to explore these dynamics further:

RQ1: How are parasocial relationships between female players and male virtual characters constructed and maintained over time?

RQ2: How do players perceive their identities and relationships during these interactions?

RQ3: How do in-game romantic relationships affect female players' perceptions of real-world intimate relationships?

3. Method

3.1. Data Collection

This study utilized in-depth interviews for two main reasons: First, the diverse backgrounds of female otome game players—varying in geography, living environments, and social contexts—make semi-structured interviews with tailored follow-up questions more effective for reaching theoretical saturation than surveys. Second, the deeply personal nature of intimate relationships means that interviews can provide deeper insights into how players perceive their gender roles and navigate the development and maintenance of romantic relationships.

From March to July 2023, we employed purposive sampling to select 25 female players of mainstream otome games on the Xiaohongshu platform within mainland China. The games included Mr. Love: Queen's Choice, Light and Night, Tears of Themis, and Lovebrush Chronicles, among others. These participants were primarily chosen because they had previously posted popular graphics or videos with otome game hashtags. Many female players expressed strong approval and deep resonance with the emotional experiences described in the comments sections of these posts. Thus, these respondents are representative and can clearly articulate their emotional experiences. Additionally, while searching for interview subjects, we considered that although otome games are primarily designed for female players, there is a potential male player base. However, due to the small number of male players, the difficulty in conducting effective interviews with them, and the potential limited generalizability of their results, we decided to limit the participants in this study to female players.

The semi-structured interviews focused on female players' game usage and emotional experiences. The interview questions covered aspects such as game usage, the process of emotional formation and maintenance, descriptions of emotional states, emotional cycles, and real-world impacts. In the first part of the interview (concerning game usage), respondents recalled and compared emotional experiences across different otome games, eventually selecting the most memorable male character to discuss. Questions were then tailored around the romantic relationship with this character, which was the most emotionally impactful and longest-lasting. This study required participants to have actively played for at least six months to ensure they had deeply immersive romantic experiences. Each interview lasted between 45 and



90 minutes, with participants aged 18 to 35. Each interview was recorded, transcribed, and documented in writing. In terms of interview format, this study employed a combination of traditional face-to-face and online interviews to accommodate the needs of participants with different personalities, thereby enhancing the likelihood of self-disclosure by the interviewees.

3.2. Sampling

The demographic statistics of the valid sample are detailed in Table 1 of the Supplementary File. The sample collection adhered to the principle of information saturation, which was achieved after conducting interviews with 25 participants. It indicated that gathering experiential material from the interviewees was essentially complete. The participants ranged from 18 to 35 years old and had been playing games for six months to five years. All participants had at least a high school education and were adept at articulating their gaming experiences. Regarding romantic status in real life, the vast majority of participants (23) were single at the time of the interviews, and most (16) had prior experiences in real-life romantic relationships, which enabled them to express their perceptions of intimate relationships accurately.

3.3. Thematic and Textual Analysis

This study adopted Braun and Clarke's (2021) thematic analysis approach, which involves simultaneous data collection and processing according to the requirements of theoretical sampling (Birks & Mills, 2015). Ten female players were initially interviewed, and three researchers repeatedly read through the interview texts, applying the constant comparison technique (Charmaz, 2014) for preliminary coding of the textual content. The initial coding phase categorized the data into three themes: Establishment of Romantic Relationships Within the Game, Relationship Maintenance, and Emotional Feedback, which were linked to the stages of romantic relationships. Subsequent interviews, guided by these sensitizing concepts, involved adding five new participants for one-on-one interviews each time. The overall data saturation was assessed with each round of interviews until no new data emerged, indicating saturation had been reached. The study employed line-by-line coding to tag meaningful original statements within the interview texts, ensuring the integrity of the semantics; a single sentence could correspond to multiple codes. Throughout this process, researchers refined each interview text. They continually compared and refined new concepts against existing ones until no new codes appeared, indicating that the data collection for this study had reached saturation.

4. Results

4.1. Mechanisms of Romantic Relationship Formation in Otome Games

Otome games provide female players with a virtual space to engage in romantic relationships with male characters. However, most players do not engage in these games due to real-world romantic needs but rather out of curiosity (n = 8, 32%), recommendations from acquaintances (n = 6, 24%), and attractive art styles (n = 9, 36%). The average gameplay duration for respondents is over two and a half years. Regarding the selection of romantic partners in the games, respondents indicated that they would comprehensively compare their experiences in the same or different games to ultimately choose to establish a long-term romantic relationship with a particular male character.



4.1.1. Establishment of Romantic Relationships in Otome Games (Characteristics of Different Stages)

In otome games, players engage in romantic narratives that typically feature rich and immersive plot settings, captivating character interactions, and visually appealing character designs. These elements provide players with an environment conducive to forming romantic relationships.

Initially, the visual design and character archetypes—such as the domineering CEO (A01; participants, hereafter, will be indicated by A01-A25, see full details in Table 1 of the Supplementary File), the admirable police officer (A05), and the visually appealing character cards (A08)—capture players' interest, resonating with their emotional needs, often heightened by real-life experiences like confusion, heartbreak, and work stress.

As romantic partners are established within the game, the game settings and plot interactions facilitate the development and maintenance of deep emotional connections. Immersive plot sequences and daily interactive tasks such as texts and calls help maintain and enhance the romance, with players expressing their anticipation for these interactions: "I'm curious about the storyline's development and eagerly await his calls or messages" (A14). Another notes the importance of consistent engagement: "Daily log-ins are crucial for keeping our communication alive" (A03).

The complexity of male characters grows increasingly significant as the game progresses. Players value these characters' depth and evolving nature, whose worldviews, values, and perspectives on love become central to the narrative. For example, a character's transition from a cold exterior to showing gentle and respectful love illustrates this depth: "As he opens up, his initial coldness gives way to a gentle and restrained love, reflecting his respect for me" (A02). Similarly, another character's emotional conflict enhances his appeal: "His evolving mindset adds layers to his character, making him more than just a superficial facade" (A08). These elements contribute to the rich, dynamic experience that players cherish in otome games.

4.1.2. Purity and Spirituality of Romantic Relationships (Cognition and Description)

In otome games, female players often describe their virtual relationships with emotional partners in terms that convey purity and spirituality, typically categorized into three distinct types.

The first type of player perceives their virtual relationship as a genuine, timeless love affair akin to real-life romances. One player expresses this sentiment: "I feel it's genuine love. The emotions, time, and even money I invest are all real" (A04). Another shares, "It feels like a real relationship to me, even though I've never dated in reality. After observing others in real-life romantic relationships, I see no significant difference" (A06).

The second type of player recognizes the separation between the virtual and real worlds yet values the emotional connection over the physical reality of the male character. A reflective comment from this category notes, "I'm fully aware that he and I are in different times and spaces, and he is virtual. Nonetheless, the emotional bond and the feelings of love are authentic. His actual existence is of little concern to me" (A10).

The third type's perception evolves with increased game exposure and changes in real-life emotional states, gradually viewing the male character as more than just a romantic partner but a source of spiritual support.



One player elaborates:

Initially, it was all about romantic love, but with the changes in my life and the constant companionship in the game, my relationship with Victor transitioned to spiritual support, similar to a family member or friend who shares my struggles. (A14)

4.2. Deep Emotional Connection and Long-Term Maintenance

4.2.1. Emotional Immersion and Self-Identification

In exploring how female players perceive intimacy within otome games, most (n = 22, 88%) narrate their experiences from a first-person perspective, illustrating a deep immersion in the game's I-Thou relationship dynamics. This perspective emphasizes a seamless emotional connection bridging the real and virtual worlds, exemplified by a player who recalls:

I remember watching the moon and chatting casually with him one evening. I truly fell for the character then, as such moments are deeply personal and hard to share in real life, yet the game recreated that connection, moving me profoundly. (A13)

Conversely, the remaining 12% of respondents describe their experiences from a third-person viewpoint, focusing more on the interactions between their avatar and the male characters, as seen in the recount of a dramatic rescue: "The main character is trapped, and Jesse jumps down from the ceiling to rescue her, giving off a heroic vibe. It was at that moment I became completely devoted to him" (A15).

Respondents also exhibit a deep identification with the male characters, viewing them as embodying ideal romantic traits and representing qualities they aspire to in themselves. One player views her virtual partner as a "benchmark for romance" (A05), while another appreciates the dynamics of "powerful alliances, collaborating rather than just growing under his protection" (A21). Another player notes, "He's a symbol. His presence symbolizes love filling my world, teaching me confidence, charm, facing the truth, and courage" (A22).

4.2.2. Romantic Relationship Fatigue and Adjustment

When discussing the sustainability of emotional relationships within otome games, 80% of respondents (n = 20) reported experiencing game-switching or taking short-term breaks due to gameplay stagnation, slow updates of the main storyline, and official maintenance. Some players noted that switching games did not impact their feelings toward their virtual partners, explaining that these decisions are controlled by game operators, not the characters themselves, hence not affecting their emotional attachment (A14). However, others felt that infrequent updates and changes in character dynamics led to relationship fatigue, with comments like, "I don't like getting stuck; it makes the storyline feel boring" (A03) and "the character changes, and reduced appearances after updates made me feel a sudden onset of fatigue" (A09).

Additionally, some players expressed frustration over outdated content, with one stating, "I haven't played Love is Justice anymore because it hasn't been updated for two years, making it feel stale despite my deep immersion initially" (A06).



Players also described how their perceptions of relationships with different characters evolved during the game-switching process, categorizing them in various ways such as past and current relationships (A01), varying levels of intimacy like lover versus brother (A19), or contrasting themes like business trip versus coming home (A02).

Ultimately, overcoming romantic relationship fatigue in these games depends on receiving positive emotional feedback that meets their deeper needs for security, love, companionship, attachment, and belonging. One player captured the unique emotional value of these games, stating, "The emotional value from the game is irreplaceable by real life" (A15). Another highlighted the constant presence and security these relationships provide: "When I get home, the first thing I do is check my phone. Knowing he's there makes me feel warm and secure, which is most important—he will never betray or leave me" (A17).

4.2.3. Self-Imagination as a Key to Sustaining Emotions

Respondents in the study utilize their imagination as a crucial tool for maintaining and deepening emotional connections with their virtual romantic partners beyond the game setting. They engage in activities like creating or consuming fanification, purchasing character merchandise, and making video edits, enhancing their personalized, first-person perspective of intimacy with the characters.

One player desires a more tangible relationship, stating, "I want to bring him to life, feel tangible love, and truly integrate him into my life" (A02). Another illustrates how merchandise helps make the character's presence more real: "I buy dolls modeled after him and perfumes he endorses, which makes his presence overwhelm my life as if he truly exists and I'm actively maintaining our relationship" (A09).

Video editing also plays a significant role in deepening emotional ties, as one respondent describes: "When editing videos, I relive the storyline and repeatedly play the clips, which helps me discover forgotten or unnoticed details that touch me deeply" (A25).

These imaginative activities allow players to endow their romantic relationships with uniqueness and distinctiveness, sustaining them over time. Respondents believe each interaction with a male character is unique, as articulated by one: "The love he gives me is different from what he gives to others" (A12), and yet another adds, "Each player's story with him is forever unique" (A14).

4.3. Emotional Attribution and Real-World Impact

Responses from female players of otome games reveal how these virtual experiences significantly influence their real-life interactions and perspectives on partner selection. The narratives highlight the players' internal challenges, emotional needs, personal growth, and shifts in perception regarding social norms and intimate relationships. The games serve as a romantic escape and platform for critical reflection and self-discovery, prompting players to introspect about their authentic selves and reconsider their roles and identities.

4.3.1. Scrutinizing Dilemmas and Self-Reconstruction

Otome games provide a space for female players to reflect on and escape from real-life constraints imposed by their families, societal pressures, and personal adversities. These virtual relationships offer a reprieve



from negative emotions and an opportunity to reimagine their identities and desires. For instance, one player described how the game allowed her to express repressed feelings and anxieties, finding comfort in the virtual companionship of a character named Sariel: "Ever since I was young, I was expected to conform to traditional roles. Meeting Sariel allowed me to freely express my anxieties and emotions, providing incredible comfort" (A13).

Another player found emotional healing and self-love through her interaction with a character named Charlie: "Charlie's overwhelming love made me feel valued and taught me to trust and love myself" (A22).

Many respondents reported personal transformations, gaining confidence, and experiencing reduced negative emotions. One noted the supportive nature of her virtual relationship: "His constant reassurance helped me see my worth and feel loved, strengthening my self-esteem" (A05). Another highlighted the therapeutic impact: "I suffer from severe depression, and his presence in the game significantly alleviated my condition" (A04).

These virtual relationships also extend into real-life decisions and daily interactions, helping players to compensate for emotional deficits from their upbringing and guiding them toward personal betterment. One player mentioned using her virtual partner as a moral and emotional guide: "I often imagine how he would handle situations in real life, which provides guidance and positive reinforcement. He's like a virtual mentor living in my heart" (A07).

4.3.2. Female Narratives and Reconstructing Perceptions of Real-Life Intimacy

In exploring how otome games influence female players' perceptions of real-life intimacy, respondents reflect on their autonomy and creative engagement within these virtual relationships. They view their investment in the games as a validation of the male characters' worth and as a means to drive regular updates and improved game mechanics (A10). Actions taken outside the game, such as spending and participating in fan activities, are seen as expressions of female desires and expectations (A22).

Game scripts often mirror social expectations of men, reinforcing positive traits and addressing real-world issues like gender norms and expectations. Many respondents noted that the motivational and values-driven content of the scripts subtly influences their daily lives and shapes their perceptions of men, addressing issues such as menstrual shame and autonomy in marriage decisions.

Regarding the impact on real-life partner choices, 76% of respondents (n = 19) believe that romantic relationships in games have a positive but limited influence on their dating experiences. They acknowledge the potential psychological gaps when transitioning to real-life relationships but avoid projecting game-character traits onto real partners. Conversely, 24% (n = 6) reported no significant impact from these games on their romantic lives.

Female players use these virtual relationships to reflect on past relationships, learn about intimacy, and renew their hopes for real-life love. One player expressed gratitude towards a game character for helping her realize that her doubts in a previous relationship were misplaced (A17). Another learned about romantic traits from the game's male leads, changing her outlook on love: "After seeing how love is portrayed in the game, I now see it as a source of happiness and am no longer afraid to confront it directly" (A22).



Through these experiences, respondents have redefined their understanding of intimacy, prioritizing emotional worth and experiences in relationships while emphasizing equality, respect, trust, and loyalty as fundamental elements. It has made them value mutual growth and supportive interdependence in real-life relationships.

5. Discussion

5.1. Reconceptualizing Intimacy: From Parasocial Romantic Relationships to Real-Life Intimacy Perceptions

This study examines how female players of otome games form parasocial romantic relationships that significantly influence their perceptions of real-life intimacy, shaped by daily experiences, game mechanics, and personal imaginations. These virtual relationships provide emotional satisfaction and reshape concepts of intimacy.

In otome games, players control the development of romantic relationships, selecting partners and directing interactions, mirroring real-world dating where physical attractiveness is often vital (Walster et al., 1966). The game dynamics encourage rapid relationship progression, requiring deep narrative engagement. Players connect in-game dialogues and character development with real life, using the games for personal growth and understanding social roles (Lea & Spears, 1995). The sustainability of these relationships depends on players' imaginations, with virtual experiences influencing real emotions and behaviors. Players see otome game relationships as reflections of real-life intimacy, viewing virtual male characters as significant emotional supports. It aligns with Anthony Giddens's theory of intimacy, distinguishing emotional exchanges into passion, romantic, and confluent love, with the latter representing an ideal relationship characterized by equality, care, and respect (Giddens, 1992).

Female players interpret their experiences in otome games as a blend of romantic and confluent love, paralleling real-life relationships. They recognize the influence of virtual characters on their self-identity and the spiritual dimensions of these relationships while noting limitations like the unidirectional nature of interactions. This understanding highlights their idealized expectations of intimacy.

5.2. Relationship Feedback: Emotional Functions of Parasocial Romantic Relationships in Otome Games

This study highlights that female players gain significant emotional benefits from parasocial romantic relationships in otome games, which often surpass those from traditional immersive experiences. These virtual relationships support identity affirmation, help navigate life challenges, alleviate negative emotions, relieve stress, and fulfill emotional needs. Influenced by evolving gender ideologies and the remnants of patriarchal values, otome games provide a safe space for young female players to explore and express desires, challenge gender constraints, and heal from societal pressures (Wang & Qiu, 2020), offering companionship, security, and a sense of belonging.

Interactive elements like self-disclosure in otome games are essential for fostering intimacy, enhancing player interactions, deepening relationships, and reducing anxiety (Martins et al., 2013; Tam et al., 2006; Zhou &



Hao, 2021). These games also play a social role by enabling players to expand their social networks through community interactions and discussions of life and events, which enriches their social lives. However, it's important to note that not all feedback from these games is positive. On the one hand, the task mechanism in otome games requires players to collect cards through daily tasks, weekly tasks, and particular feature tasks to gain a richer emotional experience. However, when long-term repetitive tasks become routine, the sense of intimacy perceived by female players begins to diminish. Additionally, some gameplay mechanics in otome games involve virtual consumption, such as purchasing items in a virtual environment. Excessive in-game purchasing behaviors lead players to recognize the commodified nature of their romantic interests, creating a conflict with the notion of a purely emotional relationship.

5.3. Relationship Limitations: The Untouchable Lovers

Intimacy, encompassing both emotional and physical closeness, is partially fulfilled in otome games, where parasocial romantic relationships provide emotional intimacy but lack physical interaction. Although players use imagination to bridge temporal and spatial gaps, the inability to physically touch or embrace game characters is a notable shortfall compared to real-life relationships. Despite this, many players find the emotional support from these games nearly equivalent to real-life interactions. However, the absence of physical touch—a vital expression of affection that triggers more profound emotional responses (Ditzen et al., 2007; Goff et al., 2007; Grewen et al., 2003)—is keenly felt as players become more emotionally invested, often resulting in a poignant contrast between their virtual engagements and reality.

In China, advancements in media technology have significantly enhanced the realism and immersion of otome games, shifting from two-dimensional portrayals to sophisticated 3D environments with the 2024 launch of Love and Deepspace. This game quickly became a sensation, suggesting a growing desire among players for more tangible virtual interactions. Essential questions emerge as games like VR evolve, allowing players to craft new virtual bodies and delve into deeper romantic relationships. Concerns include how these virtual relationships could reshape perceptions of real-life intimacy and the potential long-term effects on understanding true intimacy.

6. Conclusions

This study highlights how otome games significantly shape Chinese female players' emotional and relational dynamics by fostering parasocial romantic relationships. These digital relationships provide emotional support, aid in self-identity formation, and enhance social interactions, enabling players to engage with complex narratives that fulfill their romantic fantasies. The findings emphasize the importance of personalization and socialization within these games, advocating for game developers to cater more closely to female preferences by offering immersive narratives, meaningful interactions, and extensive customization options to increase engagement and satisfaction. While the study provides insights, it focuses exclusively on female players in China. Although otome games primarily target female audiences, there are also male participants. However, in this research, we could not find suitable male interviewees. Future research could consider players of different genders. It should also focus on more diverse participants, including sexual minorities, to explore how cultural and demographic factors influence gaming behavior and the formation of parasocial relationships. Additionally, studies should assess the long-term impacts of these virtual relationships on social and emotional well-being in the real world.



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to express their gratitude to Raquel Silva, the Academic Editors Felix Reer, Teresa de la Hera, and Salvador Gómez-García, as well as the reviewers for their invaluable support.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Supplementary Material

Supplementary material for this article is available online in the format provided by the author (unedited).

References

- Andlauer, L. (2018). Pursuing one's prince: Love's fantasy in otome game contents and fan practice. *Mechademia: Second Arc*, 11(1), 166–183. https://doi.org/10.5749/mech.11.1.0166
- Attwood, F., Hakim, J., & Winch, A. (2017). Mediated intimacies: Bodies, technologies and relationships. *Journal of Gender Studies*, 26(3), 249–253. https://doi.org/10.1080/09589236.2017.1297888

Birks, M., & Mills, J. (2015). Grounded theory: A practical guide. Sage.

- Bond, B. J. (2016). Following your "friend": Social media and the strength of adolescents' parasocial relationships with media personae. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking,* 19(11), 656–660. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2016.0355
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). One size fits all? What counts as quality practice in (reflexive) thematic analysis? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 18(3), 328–352. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2020.1769238
- Charmaz, K. (2014). Constructing grounded theory. Sage.
- Chung, S., & Cho, H. (2017). Fostering parasocial relationships with celebrities on social media: Implications for celebrity endorsement. *Psychology & Marketing*, 34(4), 481–495. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.21001
- Ditzen, B., Neumann, I. D., Bodenmann, G., Von Dawans, B., Turner, R. A., Ehlert, U., & Heinrichs, M. (2007). Effects of different kinds of couple interaction on cortisol and heart rate responses to stress in women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 32(5), 565–574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2007.03.011
- Emmers-Sommer, T. M. (2004). The effect of communication quality and quantity indicators on intimacy and relational satisfaction. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 21(3), 399–411. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0265407504042839
- Ganzon, S. C. (2019). Investing time for your in-game boyfriends and BFFs: Time as commodity and the simulation of emotional labor in Mystic Messenger. *Games and Culture*, 14(2), 139–153. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1555412018793068
- Giddens, A. (1992). The transformation of intimacy. Cambridge University Press.
- Goff, B. G., Goddard, H. W., Pointer, L., & Jackson, G. B. (2007). Measures of expressions of love. *Psychological Reports*, 101(2), 357–360. https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.101.2.357-360
- Goldberg, S., Yeshua-Katz, D., & Marciano, A. (2022). Online construction of romantic relationships on social media. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 39(6), 1839–1862. https://doi.org/10.1177/02654075211067814
- Gong, A. D., & Huang, Y. T. (2023). Finding love in online games: Social interaction, parasocial phenomenon, and in-game purchase intention of female game players. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 143, Article 107681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2023.107681
- Greenwood, D. N., & Long, C. R. (2011). Attachment, belongingness needs, and relationship status predict imagined intimacy with media figures. *Communication Research*, 38(2), 278–297. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0093650210362687



- Grewen, K. M., Anderson, B. J., Girdler, S. S., & Light, K. C. (2003). Warm partner contact is related to lower cardiovascular reactivity. *Behavioral Medicine*, *29*(3), 123–130. https://doi.org/10.1080/0896428030 9596065
- Han, Y. R., & Wang, X. Y. (2020). Nvxingxiang youxi de suyuan, leixing ji moshi jiexi. *Xiandai chuanbo* (*Zhongguo chuanmei daxue xuebao*), 42(6), 141–146.
- Hartmann, T. (2008). Parasocial interactions and paracommunication with new media characters. In E. A. Konijn, S. Utz, M. Tanis, & S. Barnes (Eds.), *Mediated interpersonal communication* (pp. 177–199). Routledge.
- Hoffner, C. A., & Bond, B. J. (2022). Parasocial relationships, social media, & well-being. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 45, Article 101306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2022.101306
- Horton, D., & Wohl, R. (1956). Mass communication and parasocial interaction: Observations on intimacy at a distance. *Psychiatry*, 19(3), 215–229. https://doi.org/10.1080/00332747.1956.11023049
- Hua, S., & Xiao, C. (2023). What shapes a parasocial relationship in RVGs? The effects of avatar images, avatar identification, and romantic jealousy among potential, casual, and core players. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *139*, Article 107504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2022.107504
- Huan, Y. (2022). Female representation in Chinese otome games: Comparative research on three famous games from 2017 to 2021. In Z. Tong & J. Yan (Eds.), 2021 International Conference on Education, Language and Art (ICELA 2021) (pp. 964–970). Atlantis Press.
- Isbister, K. (2016). How games move us: Emotion by design. MIT Press.
- Jiguang Data. (2018). *Mr. Love: Queen's Choice you duo huo? shangxian buzu yiyue,wanjia tupo 700wan*. Baijiahao. https://baijiahao.baidu.com/s?id=1589371205621529925&wfr=spider&for=pc
- Karniol, R. (2001). Adolescent females' idolization of male media stars as a transition into sexuality. *Sex Roles*, 44, 61–77. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011037900554
- Kartsanis, N., & Murzyn, E. (2016, October). Me, my game-self, and others: A qualitative exploration of the game-self. In D. Brown (Ed.), *Proceedings of the 2016 International Conference on Interactive Technologies and Games (ITAG)* (pp. 29–35). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/iTAG.2016.12
- Kavli, K. (2012). The player's parasocial interaction with digital entities. In A. Lugmayr (Ed.), *MindTrek '12: Proceeding of the 16th International Academic MindTrek Conference* (pp. 83–89). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2393132.2393150
- Lea, M., & Spears, R. (1995). Love at first byte? Building personal relationships over computer networks. In J. T. Wood & S. Duck (Eds.), *Under-studied relationships: Off the beaten track* (pp. 197–233). Sage.
- Lei, Q., Tang, R., Ho, H. M., Zhou, H., Guo, J., & Tang, Z. (2024, May). A game of love for women: Social support in otome game Mr. Love: Queen's Choice in China. In F. F. Mueller, P. Kyburz, J. R. Williamson, C. Sas, M. L. Wilson, P. T. Dugas, & I. Shklovski (Eds.), CHI '24: Proceedings of the CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Article 367). https://doi.org/10.1145/3613904.3642306
- Levy, M. R. (1979). Watching TV news as parasocial interaction. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 23(1), 69–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838157909363919
- Liebers, N. (2022). Unfulfilled romantic needs: Effects of relationship status, presence of romantic partners, and relationship satisfaction on romantic parasocial phenomena. *Psychology of Popular Media*, 11(2), 237–247. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/ppm0000351
- Liu, T., & Lai, Z. (2022). From non-player characters to othered participants: Chinese women's gaming experience in the 'free' digital market. *Information, Communication & Society, 25*(3), 376–394. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2020.1791217
- Luo, S., & Tuney, S. (2015). Can texting be used to improve romantic relationships? The effects of sending



positive text messages on relationship satisfaction. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 49, 670–678. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.035

- Martins, M. V., Peterson, B. D., Costa, P., Costa, M. E., Lund, R., & Schmidt, L. (2013). Interactive effects of social support and disclosure on fertility-related stress. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 30(4), 371–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407512456672
- Micallef, J. F. (2016). Illusion master: extending self-presence and challenging immersion in and through digital games. *G*| *A*| *M*| *E Games as Art, Media, Entertainment,* 1(5), 68–82.
- Moss, B. F., & Schwebel, A. I. (1993). Defining intimacy in romantic relationships. *Family Relations*, 42(1), 31–37. https://doi.org/10.2307/584918
- Newsijie. (2019). Nvxing youxi nei xiaofei jiao gao, nvxingxiang shouyou fazhan qianjing guangkuo. http://www. newsijie.com/chanye/hulianwang/jujiao/2019/1118/11251060.html
- Niko Partners. (2023). Female gamers in Asia. https://nikopartners.com/female-gamers-in-asia
- Park, J. H., & Lennon, S. J. (2004). Television apparel shopping: Impulse buying and parasocial interaction. *Clothing and Textiles Research Journal*, 22(3), 135–144. https://doi.org/10.1177/0887302X0402200304
- Rubin, A. M., Perse, E. M., & Powell, R. A. (1985). Loneliness, parasocial interaction, and local television news viewing. *Human Communication Research*, 12(2), 155–180. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2958.1985. tb00071.x
- Rubin, A. M., & Step, M. M. (2000). Impact of motivation, attraction, and parasocial interaction on talk radio listening. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 44(4), 635–654. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15506878jobem4404_7
- Ruppel, E. K. (2015). Use of communication technologies in romantic relationships: Self-disclosure and the role of relationship development. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 32(5), 667–686. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0265407514541075
- Sensor Tower. (2023). 2023nian nvxing qinglai de shouyou shichang dongcha. https://sensortower-china.com/ zh-CN/state-of-female-preferred-mobile-games-2023-report-china
- Skjuve, M., Følstad, A., Fostervold, K. I., & Brandtzaeg, P. B. (2021). My chatbot companion—A study of humanchatbot relationships. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 149, Article 102601. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2021.102601
- Song, W., & Fox, J. (2016). Playing for love in a romantic video game: Avatar identification, parasocial relationships, and Chinese women's romantic beliefs. *Mass Communication and Society*, 19(2), 197–215. https://doi.org/10.1080/15205436.2015.1077972
- Sprecher, S., & Hendrick, S. S. (2004). Self-disclosure in intimate relationships: Associations with individual and relationship characteristics over time. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 23(6), 857–877. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.23.6.857.54803
- Stein, J. P., Liebers, N., & Faiss, M. (2022). Feeling better....But also less lonely? An experimental comparison of how parasocial and social relationships affect people's well-being. *Mass Communication and Society*, 27(3), 576–598. https://doi.org/10.1080/15205436.2022.2127369
- Tam, T., Hewstone, M., Harwood, J., Voci, A., & Kenworthy, J. (2006). Intergroup contact and grandparentgrandchild communication: The effects of self-disclosure on implicit and explicit biases against older people. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 9(3), 413–429. https://doi.org/10.1177/136843020 6064642
- Taylor, S. H., & Bazarova, N. N. (2018). Revisiting media multiplexity: A longitudinal analysis of media use in romantic relationships. *Journal of Communication*, 68(6), 1104–1126. https://doi.org/10.1093/joc/jqy055
- Tukachinsky, R. (2010). Para-romantic love and para-friendships: Development and assessment of a multipleparasocial relationships scale. *American Journal of Media Psychology*, *3*, 73–94.


- Vorderer, P., & Knobloch, S. (1996). Parasocial relationships to TV series characters: Completion or replacement. *Journal of Media Psychology*, 8(2), 201–216.
- Walsh, R. M., Forest, A. L., & Orehek, E. (2020). Self-disclosure on social media: The role of perceived network responsiveness. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 104, Article 106162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019. 106162
- Walster, E., Aronson, V., Abrahams, D., & Rottman, L. (1966). Importance of physical attractiveness in dating behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 4(5), 508–516. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/ h0021188
- Wang, X. Y., & Qiu, X. L. (2020). Biaoyan "chuantong" he zhanshi "kaifang": Beijing kuaguo lianqing zhong de nvxing jingyan. *Huadong ligong daxue xuebao* (Shehui kexue ban), 35(3), 1–16.
- Wang, Y. (2023). Virtual love experience in love and producer: Exploring perceptions of love, romance and gender in otome game player communities in China. *Media and Communication Research*, 4(10), 5–11. https://doi.org/10.23977/mediacr.2023.041002
- Wu, Y., Cai, W., & Mensah, S. A. (2023). "We found love": Romantic video game involvement and desire for real-life romantic relationships among female gamers. *Social Science Computer Review*, 42(4), 892–912. https://doi.org/10.1177/08944393231217940
- Zhou, Y., & Hao, J. Y. (2021). Qianru yu youli: wangluo zhibo yonghu yu zhubo de zhunshehui jiaowang. *Xinwen yu xiezuo*, (12), 41–49.

About the Authors



Hao Gao is a professor at the School of Journalism and Communication of Nanjing Normal University. His research interests are cultural and communication studies, science communication, online visual media, and journalism.



Ruoqing Guo is a graduate student at the School of Journalism and Communication of Nanjing Normal University. Her research interests include youth media cultural consumption and health communication.



Qingqing You is a graduate student at the Television School of Communication University of China. Her research interests are cultural and communication studies, online visual media, and journalism.

ARTICLE

< cogitatio

Open Access Journal

Empowered by the Experience: Playing as Female Characters in Video Games

Teresa Lynch ¹⁰, Annie Dooley ¹⁰, and David M. Markowitz ²⁰

¹ School of Communication, The Ohio State University, USA

² Department of Communication, Michigan State University, USA

Correspondence: Teresa Lynch (lynch.659@osu.edu)

Submitted: 22 May 2024 Accepted: 28 August 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

Research on female video game characters often investigates negative outcomes of playing as stereotyped characters. Yet, video games increasingly offer people opportunities to play as capable, prominent female characters that may be meaningful and promote positive outcomes (e.g., feelings of empowerment). This manuscript shares the results of a mixed methods survey of individuals (N = 751) recruited via online forums who recalled their experiences playing as female game characters. We analyzed qualitative response data using a traditional, top-down approach to identify themes. We focus our analysis and discussion on the results of a human-derived analysis, which indicated both positive and negative dimensions of experiences that participants found meaningful. Participants reported that taking on the role of a female character was often very important to them, but the reason for this significance varied across players. Often, these reasons involved their own gender identities and the context in which the gameplay occurred (e.g., online multiplayer). We consider findings as evidence of eudaimonic media effects.

Keywords

avatar; entertainment media; eudaimonia; gender; media psychology; video games

1. Introduction

Scholars commonly investigate female video game characters by examining pejorative content (e.g., sexualization; Downs & Smith, 2010) and its effects (e.g., increased self-objectification; Skowronski et al., 2021). Notably, researchers have observed the effects of female character portrayals in both women and



men (e.g., Hollett et al., 2020). However, it is critical to explore meaning-making from interactions with characters as they can influence players' thoughts, feelings, and behaviors in idiosyncratic ways (Banks & Bowman, 2016). We define meaning-making as the process through which people come to understand character portrayals and imbue them with significance. Playable characters are focal points of meaning-making as they translate player agency into digital environments, facilitating players' connections to a game's ongoing events (Lynch et al., 2022). Focusing on meaning-making, rather than adverse effects, provides researchers a nuanced perspective of how users interpret these characters. This is important for two primary reasons. First, players' social identities (e.g., gender) likely serve as touchstones informing meaning-making processes such as gaining insight (Oliver et al., 2016) about how one's social group relates to others. Second, content dimensions (e.g., narrative roles) may contextualize players' interpretations of characters in ways that are difficult to detect when aiming primarily to measure adverse outcomes rather than the processes and factors that contribute to them (e.g., Lynch et al., 2024). Here, we share results of a mixed-methods survey that asked participants about their experiences with female game characters. This approach allowed us to answer two overarching research questions: (a) What kinds of meaning have players derived from interactions with female game characters? And (b) do players' own gender identities differentiate experiences of interacting with female game characters? Several themes emerged from participants' reflections. Some align with existing research and some support new theoretical directions. Accordingly, our work indicates that although some problems still exist with female game characters, people find interacting with them meaningful.

2. Video Game Characters as Sources of Meaning

Characters are among the most salient aspects of video games, often centrally driving forward narratives and events (Williams et al., 2009). Scholars have long considered the relevance of video game characters in shaping player experiences and inspiring changes in their thoughts, attitudes, or behaviors (e.g., Behm-Morawitz & Mastro, 2009). Further, people can find connections with game characters deeply meaningful (Daneels et al., 2021). Meaning-making undergirds people's experiences with narrative entertainment such as video games. Meaningful entertainment experiences, sometimes called eudaimonic experiences, are often characterized by mixed affective states and thoughtful, deliberative periods of reflection (Oliver & Bartsch, 2010); such experiences may have profound and lasting effects on players (Oliver & Bartsch, 2010). Although many types of media can elicit such experiences (see Raney et al., 2020), the relevance of the video game character may enhance eudaimonia. We contend that among types of characters, meaning-making would most prominently involve players' interactions with playable characters (i.e., avatars).

Video games uniquely situate players as participants within content, often offering narrative choice, socializing with other players, and presenting compelling characters that encourage identification (Oliver et al., 2016). Such features facilitate meaning-making within and beyond gameplay sessions. For instance, when interacting with an avatar, players may interpret narrative events as personally significant (Daneels et al., 2021). Personal relevance can encourage biographic resonance or "the emotionally loaded experience that a received entertainment content has something important to do with one's self" (Klimmt & Rieger, 2021, p. 384).

Avatars serve as translations of players' agency in video games, resulting in feelings of being spatially and socially present within the digital space (Lynch et al., 2022). Through avatar interactions, players may feel



that they *become* the avatar and take on its characteristics. Such interactions can foster players' psychological merger with avatars (Klimmt et al., 2009) and shifts in self-concept that correspond with avatar depictions (Yee & Bailenson, 2007). These psychological shifts can influence player cognitions and behaviors. For instance, Yee and Bailenson (2007) designed a set of studies using virtual reality in which they hypothesized that characteristics of the avatar would influence participants' behavioral interactions with confederates of the studies. In one of these studies, the authors assigned participants to use an avatar of varied height, as this characteristic positively predicts self-esteem and competence. Specifically, the assigned avatar was taller, shorter, or the same height as a confederate with whom participants interacted in a money-sharing task. The money-sharing task served as a measure of participant confidence. The authors hypothesized that participants with taller avatars would exude more confidence as an artifact of their avatar's design. Consistent with their hypotheses, participants with taller avatars demonstrated greater confidence, making more self-serving money splits and being less willing to accept unfair splits than those assigned shorter avatars. The authors argued that their observations supported the idea that shifts in the participants' self-concepts produced the behavioral outcomes.

Embodying socially distinct avatars can also offer experiential lenses into digital worlds (Banks & Bowman, 2016). For example, Chen et al. (2021) designed an experiment to test their hypothesis that using an avatar representing a social group different than the participants' own (i.e., an outgroup avatar) would produce more positive attitudes and closeness toward the outgroup compared to those who used an avatar representing their own group (i.e., an ingroup avatar). Specifically, they had participants play as avatars portrayed either as an ingroup member (i.e., Singaporean Chinese citizens) or an outgroup member (i.e., People's Republic of China [PRC] Chinese immigrants). The authors explained that the participants in their study existed in a context where PRC Chinese experience significant prejudice from the Singaporean Chinese majority. While interacting with the avatar, the participants using the PRC Chinese experienced an instance of realistic discrimination. Confirming their hypothesis, the authors reported that participants who embodied the outgroup avatar reported more positive attitudes and closeness to PRC Chinese immigrants. The researchers explained that the effect of experiencing discrimination through the avatar offered insight to those participants compared to those who used an ingroup avatar.

Together, the results of these two studies suggest that the nature of people's interactions with avatars is not predicated on the avatar being like them. In fact, it seems that avatars may be particularly influential sources of insight when they are dissimilar to their players. The characteristics of the avatar can temporarily feel as if they are characteristics of the self (Klimmt et al., 2009), influencing behaviors of the player (Yee & Bailenson, 2007), and giving rise to perspective-taking experiences conveyed through the content (Chen et al., 2021). Self-reflective and perspective-taking states encouraged by avatar interactions likely serve as sources of information around which players form meaning.

2.1. Focusing on Female Video Game Characters

Playing as a female character may provide insight to players who do not identify as women (or girls) and potentiate self-reflective experiences for players who do. These make female characters sources for potential meaning-making. Male characters still vastly outnumber female characters in games (see sampling comparisons across Lynch et al., 2016, and Gilbert et al., 2023). Thus, for some, simply having the opportunity to play as a female character might be meaningful. As noted, games featuring female characters



do not always portray them positively (e.g., Downs & Smith, 2010). Scholars have argued that women and girls remain marginalized as game consumers because of frequent pejorative depictions (e.g., sexually objectifying appearances) of their social group in games (e.g., Lynch et al., 2016). The meaning some women make from such depictions seems to be that certain games or even gaming entirely is not intended for them (Hartmann & Klimmt, 2006). However, female game characters often possess inspiring qualities (e.g., powerful leads; Jansz & Martis, 2007) around which players may make meaning. Jansz and Martis (2007) identified the "Lara Phenomenon," which articulated characteristics of Tomb Raider's Lara Croft as poised to inspire players, especially those who identified as women. Croft's depiction in the narrative of the Tomb Raider series presents her as a powerful hero, capable of impressive physical feats and leveraging elements of her environment to augment her abilities. These qualities are prominent in depictions of female game characters (Lynch et al., 2016) and seem likely to encourage understandings of women as powerful and agentic. Yet, some scholars have argued that physically strong depictions of female characters tend to privilege masculinized interpretations of power (Pennell & Behm-Morawitz, 2015). Further, physically strong characters are often depicted in ways that emphasize an idealized physical appearance (Lynch et al., 2016), which may promote dehumanizing understandings of the characters (Heldman & Cahill, 2007). Indeed, Lara Croft-especially in her earliest portrayals-is infamously sexualized despite her dominant characterization (Jansz & Martis, 2007).

Historically, scholars have emphasized female characters' appearance as pressing portrayal dimensions for study. Recent evidence has emerged, however, identifying other dimensions of female characters that should contextualize the nature of their portrayals. Specifically, in a recent content analysis, Lynch et al. (2024) discovered that games often portray female characters with gender-normative characteristics. For example, they observed that female characters were often depicted as warm in personality. We contend that the current emphasis in the literature on female characters' physical appearance obscures the relevance of their other characteristics (e.g., personality, occupation, etc.) in shaping the understandings that players develop of these characters and the way that they imbue them with significance. Players may indeed construe a female video game character depicted as a nurturing leader as powerful; this may be especially likely for women who are often socialized to be nurturing.

Given these potentials, our first aim is to understand what meaning people make from their experiences playing as female game characters. Accordingly, we ask what meaning people have made from their experiences playing as female video game characters (RQ1).

2.2. Linking Female Character Depictions to Empowerment

Portrayals of female video game characters have generated much research addressing their harmful effects on players (e.g., Hollett et al., 2020; Skowronski et al., 2021). Less research has investigated the potential that these characters have as sources of positive outcomes, although some researchers acknowledge this possibility. People generally prefer positive media depictions of their ingroups as these messages contribute to positive self-concepts and wellness outcomes (Trepte & Loy, 2017). Yet, understanding preference only partially informs theorizing about meaning-making from character portrayals.

When Jansz and Martis (2007) described the "Lara Phenomenon," they argued that players might focus on the ostensibly empowering aspects of her portrayal (e.g., her dominance) rather than other, less empowering



dimensions (i.e., her sex appeal). This argument connects to meaning-making processes, such that players would attend to the dimensions of the character that inspired positive affect, feelings of inspiration, or other desired feelings and mindsets. Importantly, however, taking the meaning-making perspective allows us to recognize that players may understand characters as having *both* positive and negative attributes and imbue those attributes with meaning independently or with consideration of the attributes as interconnected or juxtaposed.

Feminist-themed advertising is one area where the juxtaposition of positive and negative portrayals is evident in portrayals of women (Hainneville et al., 2023). Scholars have begun exploring psychological empowerment in audiences as an outcome of viewing ostensibly powerful portrayals of women in media (e.g., Couture Bue & Harrison, 2019). Empowerment is a multidimensional concept that an individual experiences when they can act with situationally specific mastery over tasks and achieve their goals (Zimmerman, 2000). We, thus, see the possibility that psychologically merging with an avatar to achieve inspiring in-game goals may cause players to feel more empowered than they do in typical day-to-day experiences. Here we focus on empowerment's affective dimension, which is positively valenced (e.g., feeling capable) and functions to support wellbeing by eliciting positive feeling states, inspiring confidence, and fostering self-esteem (Diener & Biswas-Diener, 2005).

Media intended to inspire empowerment are common in contemporary media (Couture Bue & Harrison, 2019). However, experiments indicate that including such themes in messages does not necessarily yield empowerment (Couture Bue & Harrison, 2019). The motivating notion behind this line of work is that content developers are increasingly portraying women as powerful, strong, and capable; these portrayals sometimes do and sometimes do not continue to incorporate images of idealized appearance. We contend that the meaning-making processes audience members engage in would shape the significance of these depictions. That is, do people understand these characters with more emphasis on their power or appearance? Further, whether players ultimately experience empowerment through these interactions seems dependent on the nature of the meaning made through their interactions. Scholars have argued that some female game character depictions could encourage affective empowerment, especially in women (Jansz & Martis, 2007). Thus, we ask whether experiences playing as female video game characters inspired feelings of empowerment and whether women are especially likely to experience this outcome (RQ2).

2.3. Current Study

In the current study, we evaluated how people recalled their experiences having played as female game characters in the past. We used a top-down, inductive analysis to extract qualitative themes surrounding the experiences of playing as a female game character using human coders. We also used a bottom-up approach via the meaning extraction method (Markowitz, 2021), which is provided in an online supplement available at the following URL: https://osf.io/8z4na. Many of the points we identified in the qualitative analysis are supported by the computational analysis, but we have shared the results of the computational analyses in a supplemental file to maintain a clear focus on the results of the qualitative analysis.



3. Method

3.1. Participants

We recruited participants from online gaming forums (i.e., subreddits) for a study on people's experiences playing as female video game characters. Of 978 individuals who initiated the study, 751 had played as a female character, provided sufficient data for analysis, and were at least 18 years of age ($M_{age} = 27.67$, $SD_{age} = 6.72$). Participants self-identified as male (n = 637), female (n = 88), other (n = 11), or declined responding (n = 15). We also invited participants to self-describe their gender identity. Participants generated 132 unique responses to this open-ended question. We reviewed these open-ended self-descriptions and categorized them as unambiguously describing themselves as men (e.g., "cisgender male"; n = 588), unambiguously describing themselves as women (e.g., "she/her"; n = 95), describing themselves in a way outside of a binary gender (e.g., "agender," "transfemme"; n = 19), and descriptions only elaborating sexual orientation (e.g., "straight"; n = 3). Seven participants declined to elaborate on their gender identity. Participants identified as White (n = 590), East Asian (n = 50), Hispanic/Latine (n = 34), other (n = 30), South Asian (n = 21), Black (n = 12), Arab Middle Eastern (n = 6), non-Arab Middle Eastern (n = 6), or declined to answer (n = 2).

3.2. Procedure

Forum users encountered our post inviting them to participate in a research study about their experiences playing as female video game characters. The invitation included a link that directed interested individuals to a Qualtrics form where they encountered a consent statement with details of the study. After providing consent, participants indicated if they had ever played a game as a female character. Individuals who had such experience continued to the next section, which contained open-ended questions. Next, participants the opportunity to enter an electronic gift card drawing (\$50 US; odds approximately 1/100).

3.3. Measures

3.3.1. Open-Ended Prompts

We asked participants to identify a specific game and female character to reference throughout the study. We then asked questions that encouraged participants to think about those game experiences (e.g., whether they completed the game). Next, participants responded to five questions. First, we aimed to have participants begin thinking reflectively on their experience playing the game before posing more specific questions related to the character. Accordingly, we first asked participants to describe things they (a) liked and (b) disliked about the game. Next, participants (c) described the character as they remembered her. We intentionally left this question vague to facilitate spontaneous rather than prompted recollections. Finally, participants shared anything that they (d) liked and (e) disliked about the character.



3.3.2. Affective Empowerment

We assessed empowerment feelings using the affective empowerment checklist (Couture Bue & Harrison, 2019). This checklist includes 15 empowerment words (e.g., mighty) and 15 disempowerment words (e.g., defeated). Participants reported how much each word reflected their feelings when playing as the selected character using Likert scales (1 = not at all to 7 = a great deal). We summed the values for empowerment words and for disempowerment words separately. Each subscale, thus, has a range of 15–60. We then subtracted the average disempowerment value (M = 26.68, SD = 10.05, McDonald's $\omega = .83$) from the average empowerment value (M = 82.77, SD = 10.05, McDonald's $\omega = .91$) to produce the affective empowerment index (M = 56.26, SD = 21.18; Couture Bue & Harrison, 2019). The midpoint of the summed index is zero.

3.4. Qualitative Data Analysis Procedures

The first author and two assistants inductively analyzed responses to the five open-ended prompts by compiling response texts into a spreadsheet and examining them using a constant comparison method (Glaser, 1965). They read through texts arranged in vertical (i.e., within question) and horizontal (i.e., within subject) arrangements. They identified texts that clustered around emergent themes, establishing boundaries of thematic categories based on inclusion and exclusion criteria and documenting illustrative cases. Details for the computational techniques are described in the online supplementary file.

4. Results

4.1. Identifying Themes (RQ1)

RQ1 asked what meaning people have made from their experiences playing as female video game characters. Below, we report and emphasize the findings of the human coding. We consider their resonance and distinctions as relevant to the computational themes in the discussion.

4.1.1. Humanized and Affirmed

This theme centered on the personal affirmation that players shared when embodying a humanized female character. These descriptions emphasized agency, realism, unique personalities, and connections with other characters as important evidence of a fully realized person, not simply a digital object. Many participants noted the scarcity of compelling female characters, even in games that provided the option to create custom characters, and lauded richly designed, lead female characters. As one participant shared:

I've been a fan of the Elder Scrolls series since Morrowind. It was the first game I played where there was the option to play as a female character, and as a female gamer, it was awesome to see that representation.

Many remarked on female characters' imperfections as compelling. For instance, participants appreciated that their character was "a disaster of a person" or "flawed/emotional...she acted like a real person, not a superhero." Others emphasized characters' humor, describing them as "snarky and hilarious," having "a dry wit," or as a



"mysterious, intriguing person with a funny side." Another liked that "[the character] is a partially mute girl, with blue hair tied in a ponytail. Despite only being able to say a few words, she is full of sass." For many, the opportunity to play as a female character who was not only a central person in the game, but one with humanizing characteristics that made her feel believable and complex, contrasted the limited roles available when they first developed their love for gaming.

Notably, this theme had distinct emphases for cisgender and transgender women. For cisgender women, the experience of embodying a central, capable female character inspired positive, group-relevant feelings. One woman wrote about playing as Samus Aran of the Metroid series saying that she experienced "a sense of pride that [she] could play as a character of [her] own gender who was brave, strong, and competent." For transgender women, the experience of playing as female characters affirmed a valued part of their personal identity in a safe context. The opportunity to embody a character whose physical appearance offered congruence with their self-concept was deeply affirming. One participant shared that "playing [the female character] was [her] first real experience with gender euphoria." Another participant shared about her experience in Phantasy Star Online 2:

At the start, life was too dangerous for me to come out as transgender. A place where I could be myself, without fear, was immensely freeing and validating. I made friends, I climbed to the top, I fell in love for the first time in my life. I got to experience a world that felt so much more brilliant than the one outside the screen.

Another participant detailed a similar interaction with an avatar through VR Chat, in which she "could look in a mirror in game and see a more accurate representation of myself than I can in real life." These reflections underscore how playing as a female character served as an affirmation of their gender identity that they were struggling to share outside the game world.

4.1.2. Powerful Nurturer

A second theme emerged in which participants described female characters as powerful, but simultaneously emphasized character qualities that aligned with traditional conceptions of femininity. In some cases, participants explicitly differentiated characters' strength from associations with masculinity (e.g., overemphasized self-reliance). For instance, one person shared about Aloy, the lead character of Horizon Zero Dawn, stating, "I liked that [she] was very independent and opinionated but at the same time wasn't the over top 'I don't need help or men' stereotype that sometimes seems to plague games with female leads." Many participants described the characters' motivations to lead, save others, or even engage in violence as evidence of their kindness or care for others. Sometimes these descriptions oscillated between emphasizing traditionally masculine and feminine qualities. For instance, one participant described that the character "supported her friends and helped people overcome their insecurities. She also wasn't afraid to look foolish, but took charge when duty required her. She was strong, but also compassionate." In some cases, players remarked on the characters' narrative trajectories, such as one participant who shared they appreciated the character's "development over the course of the game from selfless-but-naive do-gooder to inspiring leader." Players also imposed these tensions on their characters even when they lacked an established persona. For instance, one participant detailed their experience in Fallout 3 saying they "roleplayed [their character] as an altruistic cybernetics specialist, wishing to help the desperate people of the wasteland with her



knowledge of technology and implants to improve their everyday life, and in [sic] the same time making it safer."

4.1.3. Obviously, She's a Woman

This category emerged as women (primarily) focused on what they saw as more and less preferred ways to represent femininity visually. That is, many descriptions went into detail about the character's hair, makeup, clothing, armor, and accessories to create idealized versions of themselves. However, this tendency had boundaries. Women critiqued visual gender-marking. That is, they noted designs that emphasized bodies in sexualized ways as bothersome signals of characters' gender expression. For example, a participant shared that "the female character model has an annoying hip sway and while most outfits are situationally appropriate some of them are weirdly revealing."

This quote alludes to another element of this theme—that is, many participants reflected on the prevalence of sexually objectifying character portrayals. It was important to many that the characterizations were not pejorative. For instance, one participant shared the following:

[I did not like] some of the female armor designs. Monster Hunter in general is better about it than most games, but there were still too many instances where I was looking forward to seeing cool armor only to be met with panties and butt windows.

4.1.4. Problematizing Men

This theme centered on participants' reflections on men as players, characters, and men's involvement with developing female characters. Many participants reflected on well-established patterns of female character designs that appeal to the male gaze and the prevalence of men's harassment of women in online gaming. For example, one participant shared that she "was frequently harassed by male players, female dwarf characters are rare and I guess that made them feel like they could be rude." However, other, nuanced reflections emerged. Some men's comments indicated their awareness that they were "part of a broader problem." Specifically, some men stated their shame that developers pandered to them as an audience by subordinating female characters through sexual objectification. For instance, one man shared that his character's "infamously revealing outfit made me feel self-conscious about playing an otherwise masterpiece of a game." Others seemed to recognize their own problematic tendencies to objectify female characters, labeling themselves unambiguously as sexist. One participant acknowledged that the "misogynist in me liked watching a woman butt over a man butt, seeing as it's a 3rd person game and that's a large part of your visual window." These comments suggested that players were thinking about the implications of their interactions and, as with the last comment, identified when the development of the character seemed to encourage such interactions.

Women participants described frustrations with inauthentically designed female characters. For instance, one woman elaborated the following:

Most games that "write" a female character are still written by men so it can be cringy (see; way too many of the "otome" games that are ostensibly for a female audience to play as women). I like well



written stories that let me play as a woman but even in the best of them there ends up being thorny bits that can ruin entire sections of the game....Monster Hunter doesn't really give you a lot of personality and story and that's a good thing. Didn't have to deal with men trying to write me a woman.

4.1.5. New Gendered Perspectives

This final theme emerged primarily among men in the sample and comments in this theme were reflective of how the opportunity to play as a female character gave them insight into women's experiences. Some men described that embodying a female character provided a lens to lived experiences outside of their own possibilities. One participant wrote about playing Life is Strange:

You play as a high school girl and get to experience daily life from that point of view, which, as a man, is not an experience I am very familiar with, and I really appreciate being able to expand my perspective.

Another participant carried the experience with him, recognizing the following:

[Playing as a female character] really let me experience how a woman might feel talking to strangers or even second guessing intentions of friends talking to you. I felt put off by some of the male character's [sic] conversations....It sparked some interesting conversations with women in my life.

Finally, some participants alluded to the possibility that women have distinct perspectives from men, and that shaped their experience. For instance, one participant elaborated that he "liked [the female character] because [he] thought she had the potential to have a better story than the male counterpart you could choose. [He] thought the perspective that she would have would be more genuine."

4.2. Empowerment Outcomes (RQ2)

RQ2 asked whether playing as female video game characters inspired feelings of empowerment and whether women might be especially likely to experience empowerment from those interactions. We analyzed the empowerment data in two ways to answer this question. First, we conducted a one-sample t-test to determine if affective empowerment departed from the midpoint of the empowerment index (i.e., a value of 0). The empowerment index (M = 56.26, SD = 21.18) was significantly different from the midpoint of zero (t(716) = 71.11, p < .001, Cohen's d = 2.66), with a difference of 56.26 from the midpoint.

The second part of this question asked whether women would be especially likely to experience empowerment from interactions with female characters. To answer this question, we conducted a one-way ANOVA on the empowerment index using participants' self-identified gender as a predictor and comparing only participants who identified as women (M = 58.4, SD = 18.10), men (M = 56.4, SD = 21.2), or outside of the binary in some way (M = 53.2, SD = 22.2). We removed participants who did not elaborate their gender identity from this analysis. The results indicated no significant differences in empowerment existed between these three groups (F(2, 693) = .90, p = .408).



5. Discussion

Scholars continue to consider female video game characters with an emphasis on the potential harms of their portrayals. Although we share concerns that women and girls' characterizations in games can potentiate negative outcomes, our evidence demonstrates that interacting with female characters can support positive outcomes such as empowerment. The language people use to describe interactions with avatars reveals meanings of these experiences (Banks & Bowman, 2016). We analyzed the rich data produced by our participants to extract themes using complementary approaches (i.e., in the main text, we used a primary approach of human coding techniques; in the supplementary file, we report secondary computational theme extraction). We identified several themes from our primary qualitative analysis that the computational analysis supported. In short, we observed that many participants found playing as female game characters meaningful.

5.1. Imbuing Female Video Game Character Interactions With Meaning

The themes we detected from our participants' writings warrant further consideration and point to fruitful new directions for researchers in this area. In the Humanized and Affirmed theme, women detailed feeling inspired by and appreciative of the opportunity to play as realistic female characters with complex personas, compelling stories, and connections to other characters. If an audience member relates to a character's identity, they may be more likely to resonate with the experiences that character has (Klimmt & Rieger, 2021). Using the character's identity and events that may befall her as touchstones, the player may engage in elaborative thinking around the depiction and their own lived experience. The computational themes extracted also demonstrated some resonance here as some participants evoked characters' voice. After discovering this theme computationally, we returned to the data and recognized that some participants discussed how the character's voice actor made the character compelling or inspiring. This aligns with our Humanized and Affirmed theme as some descriptions strongly evoked a feminist understanding of voice. Rakow and Wackwitz (2004) define voice as "the means and ability to speak and to have one's speech heard and be taken into account in social and political life." Voice is similar to the humor and the faults participants described in this theme, ascribing complexity, agency, and aliveness to the characters. These humanizing themes presented tensions with Problematizing Men. Specifically, participants shared their dislike of inauthentic or shallow attempts to portray womanhood or women's experiences through narrative. When games portrayed female characters in authentic, deeply explored personas, women found the experience of playing with them meaningful. Notably, one of the themes that emerged from the computational theme extraction identified poor dialogue as a specific area of dislike for participants.

For transgender women, using an avatar whose gender expression is closely aligned with their self-concept could be profound. This finding supports recent evidence that using avatars congruent with one's gender identity is an affirming and gratifying experience, especially for transgender people who may experience stigma or violence because of their identity (McKenna et al., 2024). Games' interactive affordances may have heightened the experience of identity affirmation for transgender women; indeed, playing as a character can encourage a sense that one *is* the character (Klimmt et al., 2009; Lynch et al., 2022). Further, some transgender participants in the sample noted the relative safety of having their gender identity expressed and accepted by others in the game. In turn, through the avatars, they had the opportunity to relax into and fully embrace their identity.



The identification of the Powerful Nurturer theme deepens the conversation around a tension in female game character depictions—that is, the juxtaposition of stereotypically masculine (e.g., savior) and feminine roles (e.g., nurturer). The intersection of strength and sexualized appearance is arguably the best-documented example of this phenomenon (see Lynch et al., 2016). Scholars suggest that incorporating stereotypically feminine cues in otherwise powerful designs subordinates women in a patriarchal hierarchy (Pennell & Behm-Morawitz, 2015). Video games can subtly signal the values of patriarchal societies, ascribing less prominence and value to traditionally feminine identities, roles, and qualities as compared to those that are traditionally masculine (see Lynch et al., 2024). Subjectively positive evaluations of women and their roles tend to involve benevolent characterizations that undermine women's agency and power. However, participants did not ground their comments under Powerful Nurturer in a benevolent perspective. Nor did they seem to make their statements around this point with lamentations of gender stereotypes. Instead, many participants recast feminine qualities as sources of power. That is, participants saw characters' strength as partly or primarily due to their feminine attributes (e.g., care for others). Although participants enjoyed strong characterizations, they emphasized the importance and inherent power of their feminine qualities as meaningful.

Although participants seemed to largely ascribe positive meaning to their interactions with female game characters, there were some notably critical meanings that emerged. With respect to both the Obviously, She's a Woman and Problematizing Men themes, participants seemed quite aware of the gendered nature of gaming content and development. Researchers have found that female characters designed with a more sexualized appearance elicit a sexually objectifying gaze more so than those with a less sexualized appearance or that elicited by male characters (Hollett et al., 2020). These findings suggest that people may have a bias toward physical appearance, especially as it relates to the body, when evaluating women. Although we agree this bias may emerge when directly viewing a woman, our findings here hint at the possibility that people challenge this biased perception over time, which is typical of a eudaimonic media experience. Future research should continue to examine how people manage their own awareness of implicit biases such as the body-biased attentional processes reported by Hollett et al. (2020).

Despite some negative reflections on their interactions with female characters, participants reported being empowered by their interactions with characters. In the New Gendered Perspectives theme, men engaged in self-reflection as they shared their sentiments around experiences using female characters in games as insightful and helpful opportunities. Importantly, we did not observe significant differences in affective empowerment based on participants' self-identified gender. Players of all identities may, thus, find the experience of interacting with a female character as a video game avatar empowering. Future research might explore this to determine whether these interactions are similar in stimulating feelings of empowerment compared to male characters.

Empowerment is an important factor to assess when it comes to interactions with female characters as feeling empowered can support a person's wellbeing. For instance, the opportunity to engage in capable narrative action through an avatar can satisfy intrinsic needs for agency (Daneels et al., 2021; Oliver et al., 2016). Determining how the meaning that players make from interactions with specific types of characters and under what circumstances that meaning potentiates empowered states is a charge for future research in the broader area of eudaimonic media experiences.



5.2. Theoretical Implications

We see two primary implications of our findings for existing media psychology theories. First, the relevance of character portrayals is often tied to social identity theory (see Trepte & Loy, 2017). Applied to characters, social identity theory explains that people want to see their ingroups portrayed positively because this facilitates positive group distinctiveness. However, consistently positive portrayals of female characters may reinforce benevolent ideals or limit their roles and qualities (Lynch et al., 2024). Accordingly, rather than desiring that media always portray their group positively, women seem to want their group portrayed as fully realized characters, even if that involves faults. Scholars applying social identity theory may benefit from considering humanizing or authentic portrayals of subordinated groups as positive given the groups' societal position, rather than defining positive portrayals from the position of superordinate groups (see Hatfield et al., 2022, for a recent review on this topic).

A second implication of our findings relates to Sanders' (2010) character impression formation theory. This theory explains how people incorporate or reconcile narrative information depending on its alignment with existing character schema. Given our observations of how participants described strong female characters (i.e., Powerful Nurturer), we suggest character impression formation theory as a fruitful framework for future research. Do people use schema about women or about leaders to guide processing of strong female characters? Whether and how people reconcile or incorporate this information to form gestalt impressions could inform theorizing around characters in meaning-making processes.

5.3. Limitations

We aimed to explore the nature of players' meaning-making related to female game characters through interpreting their descriptions of those experiences. This work is constrained by the fact that we only asked participants about experiences playing as female characters. Thus, we cannot make comparisons to the qualities of interactions and meaning-making that players may engage in with male characters. Future research would certainly clarify our understanding by examining meaning-making processes with female and male characters. We cannot assert causal arguments from these data. Future research, however, could leverage our themes in experimental investigations. We also asked participants to share about playing as characters, and, thus, reflections emerged from prompting. We intentionally used broadly phrased prompts to avoid influencing responses. Still, our positionality as academic researchers extracting meaning from participants approached through online gaming forums is noteworthy.

6. Conclusions

The important and historic focus on stereotypical female video game characters has given rise to new questions about how players make meaning from interactions with these figures. Our findings reveal new and compelling directions for empirical research regarding how individual characteristics of players and characters shape meaning-making processes to inspire and empower. We are encouraged by the findings produced by our methodological approaches, which we hope future research teams can use as motivation to demonstrate how mixed-methods studies add theoretical and empirical depth to meaning-making processes.



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Sage Burridge and Alexis Burgett for their support in the development of this work.

Funding

This work was supported by funds from the Sarah Evans Mattox Faculty Research award to the lead author.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Supplementary Material

Supplementary material for this article is available online here: https://osf.io/8z4na

References

- Banks, J., & Bowman, N. D. (2016). Avatars are (sometimes) people too: Linguistic indicators of parasocial and social ties in player-avatar relationships. *New Media & Society*, 18(7), 1257–1276. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1461444814554898
- Behm-Morawitz, E., & Mastro, D. (2009). The effects of the sexualization of female video game characters on gender stereotyping and female self-concept. *Sex Roles*, *61*, 808–823. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-009-9683-8
- Chen, V. H. H., Ibasco, G. C., Leow, V. J. X., & Lew, J. Y. Y. (2021). The effect of VR avatar embodiment on improving attitudes and closeness toward immigrants. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, Article 705574. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.705574
- Couture Bue, A. C., & Harrison, K. (2019). Empowerment sold separately: Two experiments examine the effects of ostensibly empowering beauty advertisements on women's empowerment and self-objectification. *Sex Roles*, 81(9/10), 627–642. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-019-01020-4
- Daneels, R., Bowman, N. D., Possler, D., & Mekler, E. D. (2021). The 'eudaimonic experience': A scoping review of the concept in digital games research. *Media and Communication*, 9(2), 178–190. https://doi.org/ 10.17645/mac.v9i2.3824
- Diener, E., & Biswas-Diener, R. (2005). Psychological empowerment and subjective well-being. In D. Narayan (Ed.), *Measuring empowerment: Cross disciplinary perspectives* (pp. 125–140). The World Bank.
- Downs, E., & Smith, S. L. (2010). Keeping abreast of hypersexuality: A video game character content analysis. *Sex Roles*, 62, 721–733. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-009-9637-1
- Gilbert, M., Lynch, T., Burridge, S., & Archipley, L. (2023). Formidability of male video game characters over 45 years. *Information, Communication & Society, 26*(8), 1531–1547. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X. 2021.2013921
- Glaser, B. G. (1965). The constant comparative method of qualitative analysis. *Social Problems*, 12(4), 436–445. https://doi.org/10.2307/798843
- Hainneville, V., Guèvremont, A., & Robinot, É. (2023). Femvertising or femwashing? Women's perceptions of authenticity. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 22(4), 933–941. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.2020
- Hartmann, T., & Klimmt, C. (2006). Gender and computer games: Exploring females' dislikes. *Journal* of *Computer-Mediated Communication*, 11(4), 910–931. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2006. 00301.x
- Hatfield, H. R., Ahn, S. J., Klein, M., & Nowak, K. L. (2022). Confronting whiteness through virtual humans:



A review of 20 years of research in prejudice and racial bias using virtual environments. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 27(6), Article zmac016. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcmc/zmac016

- Heldman, C., & Cahill, M. (2007, March 8-10). *The beast of beauty culture: An analysis of the political effects of self-objectification* [Paper presentation]. Western Political Science Association Conference, Las Vegas, USA.
- Hollett, R. C., Morgan, H., Chen, N. T. M., & Gignac, G. E. (2020). Female characters from adult-only video games elicit a sexually objectifying gaze in both men and women. *Sex Roles*, *83*(1), 29–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-019-01096-y
- Jansz, J., & Martis, R. G. (2007). The Lara phenomenon: Powerful female characters in video games. *Sex Roles*, 56(3/4), 141–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-006-9158-0
- Klimmt, C., Hefner, D., & Vorderer, P. (2009). The video game experience as "true" identification: A theory of enjoyable alterations of players' self-perception. *Communication Theory*, *19*(4), 351–373. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1468-2885.2009.01347.x
- Klimmt, C., & Rieger, D. (2021). Biographic resonance theory of eudaimonic media entertainment. In P. Vorderer & C. Klimmt (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of entertainment theory* (pp. 383–402). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190072216.001.0001
- Lynch, T., Matthews, N. L., Gilbert, M., Jones, S., & Freiberger, N. (2022). Explicating how skill determines the qualities of user-avatar bonds. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, Article 713678. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyg.2022.713678
- Lynch, T., Tompkins, J. E., Gilbert, M., & Burridge, S. (2024). Evidence of ambivalent sexism in female video game character designs. *Mass Communication and Society*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15205436.2024.2311229
- Lynch, T., Tompkins, J. E., van Driel, I. I., & Fritz, N. (2016). Sexy, strong, and secondary: A content analysis of female characters in video games across 31 years. *Journal of Communication*, 66(4), 564–584. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcom.12237
- Markowitz, D. M. (2021). The meaning extraction method: An approach to evaluate content patterns from large-scale language data. *Frontiers in Communication*, *6*, Article 588823. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomm. 2021.588823
- McKenna, J. L., Wang, Y. C., Williams, C. R., McGregor, K., & Boskey, E. R. (2024). "You can't be deadnamed in a video game": Transgender and gender diverse adolescents' use of video game avatar creation for gender-affirmation and exploration. *Journal of LGBT Youth*, 21(1), 29–49. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19361653.2022.2144583
- Oliver, M. B., & Bartsch, A. (2010). Appreciation as audience response: Exploring entertainment gratifications beyond hedonism. *Human Communication Research*, *36*(1), 53–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2958. 2009.01368.x
- Oliver, M. B., Bowman, N. D., Woolley, J. K., Rogers, R., Sherrick, B. I., & Chung, M.-Y. (2016). Video games as meaningful entertainment experiences. *Psychology of Popular Media*, *5*(4), 390–405. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/ppm0000066
- Pennell, H., & Behm-Morawitz, E. (2015). The empowering (super) heroine? The effects of sexualized female characters in superhero films on women. *Sex Roles*, 72, 211–220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-015-0455-3

Rakow, L. F., & Wackwitz, L. A. (2004). Feminist communication theory: Selections in context. Sage.

Raney, A. A., Oliver, M. B., & Bartsch, A. (2020). Eudaimonia as media effect. In M. B. Oliver, A. A. Raney, & J. Bryant (Eds.), *Media effects: Advances in theory and research* (4th ed., pp. 258–274). Routledge.



- Sanders, M. S. (2010). Making a good (bad) impression: Examining the cognitive processes of disposition theory to form a synthesized model of media character impression formation. *Communication Theory*, 20(2), 147–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.2010.01358.x
- Skowronski, M., Busching, R., & Krahé, B. (2021). The effects of sexualized video game characters and character personalization on women's self-objectification and body satisfaction. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *92*, Article 104051. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2020.104051
- Trepte, S., & Loy, L. S. (2017). Social identity theory and self-categorization theory. In P. Rössler (Ed.), *The international encyclopedia of media effects*. Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118783764
- Williams, D., Consalvo, M., Caplan, S., & Yee, N. (2009). Looking for gender: Gender roles and behaviors among online gamers. *Journal of Communication*, *59*(4), 700–725. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466. 2009.01453.x
- Yee, N., & Bailenson, J. (2007). The Proteus effect: The effect of transformed self-representation on behavior. Human Communication Research, 33(3), 271–290. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2958.2007.00299.x
- Zimmerman, M. A. (2000). Empowerment theory: Psychological, organizational and community levels of analysis. In J. Rappaport & E. Seidman (Eds.), *Handbook of community psychology* (pp. 43–63). Kluwer Academic.

About the Authors



Teresa Lynch (PhD) is an assistant professor in the School of Communication at The Ohio State University and the director of Chronos Laboratory. She received her PhD in mass communication from Indiana University in 2017. Dr Lynch's research involves examining the processes involved in people's interactions with video game content and contexts with an emphasis on emotion, sex, gender, and identity. Her recent work has focused on how the portrayals of female video game characters influence players' feelings and thinking.



Annie Dooley (MA) is a PhD student in the School of Communication at The Ohio State University. She received her master's degree in media effects from The Pennsylvania State University in 2022. Her research interests include media psychology, interactivity, emotional and cognitive processing of narratives, and wellbeing outcomes.



David M. Markowitz (PhD) is an associate professor in the Department of Communication at Michigan State University. He uses language patterns from natural databases to infer what people are thinking, feeling, and experiencing psychologically. His work has appeared in outlets such as *Science Advances*, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, Journal of Communication*, and *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. Dr Markowitz received his PhD from Stanford University and his undergraduate and master's degrees from Cornell University. ARTICLE



Open Access Journal

"I bet she's 'not like other girls": Discursive Construction of the Ideal Gaming Woman on r/GirlGamers

Maria Ruotsalainen ¹[©] and Mikko Meriläinen ²[©]

¹ Department of Music, Art and Culture Studies, University of Jyväskylä, Finland
² Tampere University Game Research Lab, Tampere University, Finland

Correspondence: Maria Ruotsalainen (maria.a.t.ruotsalainen@jyu.fi)

Submitted: 5 June 2024 Accepted: 8 August 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

Research on women and hostile behaviour in video games has largely focused on women as victims rather than perpetuators of hostile behaviour. In this study, by utilizing discourse analysis, we examine how women's hostile behaviour is discussed in the subreddit r/GirlGamers, and how the ideal gaming woman is discursively constructed in these discussions.

Keywords

female gamers; gender; hostile behaviour; online games; Reddit

1. Introduction

Women are active game players and participants in digital gaming cultures, yet their position is often challenged. Although women are steadily becoming more visible in gaming, they often encounter not only direct gendered harassment (Fox & Tang, 2017), but also belittling, gatekeeping, and erasure (Salter & Blodgett, 2012), especially in masculinised gaming cultures such as those around competitive gaming (Friman & Ruotsalainen, 2022). They are constantly positioned as the other in game cultures, with very little room to navigate their presence, gender, and gaming expertise (Ruotsalainen & Friman, 2018; Witkowski, 2018). Women employ a variety of strategies to navigate these contested spaces, such as forming their own communities, honing their gaming skills to claim space for themselves through gaming expertise, and altogether hiding their gender (Fox & Tang, 2017).



Because of the commonly shared difficulties, there is often solidarity between gaming women, seen in both everyday informal exchanges (Dye & Williams, 2018; Ruotsalainen & Meriläinen, 2023) and communities for women in gaming (Zhang et al., 2023), such as the not-for-profit organisation Women in Games and the popular subreddit r/GirlGamers, the latter examined in this study. However, women are obviously not a homogenous group, with individuals differing in their personal histories, their relationship with gaming, gameplay preferences and motives, and many other variables (e.g., Friman, 2022). Some embrace a strong "gamer" identity (Howe et al., 2019), others reject it altogether (Shaw, 2012), and most presumably fall somewhere in between or do not consider it a relevant positioning.

There are several prominent discourses on women's gaming, such as that on women's contested role in gaming cultures, that influence gaming women's experiences of gaming either directly or through more indirect mechanisms. Whether through personal experience, friends and family, or the media, gaming women often encounter these discourses and either willingly consider or are forced to consider their game culture experiences in relation to them. They also often become participants, reinforcing or contesting notions that are put forward.

In this study, we explore several interlinked discourses as they appear in discussions in the subreddit r/GirlGamers on the discussion platform Reddit, and how the normative ideal gaming woman is constructed—and challenged—in and through these. Focusing on discussion threads, mainly between self-identifying women, around women's negative conduct in digital gaming, we utilise critical discourse analysis (Fairclough, 1995; van Dijk, 2001) to discern how gender and gender-appropriate behaviours are discursively constructed in these discussions.

2. Background

Previous research and public discussion have comprehensively documented the many difficulties encountered by gaming women because of their gender. Digital gaming has historically been seen and constructed as a masculine space: something for boys and men (Bryce & Rutter, 2003; Schott & Horrell, 2000) with women relegated to the sidelines (e.g., Taylor et al., 2009). Scholars have extensively documented (see Vergel et al., 2023) the sexist and misogynist behaviour, such as sexual and general harassment, belittling, and exclusion, women encounter in both in-game situations and broader game culture interactions (Braithwaite, 2014; Cote, 2017; Fox & Tang, 2017; Gray et al., 2017; Salter & Blodgett, 2012; Taylor et al., 2009). This negative behaviour is typically carried out by men (Friman & Ruotsalainen, 2022), reflecting the deep-set—although challenged (e.g., Fisher & Jenson, 2017)—gendered structures of digital game cultures (Darvin et al., 2021; Salter & Blodgett, 2012), where women are still often positioned and perceived as outsiders to gaming by some gaming men (see Cote, 2017).

Despite their presence being challenged, women actively play games and participate in broader gaming culture in diverse ways. Unlike men, however, they are often made acutely aware of their gender in gaming spaces, as for example a feminine voice may provoke an unwanted response from other players (Kuznekoff & Rose, 2013; Ruotsalainen & Meriläinen, 2023) and women's gaming continues being limited for example via pressure to take on certain roles while playing (Ruotsalainen & Friman, 2018).

Especially since the 2010s (Consalvo, 2012), game academia has paid increasing attention to unwanted behaviours in-game cultures. Often discussed as "toxicity" or "toxic behaviour" (e.g., Cote et al., 2023;



Kordyaka et al., 2020; Liu & Agur, 2023), the phenomenon contains a wide range of activities from minor transgressions in gameplay to discriminatory verbal abuse, general and sexual harassment, and threats of violence. While much of this behaviour takes place in gaming situations, it also reaches beyond them, and occurs for example on gaming platforms and gaming-related social media. There is no clear-cut definition of what is considered toxic; although there is agreement on for example threats and verbal aggression, phenomena such as trolling and trash-talking often occupy a grey area, depending on individual instances and the social contract between players (e.g., Ruotsalainen & Meriläinen, 2023).

Research on the phenomenon has mainly followed one of three lines of inquiry: the experiences of individuals encountering negative behaviour (e.g., Fox & Tang, 2017; Ortiz, 2019), the causes and dynamics of negative behaviour (e.g., Liu & Agur, 2023; Meriläinen & Ruotsalainen, 2024), and the gendered nature of hostile behaviour, with women typically the victims (Vergel et al., 2023). While existing research offers a rich understanding of hostile and discriminatory behaviour in game cultures, it has usually not addressed women's own transgressive behaviour.

The focus on women as victims is warranted based on considerable evidence (e.g., Kuznekoff & Rose, 2013; McLean & Griffiths, 2019; Salter & Blodgett, 2012; Vergel et al., 2023), yet we nevertheless find this approach problematic, as it may unintentionally narrow women's acceptable position in game cultures to primarily that of a victim, reducing their agency and reinforcing normative expectations of women's submissive behaviour (Fox & Tang, 2014; Salter & Blodgett, 2012). It can furthermore hide intersectional differences (see Crenshaw, 1991), flattening the complicated and multifaceted structural, cultural, and personal positions players occupy, and consequently result in ignoring power differences which are not solely determined by gender nor the same for every one of the same gender (Ortiz, 2019). Considering the norms of negative conduct present in many gaming environments (Hilvert-Bruce & Neill, 2020; Meriläinen & Ruotsalainen, 2024), it is unsurprising that gaming women can also behave in a negative manner, which we turn to next.

2.1. Women's Negative Conduct in Gaming

The much greater volume of men's hostile online gaming behaviour can obscure women's behaviour, and indeed this seems to have happened in research on the topic. Although researchers have occasionally brought up women's hostile responses while addressing women's reactions to harassment (Cote, 2017; Gray, 2018; Ruotsalainen & Meriläinen, 2023), the focus has usually been on coping strategies (see also Fox & Tang, 2017) instead of women's reactive or proactive negative gaming conduct.

In their interviews of gaming women, Cote (2017), Gray (2018), and Ruotsalainen and Meriläinen (2023) have all identified in-game conduct that can be described as negative, aggressive, or hostile. While all studies noted that this was typically a reaction to encountering harassment from men, the women interviewed by Ruotsalainen and Meriläinen also discussed their proactive negative conduct in reaction to neutral in-game events, such as players on their team performing poorly, in line with common, non-gendered negative gaming conduct (Kordyaka et al., 2020).

As Cote (2017, p. 148) puts it, aggressive online gaming conduct can be a double-edged sword for women. When reacting to harassment, it can be a way to defend oneself and shut down harassers, especially when combined with gaming skills superior to theirs (see also Gray, 2018), thus potentially becoming an empowering



experience (Ruotsalainen & Meriläinen, 2023). However, it may also cause the aggressively behaving woman to be accused of being overly emotional, drawing on historical negative stereotypes of women (Cote, 2017). Aggressive conduct can also escalate an already charged situation, reinforce norms of negative conduct in games, and be a source of regret and guilt once the emotionally intense moment has passed (Ruotsalainen & Meriläinen, 2023).

Despite the solidarity between gaming women mentioned previously, hostile encounters between women, sometimes containing misogyny, also happen in games (Dye & Williams, 2018; Ruotsalainen & Meriläinen, 2023). Previous research (Dye & Williams, 2018; McCullough et al., 2020) has suggested that internalised misogyny or internalised sexism, the phenomenon of women enacting learned sexist or misogynist behaviours upon themselves or other women (Bearman et al., 2009), is an important component of these negative interactions. Indeed, in Dye and Williams' (2018) data there were many examples of women holding sexist and misogynist views of other gaming women or interpreting their actions through the lens of such views.

3. Data and Method

The data of this study consists of 57 discussion threads on the subreddit r/GirlGamers on the discussion platform Reddit. This English language subreddit is an established one, created in 2010 and with over 250,000 members at the time of writing (233,000 during data collection). The description of the subreddit at the time of writing this article was as follows:

A place for gamers who also happen to be women, probably. A delightfully polarizing term for women who game. This is a community space for ladies to hang out, talk about gaming, and game together. We also discuss topics around women in geek culture and debrief about experiences that occur as a result of their gender. Or you know, just post some bad ass makeup tutorials inspired by video games. We like that stuff here! Folks of all genders and identities welcome to join discussions here!

The original selection was conducted by manually searching for threads with the search terms "aggressive women," "angry women," "hostile women," and "toxic women," and including those in which the initial poster discussed women's conduct in gaming, either their own or others'. We searched threads without any limitation on when the threads were published, amounting to the oldest threads being 10 years old and the newest from 2023. Data was collected starting from October 2023 and continued until the authors estimated that saturation in terms of insight had been reached.

In total, 81 discussion threads were initially collected. During the analysis, 24 discussion threads were removed, as there was no discussion on women's hostile behaviour in in-game situations or gaming contexts in these. After collection, a critical discourse analysis was conducted on the data. Critical discourse analysis is a method to examine how social structures are manifested in language, with particular focus on identifying relationships of power and control (e.g., van Dijk, 2001). According to Wodak (2002), "[critical discourse analysis] takes a particular interest in the ways in which language mediates ideology in a variety of social institutions" (p. 9). Analysing discourses is done by taking into account linguistic patterns and choices (such as words used) present in the text, tracing how text is linked to a larger context, and by recognizing the ideological processes and hegemonic structures in which the discourse is embedded in, as



well the way these are resisted via struggles over power and normativity (Blommaert & Bulcaen, 2000; Fairclough, 1995).

In our analysis, we focused on how hostility, toxicity, and aggression were defined and how gender and gender-appropriate behaviours were discursively constructed in relation to these. For the analysis, all the collected discussion threads were read through by the first author multiple times. Atlas.ti was then utilised in coding the data for identifying re-occurrent themes and linguistic devices present. The first author then worked on identifying the number of prominent interdiscursive discourses and counterdiscourses in the data. As part of these, she traced down different discursive positionings of others and self-positionings in the data (see Harré & Van Langenhove, 2010). Also, the discursive construction of in-groups and out-groups in the data was analysed, paying particular attention to who can be considered as part of the in-group in r/GirlGamers and who, in particular what kind of women, become positioned as out-group. Furthermore, the use of stereotypes and terms such as "pick me girls" and gendered discourses surrounding them was analysed. The initial analysis was shared with author two and was further advanced via mutual discussion and in reflection with research literature.

Using social media postings as data requires care and consideration from the researcher (see Zimmer, 2020). As Reddit is a public platform, requiring for instance no signing-in to read the posts, it can be reasonably assumed that the posters were aware that their posts were public. As such, we did not obtain consent from posters. As our data consists of public posts addressing a relatively non-sensitive everyday topic (gaming experiences) in a large subreddit, we estimated there was very little risk of harm for participants. We have, however, in the interest of participants' privacy, omitted user handles and direct quotes which could be seen as containing sensitive information. Such quotes include for example mentions of posters' private life or mental health.

4. Analysis

In our analysis, we traced the way women in r/GirlGamers discuss their own and other women's hostile behaviour in video games. We examined how "gaming woman" is a gendered discursive construct and how displays of women's aggressive behaviour were discussed within the discourses identified. We identified a total of four interconnected discourses in which women's aggressive behaviour and expectations of how to perform gender were constructed in different, albeit often overlapping ways:

- 1. Women's behaviour interpreted through a gendered lens;
- 2. Women should support each other;
- 3. Games before gender;
- 4. Women can and should be aggressive.

Throughout our analysis, we have analysed parts of texts that have been taken unedited from the posts. While many of the posters use the word "girl" to refer to women players, we have elected to use the word "woman" for clarity, unless referring to a particular text where the term "girl" is used.

The prominent use of the term "girl" as well as the name of the subreddit, r/GirlGamers, is in itself an interesting gendered construct worth of analysis. Especially when discussing adult women, the term girl can



be problematic: It comes off with a sexist connotation and can be used to diminish and infantilise women (Kleinman, 2002). In our material, many discussants used the term "girl" freely (even when discussing adults), but some discussants expressed a dislike for the terms "girl," "girl gamer," and "gamer girl," as they perceived them potentially belittling towards women. The ambiguous position the term "girl gamer" occupies appears to be recognised and played with in the description of the subreddit. As displayed in the earlier section, the subreddit is described as follows:

A place for gamers who also happen to be women, probably. A delightfully polarizing term for women who game.

Here the term "girl gamer" is recognised as polarizing. Indeed, in the description of the subreddit the term "girl" is not used, but rather the terms "women" and "ladies." The use of the terms "girl" and "girl gamers" can, however, also be seen as an attempt to claim back the term, in a similar manner that has been done with terms like "queer" (Rand, 2014). As it is largely agreed that this kind of claiming can be made only by the group that is originally targeted by the term, we as researchers (of which one is a cisgender man) are not in a position to use the terms "girl" and "girl gamer" in this manner in this context.

Next, we will give an overview of the discussions and then focus on the following prevailing discourses: "Women's behaviour interpreted through a gendered lens" and "women should support each other." After this, we examine contesting discourses or counterdiscourses ("games before gender" and "women can and should be aggressive") to these prominent discursive positions.

4.1. "This Happens to Me All the Time": An Overview of the Discussions

Most of the discussion threads we analysed were started by women-identifying posters discussing their experiences of hostile women they had encountered while playing games. In these threads, discussants would often share their own experiences and talk about actions they understood to be hostile and speculate on reasons for other women's hostile behaviour. What were seen as hostile actions varied from outright verbal slurs and sexist comments to what was experienced as being purposefully ignored:

This happens to me all the time (I play *Fortnite*). Every time I join a random fill game and there's a girl, she will ignore me when I try to converse with her or will speak over me to other boys in our party.

Ignoring, refusing to help, and refusing to play with were some of the most common ways other women were perceived as being toxic, mentioned up to 24 times in different accounts of other women's toxicity. Ignoring was also one of the common ways women said they themselves dealt with other toxic women.

Discussants also pointed out more subtle ways hostile behaviour was part of their encounter with other women, such as talking behind one's back and refusing to help in-game. Occasionally, hostile actions would take place in social settings around the games, such as Discord servers, or develop over a longer period, in settings such as MMO (massively multiplayer online) games' guilds.

Participants in these discussions would at times also discuss their own negative conduct. This conduct was usually, albeit not always, discussed as a way to react to hostility targeted at them. Women would also share tips and strategies on how to cope with hostile women playing games. The actions described varied from



muting, blocking, and reporting to forms of mockery and sarcasm as well as calling out toxic behaviour. This tracks with how previous research has described how women players cope with hostile players in general (Cote, 2017; Ruotsalainen & Meriläinen, 2023). Next, we will discuss more in detail how normative and non-normative femininity is constructed in the material through two prevalent discourses.

4.2. "It's Internalized Misogyny at Its Best": Women's Conduct Interpreted Through a Gendered Lens

The most prominent discourse present in our data was interpreting other women's conduct through a gendered lens. Commonly, this drew from a shared understanding among discussants of games as spaces dominated by men, where women have to, consciously or unconsciously, navigate their existence:

The sad truth is—until society stops perceiving women as incapable, stupid, weak etc. there are always going to be "not like other girls" women who are trying to avoid negative stigma by distancing themselves from women. Rather than male-seeking, most of those women assume the best way not to be harassed/associated with negative things women are portrayed as is through showing others that they are not like those weak, incapable women. It's internalized misogyny at its best.

It was often seen that, because women were navigating patriarchal spaces which are also known to be toxic towards women, they would sometimes start internalising misogyny by accepting sexist attitudes and values towards women and acting accordingly (Bearman et al., 2009). As the above quote demonstrates, this was seen as a way for some women to protect themselves. This was considered especially typical for young women, and age was considered a factor in this type of behaviour.

A closely related and often overlapping discourse was interpreting women's hostile behaviour directly in relation to men. As above, a key to understanding women's behaviour is understanding it as gendered behaviour, but here the focus slightly shifts to women's negative behaviour being directly seen as, or implied to be, a way of seeking validation and attention from men. This echoes the policing and questioning of the legitimacy of "titty streamers" (women game streamers whose self-presentation is seen as too sexualised; Ruberg et al., 2019), the construction of the shallow "fangirl" (Gerrard, 2022; Yodovich, 2021), and even the idea of the "groupie," the music fan more interested in sex with male musicians than the music itself (see Gerrard, 2022):

Thank you! I actually posted something similar a while back, about how to deal with girls online, especially in gaming settings. My experiences have been quite negative, where the girls are just so obviously thirsting over male validation and wouldn't shut up about sexual things. I'm ok with sex jokes, I'm ok with a lot of jokes. But sometimes you can just tell it's for attention.

In a similar vein, many discussants argued that women experienced other women as a threat as they were used to being the only woman around. Other women, it was argued, might take away male validation and attention and this accounted for their hostile behaviour. Simultaneously, women who were assumed to be seeking male validation online were often described as insecure. Part of this was also policing other women's sexuality:

My main identifier when it comes to sex jokes is whether they do it in a way that they think will get the guy back off. Like with some of my friends I go along with sexual jokes they make about me because



within 2 seconds of me doing so they get super grossed out and give up. If they just do it to flirt with the guys...it is definitely a red flag.

Here sex jokes are only seen as appropriate as a defensive measure, to have the men back off. While this is understandable given the harassment gaming women are subjected to, reading flirtatious behaviour as a "red flag" (i.e., a warning sign) further enforces the idea that the wrong kinds of women utilise their femininity, and in this case sexuality, to garner attention from men, and potentially benefit through that. Positioned in this way, flirtatious behaviour for any other reason (similar to hostile behaviour) becomes impossible. Seeking male validation and distancing oneself from outward markers and behaviours traditionally seen as feminine (e.g., wearing makeup) was seen as especially typical for young women and connected to the insecurity of being a young woman in a patriarchal society. Because of this, it was also believed that women and girls could grow out of being a "pick me girl," a woman seeking male validation by putting other women down, and that this was a preferred outcome.

In the first quote below, the discussant distances herself from these young women and her own younger self, implying that she has matured and left these unwanted behaviours, as well as the associated insecurity and need for male validation. The second quote, another poster both reinforces the narrative of insecurity as the main reason for women's toxicity, and uses "not like other girls" to posit these women as an out-group in relation to women in the r/GirlGamers subreddit:

Internalized misogyny is real. I also love cute things and I am very girly, even if I really dislike heels and make up. I was also, in my teenage years, a "not like other girls" kind of girl, so I really understand both sides. It has a lot to do with insecurity and the need for male validation, specially in a male-dominated group, where another woman can be viewed as "competition." Sadly, there isn't much you can do, because it's not on you to educate these women. Sometimes people grow out of that. Sometimes they don't.

It often is down to the "not like other girls" complex with those particular type of female players, which stems from serious insecurity on their part; they lash at other female players because they perceive them as some sort of threat.

"Not like other girls" functions both as a stereotype and meme and is often used in social media and popular culture to refer to women who insist that they are not like other women, are not interested in traditionally feminine things, and seek to distance themselves from other women (Means, 2021). In the material analysed, terms such as "pick me girls," "not like other girls," "queen bees," "highlanders," and "termite queens" were used rather interchangeably and as shorthands to refer to women who seek male attention and validation and were mean to other women (see Procope Bell, 2023). At times, these terms were explained, and, for instance, internalised misogyny was explicitly posited as part of them, but often they were used as a way to quickly make a point or categorise a person, relaying to others an implicit understanding of them. These essentialising and othering labels often sufficed in terms of analysing the negative behaviour, leading to a lack of consideration of alternative explanations. These terms and the discourses surrounding them were used to construct the wrong kind of gaming woman, and discussants expressed outrage if these terms were utilised towards them to question their own gaming motives.



Many discussants also brought up the sentiment that the wrong kind of gaming women made gaming more difficult for other women by reinforcing sexist stereotypes. Despite calls for women's solidarity, "pick me girl" and the other othering terms were commonly utilised to construct the antithesis of the ideal gaming woman, allowing discussants to distance themselves from this negative stereotype and reinforce a feeling of community through a shared Other, the out-group of "pick me girls." This, however, shifts the focus of criticism from sexist structures to individuals.

The term "girl gamer" was more ambiguous in our data, but it was present: Below we can see the use of the term "girl gamer" in a negative manner, where being a woman is associated with being bad at the game and excluded from the act of play. As this is said by another woman, it suggests that "girl gamer" is not just any woman playing games, but a particular kind of woman, in this case someone who is perceived as lacking skill. As such, the woman using "girl gamer" as a slur can be seen distancing herself from a particular construction of femininity in gaming:

When I played *Halo 3* competitively I was on vc [voice chat] w[ith] some of my friends. Randomly one girl started shit talking me like "Oh we have a gIrL gAmER, you're so bad go somewhere else!" and just calling me names.

The tension between solidarity and distancing oneself from the wrong kind of gaming woman is also illustrated by the following quote: 5

I honestly am so conflicted about this a lot. I want to change the minds of my guildies [gaming group members] that girls aren't "token girls" but humans with traits and likes and dislikes, and they are doing everything they can to perpetuate it. The feminist in me wants to support other girl gamers and work together, but how can I do this when they don't seem to get it themselves?

Here again, the ideal gaming woman is constructed in relation to other kinds of women, who perpetuate stereotypes and are not cooperative. Discursive construction of the ideal gaming woman as someone who is supportive was very visible in our data and we turn to that next.

4.3. Normative Stances: Women Should Support Other Women

Many of those sharing experiences with hostile women would describe their sense of excitement when realising they are playing with another woman, followed by a sense of disappointment or betrayal after the unfolding of hostile events. In the quote below, where the poster responds to another discussant's negative experience, there is a strong normative stance on how women ought to support other women. Should a woman fail to do that, there must be something wrong with them; they are constructed as the "failed woman" and positioned as belonging to the out-group:

Women are meant to uplift other women. Not put them down or feel less than. That's why I don't have many girlfriends tbh. Lots of them end up being two faced. Don't let people like that get under your skin! Clearly something is not right in her head where she feels like she has to lord over people. Her problem. I'm sure youre a great person. Don't waste your feelings on people like that! <3



Discussants (over 20 in our data) often talk about the particular moment of hearing another woman's voice. In the quote below it becomes evident that it is not so much the hostile conduct, or not only the hostile conduct, that the discussants found upsetting, but in particular hostile behaviour coming from another woman:

I think it hurts so much more because when I hear a woman I immediately feel like I have an ally and I'll be safe to speak on voice this game. The disappointment is definitely I think rooted in that aspect of thinking you've found that ally and then to be treated the way misogynistic male gamers treat you.

As mentioned above, there was a shared normative understanding among many discussants about how gaming women should support each other. This was also evident in how often the discussants offered to play with and otherwise support those women who shared their negative experiences:

Hmu [hit me up] if you want me to drop the discord I play a variety of things!

All I have to say is never let anyone toxic weigh you down! It's all about just finding a community that respects you for who you are! Not people who will put you down while battling their own insecurities!

These offers of support and help were often accompanied by negative remarks about the women whose hostile behaviour was under discussion, reinforcing a separation between in-group and out-group. In this way, offering help becomes a way of signalling belonging to the in-group. Women's hostile behaviour in games continues to be asserted as a personality flaw ("people who will put you down while battling their own insecurities") and the ideal gaming woman is constructed as helpful and not hostile. These appear to be related to expressions of aggression and emotion. It was common to share experiences and advice on how to deal with toxic players, and most commonly these included muting, reporting, and blocking, alongside suggestions of mocking the hostile players and commenting sarcastically on their actions. Contrary to these, outright aggression was often advised against, as it was seen both contributing to the hostile gaming cultures as well as giving the hostile players the reaction they were looking for (see Cote, 2017).

4.4. Dissenting Voices: De-Centring Gender, Games as Hostile Environments, and Allowing Women to Be Aggressive

Alongside the most dominant discourse described above, there were also a number of counterdiscourses. Counterdiscourses challenge the hegemonic discourses and create opportunities for different discursive practices (Schröter, 2018). The first dissenting discourse we identified was about de-centring gender as the lens through which women's hostility was understood; rather, a number of different reasons were suggested for hostile behaviour, such as the overall hostility of gaming environments and individual differences:

Gamer things. People get online and just become the worst versions of themselves, and them blame every and any one else for them dying. Dont over think it, just be glad you'll never see her again—hopefully!!

Sounds like a lot of women haters in this thread too, who are trying to claim that women are obligated to make friends with other women and are saying that anybody that for some reason does not is behaving that way to get popular with men. Women are allowed to be assholes just like men are allowed to be.



Women are allowed to have feelings and dislike other women and even end up in conflict with other women, that does not mean that they're doing it to get popular with men.

In our data, de-centring gender allowed women to be discussed beyond their gender, granting them the right to act on emotion, to have a bad day or bad game, and also to just not be such a nice person. By widening the motives for aggression, also the way femininity can be performed is widened. This is evident in the empowering effect of being aggressive afforded to some women:

Good on you! So many women spend so much time retreating from aggression or ensuring we're not in a situation of conflict, but sometimes it escapes from where we're bottling it all up in an explosion. Now that you've found your voice in a big big way and articulated your anger, you might actually find it easier to call out the little things on a more regular basis, in a less supercharged way.

However, while de-centring gender as a discursive practice can create opportunities to widen how femininity can be performed and help to re-situate women as not only victims but having an active agency, it also runs a very real risk of ignoring the effect of gender and discriminatory structures altogether and aligning itself with the hegemonic discourse of toxic meritocracy, a false idea that in games everyone has the same chances to succeed and matters like gender are inconsequential (Paul, 2018). This aptly highlights the current limits in discursive positions women can take while discussing women's toxicity in gaming.

5. Discussion

Discourses of negative conduct in our data reveal that an inflexible and constraining discourse moulds women's ideal or even acceptable gamerhood and self-expression. In the masculinised space of digital gaming, women need to navigate conflicting expectations: They should be aggressive enough to push back against discrimination, yet not too aggressive—especially towards other women—to avoid contributing to a "toxic gamer culture" or being labelled a "pick me girl" seeking validation from gaming men with their hostile conduct.

When directed at other women, aggressive conduct was very commonly seen as an expression of internalised misogyny (Dye & Williams, 2018; McCullough et al., 2020) and stemming from a need for validation from gaming men. There was also an element of shock and exceptionality in many of the posts discussing being the target of another woman's negative conduct, as it was seen as a breach of expected solidarity between gaming women (see Ruotsalainen & Meriläinen, 2023) and women in general, even if the poster then went on to respond to the aggression in kind or even going beyond the initial transgression.

Internalised misogyny indeed appears to play a prominent part in women's negative gaming conduct and responses to it, but it is difficult—if not impossible—to disentangle it from the complexities of individuals' negative conduct and the struggles in fan communities and subcultures related to legitimacy and gatekeeping (e.g., Yodovich, 2021). Many gaming environments are both gendered and affectively charged, and discussants were quick to label and interpret any negative conduct through the lens of gender, often harshly, as hostile women were commonly othered through the use of "pick me girl" and other similar sexist discourses. Women rarely discussed their own hostile actions as internalised misogyny—unless the hostile behaviour was in the past—but as justified, affective reaction.



Discussing internalised misogyny as something one can grow out of situates it within one's own power and distances it from the complicated networks and structures of power within which gaming women negotiate their identity and belonging. In this sense, the ideal woman constructed in the discussions is also subject to neoliberal governmentality via discourses of self-development (see Türken et al., 2015) as she needs to challenge her own internalised misogyny and become a better woman. Focusing on other women's (assumed) personal insecurities and their need for male validation and attention risks obscuring part of the discourse of internalised misogyny, namely the structural conditions in which women's negative conduct happens. This approach to framing women's hostile behaviour mostly continues to assert men's hegemonic position in relation to women while gaming but does so with little nuance. Furthermore, it starts shifting the pressure of appropriate and normatively accepted behaviour on women and has elements of policing appropriate ways to perform femininity. An especially poignant example of this is how certain, arguably sexist, discourses about women become part of framing women who act in a negative manner in video games.

Based on the discussions we studied, many instances that would likely see a gaming man labelled as a toxic gamer see a gaming woman labelled as a toxic woman, her conduct primarily explained by her gender. Ironically, this approach repeats the same sexist argument of the wrong kind of woman playing games for the wrong motives that has traditionally been used by men to gatekeep gaming culture. Whether because of being a "fake gamer" or because of internalised misogyny, the alleged "pick me girl" is a convenient target and has no place in gaming. We find this approach problematic, especially when its' often blatant misogyny is delivered wrapped in feminist rhetoric and sentiment. On a subreddit that pushes back against hegemonic, gendered constructs of the gamer and emphasises women's solidarity, a wrong kind of gaming woman is nevertheless identified.

There are a host of reasons for negative gaming conduct not dependent on gender, from having a bad day to misunderstandings between players to frustration over other players' performance (e.g., Meriläinen & Ruotsalainen, 2024; Ruotsalainen & Meriläinen, 2023). While we do not suggest that negative gaming conduct should be endorsed, our analysis raises the question of whether it is possible for women to engage in such conduct without it being seen as a distinctly gendered act, and what the implications of this are for women's agency in online gaming. The aggressively behaving woman is caught in a double bind as she risks being labelled "hysterical" by men (Cote, 2017) or a "pick me girl" by other women. As argued above, this also runs the risk of hiding the structural conditions in which gaming happens. Gendered inequalities are often deeply embedded in the technologies themselves and infrastructures surrounding them (Ford & Wajcman, 2017).

A final point of consideration is the tricky position of game scholars addressing women's gaming. How do we continue to explore women's gaming, including the gendered issues women encounter, without contributing to the exceptionalising and othering of gaming women by framing gender as the core—or even sole—defining feature of their game culture participation? The sentiment has been voiced in the context of the game industry (Myöhänen, 2023), and a similar phenomenon has been observed in other masculinised cultures in which women occupy a marginalised position, such as the rap music scene (Rantakallio, 2021) and skateboarding (see Atencio et al., 2009). We consider there to be a very real risk of scholarly narratives inadvertently reducing gaming women to simply representatives of their gender, regardless of the volume or diversity of women's participation, and call for scholarly reflection on the topic.



Our study paints a complex picture of women's negative gaming conduct, discussion on the subject, and their connection to constructions of the ideal gaming woman. There are, however, some limitations that have to be taken into account. While a large community, r/GirlGamers captures only a tiny sliver of the population of gaming women, and the discussions we analysed in this study form a small subset of discussions by this community. Furthermore, our searches targeted only those discussions that explicitly addressed women's negative conduct, which likely resulted in data where more dramatic cases are emphasised. In many of the initial posts, the poster expressed their frustration about something that had only recently happened and which had sparked a need to share the experience with a large peer community, whether for venting, support, or both.

6. Conclusion

Our analysis captures the contradictory discourses of women's negative conduct in online gaming spaces. The discussions about women's hostile behaviour function as a site of negotiation of community norms and exclusionary criteria by suggesting appropriate ways of performing femininity and gendered gamer identity. Women's aggression and hostility are commonly framed by other women as gendered acts and seen as expressions of internalised misogyny and seeking male validation. This leads to the construction of an ideal gaming woman who regulates their conduct and is careful to maintain solidarity with other gaming women to avoid being labelled a "pick me girl" or "queen bee." Despite being grounded in feminist ideals, the construction potentially adds a further layer of gendered expectations on gaming women, constraining their agency.

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank Thomas Apperley for his help in preparing our manuscript, and our anonymous reviewers for their valuable comments.

Funding

This study was funded by the Research Council of Finland project Centre of Excellence in Game Culture Studies (CoE-GameCult, grants 353265 and 353267).

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

References

- Atencio, M., Beal, B., & Wilson, C. (2009). The distinction of risk: Urban skateboarding, street habitus and the construction of hierarchical gender relations. *Qualitative Research in Sport and Exercise*, 1(1), 3–20. https:// doi.org/10.1080/19398440802567907
- Bearman, S., Korobov, N., & Thorne, A. (2009). The fabric of internalized sexism. *Journal of Integrated Social Sciences*, 1(1), 10–47. https://www.jiss.org/documents/volume_1/issue_1/JISS_2009_1-1_10-47_ Fabric_of_Internalized_Sexism.pdf
- Blommaert, J., & Bulcaen, C. (2000). Critical discourse analysis. *Annual Review of Anthropology*, *29*, 447–466. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.anthro.29.1.447
- Braithwaite, A. (2014). 'Seriously, get out': Feminists on the forums and the War(craft) on women. *New Media* & *Society*, 16(5), 703–718. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444813489503



- Bryce, J., & Rutter, J. (2003). Gender dynamics and the social and spatial organization of computer gaming. *Leisure Studies*, 22(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614360306571
- Consalvo, M. (2012). Confronting toxic gamer culture: A challenge for feminist game studies scholars. Ada: A Journal of Gender, New Media, and Technology, 1. https://scholarsbank.uoregon.edu/xmlui/handle/1794/ 26289
- Cote, A. C. (2017). "I can defend myself": Women's strategies for coping with harassment while gaming online. *Games and Culture*, 12(2), 136–155. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412015587603
- Cote, A. C., Wilson, A., Hansen, J., Harris, B. C., Rahman, M. W. U., Can, O., Fickle, T., & Foxman, M. (2023). Taking care of toxicity: Challenges and strategies for inclusion in U.S. collegiate esports programs. *Journal of Electronic Gaming and Esports*, 1(1), Article jege.2022-0031. https://doi.org/10.1123/jege.2022-0031
- Crenshaw, K. (1991). Mapping the margins: Intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stanford Law Review*, 43(6), 1241–1299.
- Darvin, L., Holden, J., Wells, J., & Baker, T. (2021). Breaking the glass monitor: Examining the underrepresentation of women in esports environments. *Sport Management Review*, 24(3), 475–499. https://doi.org/10.1080/14413523.2021.1891746
- Dye, A. K., & Williams, K. Y. (2018). Guild princesses and mean girls: Internalised misogyny and gaming. *Psychology of Women and Equalities Review*, 1(2), 8–18. https://doi.org/10.53841/bpspowe.2018.1.2.8
- Fairclough, N. (1995). Critical discourse analysis. Longman.
- Fisher, S., & Jenson, J. (2017). Producing alternative gender orders: A critical look at girls and gaming. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 42(1), 87–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2016.1132729
- Ford, H., & Wajcman, J. (2017). 'Anyone can edit,' not everyone does: Wikipedia's infrastructure and the gender gap. *Social Studies of Science*, 47(4), 511–527. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306312717692172
- Fox, J., & Tang, W. Y. (2014). Sexism in online video games: The role of conformity to masculine norms and social dominance orientation. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 33, 314–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb. 2013.07.014
- Fox, J., & Tang, W. Y. (2017). Women's experiences with general and sexual harassment in online video games: Rumination, organizational responsiveness, withdrawal, and coping strategies. New Media & Society, 19(8), 1290–1307. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444816635778
- Friman, U. (2022). Gender and game cultural agency in the post-gamer era: Finnish women players' gaming practices, game cultural participation, and rejected gamer identity [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. University of Turku.
- Friman, U., & Ruotsalainen, M. (2022). Gender and toxic meritocracy in competitive Overwatch: Case "Ellie." In M. Ruotsalainen, M. Törhönen, & V.-M. Karhulahti (Eds.), *Modes of esports engagement in Overwatch* (pp. 135–154). Springer.
- Gerrard, Y. (2022). Groupies, fangirls and shippers: The endurance of a gender stereotype. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 66(8), 1044–1059. https://doi.org/10.1177/00027642211042284
- Gray, K. L. (2018). Gaming out online: Black lesbian identity development and community building in Xbox Live. *Journal of Lesbian Studies*, 22(3), 282–296. https://doi.org/10.1080/10894160.2018.1384293
- Gray, K. L., Buyukozturk, B., & Hill, Z. G. (2017). Blurring the boundaries: Using Gamergate to examine "real" and symbolic violence against women in contemporary gaming culture. *Sociology Compass*, 11(3), Article e12458. https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12458
- Harré, R., & Van Langenhove, L. (2010). Varieties of positioning. In L. Van Langenhove (Ed.), *People and societies: Rom Harré and designing the social sciences* (pp. 106–120). Routledge.
- Hilvert-Bruce, Z., & Neill, J. T. (2020). I'm just trolling: The role of normative beliefs in aggressive behaviour in online gaming. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 102, 303–311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.09.003



- Howe, W. T., Livingston, D. J., & Lee, S. K. (2019). Concerning gamer identity: An examination of individual factors associated with accepting the label of gamer. *First Monday*, 24(3). https://doi.org/10.5210/fm. v24i3.9443
- Kleinman, S. (2002). Why sexist language matters. *Qualitative Sociology*, 25(2), 299–304. https://doi.org/ 10.1023/A:1015474919530
- Kordyaka, B., Jahn, K., & Niehaves, B. (2020). Towards a unified theory of toxic behavior in video games. *Internet Research*, 30(4), 1081–1102. https://doi.org/10.1108/INTR-08-2019-0343
- Kuznekoff, J. H., & Rose, L. M. (2013). Communication in multiplayer gaming: Examining player responses to gender cues. *New Media & Society*, 15(4), 541–556. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444812458271
- Liu, Y., & Agur, C. (2023). "After all, they don't know me" Exploring the psychological mechanisms of toxic behavior in online games. *Games and Culture*, *18*(5), 598–621.
- McCullough, K. M., Wong, Y. J., & Stevenson, N. J. (2020). Female video game players and the protective effect of feminist identity against internalized misogyny. *Sex Roles*, 82(5/6), 266–276. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11199-019-01055-7
- McLean, L., & Griffiths, M. D. (2019). Female gamers' experience of online harassment and social support in online gaming: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 17(4), 970–994. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11469-018-9962-0
- Means, K. K. (2021). "Not like other girls": Implicit and explicit dimensions of internalized sexism and behavioral outcomes [Unpublished master's thesis]. Western Washington University.
- Meriläinen, M., & Ruotsalainen, M. (2024). Online disinhibition, normative hostility, and banal toxicity: Young people's negative online gaming conduct. *Social Media + Society*, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.1177/ 20563051241274669
- Myöhänen, T. (2023). Stop pitying us. We in Games Finland. https://weingames.fi/stop-pitying-us
- Ortiz, S. M. (2019). The meanings of racist and sexist trash talk for men of color: A cultural sociological approach to studying gaming culture. *New Media* & *Society*, 21(4), 879–894.
- Paul, C. A. (2018). The toxic meritocracy of video games: Why gaming culture is the worst. University of Minnesota Press.
- Procope Bell, D. (2023). "Pick-me" Black women: Tactical patriarchal femininity in the Black manosphere. *Feminist Media Studies*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/14680777.2023.2262163
- Rand, E. J. (2014). Reclaiming queer: Activist and academic rhetorics of resistance. University of Alabama Press.
- Rantakallio, I. (2021). Femcees Finland, NiceRap ja vastatilojen voima: Suomiräpin naisten vertaisverkostojen historiaa. *Etnomusikologian vuosikirja*, 33, 67–93. https://doi.org/10.23985/evk.103019
- Ruberg, B., Cullen, A. L. L., & Brewster, K. (2019). Nothing but a "titty streamer": Legitimacy, labor, and the debate over women's breasts in video game live streaming. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, *36*(5), 466–481. https://doi.org/10.1080/15295036.2019.1658886
- Ruotsalainen, M., & Friman, U. (2018). "There are no women and they all play mercy": Understanding and explaining (the lack of) women's presence in esports and competitive gaming. In *Proceedings of Nordic DiGRA 2018 Conference*. Digital Games Research Association. https://dl.digra.org/index.php/dl/article/ view/1052
- Ruotsalainen, M., & Meriläinen, M. (2023). Young video game players' self-identified toxic gaming behaviour: An interview study. *Eludamos: Journal for Computer Game Culture*, 14(1), 147–173. https://doi.org/ 10.7557/23.7270
- Salter, A., & Blodgett, B. (2012). Hypermasculinity & dickwolves: The contentious role of women in the new gaming public. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 56(3), 401–416. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 08838151.2012.705199



- Schott, G. R., & Horrell, K. R. (2000). Girl gamers and their relationship with the gaming culture. *Convergence*, *6*(4), 36–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/135485650000600404
- Schröter, M. (2018). Absence in critical discourse analysis. In D. Wojahn, G. Westberg, & C. Seiler Brylla (Eds.), *Kritiska text- och diskursstudier* (pp. 37–56). Södertörns högskola.
- Shaw, A. (2012). Do you identify as a gamer? Gender, race, sexuality, and gamer identity. *New Media & Society*, 14(1), 28–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444811410394
- Taylor, N., Jenson, J., & de Castell, S. (2009). Cheerleaders/booth babes/*Halo* hoes: Pro-gaming, gender and jobs for the boys. *Digital Creativity*, 20(4), 239–252. https://doi.org/10.1080/14626260903290323
- Türken, S., Nafstad, H. E., Blakar, R. M., & Roen, K. (2015). Making sense of neoliberal subjectivity: A discourse analysis of media language on self-development. *Globalizations*, 13(1), 32–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14747731.2015.1033247
- van Dijk, T. A. (2001). Multidisciplinary CDA: A plea for diversity. In R. Wodak & M. Meyer (Eds.), *Methods of critical discourse analysis* (pp. 95–120). Sage.
- Vergel, P., La parra-Casado, D., & Vives-Cases, C. (2023). Examining cybersexism in online gaming communities: A scoping review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 25*(2), 1201–1218. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 15248380231176059
- Witkowski, E. (2018). Doing/undoing gender with the girl gamer in high-performance play. In K. L. Gray & G. Voorhees (Eds.), *Feminism in play* (pp. 185–203). Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90539-6
- Wodak, R. (2002). Aspects of critical discourse analysis. Zeitschrift für angewandte Linguistik, 36(10), 5–31.
- Yodovich, N. (2021). Defining conditional belonging: The case of female science fiction fans. *Sociology*, *55*(5), 871–887. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038520949848
- Zhang, Z., Mu, H., & Huang, S. (2023). Playing to save sisters: How female gaming communities foster social support within different cultural contexts. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 67(5), 693–713. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/08838151.2023.2254432
- Zimmer, M. (2020). "But the data is already public": On the ethics of research in Facebook. In K. W. Miller & M. Taddeo (Eds.), *The ethics of information technologies* (pp. 229–241). Routledge.

About the Authors



Maria Ruotsalainen (PhD, University of Jyväskylä) is a postdoctoral researcher at the University of Jyväskylä. Her research interests include players, gender in game cultures and in esports, and the sportification of esports.



Mikko Meriläinen (PhD, University of Helsinki) is an academy research fellow at Tampere University. His research interests include gaming as part of everyday life, the intersections of masculinities and game cultures, and miniaturing.

ARTICLE



Open Access Journal 👌

Sympathy for the Devil: Serial Mediation Models for Toxicity, Community, and Retention

Mingxuan Liu ¹^o, Jack Lipei Tang ²^o, and Dmitri Williams ³^o

¹ Department of Communication, University of Macau, China

² Department of Advertising and Public Relations, The University of Alabama, USA

³ Annenberg School for Communication and Journalism, University of Southern California, USA

Correspondence: Mingxuan Liu (mxliu@um.edu.mo)

Submitted: 14 May 2024 Accepted: 24 July 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

Disruptive behaviors in online gaming communities are a growing concern, affecting player experience, retention, and well-being. While previous research has primarily focused on the victims' experiences, this study examines the psychological mechanisms underlying the attitudinal and behavioral responses to both encountering disruptive behaviors and being flagged for such behaviors, as well as the effects on retention. The study retrieved longitudinal telemetry records of player reporting and gameplay data from the North American server of a popular competitive player vs. player multiplayer online game, coupled with a psychometric survey of a randomly selected sample of 1,217 players. Based on the rejection-disidentification model, this research identifies a shared pathway for both reporting and being reported for disruptive behavior. Our findings support a serial mediation model where both experiences are linked to decreased player engagement. This reduced engagement, reflected in diminished participation in game battles over time, is mediated by perceived discrimination and a reduced sense of community. Moreover, drawing on the concept of procedural justice from the group engagement model, the study delineates unique pathways for the disengagement process for reporters and those reported. Being flagged for disruptive behavior leads to a significant drop in sustained engagement through a decreased sense of community, which is not the case for reporting disruptive behavior. The article concludes with a discussion of the theoretical and practical implications of these findings.

Keywords

disruptive gaming behavior; gaming toxicity; online gaming community; online video games; player engagement; procedural justice; sense of community



1. Introduction

There is no winner in gaming toxicity. Toxic behavior occurs when players break co-existence rules and act in antisocial ways (Neto et al., 2017). This behavior may not always be intentional (Kordyaka et al., 2020). Players might engage in toxic behavior because they perceive it as the norm of the game based on their own experiences, or they might use toxic behavior as a coping mechanism for stress induced by gameplay (Neto et al., 2017). Regardless of their intentions, gaming toxicity is disruptive. It undermines a positive gaming experience not only for those directly encountering it but also for everyone involved—victims, bystanders, the gaming industry, and, rarely considered, the perpetrators themselves (Anti-Defamation League, 2023). Recent statistics indicate that approximately 75% of online multiplayer gamers in the US have encountered hate and harassment in the past six months, among whom 9% reported depressive or suicidal thoughts (Anti-Defamation League, 2023).

Research on gaming toxicity has identified a recurring theme: social identity. Networked games, such as online multiplayer games, serve as a nexus where technology, identity, society, and various forms of inequality, power, and discrimination intersect (Gray, 2012). Individuals develop their social identity and sense of identification and belonging to the mainstream group from the identity information they receive from their interactions within the group. This social identity approach, comprising social identity theory (SIT; Tajfel et al., 1979) and self-categorization theory (SCT; Turner et al., 1987), underpins the rejection-disidentification model (RDIM; Jasinskaja-Lahti et al., 2009) and the group engagement model (GEM; Tyler & Blader, 2003).

RDIM was developed to understand the racial and ethnic discrimination experienced by immigrants during their acculturation process, and studies have confirmed a mediation mechanism wherein decreased national identification mediates the impact of discrimination on various outcomes (e.g., Jasinskaja-Lahti et al., 2009, 2018). This study extends RDIM to virtual environments, exploring the acculturation experiences of video game players, particularly the influence of discrimination on their sense of community and ongoing engagement. Online games, albeit digital, parallel the acculturation experiences described in RDIM, as they mirror its foundational mechanism. Initially engaging with a video game is akin to immigrants entering a new country, where veteran players often represent the local majority, and each game, like a country, possesses distinct norms and cultural frameworks. Similar to the acculturative stress faced by immigrants, players encounter a cultural adaptation process and may experience stress upon integrating into an online multiplayer gaming environment. Immigrants are subjected to discrimination based on attributes such as race and ethnicity. Similarly, in the digital realm, where diverse social roles and identities converge (Gray, 2012), players may face discrimination based on racial and gender cues, as well as skill cues and gameplay styles (Nguyen et al., 2022). Identifying this similarity of individuals' acculturation experiences, this study tests whether the mediation mechanism identified in RDIM applies in the digital world, wherein a decreased sense of community mediates the impact of discrimination on player engagement.

GEM posits that the experience of unfair treatment within groups imparts critical identity information, potentially influencing individuals' motivation to maintain a positive group identity. This, in turn, mediates the relationship between perceived fairness and group engagement. RDIM enhances GEM's framework by interpreting perceived discrimination as a manifestation of unfair treatment. This study leverages RDIM and GEM to identify two serial mediation mechanisms in understanding whether and how involvement in gaming toxicity leads to perceived discrimination, which then diminishes players' sense of belonging to the



gaming community and their sustained engagement with the game. Moreover, drawing insights from GEM, this study posits that the inclusion of an in-game reporting tool can transform the power dynamics between perpetrators and victims (Reid et al., 2022). Leveraging GEM allows this study to outline potentially unique psychological paths for both victims and perpetrators (see Figure 1 for the conceptual framework).



Figure 1. Conceptual framework.

2. Disruptive Gaming Behavior and Perceived Discrimination

Discrimination, as defined by Passmore and Mandryk (2020), represents a threat to an individual's inherent legitimacy and agency across various social identity categories. Understanding the emergence of discrimination is critical for effectively addressing it. The social identity approach has been extensively applied in understanding discrimination within and between groups, both online and offline (e.g., Adachi et al., 2015; Trepte & Loy, 2017). The two theories under the social identity approach, SIT and SCT, are intrinsically connected in their foundational premises and processes related to understanding intergroup relations and group dynamics. This study primarily examines the group processes associated with discrimination and its effects. According to SIT, social identity constitutes part of the self-concept derived from membership in social categories. It can be positive or negative, and individuals typically strive to enhance their social identity by affiliating with certain groups and valuing these associations (Trepte & Loy, 2017). Beyond self-categorization, individuals undergo ongoing social comparison with a reference group, often resulting in perceptions of the outgroup as inferior. This can fuel intergroup competition and conflict, even in the absence of direct rivalry, but for symbolic resources such as ranking, prestige, and positive group identity. For instance, in online games where players from different social groups form teams and compete, they strive to positively differentiate their social group from others by winning or strategically leveraging favorable statistics to maintain a positive social identity (Adachi et al., 2015).

SCT shares many ideas with SIT but also introduces uniquely formulated processes and predictions that offer distinct insights into discrimination. For example, SCT posits that the rich situational cues in media can make certain social categories more salient than others, thus influencing media users' perceptions and behaviors


(Trepte & Loy, 2017). When certain social identities become salient, especially in computer-mediated settings devoid of verbal cues, individuals' self-perception can be dominated by their social identity, leading to a phenomenon termed depersonalization. Depending on the level of depersonalization, individuals may conform to group norms, good or bad. Previous research has argued that game affordances, such as diverse in-game communication channels, can make players' social groups salient to others (Nguyen et al., 2022). For instance, in games like Call of Duty, players can display their national flags beside their names, making their national identity salient to others. Voice channels also reveal gender cues, potentially leading to gender harassment in online gaming. In addition to gender, race, and ethnicity-based discrimination, people can also possess disadvantages based on skills and age. In the realm of online video games, while some players view all others as part of their ingroup, others differentiate based on factors such as team affiliations and demographic indicators. This blending of online and offline identities can catalyze disruptive behaviors rooted in underlying prejudices and discrimination. Consequently, discrimination in online games is conveyed through various disruptive behaviors and perceived by those impacted. As such, it is hypothesized that:

H1: Incidents of reporting disruptive gaming behavior positively relate to perceived discrimination.

While reports of disruptive behavior are often submitted due to experienced discrimination, the impact extends beyond the feelings of the victims. Paradies (2006) highlights the importance of distinguishing between objective encounters of discrimination and its subjective interpretation—or perceived discrimination. Such perceived discrimination, which can also be experienced by those being reported, suggests rejection or exclusion from social groups that individuals aspire to be a part of, thus undermining group members' fundamental needs for social inclusion and acceptance.

In-game tools, like a complaint system, empower players facing toxicity to take immediate action. Recent research indicates that players who utilize these tools experience enhanced feelings of control, along with increased social and emotional support (Reid et al., 2022). However, reporting other players is a low-cost exercise and so is not infallible and can be a form of toxicity in itself. Those who are reported—whether justified or not—may experience a loss of control upon receiving an in-game warning. This notification can serve as a marker of potential or real social exclusion from the gaming community and signals that their behavior is viewed as disruptive by community norms. Given these dynamics, it is hypothesized that:

H2: Incidents of being reported for disruptive behavior positively relate to perceived discrimination.

3. Perceived Discrimination and Sense of Community

Perceived discrimination can obstruct the development of a sense of belonging to a superordinate in-group among certain members, as outlined by RDIM. The sense of belonging and identification with a group is fundamentally influenced by the identity cues provided by the group itself (Tyler & Blader, 2003). RDIM-based studies have shown that experiences of injustice and discrimination lead to a decline in identification with a larger group identity. This process, known as disidentification, occurs when individuals withdraw their loyalty and commitment from a group they previously identified with, driven by perceived barriers to developing a sense of community belonging (Jasinskaja-Lahti et al., 2018). In the context of the gaming community, the way individuals evaluate their experiences within the group can either motivate or deter them from maintaining a favorable group identity. Discriminatory experiences specifically convey to



individuals that they are not valued within the group, thereby discouraging identification with the broader gaming community. These processes suggest that perceived discrimination conveys negative identity information, which can lead to disidentification. Thus, it is predicted that:

H3: Perceived discrimination will be negatively associated with players' sense of community.

4. Sense of Community and Sustained Engagement

Sense of community is the perception of being part of a mutually supportive network of relationships (Sarason, 1974). Group membership is a fundamental aspect of social life, as it fulfills the basic human need to belong (Lind & Tyler, 1988). A supportive community not only meets this basic need but also fosters an ecosystem that enables members to lead fulfilling lives. Such a community provides a supportive network that members can rely on for psychological significance and identification, thus fostering a sense of community. Low identification with the community may lead to disengagement behaviors, such as reduced time investment, socialization, or cooperation (Zagenczyk et al., 2013).

This process is also evident in online gaming environments. Socialization is consistently identified as a major motivation for individuals to engage in online games (Ryan et al., 2006). Players enjoy participating in social activities within these computer-mediated environments to experience a sense of community and build social capital (Tseng et al., 2015). Indeed, previous research indicates that a player's sense of community mediates the relationship between their in-game social network and their intention to continue playing (Tseng et al., 2015). This is because the development of a sense of community often results from repeated social interactions. Functionally, in multiplayer games, players frequently form teams to complete missions or achieve common goals. Affectively, players unite over shared interests and often depend on each other for feedback and support, illustrating the mutual interdependence among players (Rovai, 2002). This interdependence can deter players from leaving the game, as doing so would mean losing contact with community members to whom they feel connected (Tseng & Teng, 2014). Therefore, it is hypothesized that:

H4: Players' sense of community will be positively associated with their sustained engagement.

5. Common and Distinct Routes to Disengagement for Reporters and Reported

In the context of online gaming, both reporting and being reported for disruptive behavior may lead to perceived discrimination, subsequently decreasing players' sense of community and dampening engagement. Although previous research supports each step of this mediated path, a comprehensive evaluation of the entire pathway has been limited, likely due to challenges in accessing matched in-game report data and players' psychometric self-reports. Utilizing data from the competitive multiplayer online video game World of Tanks (WoT), this study tests a serial mediation model:

H5a: Increased incidents of being reported will be negatively associated with sustained engagement, serially mediated by increased perceived discrimination and decreased sense of community.

H5b: Increased incidents of reporting will be negatively associated with sustained engagement, serially mediated by increased perceived discrimination and decreased sense of community.



In addition to the common routes through which both perpetrators and victims of disruptive behavior may perceive discrimination, different pathways to disengagement arise due to their unique experiences. GEM suggests that procedural justice in social settings plays a crucial role in motivating individuals to engage with groups. Perceived fairness of group procedures transmits vital identity-related information, providing a sense of identity security. When group decisions are perceived as being made through fair procedures, individuals are more likely to feel that their identities are securely associated with the group, encouraging comfortable psychological and behavioral engagement. In addition, research on procedural justice has demonstrated that individuals greatly value having a voice in the decision-making process. This opportunity has both interpersonal and value-expressive significance. The presence of a voice tends to make a procedure seem fairer, even if it does not directly influence the decision outcome. This perception stems from the belief that having a voice indicates that the group's authority respects individual members, acknowledging their values and arguments. During decision-making, group members focus on whether their concerns and needs are respected, independently of the actual influence their voice has on the final decision. The ability to exercise one's voice acts as a visible marker of group membership, reinforcing one's place within the group. Therefore, procedural justice is a foundational antecedent of group members' identities and their engagement with the group.

In addition to GEM, the exit, voice, and loyalty model (Hirschman, 1970) further elucidates the dynamics of group participation. This model suggests that users faced with dissatisfaction typically react in one of two ways: they may choose to exit or use their voice. While exit represents a withdrawal from the current situation, voice signifies an attempt to change it. If the product or service does not improve despite voiced concerns, users may exit and choose an alternative. Conversely, if their voices are acknowledged and lead to changes, users are likely to remain loyal.

This framework is particularly relevant in the setting of online video games, where both reporters and reported players encounter unique challenges related to discrimination and group dynamics. RDIM suggests that experiencing discrimination can be devastating to players' sense of social self, potentially leading to psychological and behavioral distancing from group membership. However, for reporters, there exists an alternative pathway. Although reporters are likely motivated by experiences of discrimination, their access to in-game reporting systems ensures that their grievances are heard and addressed, preventing damage to their identification with the gaming community. Conversely, being reported for disruptive behavior may directly impact the reported players' sense of community, leading to decreased engagement. This loss is tied to the punitive repercussions and social isolation that reported players often face, eroding their connection to the community. Based on these dynamics and drawing on the principles of procedural justice and the exit, voice, and loyalty model, we predict:

H6a: Being reported for disruptive behavior is negatively associated with sustained engagement, mediated by a decreased sense of community.

H6b: Being reported for disruptive behavior is negatively associated with sustained engagement, mediated by a decreased sense of community, which is not the case for reporting disruptive behavior.



6. Method

6.1. Data

The study site was WoT, a popular team-based vehicle simulator that has attracted over 160 million users worldwide. WoT features tank combat between two teams of up to 15 players. It differs from most other team-based shooters in that the teams are not matched by player skill ratings, but by tank types and tiers. Thus, players in WoT have a higher than usual chance to be in teams with disparate skill levels, which can cause lopsided results and potentially more emotional swings. WoT players can make complaints up to 10 times per day. Being reported five times can lead to permanent restriction from the game. The reporting system comprises four categories: inappropriate behavior in chat, unsportsmanlike conduct, offensive nicknames or clan names, and inaction/bot behavior. A player may be reported for multiple offenses simultaneously, with these categories not being mutually exclusive. Observations suggest that reports made during battles are often hastened, with players possibly selecting a category arbitrarily due to time constraints. This potential for overlap and inconsistency in category selection has led us to analyze the totality of complaint incidents to collectively assess different types of toxic behavior.

In collaboration with Wargaming, the operator of the game, we unobtrusively collected player-level report data and gameplay from the North American server, spanning February 2019 to June 2019. The data were anonymized before reaching the research team. To further understand the psychometric profiles of players, an online survey was randomly distributed to active WoT players in April 2019, achieving a response rate of 20.6% with 2,011 participants. We then matched the behavioral data with the survey responses using a unique, one-way hashed key. After excluding invalid responses, the dataset comprised 1,217 unique participants with 6,085 repeated observations.

6.2. Measures

The Perpetration rate was computed by dividing the number of reports a player received in a given month by the total number of battles that player participated in during the same month (M = 0.011, SD = 0.025). This calculation allowed us to distinguish between players who were frequently reported due to high levels of activity from those who were seldom active but disproportionately reported. The Victimization rate was calculated by dividing the number of times a player reports others for disruptive behavior in a given month by the total number of battles they participated in during that month (M = 0.026, SD = 0.062).

Perceived discrimination was assessed using the nine-item everyday discrimination scale (Williams et al., 1997), adapted for the WoT context. Players were prompted with the question, "In your day-to-day WoT gameplay, how often do any of the following things happen to you?" Responses were scored on a scale from one to six, where higher scores indicate a greater perception of discrimination. The items included experiences such as being treated with less courtesy than others, being insulted or called names, and being threatened or harassed. The responses were averaged to create an index representing the level of perceived discrimination during gameplay (*Cronbach's alpha* = 0.88, M = 2.10, SD = 0.84).

The sense of community among players was evaluated using a four-item scale developed by Kim (2011) and adapted for the WoT context. Sample questions included: "Even though we were physically in different



locations, I still felt I was part of a group of friends in the game." Responses were given on a scale from one to five, with higher scores indicating a stronger sense of community. The average of these responses was used to create an index reflecting the community feeling among players (*Cronbach's alpha* = 0.79, M = 3.10, SD = 0.96). Sustained engagement measured the number of battles a player engaged in each month following an occurrence of perpetration or victimization (M = 262.87, SD = 277.49).

We incorporated several covariates into our model to account for potential confounding variables. These included age (M = 43.17, SD = 16.29), education level (median: associate degree), and income level (median range: \$50,000 to \$74,999). Given the unbalanced demographics in terms of gender ($N_{male} = 1,184$, $N_{other} = 33$) and race ($N_{white} = 1,007$, $N_{other} = 210$), both variables were coded categorically. The majority group was assigned a value of one, and all other groups a value of zero. Additionally, in-game rating (M = 4,302, SD = 1,718.32) was used as a covariate, which is an indicator of performance within WoT. This rating, retrieved from the WoT North American server, is a composite score developed by a specific WoT algorithm that considers the number of battles played, win rate, and average tank level.

To further refine our analysis, players' motivations, which might influence their in-game behavior and sense of community, were controlled. These motivations were assessed using the trojan player typology (Kahn et al., 2015), a validated five-point Likert scale adapted to reflect the current game context. The socialization motivation was measured by items such as "it's important to me to play with a tightly knit group" ($\alpha = 0.81$, M = 3.20, SD = 1.20). The competence motivation was measured by items such as "group" ($\alpha = 0.77$, M = 3.60, SD = 0.92).

In modeling sustained engagement, we included the number of battles each player participated in during the previous month as a lagged variable. This approach not only captures the temporal dynamics of players' activity levels but also helps adjust for autocorrelation, thereby providing more accurate and reliable estimates of players' activity trends and enhancing the predictive validity of the findings.

6.3. Analyses

This study employed a longitudinal design, using lagged independent variables from February to May 2019 to predict sustained engagement in the subsequent months from March to June 2019. Mediators were assessed through a survey conducted in April 2019. Due to the skewness of the variables and for ease of interpretation, all variables except for categorical ones were natural log-transformed. Consequently, a one percent change in the predictors translates to a one percent change in the dependent variables. Analyses were conducted using the Lavaan package in R version 4.1.3.

7. Results

Two serial mediation models were fitted using maximum likelihood estimators. Bootstrap procedures with 5,000 bootstrap subsamples were conducted for statistical inferences. Figures 2 and 3 visually summarize the results of the serial mediation models. Detailed results of the parameter estimates are presented in Tables 1 and 2.





Figure 2. Serial mediation model for perpetration rate on sustained engagement. Notes: * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001; \rightarrow significant path; \rightarrow non-significant path.



Figure 3. Serial mediation model for victimization rate on sustained engagement. Notes: * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001; \rightarrow significance path; \rightarrow non-significant path.



	· · · · ·			00		
	Outcome Variable	Predictor Variable	b	SE	β	р
-	Sustained Engagement	Perpetration rate	-0.737	1.257	-0.012	0.557
		Perceived discrimination	0.099	0.060	0.027	0.099
		Sense of community	0.171	0.072	0.044	0.017
		Age	0.325	0.078	0.096	0.000
		Gender	-0.167	0.240	-0.013	0.488
erpetration rate ngagement		Race	-0.115	0.061	-0.028	0.060
		Education	0.021	0.058	0.007	0.716
		Income	0.016	0.047	0.007	0.725
		Player rating	0.174	0.065	0.052	0.007
		Socialization motivation	0.057	0.053	0.017	0.276
		Competition motivation	0.036	0.076	0.008	0.631
	Perpetr	attom ate engagement discrimina	tion ^{0.665}	se 0 _f 027	0.550	0.000
	community	nity \rightarrow sustained engagement	1 030	0.242	0.063	0.000
	Perceived discrimination \rightarrow se	ense of community \rightarrow sustained	-1.030	0.242	-0.003	0.000
	engagement \rightarrow perceived discrimination \rightarrow sust	tained	-0.103	0.017	-0.173	0.000
		Condor	0.037	0.017	0.042	0.027
		Baco	0.140	0.040	0.042	0.002
		Education	-0.088	0.017	_0.000	0.700
		Incomo	0.000	0.013	-0.110	0.000
		Dever rating	0.008	0.012	0.013	0.303
		Flayer facing	0.001	0.014	-0.071	0.000
		Compatizion motivation	0.270	0.010	0.000	0.000
		Competition motivation	0.115	0.019	0.096	0.000
	Perceived Discrimination	Perpetration rate	1.787	0.382	0.103	0.000
		Age	-0.146	0.019	-0.160	0.000
		Gender	0.041	0.054	0.012	0.455
		Race	0.007	0.019	0.007	0.696
		Education	0.012	0.016	0.014	0.457
		Income	-0.048	0.014	-0.078	0.000
		Player rating	-0.022	0.017	-0.024	0.208
		Socialization motivation	0.063	0.015	0.070	0.000
		Competition motivation	-0.012	0.022	-0.010	0.592
	Indirect Effect Parameters					
			-0.056	0.027	-0.001	0.041
			-0.031	0.013	-0.008	0.021
erpetration rate	\rightarrow sense of community \rightarrow sustained	ed engagement	0.177	0.118	0.003	0.134
-			-0.176	0.084	-0.003	0.035
_	Total Effect Parameter	Perpetration rate	-0.792	1.255	-0.012	0.528

Table 1. Serial mediation analysis results for perpetration rate on sustained engagement.



Outcome Variable	Predictor Variable	b	SE	β	р	
Sustained Engagement	Victimization rate	-0.871	0.532	-0.034	0.102	
	Perceived discrimination	0.155	0.077	0.042	0.045	
	Sense of community	0.201	0.088	0.054	0.022	
	Age	0.311	0.090	0.096	0.001	
	Gender	0.245	0.283	0.021	0.386	
	Race	-0.033	0.071	-0.009	0.648	
	Education	-0.067	0.069	-0.022	0.334	
	Income	0.032	0.055	0.015	0.561	
	Player rating	0.146	0.089	0.037	0.102	
	Socialization motivation	-0.031	0.069	-0.009	0.654	
	Competition motivation	-0.006	0.109	-0.001	0.956	
community \rightarrow sustained engage	Lagged Engagement	0.649	0.034	0.535	0.000	
Sense of Community	Victimization rate	-0.043	0.132	–0. 0?0€ €ce	ive@d7d4ascrin	nination \rightarrow s
	Perceived discrimination	-0.231	0.021	-0.235 ^{ag}	encento	-
	Age	0.002	0.018	0.002	nization rat	e → perceiv
Vict	timization tate → sense of commur	nity → ouptane	ed ongag er	nent0.037	0.033	
	Race	-0.035	0.017	-0.035	0.041	
	Education	-0.051	0.018	-0.063	0.004	
	Income	-0.031	0.014	-0.054	0.025	
	Player rating	-0.060	0.020	-0.058	0.003	
	Socialization motivation	0.361	0.018	0.407	0.000	
	Competition motivation	0.102	0.024	0.078	0.000	
Perceived Discrimination	Victimization rate	1.049	0.163	0.151	0.000	
	Age	-0.113	0.023	-0.128	0.000	
	Gender	-0.068	0.055	-0.021	0.212	
	Race	0.000	0.020	0.000	0.982	
	Education	0.003	0.020	0.004	0.868	
	Income	-0.052	0.015	-0.089	0.001	
	Player rating	-0.057	0.022	-0.053	0.009	
	Socialization motivation	0.055	0.018	0.061	0.002	
	Competition motivation	-0.010	0.027	-0.008	0.717	
Indirect Effect Parameters						
		-0.049	0.024	-0.002	0.038	
		-0.046	0.021	-0.013	0.026	
		0.162	0.086	0.006	0.059	
		-0.009	0.029	0.000	0.767	
Total Effect Parameter	Victimization rate	-0.766	0.525	-0.030	0.145	

Table 2. Serial mediation analysis results for victimization rate on sustained engagement.



7.1. Perpetration Rate and Sustained Engagement

The analysis revealed that the perpetration rate had a direct effect on one's perceived discrimination (b = 1.787, p < 0.001, supporting H2) and sense of community (b = -1.030, p < 0.001), but not on sustained engagement after accounting for its lagged term (b = -0.737, p = 0.557). Perceived discrimination had a direct effect on sense of community (b = -0.183, p < 0.001, supporting H3), but not on sustained engagement (b = 0.099, p = 0.099). Sense of community had a direct effect on sustained engagement (b = 0.171, p = 0.017, supporting H4). The indirect mediation analysis indicated that the effect of the perpetration rate on sustained engagement was mediated by sense of community (b = -0.176, p = 0.035), whereas no significant mediation effect was observed through perceived discrimination (b = 0.177, p = 0.134), supporting H6a. A significant serial mediation was supported whereby perpetration led to increased perceived discrimination, which subsequently decreased the sense of community and, in turn, reduced sustained engagement (b = -0.056, p = 0.041), supporting H5a. Taken together, the fitted serial mediation model explained approximately 33.5% of the variance in sustained engagement, 18.7% of the variance in sense of community, and 5.8% of the variance in perceived discrimination. A 1% increase in perpetration rate led to a 0.792% decrease in sustained engagement overall. Of this decrease, 0.176% was mediated through a decreased sense of community, and 0.056% was serially mediated through increased perceived discrimination followed by a decreased sense of community.

7.2. Victimization Rate and Sustained Engagement

The results indicated that the victimization rate had a direct effect on one's perceived discrimination (b = 1.049, p < 0.001, supporting H1), but not on players' sense of community (b = -0.043, p = 0.746) nor on sustained engagement when controlling for its lagged term (b = -0.871, p = 0.102). Perceived discrimination exhibited a direct effect on sense of community (b = -0.231, p < 0.001, supporting H3) and sustained engagement (b = 0.155, p = 0.045). Sense of community showed a direct effect on sustained engagement (b = 0.201, p = 0.022), supporting H4. The mediation analysis revealed that the sense of community did not mediate the relationship between victimization rate and sustained engagement (b = -0.009, p = 0.767), supporting H6b. A significant serial mediation was identified where victimization led to an increase in perceived discrimination, which then led to a decrease in sense of community, culminating in reduced sustained engagement (b = -0.049, p = 0.038), supporting H5b. Taken together, the fitted serial mediation model explained approximately 32.1% of the variance in sense of community. A 1% increase in victimization rate led to a 0.766% decrease in sustained engagement overall, among which a 0.049% decrease in sustained engagement was serially mediated through increased perceived discrimination and decreased sense of community.

8. Discussion

Theoretically, this study extends the application of RDIM and GEM to online gaming communities, underscoring that perceptions of inclusivity and fairness are central to sustaining active and engaged gaming communities. Incorporating the concept of procedural justice from social psychology offers valuable insights, indicating that individuals value social processes more than game designers and developers might typically recognize. This perspective advocates for a shift in focus from the outcomes of complaint resolution to the dynamics of social interaction. It emphasizes the need for fair procedures, active participation in



decision-making, and the quality of treatment for both reporters and those reported. Practically, this analysis lays out the costs of gaming toxicity in terms of players' sustained engagement in games, thus quantifying the impacts of perpetration and victimization. Highlighting these costs is crucial as it demonstrates the tangible effects of disruptive behaviors on both player engagement and company revenue. For instance, even a decrease of one battle count can lead to a reduction of approximately five to 20 minutes of a player's time in games. This not only represents a significant opportunity cost in potential revenue lost for gaming companies but also lessens the quality of time players spend engaging in meaningful gameplay. In addition, the results suggest that sense of community is the key to keeping players engaged. In response, gaming platforms and community managers are encouraged to develop strategies that minimize players' perceptions of discrimination and provide effective mechanisms for voicing concerns or disputing reports, thus maintaining players' sense of community and fostering a safer and more inclusive gaming environment.

In addition to the serial mediation model—the common pathway—this study also identified unique mechanisms for perpetrators and victims. For perpetrators, the pathway to disengagement is mediated by a decreased sense of community, rather than directly by feelings of discrimination. This highlights a nuanced aspect of the perpetrator's experience; although they might feel discriminated against after being reported, it is primarily the erosion of their sense of belonging that drives their disengagement. This observation provides a practical insight for gaming community management: Maintaining an inclusive community that offers support and integration opportunities for all players, including those who have been reported, might reduce disengagement rates. Furthermore, reported players should be respectfully given a voice, such as the opportunity to dispute or explain themselves, demonstrating that they are valued members of the community unless proven disruptive.

As predicted by the GEM (Tyler & Blader, 2003), the sense of community among victims remains intact, likely due to the reporting system that allows them to voice concerns rather than disengage directly. This underscores the importance of procedural justice in gaming environments, suggesting that the manner in which toxicity issues are handled is as crucial as the outcome itself. For victims, time in-game is only reduced if their perceived discrimination leads to a decreased sense of community. Otherwise, even if they feel discriminated against, it does not translate into decreased play. This finding highlights an interesting observation: While reporting and being reported has a cost in terms of players' time spent in games, not having the reporting system may incur a greater cost, as it provides everyone with an alternative pathway to voice their experiences before deciding to withdraw from the game. In addition, according to the GEM, procedures that promote group participation are perceived as fairer, regardless of which party receives support from the gaming community. In some games, involving community members in making crowdsourced judgments about whether a reported toxic player should be punished can enhance fairness (Blackburn & Kwak, 2014). Although we cannot verify this with the data here, GEM suggests that both parties involved are likely to view this participatory process as fair and just, even if the final outcome does not favor them. Additionally, games might consider implementing features that unite players by recognizing their commonalities rather than highlighting features that divide players, especially in competitive games.

Underpinning RDIM and GEM is the SIT, which emphasizes the importance of social identity and the processes of social categorization, identification, and comparison in online video games (Trepte & Loy, 2017). The fundamental reason for individuals' engagement or disengagement from the gaming community hinges on their self-perception and their connection with the community. Consequently, games should aim to enhance players' self-esteem, not through traditional social comparison processes but through the benefits



that the gaming community provides, such as a sense of competence from collaboration and a sense of relatedness from socialization and cooperation (Ryan et al., 2006). Efforts should be made to minimize cues that divide players, such as overt attention to differences in player skills or other indicators of offline demographic identities.

While this study primarily addresses the repercussions of toxic behavior rather than its origins, it acknowledges the potential for a reciprocal relationship and role fluidity within the toxicity cycle (Kordyaka et al., 2023). SIT suggests that within computer-mediated environments, individuals' self-identity may be dominated by their social identity and align their behavior with prevailing group norms. Experiencing victimization or exposure to gaming toxicity can alter an individual's perception of these norms (Shen et al., 2020) and provoke frustrations that necessitate coping with further toxic behavior (Neto et al., 2017), potentially perpetuating a cycle of toxicity. Moreover, the subjective nature of toxic experiences, particularly in ambiguous situations, may lead to inconsistencies between the punishments developers impose and the players' perceptions of toxicity, as well as disparities between what is universally recognized as toxic and what is considered acceptable by perpetrators. The reporting system may exacerbate feelings of unfairness among those penalized, which is also a loss for gaming communities and companies. A thorough understanding of toxicity's consequences is incomplete without an exploration of its developmental dynamics. Future research may compare self-reported and behaviorally reported data on toxicity to enhance understanding of the fluid dynamics among players within the cycle of toxicity, the subjectivity of these experiences, and the interplay between the causes and consequences of gaming toxicity.

The study is not without its limitations, which future research could help address. Firstly, while the study employs a longitudinal design, it does not establish robust causal links between involvement in gaming toxicity, discrimination, sense of community, and engagement. Future research could employ laboratory or field experiments to clarify these causal relationships. Field experiments might be preferable, as previous research on procedural justice suggests that effects are generally stronger in field settings than in laboratory settings (Lind & Tyler, 1988). Secondly, the study's focus on WoT–a competitive-cooperative online multiplayer game with unique demographics–limits its empirical generalizability to similar games. Further research is needed across different genres and types of games with diverse player demographics.

Acknowledgments

We thank Wargaming for providing access to their anonymized data, and Eugene Kislyi and Jeremy Ballenger for their valuable feedback.

Conflict of Interests

The third author was engaged as a consultant for the company that provided the study's data. Work on this research project was not compensated.

Data Availability

Data will be made available on request with permission of Wargaming.

References

Adachi, P. J., Hodson, G., & Hoffarth, M. R. (2015). Video game play and intergroup relations: Real world implications for prejudice and discrimination. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 25, 227–236.



- Anti-Defamation League. (2023). *Hate in no game: Hate and harassment in online games* 2023. https://www.adl. org/resources/report/hate-no-game-hate-and-harassment-online-games-2023
- Blackburn, J., & Kwak, H. (2014). STFU NOOB! Predicting crowdsourced decisions on toxic behavior in online games. In C.-W. Chung (Ed.), WWW '14: Proceedings of the 23rd international conference on World wide web (pp. 877–888). ACM.
- Gray, K. L. (2012). Deviant bodies, stigmatized identities, and racist acts: Examining the experiences of African-American gamers in Xbox Live. *New Review of Hypermedia and Multimedia*, 18(4), 261–276.
- Hirschman, A. O. (1970). Exit, voice, and loyalty: Responses to decline in firms, organizations, and states (Vol. 25). Harvard University Press.
- Jasinskaja-Lahti, I., Celikkol, G., Renvik, T. A., Eskelinen, V., Vetik, R., & Sam, D. L. (2018). When psychological contract is violated: Revisiting the rejection-disidentification model of immigrant integration. *Journal of Social and Political Psychology*, 6(2), 484–510.
- Jasinskaja-Lahti, I., Liebkind, K., & Solheim, E. (2009). To identify or not to identify? National disidentification as an alternative reaction to perceived ethnic discrimination. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 58(1), 105–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00384.x
- Kahn, A. S., Shen, C., Lu, L., Ratan, R. A., Coary, S., Hou, J., Meng, J., Osborn, J., & Williams, D. (2015). The trojan player typology: A cross-genre, cross-cultural, behaviorally validated scale of video game play motivations. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 49, 354–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.03.018
- Kim, J. (2011). Developing an instrument to measure social presence in distance higher education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 42(5), 763–777.
- Kordyaka, B., Jahn, K., & Niehaves, B. (2020). Towards a unified theory of toxic behavior in video games. *Internet Research*, 30(4), 1081–1102.
- Kordyaka, B., Laato, S., Jahn, K., Hamari, J., & Niehaves, B. (2023). The cycle of toxicity: Exploring relationships between personality and player roles in toxic behavior in multiplayer online battle arena games. *Proceedings* of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction, 7(CHI PLAY), Article 397. https://doi.org/10.1145/3611043
- Lind, E. A., & Tyler, T. R. (1988). The social psychology of procedural justice. Springer; Business Media.
- Neto, J. A., Yokoyama, K. M., & Becker, K. (2017). Studying toxic behavior influence and player chat in an online video game. In A. Sheth (Ed.), WI '17: Proceedings of the International Conference on Web Intelligence (pp. 26–33). ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/3106426.3106452
- Nguyen, S. H., Sun, Q., & Williams, D. (2022). How do we make the virtual world a better place? Social discrimination in online gaming, sense of community, and well-being. *Telematics and Informatics*, 66, Article 101747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2021.101747
- Paradies, Y. (2006). Defining, conceptualizing and characterizing racism in health research. *Critical Public Health*, 16, 143–157.
- Passmore, C. J., & Mandryk, R. L. (2020). A taxonomy of coping strategies and discriminatory stressors in digital gaming. *Frontiers in Computer Science*, *2*, 40.
- Reid, E., Mandryk, R. L., Beres, N. A., Klarkowski, M., & Frommel, J. (2022). Feeling good and in control: In-game tools to support targets of toxicity. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 6(CHI PLAY), Article 235.
- Rovai, A. P. (2002). Building sense of community at a distance. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 3(1), 1–16.
- Ryan, R. M., Rigby, C. S., & Przybylski, A. (2006). The motivational pull of video games: A self-determination theory approach. *Motivation and Emotion*, 30(4), 344–360.
- Sarason, S. B. (1974). The psychological sense of community. Jossey-Bass.



- Shen, C., Sun, Q., Kim, T., Wolff, G., Ratan, R., & Williams, D. (2020). Viral vitriol: Predictors and contagion of online toxicity in World of Tanks. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 108, Article 106343.
- Tajfel, H., Turner, J. C., Austin, W. G., & Worchel, S. (1979). An integrative theory of intergroup conflict. *Organizational Identity: A Reader*, *56*(65), Article 9780203505984–16.
- Trepte, S., & Loy, L. S. (2017). Social identity theory and self-categorization theory. In P. Rössler (Ed.), *The international encyclopedia of media effects*. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118783764.wbieme0088
- Tseng, F.-C., Huang, H.-C., & Teng, C.-I. (2015). How do online game communities retain gamers? Social presence and social capital perspectives. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 20(6), 601–614.
- Tseng, F.-C., & Teng, C.-I. (2014). Antecedents for user intention to adopt another auction site. *Internet Research*, 24(2), 205–222.
- Turner, J. C., Hogg, M. A., Oakes, P. J., Reicher, S. D., & Wetherell, M. S. (1987). *Rediscovering the social group:* A self-categorization theory. Blackwell.
- Tyler, T. R., & Blader, S. L. (2003). The group engagement model: Procedural justice, social identity, and cooperative behavior. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 7(4), 349–361.
- Williams, D. R., Yu, Y., Jackson, J. S., & Anderson, N. B. (1997). Racial differences in physical and mental health: Socio-economic status, stress and discrimination. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 2(3), 335–351.
- Zagenczyk, T. J., Cruz, K. S., Woodard, A. M., Walker, J. C., Few, W. T., Kiazad, K., & Raja, M. (2013). The moderating effect of Machiavellianism on the psychological contract breach: Organizational identification/disidentification relationships. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *28*, 287–299.

About the Authors



Mingxuan Liu (PhD) is an assistant professor in the Department of Communication at the University of Macau. Her research explores how emerging technologies shape user behavior, health, and well-being, and vice versa. She also makes causal inferences on user behavior change using observational data, panel surveys, natural experiments, and psychophysiological experiments. Her work has appeared in peer-reviewed journals, including New Media & Society, Media Psychology, Health Communication, Computers in Human Behavior, and Mobile Media & Communication.



Jack Lipei Tang (PhD) is an assistant professor in the Department of Advertising and Public Relations at The University of Alabama. His research focuses on advocacy communication, social media, social networks, and computational social science. His work has been published in various communication, information science, and interdisciplinary journals, including *Computers in Human Behavior, Social Media + Society, Information Society*, and *Social Networks*. He earned his PhD from the Annenberg School for Communication and Journalism at the University of Southern California.



Dmitri Williams is a professor at the University of Southern California Annenberg School for Communication. He studies games, technology, and community.

ARTICLE



Open Access Journal 👌

Introduction of the Digital Gaming Relationship

Miikka Sokka¹[©], Kwok Ng^{1,2,3}[©], Sami Kokko⁴[©], and Pasi Koski¹[©]

¹ Department of Teacher Education, University of Turku, Finland

² Department of Physical Education and Sports Sciences, University of Limerick, Ireland

³ Institute of Innovation and Sports Science, Lithuanian Sports University, Lithuania

⁴ Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä, Finland

Correspondence: Miikka Sokka (miikka.sokka@utu.fi)

Submitted: 27 May 2024 Accepted: 29 September 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

In recent decades, there has been a growing interest in studying the appeal of digital games. However, there is still a call for further research, especially on the theoretical and methodological advancements. Hence, a novel approach and a concept of the Digital Gaming Relationship (DGR) is presented. The DGR model is adapted from earlier work on physical activity and with the central concept as "meaning," it provides an alternative perspective to motivation-oriented literature for the field of game studies. With this approach, the fundamental view is that each person has a varying relationship with digital games and gaming over their life span. The relationship builds on the individual's encounters with the social world of digital gaming and its cultural meanings. In the long term, accruing digital gaming-related knowledge, experiences, and emotional connections contributes to a rich tapestry of meaning, thus creating a deep and meaningful relationship capable of shaping one's actions, behaviors, and even identity. The framework theorizes the mechanisms of an individual's socialization process to the digital gaming world and illustrates that the relationship with digital games includes much more than just playing them. In this article, the theoretical roots and key concepts of the DGR are introduced, and the practical applicability of the approach is discussed.

Keywords

digital game studies; digital gaming; digital gaming relationship; video games; social world; socialization; meaning; significance



1. Introduction

Digital gaming is a popular leisure activity forecasted to continue to grow in the coming years (Clement, 2024a). Digital games are played by people of many ages from all over the world (Clement, 2024b), but their popularity is greatest among younger people, for whom digital gaming has become an essential form of media and a routine part of childhood and adolescence (Olson, 2010). Over the last two decades, the rapid growth of the digital gaming phenomenon has increased scholars' interest in the reasons behind their attractiveness. In addition to the structural characteristics of digital games (e.g., D. King et al., 2010), the appeal of digital gaming is influenced by the individual's motivation to play. To investigate the reasons behind digital gaming, scholars have relied on, for example, the self-determination theory (Przybylski et al., 2010), as well as developed scales to measure digital gaming motivations (e.g., Demetrovics et al., 2011; Kahn et al., 2015; Yee et al., 2012). Despite these efforts, according to Cheah et al. (2022), there is a call for further research, especially on theoretical and methodological advancements. Therefore, this article proposes an alternative approach and theoretical framework to understanding the appeal of digital gaming beyond the use of motivation.

Traditionally, hedonistic gratifications like fun and enjoyment have been characterized as the core experience and essential motives of playing digital games (Mekler et al., 2014). With the evolution of digital games, media scholars have recently drawn attention to "meaningful gaming experiences" that allow players also to experience deeper, thought-provoking, and more emotionally complex moments (Daneels et al., 2023), contrasting with hedonic experiences. Drawing on philosophical and psychological well-being research, these meaningful experiences are often termed "eudaimonic." Eudaimonia refers to "orienting toward or experiencing meaning, virtue, personal growth, and other worthwhile aspects of life" (Daneels et al., 2023, p. 1). In addition, meaning and meaningful experiences have been used by scholars when referred to as "experiences where players make connections between in-game aspects and 'out-of-game' personally relevant elements from their own lives" (Daneels et al., 2023, p. 2). Nevertheless, there is no consensual definition of eudaimonic or meaningful digital gaming experiences (Possler, 2024).

The formation of these eudaimonic or meaningful digital gaming experiences has mostly been attributed to the interactivity of digital games and their core characteristics such as digital game mechanics, narratives, multiplayer features, and game aesthetics (Possler, 2024). However, much less emphasis has been put on how player characteristics influence the formation process, although Vahlo (2018) has shown that individual players' digital gameplay preferences play an essential role in determining how much and what kinds of meaningful experiences arise from digital gaming. Additionally, other types of engagement with digital games and their culture besides active playing are rarely considered in the literature. According to Possler et al. (2023), this narrow focus on game characteristics and active play are the main limitations of current theory development around meaningful digital gaming experiences.

To extend the current line of research and address its limitations, the Digital Gaming Relationship (DGR) is introduced in this article. With the central concept of "meaning," this article provides an alternative perspective to motivation-oriented literature and a novel theoretical framework for the field of digital game studies. The DGR framework is used to theorize the formation of a meaningful relationship with digital games by emphasizing the subjective nature of digital gaming experiences. Although the significance of the characteristics of modern digital games in the meaning-making process is recognized (e.g., Possler, 2024), it



is suggested that meaningful digital gaming experiences are primarily conditioned by prior digital gaming-related interactions, underlining the subjectivity of the process. Furthermore, the DGR model takes into account interaction with digital games beyond just playing them, which is often overlooked in the literature. Although the focus is mainly on digital gaming individuals, the framework also extends its scope to external factors such as cultural norms and social influences by illustrating their potential impact on DGRs.

Ultimately, the DGR framework is a theorization of the mechanisms of an individual's socialization process to the digital gaming world and its culture. It describes how socially constructed meanings, norms, and values of the digital gaming world are internalized through interaction, and how individuals may develop "a gamer" identity by adopting behaviors, language, and attitudes that influence actions within the digital gaming world and beyond it. This article begins with an introduction to the theoretical roots and key concepts of the DGR. Finally, the practical applicability of the approach is discussed.

2. The DGR Framework

2.1. The Social World of Digital Gaming

The DGR framework is an adaptation of a sports sociological theory of physical activity relationship (PAR; Koski, 2008, 2015, 2017; Koski et al., 2022) to the world of digital games. Although the PAR focuses on the world of physical activity and sports, the DGR approach is based on the idea that digital gaming and the issues closely related to it form the *social world* of digital gaming, with which each individual has a different relationship that varies over the lifespan.

Human life is surrounded by numerous different social worlds and individuals are always to some extent within social worlds—participating deeper in some than in others. Unruh (1979, p. 115) defined a social world as "an internally recognizable constellation of actors, organizations, events, and practices which have coalesced into a perceived sphere of interest and involvement for participants." Social worlds can be described as social organizations that cannot be accurately delineated by spatial, territorial, formal, or membership boundaries (Unruh, 1980). In other words, a social world is a set of actors and practices around a particular issue that can have various characteristics:

Some worlds are small, others huge; some are international, others are local. Some are inseparable from given spaces; others are linked with sites but are much less spatially identifiable. Some are highly public and publicized; others are barely visible. Some are so emergent as to be barely graspable; others are well established, even well organized. Some are very hierarchical; some are less so or scarcely at all. Some are clearly class-linked, and some run across class. (Strauss, 1978, p. 121)

In the PAR framework, Koski (2008) described how our life consists of different sectors (A, B, C, etc.), which we value with various degrees of significance (a, b, c, etc.) in everyday life, thus resulting to the Equation of Life (aA + bB + cC + etc.). In the equation, the lowercase letters are coefficients that correspond to how meaningful the individual perceives these things to be in his or her life. The capital letters refer to different areas of life, such as work, school, family, or different competing leisure activities such as digital gaming. The Equation of Life demonstrates how different social worlds and their self-defined weight are present in everyday life. The inherent limits of human energy and time keep the equation in balance and therefore it is not possible



to put a very high coefficient on several areas of life at the same time. The idea reflects individuals' lives in today's mediatized and marketized attention economy (e.g., Webster, 2014), where humans are constantly surrounded by meaning-transmitting signals attempting to influence our thinking and actions (Koski, 2008).

Due to people's everyday decision-making in the different areas of life, the relationships to social worlds are constantly varying consciously or unconsciously over the lifespan. To illustrate this in the gaming context, in adolescence gaming can be one of the most attractive and socially popular activities in life. Yet, later on, if other things such as education, career, or family get more attention, its perceived significance is likely to be changed. This underlines the dynamic nature of the coefficients in the Equation of Life in different life stages and situations. For example, the reformatting of one's Equation of Life can be witnessed in the PAR context, as major life events such as childbirth or retirement tend to impact an individual's physical activity levels (Engberg et al., 2012).

2.2. Concept of Meaning

According to Koski (2008, 2015, 2017), as a foundation for his PAR framework, it is useful to consider both anthropologist Claude Lévi-Strauss's views about culture as a language and Max Weber's idea that culture is a web of meanings created by human beings. Common to both of the classical views is the idea that culture is formed of meanings. The founding ideas of the approach can be further examined with Herbert Blumer's (1986, p. 2) sociological theory of symbolic interaction and its three core assumptions:

First, human beings act toward things based on the meanings that the things have for them. Second, the meaning of such things is derived from, or arises out of, the social interaction that one has with one's fellows. Third, these meanings are handled in, and modified through, an interpretative process used by the person in dealing with the things he encounters.

Therefore, within the DGR framework, it can be suggested that the widespread popularity of digital gaming indicates that it holds meaning for many, with these meanings being socially constructed. Understanding these meanings necessitates interaction, which is the act of participation in the social world of digital gaming. For a deeper look, Ogden and Richards (1989, pp. 186–187) presented how the ambiguous concept of meaning can have up to 16 different interpretations depending on the context. Additionally, eight different senses and kinds of meaning can be distinguished as explained by Nozick (1981, pp. 574–575). In the DGR approach, meaning refers to a concept that has two interconnected dimensions: One it refers to what something means, and two, it refers to the degree of importance of something—significance.

2.2.1. Semantic Dimension

The first dimension of the concept of meaning in the framework is semantic, where meaning refers to language and symbolism, i.e., what something means. Semantics is an integral part of all social worlds, and the knowledge of language can serve as an indicator of an individual's level of participation in a given social world. As described by Evans and Llano (2023, p. 1), the world of digital gaming has its language:

Aside from the technical discourse that players, game streamers, and fans share about character builds, preferred move sets, and glitches, there is a set of slang that develops and grows alongside



game streamers, their play, and communities. Typically, game players tend to see these slang terms as ubiquitous, common, and nearly compulsory for participation in gaming communities.

In the symbolic interactionism theory, words and language are the most essential symbols, as language is the most important factor that enables people to function in a group and share different meanings (Lal, 1995). Symbols enable people to name, classify, and remember objects, thoughts, and images. The exchange of ideas between people would not be possible without symbols, which are interpreted in roughly the same way. Thus, the premise is also that symbols must necessarily have shared meanings, otherwise they cannot be meaningful in the first place. For example, in the digital gaming context, understanding words or phrases used to refer to specific areas of a map in a game can be a prerequisite for effective communication with other players.

Within the PAR and DGR approaches, cultural objects are also regarded as a form of language that conveys meanings and symbolism. According to McDonnell (2023), cultural objects include everything perceptible, such as artifacts in the world (books, tables, or cars), but also bodily expressions (e.g., a whispered phrase, a hand gesture, or a wink). The meaning of cultural objects for a person arises fundamentally out of the way they are defined to them by others with whom they interact, as shared interactions give rise to common objects/items with consistent meaning for a specific group (Blumer, 1986). Thus, culture objects function as a multifaceted language, and our interpretations of them are influenced by our interactions, roles, and perspectives within society. For instance, a tree has different meanings for a botanist, a logger, a poet, and a home gardener (Blumer, 1986), whereas a keen golfer and rural farmer are likely to interpret a golf club in very different ways (Koski, 2008).

In the digital gaming world, the analogy of cultural objects can be extended to the digital dimension as well. Numerous digital games feature purchasable virtual in-game items, such as character or weapon appearance features, known as skins, which exist solely within the game's digital environment. These items can hold a real-world monetary value, often determined by their popularity or rarity. Although the items typically serve cosmetic purposes and do not enhance player performance or provide an advantage, owning a particular item can signal social status associated with a certain level of experience or skill within the game (R. King & de la Hera, 2020). Thus, it can be concluded that in a given game, a given object holds meanings socially constructed on it by the community based on interactions, trends, and player experiences.

2.2.2. Meaning as Significance

The other dimension of meaning is *significance*, which is more fundamental in this approach. It refers to an order of priority, or a hierarchy of importance, where certain things are perceived as more important than others, i.e., more significant. In other words, it is the importance or value of something within a particular context, encompassing the emotional or cultural weight that meanings can carry. In the DGR framework, meanings are seen as the drivers of behavior and choices, determinants of the Equation of Life, and it is thus considered that meanings hold some kind of value-loading. The meanings that guide our behavior can range from superficial associations with commodities to deeper connections with our fundamental values, and they are formed by culture to a great extent (Koski, 2008). For example, owning luxury clothing pieces may have a superficial meaning related to status and wealth. In contrast, participating in community service might have a deeper meaning connected to one's values of altruism and social responsibility. The prioritization may also stem from personal memories or emotional attachments to specific objects or activities, or it can involve social signaling,



where ownership of certain items or adherence to particular behavior signals belonging to a specific group. This underscores the social nature of the intricate interplay among personal, social, and cultural factors that influence everyday decision-making. Choices are shaped by societal norms, peer influence, family values, and broader cultural contexts. Moreover, Koski (2017) described how meaning is characterized by the fact that it usually appeals to both reason and emotion at the same time, which is familiar to advertising professionals. For example, in car marketing, the different characteristics of a product are shaped into meanings and mental imagery that guide the buyers' choices. As a result, it is typical that the decision to buy a car is not based on reason alone.

Both dimensions of the concept of meaning in the DGR framework were reflected in the previous explanation of the Equation of Life, where the perceived significance of a particular social world is considered one of the primary determinants that influence individuals' decisions on how to allocate their time and energy among various social worlds. This view interconnects the two distinct dimensions of the concept of meaning together in the framework, suggesting that the resources individuals invest (such as time and energy) yield not only an enhanced understanding of meanings but also an increased perceived significance for the given issue. Conversely, if meanings remain unrecognized initially, their significance cannot be perceived. Years of dedicating resources to a specific activity and accruing knowledge, experiences, and emotional connections contribute to a rich tapestry of meaning. Consequently, this fosters a profound and meaningful relationship that shapes one's actions, behaviors, and identity.

Meanings are encountered in interaction with a social world, where the context in which the individual encounters the meaning stimulus is essential. For example, an ace has significant value in both Poker and Counter-Strike, although it refers to different things depending on the context. In both situations, the meaning of an ace needs to be first encountered and recognized to be able to understand it. An ace in Poker refers to a special card that has dual value, in Counter-Strike, an ace refers to a situation where one player defeats all five players of the opposing team. Hence, an ace has semantic meaning as well as significance within the two games. In Poker, the ace's flexibility and high value make it a cornerstone of strategy and gameplay, whereas in Counter-Strike it typically guarantees the team a round win and economic advantages to the following round, as well as personal glory. By playing amongst themselves or by watching others, a person could also learn some other details regarding an ace. In Poker, receiving an ace is a matter of chance. In contrast, getting an ace in Counter-Strike usually requires a substantial amount of personal skill highlighting the meaning of technical-tactical details in the performance, such as timing and crosshair placement. The understanding and recognition of these technical-tactical details' significance may then influence behavior, such that if the person tries to learn and incorporate them into their repertoire through practice. Thus, the cycle of interaction continues, and new meanings are again encountered and perceived, further strengthening the web of meanings in the social world of Counter-Strike.

To summarize, it is important to emphasize that within this framework, individual meanings alone may not be sufficient to shape behavior, but usually require a robust web of many meanings around the same issue. A single meaning may have a central role, but ultimately, the sum of the meanings around a matter or phenomenon is decisive. Moreover, both the recognition of meanings and their perceived value often depend on how they are related to the meaning structures already adopted earlier in life (Koski, 2017). In other words, people with backgrounds in team sports would enjoy playing digital games that include similar kinds of meaning characteristics (competitiveness, sociality, and tacticity). Whereas individuals



with artistic backgrounds could primarily find resonation with digital games including creativity and aesthetic expression.

2.3. Formation of a Meaningful DGR

Today, digital gaming is a globally established pastime, with the first digital gaming experiences typically occurring already during childhood. This is when the first peeks at the social world of digital gaming occur, through playing, watching, and engaging in digital gaming-related discussions. These early interactions initiate the socialization process, exposing individuals to the meanings, symbols, beliefs, norms, expectations, and values associated with digital games and digital gaming. Like acquiring a new language, cultural meanings of digital gaming can also be learned and internalized.

Koski (2017) divided the meaning-making process into seven stages: (a) Encountering meaning, (b) perceiving meaning, (c) recognizing meaning, (d) reflection in relation to a set of meanings already adopted, (e) linking new meaning to already adopted ones, (f) possible emergence of meaningfulness, and (g) possible reinforcement of meaningfulness. An example of digital gaming could be a person who tries to play a football digital game for the first time (encounter). After becoming familiar with the digital game's features (perceiving meaning), the person realizes it is possible to play with their hometown club and control its players (recognizing meaning). Controlling the hometown club resonates with the person, due to the earlier experiences with the club in the sports context (reflection to meaning). By playing the digital game, the person becomes part of their favorite team, makes key decisions to guide the club to success, and gets to know more details of the players and the opposing teams as well (linking new meaning). The person soon becomes aware of how this has enriched their past experiences (emergence of meaningfulness) resulting in increased perceived significance of the digital game and the hometown club (reinforcement of meaningfulness).

The meaning-making example underlined how the new internalized meanings resonated with the individual's interests, identity, and already adopted meaning structures—and thus formed as significant. Due to the perceived significance, the football digital game isn't just a game among many others; it represents the connection with the hometown football club. This can influence behavior as the individual is likely to spend more time playing, invest in digital gaming equipment, or participate in digital gaming communities. Increased investments of resources (time, energy, money) provide additional encounters with numerous meanings of the activity, such as learning the meaning of tactical decisions to be successful, the thrill of competition, the joy of achievement, and the sense of community with other digital games might develop a deep understanding of their mechanics, strategies, and the social dynamics within the digital gaming community. This accumulated knowledge and experience enhances the perceived significance of digital gaming in their life. The initial encounter may even have been coincidental, but it has since evolved into a meaningful activity that provides a sense of accomplishment and belonging (see Przybylski et al., 2010).

The meaning-making example also illustrates how the DGR framework differs from the general motivation ideas. It is known that motivation can vary in short periods (Recours et al., 2004), but the meaning approach is particularly focused on the long-term formation process rather than on short-term decision-making that can be highly situational and rapidly changing by nature. As experiences and knowledge of meanings



accumulate, the relationship with the social world of digital gaming gradually deepens. The depth of the relationship impacts both the prominence of digital gaming in an individual's life and the intensity and longevity of the relationship (Koski, 2017). Furthermore, deeper immersion in a particular social world enhances one's recognition and understanding of its meanings (Koski, 2008). These ideas are supported by studies indicating that the perceived significance of physical activity correlates with both the quantity and intensity of physical activity (Koski et al., 2022; Koski & Tähtinen, 2005; Koski & Zacheus, 2012).

To delineate the extent of involvement in a particular social world, Unruh (1979) devised a classification system that comprised four levels: strangers, tourists, regulars, and insiders (Figure 1). Strangers represent the most superficial level of participation, approaching the social world with suspicion or prejudice and unable to discern its meanings. Tourists, displaying curiosity and a short-term interest, engage more actively than strangers but typically maintain a fleeting relationship with the social world. Regulars are fully immersed participants who engage actively and are familiar with the cultural meanings of the social world. Insiders, the most dedicated participants, not only engage deeply but also contribute to the creation and maintenance of the social world with its meanings. At the latter level, the social world significantly influences various aspects of life, including identity formation.

The deeper levels of engagement in this approach share parallels with the concept of being a fan, defined as a loyal, enthusiastic, and passionate admirer of an interest who shows devotion and appreciation for it (Reysen & Lloyd, 2012). Additionally, other parallels include the importance of identification on a personal level (fanship) and on a collective level (fandom) in the socialization process. Furthermore, fans and insiders alike are not just passive consumers; they actively participate in activities and discussions related to their interests, thereby building and shaping their respective cultures socially from within.

Strangers either lack experience with digital gaming or have had negative experiences with it. They are unlikely to engage in digital gaming themselves.
Tourists represent casual gamers who may initially show enthusiasm for new digital games and products but often lose interest quickly. Tourists' interest in digital gaming may wane before they have had a chance to explore the social world.
The relationship between regulars and digital gaming is predictable and often routine-driven. This regular contact allows them to constantly deepen their understanding of the cultural meanings of the digital gaming world.
Insiders are major consumers of digital gaming is a way of life. They include past and present active gamers, people working on the industry, and real fans of digital games. Following gaming culture is an important part of their lives.

Figure 1. Depth of participation and knowledge of the social world of digital gaming. Source: Adapted from Unruh (1979).



2.4. The Constituents of the DGR

While playing digital games can be considered a central source of meaning, interactions with various other aspects of the digital gaming world are also seen to shape the relationship. In other words, this framework considers that the meanings associated with digital gaming can be encountered and internalized, even if the individual does not necessarily play the digital games themselves. For example, interactions with the social world of digital games and their meanings can occur through parenting or work, where digital gaming-related meanings are encountered. It is therefore suggested that digital gaming individuals would exclude the vast number of people otherwise engaged with digital games and digital gaming in their lives. Furthermore, this is relevant to the core idea of the framework that everyone has a varying relationship with digital gaming.

Therefore, not only personal digital gaming but also other attitudes and behaviors toward digital gaming culture, which are often less recognized in the literature, are incorporated into the framework. The DGR's holistic approach encompasses individuals' knowledge and perceptions of different facets of digital gaming culture, such as interest in following digital gaming-related brands, players, and influencers on social media, as well as watching competitive digital gaming known as esports and any other digital gaming content. Additionally, the DGR encompasses the production of digital gaming culture, consumption behaviors related to digital gaming, and the integration of digital gaming-related meanings and content into other areas of life. The constituents are not mutually exclusive, but they allow for a comprehensive approach to exploring the interaction with the social world of digital gaming and its meanings.

Following Koski's (2008, 2015, 2017) PAR model, the DGR is also expressed in practical actions in four different areas: (a) personal digital gaming, (b) following digital gaming culture; (c) production of digital gaming culture, and (d) digital gaming culture in everyday life. Personal digital gaming (a) involves playing digital games on any platform. Following digital gaming culture (b) refers to the consumption of different digital gaming-related content, such as videos, live streams, news, reviews, forums, or literature. A popular type of consumption today is viewing other's digital gaming via media or on-site, which typically includes tutorial videos, live streams or recordings of competitive digital gaming events, content related to professional players, or simply normal people playing various video games. Production of digital gaming culture (c) encompasses activities that facilitate digital gaming, such as coaching, mentoring, moderating, and organizing events. It also includes content creation related to digital gaming, such as digital gaming videos, streaming, literature, or educational material. An example of producing digital game culture is hosting a game night with friends. Digital gaming culture in everyday life (d) refers to integrating digital gaming-related aspects into non-digital gaming areas of life and consuming digital gaming-related products and services. This includes purchasing and using merchandise and incorporating digital gaming expressions and terms into other contexts. Examples could be Fortnite-inspired dances or the use of digital gaming slang in the school environment. Additionally, digital game culture can influence identity formation, as the values, attitudes, and meanings associated with digital gaming may impact an individual's decision-making in everyday life.

Due to the socially constructed nature of the approach, each of the four areas is seen to be influenced by individual characteristics and external factors. A similar idea about the factors influencing actions was illustrated in Takeuchi's (2011) study, where cultural, institutional, interpersonal, and developmental forces shaped children's access to and interest in technology. In the DGR framework, this influence mechanism is



demonstrated by applying Rovio and Saaranen-Kauppinen's (2014, p. 23) model of socialization to physical activity within the digital gaming context, which comprises four levels: individual, social, institutional, and societal and cultural.

At the individual level, people are viewed as biological, psychological, and social entities, influenced by factors such as personality, personal needs, and life circumstances. For instance, factors such as personality traits (de Hesselle et al., 2021) or disabilities (Baltzar et al., 2022) may play a significant role. This is followed by the social level, which encompasses friendships, peer groups, and other close communities. In the digital gaming context, the attitudes of peers (Amialchuk & Kotalik, 2016) or parents (Van Petegem et al., 2019) toward digital gaming can be influential and shape one's relationship substantially. Subsequently, the institutional level encompasses different community institutions and groups, including work, education, and political and religious organizations. At this level, an example could be policymaking (Ashton, 2019) or actions of various governing bodies (Thiborg, 2009) related to digital gaming. Finally, the societal and cultural level encompasses ideologies, values, social norms, and attitudes. At this level, broader trends such as the development of digitalization and digital infrastructure (McCauley et al., 2020) can serve as an example. A summary of the different practical actions of the DGR and the four levels of contextual factors that influence them are visualized in Figure 2, which binds up the DGR framework.



Figure 2. Formation of a DGR and its constituents. Source: Adapted from Koski (2008, 2017) and Rovio and Saaranen-Kauppinen (2014).

3. Examples of Interaction With the World of Digital Gaming Through the DGR Lens

Next, four example profiles are presented to summarize the DGR framework and illustrate its scope in practice. Each profile describes different levels of engagement and the perceived significance of digital gaming. The examples provided are imaginary; however, they are designed to closely resemble plausible



real-world situations, illustrating complex and the way more or less meaningful DGRs exist. Readers can use Figure 2 to help detect from the examples how individual characteristics and external factors have impacted relationships' development, and the various ways of participation in the social world of digital gaming. In addition, the examples describe how the depth of a DGR can vary at different stages of life.

The first example is Kai, whose relationship with digital gaming can be described as superficial and almost non-existent. Kai's personal and friends' interests lie elsewhere. Kai might also live in a country or culture where the lifestyle, values, or social infrastructure simply do not make digital gaming accessible. Kai may have heard about digital games or seen others playing them but may not have any first-hand experience. Due to the lack of experiences and interaction, Kai is not familiar with the meanings related to digital gaming and does not recognize the brands or characters in the world of digital games or cannot understand the digital gaming-specific vocabulary and gestures. In other words, Kai is a stranger to the digital gaming world, making it very unlikely that Kai could have meaningful digital gaming experiences either.

The next person is Robin, an adult whose childhood home never had any digital gaming devices, largely due to a conscious decision by their parents. Robin remembers sometimes trying out some digital games, for example, at friends' houses, but their free time was filled with other hobbies. At Robin's current job, there is a lot of interaction with children, many of whom are very curious about digital games. Robin discusses digital games with children regularly, but rarely agrees to try them out. At the workplace, training sessions on the theme have been organized for staff, which has increased their understanding of the phenomenon. However, Robin remains reluctant to spend free time playing digital games, but does follow the results of a younger relative's esports team on social media. Robin is a tourist of the digital gaming world, who only occasionally visits the social world of digital gaming. The relationship with digital games is not very meaningful, but it exists because Robin encounters, notices, and sometimes even recognizes the meanings associated with digital gaming through work and family.

The third person is Chris, who was not exposed to digital games and did not encounter their meanings as an adolescent. Chris used to compete at the national level in motorsports when younger, but nowadays has mainly settled for the role of spectator. One day, Chris and a friend got to try out a modern racing simulator, which immediately brought back nostalgic memories of Chris's own racing years. The experiment turned into a regular hobby, first with a friend and later at home, when the necessary equipment was purchased. This acquisition has also been enjoyed by Chris's child, who is passionate about digital racing and practices diligently. Chris could be considered a regular in the digital gaming world and is particularly aware of the characteristics of the different digital racing games, their tracks, cars, as well as the evolution and features of the equipment available for simulation purposes. The hobby of digital gaming is shared not only with a friend but also with Chris's own child, whose leisure time activity is enabled by Chris. In addition, the pursuit of personal records, competing, and the use of previously acquired car-related know-how seem equally important aspects of this meaningful leisure time activity.

The last example features a person called Alex, who reflects a so-called insider, whose relationship with digital gaming is active, as it is often part of everyday life and even identity. Years of experience and thousands of playing hours have led to a broad and diverse range of meanings. Alex's relationship with digital gaming began to build during childhood, with games played alone, with siblings, friends, and perhaps even with parents. The standard of living and the digital evolution of society enables Alex to access games not only at home but



also at any time, for example on a smartphone. During Alex's youth, some of the first own-generated money was likely used on something digital gaming-related. Local Area Network events might have been participated in, where peers around the shared interest were met and spent time with. From the events, fan merchandise or textiles were acquired, that were later worn with pride at school and on other occasions too. Over the years, Alex met plenty of new people while participating in digital gaming. There were frequent interactions with friends that formed a core group, with whom the relationship included activities outside of digital gaming as well. Performances of favorite pro players and esports teams were closely followed and were a common topic of discussion. Alex explored and studied digital games' tips and tricks by watching videos and reading forums. The release of the latest versions of favorite digital games was usually an eagerly awaited event, preceded by a lot of hype and speculation. Whenever it was possible, Alex spends most of their free time on digital gaming activities over numerous other options. Alex has a deep and meaningful relationship with digital gaming, which manifests itself in action on many levels.

4. Applicability in Practice

The idea of adapting the PAR approach to the digital gaming context was initially proposed as an unpublished thesis in Finnish (Sokka, 2021). Based on those preliminary ideas, the utility of the framework has been applied in practice in a few publications. First, Meriläinen (2023) stated how the approach helped make sense of young people's engagement with digital gaming in both research and practice contexts and suggested some developments to it. Then, Meriläinen and Ruotsalainen (2023) utilized the framework to explore how different aspects of digital gaming actualize in young people's lives, and how various features of digital gaming culture participation come together to form their experience. Following these works, similar qualitative settings that utilize the DGR approach could provide significant knowledge on the issues that can be otherwise challenging to measure. For example, exploring the details and differences of perceived significance of digital gaming between various player segments could provide valuable details of the complex roles that games may play in different individuals' lives. Although meanings and significance are primarily associated with positive intentions and thoughts toward digital gaming, potential barriers to involvement could be studied too with the help of the DGR, similar to the PAR approach (Koski et al., 2022). Meriläinen's (2023) reported barriers included overwhelming competitiveness and toxic digital gaming communities that acted as distancing forces from playing digital games. Furthermore, by analyzing the personal and external factors presented in the DGR, new insights could be gained into how cultural, geographical, socioeconomical differences, as well as family and peer dynamics, may influence players' DGRs over their life spans. Such research could also illuminate the issue of gatekeeping and other discriminatory acts that have been observed in the digital gaming world (e.g., Passmore & Mandryk, 2020).

To extend the applicability to quantitative settings would require significant developmental work regarding suitable measures. The challenge of the operationalization of the meaning approach lies in the subjectiveness and complexity of meanings, which can require trade-offs between comprehensiveness and practicality when designing a scale. An option could be to adopt similar questionnaires that have been used with the PAR (see Koski et al., 2022; Koski & Tähtinen, 2005; Koski & Zacheus, 2012) and test if they are suitable to the digital gaming context. Another option in the future could be to try adapting tested and comprehensive digital gaming motive scales to the meaning approach, such as the Motivation to Play Scale (Holl et al., 2024). The Motivation to Play Scale was based on a literature review and started with over 1,000 items. The final scale ended with a reliable and valid questionnaire with 58 items in a 10-factor structure. With a stable scale, DGR's central



hypothesis of a positive association between digital gaming time and the perceived significance of digital gaming could be tested, as it has been done in the PAR context (see Koski et al., 2022). A potential continuation of this would be to compare meaning profiles across different player segments, sorted by factors such as age, cultural background, and preferred digital gaming platform or genre.

The initial reason to adapt the physical activity-based PAR framework to the digital gaming context stemmed from experiences and observations followed by an idea that physical activities and digital gaming activities may hold similar meanings (e.g., to compete, socialize) for people. This idea calls for further clarification and investigation at this stage, although some observations along the same lines have been made in previous literature. Vahlo (2018) argued that digital gaming, player-game interaction, and ways of experiencing digital games are not fundamentally different from traditional non-digital games, but represent manifestations of the same phenomenon. Moreover, according to Turtiainen (2022) sports and physical activities are linked to digital games in several ways, but she also notes that despite this, they are often considered as separate phenomena and commonly contrasted in debates.

The nascent idea of shared meanings between the two activities also continues the discussion around the displacement hypothesis (e.g., Lizandra et al., 2019), which suggests that the use of modern technologies such as digital games results in the displacement of less active leisure activities, thus potentially missing out on the well-known health benefits of physical activities. Asefi et al. (2024) explored the displacement hypothesis in their study by identifying five themes for preferring digital games over physical activities among male gamers. These included game characteristics, game space, game outcomes, peer pressure, and accessibility. Given the potential detriments to well-being that declining physical activity and increasing (mostly sedentary) digital gaming activity levels of youth may have (e.g., Hygen et al., 2022), the relationship between the two topical phenomena should be investigated more closely. Attention should be paid especially to adolescents, who are known to be active digital gamers. However, only one-fifth of adolescents globally met the recommended level of physical activity (Guthold et al., 2020). To further study the connections between physical activity and digital gaming activity in adolescents' lives, the joint framework of DGR and PAR could provide a fruitful starting point. Appropriate measures require developmental work first, but exploring the perceived significance of physical activities and digital gaming activities side-by-side could contribute to a deeper understanding of this timely issue.

5. Conclusion

Understanding the appeal of digital gaming is crucial for professionals in many fields. Moreover, theories increasing understanding of digital games, and their culture are also increasingly relevant to understanding wider media production and use (Chess & Consalvo, 2022). This article presented a novel approach to interpreting and understanding individuals' complex and varying relationships with digital gaming. It also illustrated how meaningful relationships with digital games can include much more than just playing them. Furthermore, the mechanisms of an individual's socialization process to the digital gaming world and the surrounding culture were theorized. The current literature on meaningful or eudaimonic digital gaming experiences draws on philosophical and psychological well-being research, whereas the DGR is rooted in the sociological perspective of symbolic interactionism which provides insight into how players build significance in their digital gaming experiences through social interactions within the game world. The two perspectives share similar conceptualizations, with eudaimonic digital gaming focusing on the objective



outcomes that enhance well-being, and the DGR exploring the subjective process of meaning-making. For future studies, the DGR approach provides a comprehensive framework to explore and analyze various player segments. Moreover, with the joint theoretical background with the PAR approach, it could be used to gain insight into the roles of physical activities and digital gaming activities in people's lives. To extend the framework's use and further test its applicability in quantitative settings, developmental work regarding suitable measures should be conducted.

Funding

This work was supported by the Finnish Ministry of Education and Culture project funding: OKM/84/626/ 2022:646988

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Amialchuk, A., & Kotalik, A. (2016). Do your schoolmates influence how long you game? Evidence from the US. *PloS One*, 11(8), Article e0160664. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0160664
- Asefi, A., Dehghani, H., & Shafieeyan, M. (2024). Exploring the reasons for preferring digital games over physical activity games in adolescents: A qualitative study. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 75(1), 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2024.02.031
- Ashton, G. (2019). Four ways in which politics are influencing esports. *The Esports Observer*. https://esportsobserver.com/four-ways-politics-esports
- Baltzar, P., Turunen, M., & Hassan, L. (2022). Popular accessibility settings in digital games: What accessibility settings do players with disabilities use and need? In M. Turunen (Ed.), Academic Mindtrek '22: Proceedings of the 25th International Academic Mindtrek Conference (pp. 359–363). ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3569219.3569335
- Blumer, H. (1986). Symbolic interactionism: Perspective and method. University of California Press.
- Cheah, I., Shimul, A. S., & Phau, I. (2022). Motivations of playing digital games: A review and research agenda. *Psychology & Marketing*, 39(5), 937–950. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.21631
- Chess, S., & Consalvo, M. (2022). The future of media studies is game studies. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, 39(3), 159–164. https://doi.org/10.1080/15295036.2022.2075025
- Clement, J. (2024a). Number of video game users worldwide from 2019 to 2029 (in billions). Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/748044/number-video-gamers-world
- Clement, J. (2024b). Share of internet users worldwide who play video games on any device as of 1st quarter 2024, by age group and gender. Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/326420/console-gamers-gender
- Daneels, R., Vandebosch, H., & Walrave, M. (2023). "Deeper gaming": A literature review and research agenda on eudaimonia in digital games research. *Technology, Mind, and Behavior,* 4(2), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1037/tmb0000108
- de Hesselle, L. C., Rozgonjuk, D., Sindermann, C., Pontes, H. M., & Montag, C. (2021). The associations between Big Five personality traits, gaming motives, and self-reported time spent gaming. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 171, Article 110483. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.110483
- Demetrovics, Z., Urbán, R., Nagygyörgy, K., Farkas, J., Zilahy, D., Mervó, B., Reindl, A., Ágoston, C., Kertész, A., & Harmath, E. (2011). Why do you play? The development of the motives for online gaming questionnaire (MOGQ). *Behavior Research Methods*, 43, 814–825. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-011-0091-y



- Engberg, E., Alen, M., Kukkonen-Harjula, K., Peltonen, J., Tikkanen, H., & Pekkarinen, H. (2012). Life events and change in leisure time physical activity. *Sports Medicine*, 42(5), 433–447. https://doi.org/10.2165/11597610-000000000-00000
- Evans, S., & Llano, S. M. (2023). Tryhard with a vengeance: Meaning making and boundary keeping on twitch. *Journal of Electronic Gaming and Esports*, 1(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1123/jege.2022-0042
- Guthold, R., Stevens, G. A., Riley, L. M., & Bull, F. C. (2020). Global trends in insufficient physical activity among adolescents: A pooled analysis of 298 population-based surveys with 1.6 million participants. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 4(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30323-2
- Holl, E., Sischka, P., Wagener, G. L., & Melzer, A. (2024). The motivation to play scale (MOPS)–Introducing a validated measure of gaming motivation. *Current Psychology*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12144-024-06631-z
- Hygen, B. W., Belsky, J., Stenseng, F., Steinsbekk, S., Wichstrøm, L., & Skalicka, V. (2022). Longitudinal relations between gaming, physical activity, and athletic self-esteem. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 132, Article 107252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2022.107252
- Kahn, A. S., Shen, C., Lu, L., Ratan, R. A., Coary, S., Hou, J., Meng, J., Osborn, J., & Williams, D. (2015). The Trojan player typology: A cross-genre, cross-cultural, behaviorally validated scale of video game play motivations. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 49, 354–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.03.018
- King, D., Delfabbro, P., & Griffiths, M. (2010). Video game structural characteristics: A new psychological taxonomy. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *8*, 90–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-009-9206-4
- King, R., & de la Hera, T. (2020). Fortnite streamers as influencers: A study on gamers' perceptions. *The Computer Games Journal*, 9(4), 349–368. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40869-020-00112-6
- Koski, P. (2008). Physical activity relationship (PAR). International Review for The Sociology of Sport, 43(2), 151–163. https://doi.org/10.1177/1012690208095374
- Koski, P. (2015). Liikunnan merkitykset. In S. Kokko & R. Hämylä (Eds.), *Lasten ja nuorten liikuntakäyttäytyminen Suomessa: LIITU-tutkimuksen tuloksia 2014* (pp. 27–32). Valtion liikuntaneuvosto. https://www.liikuntaneuvosto.fi/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Liitu-raportti_2015.pdf
- Koski, P. (2017). Liikuntasuhde ja liikuntakasvatus. In T. Jaakkola, J. Liukkonen, & A. Sääkslahti (Eds.), *Liikuntapedagogiikka* (pp. 83–109). PS-kustannus.
- Koski, P., Hirvensalo, M., Villberg, J., & Kokko, S. (2022). Young people in the social world of physical activities: Meanings and barriers. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(9), Article 5466. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19095466
- Koski, P., & Tähtinen, J. (2005). Liikunnan merkitykset nuoruudessa. Nuorisotutkimus, 23(1), 3-21.
- Koski, P., & Zacheus, T. (2012). Physical activity relationship during the lifespan. In J. Kivirauma,
 A. Jauhiainen, P. Seppänen, & T. Kaunisto (Eds.), *Social perspectives on education* (pp. 367–386). Suomen kasvatustieteellinen seura.
- Lal, B. B. (1995). Symbolic interaction theories. American Behavioral Scientist, 38(3), 421–441. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0002764295038003005
- Lizandra, J., Devís-Devís, J., Valencia-Peris, A., Tomás, J. M., & Peiró-Velert, C. (2019). Screen time and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity changes and displacement in adolescence: A prospective cohort study. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 19(5), 686–695. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2018. 1548649
- McCauley, B., Nguyen, T. H. T., McDonald, M., & Wearing, S. (2020). Digital gaming culture in Vietnam: An exploratory study. *Leisure Studies*, *39*, 372–386. https://doi.org/10.1080/02614367.2020.1731842



- McDonnell, T. E. (2023). Cultural objects, material culture, and materiality. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 49, 195–220. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-031021-041439
- Mekler, E. D., Bopp, J. A., Tuch, A. N., & Opwis, K. (2014). A systematic review of quantitative studies on the enjoyment of digital entertainment games. In M. Jones & P. Palanque (Eds.), CHI '14: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (pp. 927–936). ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 2556288.2557078
- Meriläinen, M. (2023). Young people's engagement with digital gaming cultures—Validating and developing the digital gaming relationship theory. *Entertainment Computing*, 44, Article 100538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.entcom.2022.100538
- Meriläinen, M., & Ruotsalainen, M. (2023). The light, the dark, and everything else: Making sense of young people's digital gaming. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14, Article 1164992. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023. 1164992
- Nozick, R. (1981). Philosophical explanations. Harvard University Press.
- Ogden, C. K., & Richards, I. A. (1989). The meaning of meaning. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich.
- Olson, C. K. (2010). Children's motivations for video game play in the context of normal development. *Review* of General Psychology, 14(2), 180–187. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018984
- Passmore, C. J., & Mandryk, R. L. (2020). A taxonomy of coping strategies and discriminatory stressors in digital gaming. *Frontiers in Computer Science*, 2, Article 40. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomp.2020.00040
- Possler, D. (2024). Video games as meaningful or eudaimonic experiences. In M. Powers (Ed.), Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Communication. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228613.013.1485
- Possler, D., Bowman, N. D., & Daneels, R. (2023). Explaining the formation of eudaimonic gaming experiences: A theoretical overview and systemization based on interactivity and game elements. *Frontiers in Communication*, 8, Article 1215960. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomm.2023.1215960
- Przybylski, A. K., Rigby, C. S., & Ryan, R. M. (2010). A motivational model of video game engagement. *Review* of General Psychology, 14(2), 154–166. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019440
- Recours, R. A., Souville, M., & Griffet, J. (2004). Expressed motives for informal and club/association-based sports participation. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *36*(1), 1–22.
- Reysen, S., & Lloyd, J. D. (2012). Fanship and fandom in cyber space. In Z. Yan (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of cyber* behavior (pp. 292–300). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-0315-8.ch025
- Rovio, E., & Saaranen-Kauppinen, A. (2014). Liikunta arjen armoilla. In E. Rovio, A. Saaranen-Kauppinen, & T. Pyykkönen (Eds.), *Liikuntakynnyksen yli–ohjelmista ihmisen kohtaamiseen* (pp. 13–25). Liikuntatieteellinen Seura. https://www.lts.fi/media/lts_julkaisut/impulssit/imp_28_netti_korj270114.pdf
- Sokka, M. (2021). Digipelisuhdetta määrittelemässä: Mikä pelipalvelimilla vetää puoleensa? UTUPub.
- Strauss, A. (1978). A social world perspective. In N. Denzin (Ed.), *Studies in symbolic interaction* (pp. 119–128). JAI Press.
- Takeuchi, L. (2011). Kids closer up: Playing, learning, and growing with digital media. *International Journal of Learning and Media*, 3(2), 37–59. https://doi.org/10.1162/IJLM_A_00068
- Thiborg, J. (2009, June 15–17). *eSport and governing bodies*—An outline for a research project and preliminary *results* [Paper presentation]. Kultur-Natur, Konferens för kulturstudier i Sverige, Norrköping, Sweden. http://muep.mau.se/handle/2043/10746
- Turtiainen, R. (2022). Liikunta, urheilu ja pelaaminen. In U. Friman, J. Arjoranta, J. Kinnunen, K. Heljakka, & J. Stenros (Eds.), *Pelit kulttuurina* (pp. 197–218). Vastapaino.
- Unruh, D. (1979). Characteristics and types of participation in social worlds. *Symbolic Interaction*, 2, 115–130. https://doi.org/10.1525/si.1979.2.2.115



- Unruh, D. (1980). The nature of social worlds. *The Pacific Sociological Review*, 23(3), 271–296. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/1388823
- Vahlo, J. (2018). In gameplay: The invariant structures and varieties of the video game gameplay experience. UTUPub.
- Van Petegem, S., de Ferrerre, E., Soenens, B., van Rooij, A. J., & Van Looy, J. (2019). Parents' degree and style of restrictive mediation of young children's digital gaming: Associations with parental attitudes and perceived child adjustment. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 28(5), 1379–1391. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-019-01368-x
- Webster, J. G. (2014). The marketplace of attention: How audiences take shape in a digital age. MIT Press. https:// doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/9892.001.0001
- Yee, N., Ducheneaut, N., & Nelson, L. (2012). Online gaming motivations scale: Development and validation. In J. A. Konstan (Ed.), CHI i12: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (pp. 2803–2806). ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/2207676.2208681

About the Authors



Miikka Sokka is a PhD student at the university of Turku, Finland. He is a project researcher of the PAGA study, funded by the Finnish Ministry of Education and Culture. His current research focuses on individuals' relationships with digital gaming, as well as connections between physical activities and gaming activities in peoples' lives. These are also the themes of his doctoral thesis, which is currently in progress.



Kwok Ng (PhD) is a senior research fellow at the University of Turku and is the lead researcher for the PAGA study, funded by the Finnish Ministry of Education and Culture. He holds joint posts at the Physical Activity for Health Research Centre, Health Research Institute, Department of Physical Education and Sport Sciences, University of Limerick, Ireland, as well as the Institute of Innovation and Sports Science, Lithuanian Sports University, Lithuania.



Sami Kokko is a professor of health promotion in the faculty of sport and health sciences at the University of Jyväskylä, Finland. He is a principal investigator of the National Health Promoting Sports Club study and national school-aged physical activity behavior study. His main research interests are settings-based health promotion, especially in sports club settings, and physical activity/sports-related topics. His publications have contributed not only to science, but also to health and physical activity promotion policy and practices.



Pasi Koski is a professor of physical education at the University of Turku, Finland. Koski's versatile research covers different aspects of sport, physical activities, and physical education from sociological and cultural perspectives. One of the main areas has been sport and physical activities of young people. His list of publications includes over 300 items, and his contributions have been published in 10 different languages.

ARTICLE



Open Access Journal

A Survey Study on Public Attitudes Toward Gaming Disorder

Felix Reer[®], Lena Maria Küpper[®], Florian Wintterlin[®], and Thorsten Quandt[®]

Department of Communication, University of Münster, Germany

Correspondence: Felix Reer (felix.reer@uni-muenster.de)

Submitted: 15 May 2024 Accepted: 24 September 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

The World Health Organization's decision to include addictive game use ("gaming disorder") in the International Classification of Diseases was the subject of controversial scientific debates (e.g., Aarseth et al., 2017; Rumpf et al., 2018; for an overview, see Reer & Quandt, 2021). However, knowledge is scarce on how addictive game use is perceived outside of academic circles (Schatto-Eckrodt et al., 2020). The current study aimed to fill this research gap by interviewing a stratified German sample (N = 1,075) on their attitudes toward the topic. We found that critical views about games and their addiction potential are rather common among the German general population. Further, we found evidence that many participants overestimated the number of players affected by gaming disorder. Regression analyses showed that age, gender, and gaming experience play a role in how individuals think about risks associated with game use. Interestingly, having heard about the topic in the media was associated with more critical attitudes and higher presumed prevalence rates. More exchange between scholars and the wider public is needed to increase knowledge on the topic. Further, media reports on gaming disorder should cover the latest research findings and the opposing views of scientists.

Keywords

computer games; digital games; gaming addiction; gaming disorder; problematic game use; societal perception; video games

1. Introduction

Playing digital games is one of the most popular leisure-time activities worldwide: According to the American Entertainment Software Association, 212.6 million Americans play digital games one hour or more per week, which equals 65% of the US population (American Entertainment Software Association, 2023). In European



countries like Germany (where the current study was conducted), six out of 10 people in the age group of 6 to 69 years play digital games (Game–Verband der deutschen Games-Branche, 2023). The number of gamers worldwide was estimated to be 3.42 billion in 2024 (Newzoo, 2024).

However, notwithstanding this popularity, there have always been worries in parts of academia and society concerning the possible negative impacts of playing digital games (e.g., Ferguson & Beaver, 2017; Przybylski, 2014; Reer et al., 2024). Despite a growing number of studies considering the beneficial effects of gaming, there is some evidence that media coverage still often portrays games and gamers in a biased and sensationalistic manner (e.g., Bigl & Schlegelmilch, 2021; Jung, 2019; Whitton & Maclure, 2017). Regarding the addiction potential of digital games, the media frequently report extreme cases of adolescents or younger adults who develop serious problems because of their excessive gaming behavior and thus have to undergo medical treatment (e.g., Reumschüssel, 2012; von Hayek, 2020). The topic received particular attention in 2019 when the World Health Organization (WHO) confirmed the inclusion of addictive game use ("gaming disorder" [GD]) in the 11th edition of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11; WHO, 2024).

What is less well-known among the wider population is that the WHO's decision to include GD in the ICD-11 was controversial among scholars (Reer & Quandt, 2021). An analysis of the X (formerly Twitter) debate about GD showed that the topic was discussed not only in academia and the health sector but also among other societal groups, such as parents, journalists, and gamers (Schatto-Eckrodt et al., 2020). However, it is important to note that only a relatively small percentage of gamers are affected by GD: For example, in Germany, a representative survey of internet users aged 14 to 39 years found prevalence rates of 2.4% among gamers and 1.9% among the entire population (Reer et al., 2021). A recent meta-analysis reported an average worldwide GD prevalence rate of around 3% (1.96% if only studies with stratified samples are considered; Stevens, Dorstyn, et al., 2021).

In general, little is known about how addictive game use is perceived in society as a whole. The topic is of societal relevance, as a lack of knowledge about GD, disproportionately critical opinions on games, and a systematic overestimation of the prevalence rate could, for example, fuel unfounded worries and lead to wrong decisions concerning the regulation of gaming. Further, individuals suffering from addictions (including behavioral addictions, such as GD or gambling disorder) face public stigmatization and experience blame and social distancing (e.g., Peter et al., 2019). Such negative effects could also affect players who are mistakenly thought to be addicted to digital games.

In the current study, we surveyed a stratified German sample of internet users aged 16 to 84 years on their attitudes toward the topic. Besides providing descriptive insights into how the general population thinks about disordered game use, we additionally examined different factors that might contribute to a more critical vs. a more liberal opinion.

1.1. The GD Debate

The WHO was not the first health organization to include addictive game use in its diagnostical manual (Reer & Quandt, 2021). In 2013, the American Psychiatric Association included "internet gaming disorder" (IGD) in the 5th edition of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM-5). Referred to as a



"condition for further study," IGD is defined by nine criteria (e.g., preoccupation, withdrawal, or loss of interest in other activities), five of which must be observable for one year or more before a diagnosis can be considered (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Several scholars criticized the inclusion of IGD in the DSM-5 and expressed concerns about the decision-making process underlying the proposal, as well as about the proposed diagnostic criteria (Reer & Quandt, 2021).

Kardefelt-Winther (2015) argued that many IGD criteria were adopted from substance use disorders or gambling and do not fit the context of gaming very well. For example, he stated that it is not uncommon to feel preoccupied with a favorite leisure-time activity (be it gaming) to a certain degree and to experience frustration (similar to withdrawal symptoms) when not being able to play for a longer period of time (Kardefelt-Winther, 2015). To adequately distinguish between enthusiastic healthy engagement and harmful addictive behavior, it is most important to examine whether serious psychosocial and functional impairments can be observed (Kardefelt-Winther et al., 2017).

A wide spectrum of additional arguments against the DSM-5 proposal were put forward (Reer & Quandt, 2021): For example, other authors argued that the "internet" in IGD is misleading since this terminology inadequately suggests that excessive play only concerns online (and not offline) gaming (Kuss et al., 2017). In general, IGD, as defined in the DSM-5, "is lacking a well-defined object" (Quandt, 2017, p. 121), and the classification of excessive gaming as a behavioral addiction may have a negative impact on how gaming is perceived in society, possibly leading to a pathologization of a normal leisure behavior (Kardefelt-Winther et al., 2017; Quandt, 2017).

Notwithstanding these critical voices, the WHO in 2019 decided to fully recognize GD as a diagnosis in the ICD-11 (WHO, 2024). The ICD-11 defines GD as:

A pattern of persistent or recurrent gaming behaviour ("digital gaming" or "video-gaming"), which may be online (i.e., over the internet) or offline, manifested by: 1. impaired control over gaming (e.g., onset, frequency, intensity, duration, termination, context); 2. increasing priority given to gaming to the extent that gaming takes precedence over other life interests and daily activities; and 3. continuation or escalation of gaming despite the occurrence of negative consequences. The pattern of gaming behaviour may be continuous or episodic and recurrent. The pattern of gaming behaviour results in marked distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. The gaming behaviour and other features are normally evident over a period of at least 12 months in order for a diagnosis to be assigned, although the required duration may be shortened if all diagnostic requirements are met and symptoms are severe. (WHO, 2024)

Notably, some of the concerns raised against the DSM-5 criteria were addressed by the WHO (Reer & Quandt, 2021). For example, controversial criteria such as preoccupation are not part of the ICD-11 GD definition, while functional impairment is stressed (Billieux et al., 2017; Reer & Quandt, 2021).

Even more so than the inclusion of IGD as a "condition for further study" in the DSM-5, the full recognition of GD as a mental condition in the ICD-11 sparked debate among scholars (Reer & Quandt, 2021): For



example, a group of researchers questioned the scientific basis of the decision, coming to the conclusion that full recognition of GD as a formal diagnosis is premature. In consequence, premature diagnoses could occur, leading to an increase in false-positive cases and incorrect treatment (Aarseth et al., 2017; van Rooij et al., 2018). Further, policy on games could change, and the large majority of healthy gamers may be negatively affected (Aarseth et al., 2017). There were also concerns as to whether GD constitutes a unique disorder or whether it is more a symptom of other underlying mental problems (Bean et al., 2017; Ferguson et al., 2020).

In contrast, others supported the decision of the WHO (Reer & Quandt, 2021), stressing that the inclusion of GD in the ICD-11 is necessary from a clinical perspective to establish professional treatment (e.g., Higuchi et al., 2017; Rumpf et al., 2018; van den Brink, 2017). Accordingly, the points raised by Aarseth et al. (2017) and van Rooij et al. (2018) might carry the risk that health insurance companies adopt these arguments to refuse payment for therapies (Rumpf et al., 2018). Király and Demetrovics (2017) argue that even though some of the concerns raised against the ICD-11 GD criteria are legitimate, the advantages of the classification outweigh the disadvantages.

The disagreements among scientists were also reflected in a study by Ferguson and Colwell (2020), who surveyed 214 scholars about their opinions on the DSM-5 and ICD-11 classifications of GD. Ferguson and Colwell (2020) found that 60.8% of the participants agreed that addictive gaming is indeed a mental disorder (30.4% disagreed). Further, 49.7% agreed that the DSM-5 criteria are valid (36.7% disagreement), while slightly more (56.5%) agreed that the ICD-11 GD diagnosis criteria are valid (33.1% disagreement; Ferguson & Colwell, 2020). Interestingly, 54.9% stated they were worried that healthy youths may be pathologized based on the WHO GD criteria (36% disagreement), and 43.5% agreed that gaming addiction diagnoses may be more harmful than useful (47.7% disagreement; Ferguson & Colwell, 2020).

1.2. Media Coverage and Societal Perception of GD

While the debate articles that were published about the inclusion of GD in the DSM-5 and ICD-11 give a good impression of researchers' controversial opinions, much less is known about how the wider public thinks about the topic and how good knowledge of the state of research is beyond academia (Schatto-Eckrodt et al., 2020). In the current study, we were particularly interested in how well German citizens are able to realistically estimate the prevalence of GD and how widespread critical vs. liberal opinions on the topic are.

A few survey studies have tried to capture how games and gamers are perceived in society (e.g., Kort-Butler, 2021; Kowert et al., 2012; Przybylski, 2014; Stone, 2019), most of them not focusing on addictive use. Further, there are some content analyses examining how the media report on gaming-related topics (e.g., Bigl & Schlegelmilch, 2021; Jung, 2019; Whitton & Maclure, 2017).

Researchers often discuss whether the way gamers are portrayed in the media contributes to the persistence of moral panics (Bowman, 2016; Ferguson & Beaver, 2017; Sørensen, 2013). Moral panics are defined as periods when "a condition, episode, person or group of persons emerges to become defined as a threat to societal values and interests; its nature is presented in a stylized and stereotypical fashion by the mass media" (Cohen, 2002, p. 1, as cited in Sørensen, 2013, p. 965).

Indeed, media reports have associated the use of games with several negative effects, such as the displacement of more valuable activities, risks to physical health, negative social effects, and an increased



risk of violence (Bowman, 2016; Jung, 2019; McKernan, 2013). An analysis of the press coverage following the school shooting in Emsdetten (Germany) in 2006 showed that reportage about violent games was rather fragmented but that violent games were repeatedly presented as a field of political intervention, with discussion of bans to prevent such incidents in the future (Sørensen, 2013). A few content analyses have also identified favorable topic frames, for example, gaming as an emotional outlet that may enhance certain cognitive skills (Williams, 2003), as a "valuable artistic form" (McKernan, 2013, p. 308), or in relation to aspects of "team play and tactics, prudence, strategy and communication" (Sørensen, 2013, p. 972). However, several studies have found that media representations of gaming are still often negative, biased, stereotypical, or sensationalistic (Bigl & Schlegelmilch, 2021; Jung, 2019; Whitton & Maclure, 2017; Williams, 2003).

This rather negative image of gaming is also observable in survey studies that examined perceptions and opinions relating to games and gamers. For example, Kowert et al. (2012) conducted a survey of 342 internet users and found that negative stereotypes about gamers (e.g., being unattractive, overweight, or socially inept) were widespread and that especially non-gamers to a certain degree tended to adopt them as personal opinions. In a more recent study, Stone (2019) found that even though perceptions of gamers had changed to some extent, negative stereotypes were still prevalent. Notably, several studies have indicated that the extent to which negative stereotypes are internalized depends on various factors, including age, gender, self-identification as a gamer, and gaming habits (Kort-Butler, 2021; Kowert et al., 2012; Przybylski, 2014; Stone, 2021).

Further, research has sporadically examined the interplay between media coverage or reception and perceptions of gaming (e.g., Jung, 2019; Kümpel & Haas, 2016). For example, Jung (2019) conducted a multi-method study in Korea (combining an analysis of news content and a survey) and found evidence that "exposure to mass media that highlights the negative aspects of games has strong impacts on attitudes toward game regulation and leads people to agree with the idea that game playing has negative connotations" (p. 157).

However, only a few studies have explicitly focused on the societal perception of addictive game use. Carter et al. (2020) conducted qualitative interviews with 29 young gamers aged 9 to 14 years and asked them about their opinions and perspectives on GD. They reported that knowledge of what constitutes addictive behaviors was rather low and that GD, enthusiasm for a game, and high engagement were often conflated. Further, they found clear indications that the media discourse played a significant role in how children perceived games and GD, potentially contributing to a stigmatization of digital game use (Carter et al., 2020). This finding is in line with a quantitative content analysis examining media coverage of the WHO's decision to include GD in the ICD-11: Examining 513 newspaper articles published between June 2018 and June 2019, Parrott et al. (2020) found that the opinions of health professionals were overrepresented, while gamers' perspectives were rarely considered. Further, they observed that the media seldomly reported about the controversial debate among game scholars, but simplified the complexity of the topic and apparently legitimized the WHO's decision (Parrott et al., 2020). A computational analysis of the X debate surrounding the WHO decision showed that the topic was in fact also discussed among gamers and the wider public, with many posts opposing the classification of GD in the ICD-11 (Schatto-Eckrodt et al., 2020).



1.3. The Current Study

As outlined above, research on the societal perception of addictive game use is scarce. Following an explorative attempt, we asked the following research question:

RQ1: How is addictive game use perceived in society?

We additionally aimed to provide a deeper understanding of the underlying explanatory factors that could contribute to a more critical vs. a more liberal view of games and their addiction potential. Based on the literature outlined above, we identified several factors that might play a role here.

Studies have found that older age (e.g., Jung, 2019; Przybylski, 2014), female gender (Jung, 2019; Przybylski, 2014), non-identification as a gamer (e.g., Kort-Butler, 2021; Kowert et al., 2012; Stone, 2021), and a lack of personal experiences with games (e.g., Kort-Butler, 2021; Kowert et al., 2012; Przybylski, 2014; Quandt et al., 2015) were associated with more critical attitudes and beliefs in stereotypes on games and gamers. Against this background, we posed the following hypotheses:

H1: Age is positively associated with more critical attitudes toward games (H1a) and a higher presumed GD prevalence rate (H1b).

H2: Female gender is positively associated with more critical attitudes toward games (H2a) and a higher presumed GD prevalence rate (H2b).

H3: Playing time is negatively associated with more critical attitudes toward games (H3a) and a higher presumed GD prevalence rate (H3b).

H4: Never having played a digital game is positively associated with more critical attitudes toward games (H4a) and a higher presumed GD prevalence rate (H4b).

H5: Gamer identity is negatively associated with more critical attitudes toward games (H5a) and a higher presumed GD prevalence rate (H5b).

Some studies found evidence that personal experiences with addictions can influence how individuals perceive the risks of substances like alcohol or tobacco (e.g., Koski-Jännes et al., 2012; Weinandy, 2023). We hypothesized that those who have experiences with GD themselves or who personally know someone who is assumingly affected by GD might hold more critical views:

H6: Self-identification as addicted to digital games is positively associated with more critical attitudes toward games (H6a) and a higher presumed GD prevalence rate (H6b).

H7: Knowing someone who is thought to be addicted to games is positively associated with more critical attitudes toward games (H7a) and a higher presumed GD prevalence rate (H7b).

There is some indication that the media often report about games (e.g., Bigl & Schlegelmilch, 2021; Jung, 2019; Whitton & Maclure, 2017) and GD (e.g., Parrott et al., 2020) in a rather unbalanced manner, potentially


influencing audience perceptions (Carter et al., 2020; Jung, 2019; Kümpel & Haas, 2016) and thus contributing to stigmatization and moral panic (Bowman, 2016; Carter et al., 2020; Ferguson & Beaver, 2017). Also, some scholars have argued that the classification of GD in the ICD-11 in general might contribute to moral panic and a stigmatization of players (e.g., Aarseth et al., 2017). Knowledge of the WHO decision might therefore be another factor that could foster critical views. We hypothesized:

H8: Consumption of media reports on GD is positively associated with more critical attitudes toward games (H8a) and a higher presumed GD prevalence rate (H8b).

H9: Knowledge of the WHO decision to include GD as a diagnosis in the ICD-11 is positively associated with more critical attitudes toward games (H9a) and a higher presumed GD prevalence rate (H9b).

Finally, we also considered two more general factors: personality and education. We assumed that individuals with a fearful personality and a generally dangerous worldview (e.g., Leiser et al., 2017) might tend to have more concerns that games can have negative impacts on players. Further, we asked how formal education is related to the perception of games and their addiction potential. We posed the following hypotheses:

H10: A scary worldview is positively associated with more critical attitudes toward games (H10a) and a higher presumed GD prevalence rate (H10b)

RQ2: How is education related to attitudes toward games (RQ2a) and presumed GD prevalence rate (RQ2b)?

2. Methods

The central aims of the study were to gain information about how the German general population thinks about games and their addiction potential and to identify predictors of more liberal vs. more critical opinions. In order to achieve these goals, a quantitative stratified survey seemed particularly suitable, since it allows the collection of descriptive data and to conduct regression analyses to examine the hypotheses. Against the background of these considerations, the study was conducted as part of a larger quantitative online survey project carried out in cooperation with a leading professional German survey research institute.

The external survey institute followed the ethical guidelines of the International Code on Market, Opinion and Social Research and Data Analytics by the International Chamber of Commerce and the European Society for Opinion and Market Research to provide high research and data protection standards to the participants. Further, the study procedures were confirmed by the university department's research ethics board.

The survey questions were selected and designed by the authors of this article. The survey research institute programmed the online questionnaire, conducted a technical pretest, and recruited the participants via an online access panel to participate in computer-assisted web-based interviews. A stratification procedure (criteria: gender, age, living region in Germany) was applied to more closely match the sample with the German general population.



The dataset provided by the survey research institute consisted of 1,108 cases. Before analyzing the data, the dataset was screened for invalid cases. One person reported an unrealistically high internet usage time of 9,600 minutes per week (160 hours) and also showed signs of straight-lining. The person's data were deleted from the dataset. Another 30 cases were also deleted for straight-lining and two for highly implausible answers. The final sample consisted of 1,075 German internet users aged 16–84 years (mean age: 44.93, SD = 16.70; 48.8% female, 51.1% male, 0.1% diverse).

2.1. Measures

The online questionnaire consisted of different thematic blocks (including parts not relevant to the current study). The first block focused on demographic data (area of residence in Germany, age, and gender). The second block consisted of questions on the use of different types of media. The questions on game use were introduced as follows:

In the following section, we are interested in the use of computer games. By computer games, we understand all forms of digital games that are played online or offline, e.g., via a desktop computer, laptop, tablet, gaming console, or mobile device, such as a smartphone.

In the survey, we used the term *addiction* when referring to disordered use. We are of course aware that there are discussions among scholars about whether the term should be used in the context of gaming (e.g., Ferguson et al., 2020; Reer & Quandt, 2021). However, we deliberately used it in the survey because this is the term most people are familiar with, while alternative terms such as *GD* or *problematic gaming* are possibly unknown among the general public.

Several questions addressed demographics and background factors. We asked the participants about their gender and age. Formal education was assessed by asking the participants about the German school-leaving qualification they had achieved. Participants who were still attending school were asked about the type of school. To measure individual differences in the general perception of the world, we adopted the 5-item dangerous worldview scale by Leiser et al. (2017; for original items, see Altemeyer, 1988; Duckitt et al., 2002). The scale consists of statements about how dangerous people in general perceive their social surroundings ("any day now chaos and anarchy could erupt around us, all the signs are pointing to it"; 1 = strongly disagree, 6 = strongly agree; Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.808$, M = 3.36, SD = 1.04).

Concerning attitudes toward (addictive) game use, the existing quantitative studies on public perceptions of games and gamers had a different focus than that of the current study, and, for example, examined beliefs in aggression risks associated with playing violent games (Przybylski, 2014), general stereotypes associated with gamers (Kowert et al., 2012; Stone, 2021), or stigmatization of addicted gamers (Peter et al., 2019). Other studies that included items on attitudes toward GD were conducted among experts and not among the general public (e.g., Ferguson & Colwell, 2017, 2020; Quandt et al., 2015). In the absence of a suitable existing scale, eight items were created to measure critical attitudes toward games, primarily focusing on addictive use. They were rated on a scale ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree. The survey block containing the items on addictive gaming was presented using the following instruction: "We will now again focus on the topic of computer games. We are interested in your opinion: How much do you agree with the following statements?" A full list of all items and descriptive statistics is provided in Table 1. A principal axis factor



analysis (varimax rotation; eigenvalue > 1) showed that all eight items loaded highly on one single factor that explained 62.56% of the initial variance. We computed a mean index of the eight items ($\alpha = 0.913$, M = 3.28, SD = 1.01). A high mean value indicates a stronger belief in the harmfulness and addictiveness of games, while a low value indicates a more liberal opinion. Additionally, using a slider from 0 to 100%, the participants were asked to estimate the prevalence rate of addicts among game users ("Please estimate: What percentage of computer game users are addicted to them?").

Further, the questionnaire included several gaming-related measurements. Participants were asked how much time they spent gaming in a normal/average week. In total, 227 participants indicated that they have never actively played a digital game and 259 stated that they currently do not play. The average weekly game usage time was 4.42 hours (SD = 8.00) among the entire sample (including non-gamers), and 8.15 hours (SD = 9.36) among active gamers (playing time > 0.00 hours). Three items were used to measure the participants' level of identification as a gamer (based on Ellemers et al., 1999; Tang et al., 2020; e.g., "I identify with other gamers"; 1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree; M = 1.65, SD = 1.03, $\alpha = 0.908$).

Lastly, the participants were asked about personal experiences with addictive gaming and knowledge about the WHO decision. We asked them whether they would consider themselves addicted to computer games and whether they know someone personally whom they would consider addicted. A single item rated on a 5-point scale (1 = never to 5 = very often) was used to measure how often the participants have heard something about computer game addiction in the media (M = 2.38, SD = 0.89). Finally, the participants were asked whether they are aware of the WHO's decision to include GD in the ICD-11.

3. Results

To answer RQ1, we calculated descriptive statistics for all eight items on attitudes toward addictive game use. For simplification, we aggregated options one and two (disagreement), and options four and five (agreement) of the provided 5-point scale.

As can be seen in Table 1, most participants had a rather critical view of games. A majority showed agreement that games can be addictive, that their addiction potential is similar to that of alcohol or cigarettes, that professional therapies are needed, that game addiction is a serious societal risk, and that official acknowledgment is useful. Results concerning statements on stricter laws, a prohibition of particular games, and the comparability of game addiction with heroin and cocaine abuse were more balanced.

The participants on average considered 36.70% of gamers to be addicted (SD = 23.52). The median for the estimated prevalence rate was 32%. Overall, 2.8% of the participants would consider themselves addicted, while 24.7% indicated personally knowing someone whom they would consider addicted to computer games. Interestingly, only 16.2% of the participants were aware of the WHO decision.

To examine the hypotheses, two regression models were calculated: one predicting the mean index of attitudes toward game addiction, and one predicting the presumed prevalence rate (see Table 2). Education (high = 1) and gender (female = 1) were dichotomized. To account for non-normality, bootstrapping with 95% bias-corrected and accelerated confidence intervals (*CI*) was applied (10,000 bootstrap samples).



Торіс	Item	M (SD)	Disagreement (1 and 2)	(3)	Agreement (4 and 5)
Addictiveness	Computer games can be addictive	4.05 (1.11)	118 11%	138 12.8%	819 76.2%
Alcohol/nicotine	The addiction potential of computer games is similar to alcohol or cigarettes	3.45 (1.24)	243 22.6%	261 24.3%	571 53.1%
Heroin/cocaine	The addiction potential of computer games is similar to heroin or cocaine	2.87 (1.31)	426 39.6%	284 26.4%	365 34%
Stricter laws	We need stricter legal regulations of computer games	2.87 (1.35)	436 40.6%	276 25.7%	363 33.8%
Prohibition	Some computer games should be forbidden because of their addiction potential	3.02 (1.45)	409 38%	234 21.8%	432 40.2%
Therapies	We need professional therapies and facilities for the treatment of computer game addiction	3.36 (1.22)	236 22%	311 28.9%	528 49.1%
Societal risk	The addiction potential of computer games is a serious societal risk	3.28 (1.26)	294 27.3%	280 26%	501 46.6%
Acknowledgment	An official acknowledgment of computer games addiction as a diagnosable disease is useful	3.36 (1.27)	262 24.4%	284 26.4%	529 49.2%

Table 1. List of items on attitudes toward gaming addiction.

We found that age predicted more critical views toward games but was not significantly related to a higher presumed prevalence rate. Thus, hypothesis H1a was confirmed, while H1b had to be rejected. H2a and H2b were both confirmed, as female gender was positively related to more critical attitudes as well as to higher presumed prevalence rates.

Concerning gaming experiences, we found that never having played a game was positively related to more critical attitudes and a higher presumed prevalence rate (confirming H4a–b), while gaming time was a negative predictor of both dependent variables (confirming H3a–b). Hypothesis H5 was only partly supported, as gamer identity negatively predicted critical attitudes (supporting H5a) but was not significantly related to the presumed prevalence rate (not confirming H5b).

As expected, knowing someone who is thought to be addicted to games predicted more critical attitudes (supporting H7a) and higher presumed prevalence rates (supporting H7b). However, self-identification as someone who is addicted to games only predicted a higher presumed prevalence rate (confirming H6b) and was not significantly related to more critical attitudes (not confirming H6a).

Hypotheses H8a-b predicted a positive effect of media consumption on the two outcome variables and were both supported. Knowledge of the WHO decision showed no significant effect on presumed prevalence rates (H9b). The effect for critical views (H9a) approached significance (p = 0.055); however, the beta coefficient ($\beta = 0.05$) was very small.



Table 2. Regression models.

	Critical attitudes				Presumed prevalence rate			
	B (SE)	Beta	95% CI	р	B (SE)	Beta	95% CI	р
(Constant)	1.53 (0.18)		1.19, 1.89	0.001	6.06 (4.29)		-2.61, 14.78	0.158
Age	0.01 (0.00)	0.20	0.01, 0.02	0.001	0.05 (0.05)	0.04	-0.04, 0.14	0.273
Female gender	0.27 (0.06)	0.14	0.16, 0.38	0.001	6.01 (1.33)	0.13	3.43, 8.49	0.001
High education	0.07 (0.06)	0.03	-0.05, 0.18	0.272	-4.95 (1.42)	-0.10	-7.71, -2.09	0.001
Scary worldview	0.16 (0.03)	0.16	0.10, 0.21	0.001	5.15 (0.68)	0.23	3.84, 6.47	0.001
Gaming hours (week)	-0.01 (0.00)	-0.07	-0.02, -0.001	0.034	-0.28 (0.10)	-0.09	-0.48, -0.09	0.005
Never played game	0.24 (0.07)	0.10	0.09, 0.38	0.001	4.63 (1.74)	0.08	1.25, 8.09	0.007
Gamer identity	-0.16 (0.04)	-0.16	-0.23, -0.09	0.001	-1.33 (0.84)	-0.06	-2.97, 0.26	0.117
Self-identified addict	-0.30 (0.19)	-0.05	-0.69, 0.07	0.101	18.73 (4.19)	0.13	10.27, 26.83	0.001
Knowing an addict	0.34 (0.07)	0.15	0.21, 0.47	0.001	11.97 (1.66)	0.22	8.85, 15.23	0.001
Media consumption	0.28 (0.04)	0.24	0.21, 0.35	0.001	4.20 (0.81)	0.16	2.61, 5.80	0.001
Knowledge WHO	0.14 (0.07)	0.05	-0.01, 0.28	0.055	-0.50 (1.83)	-0.01	-4.02, 3.12	0.788
R ²	0.25				0.22			

Notes: n = 1,064 (11 cases were excluded because the education level was unclear); significance tests and 95% Cl based on bootstrapping (10,000 samples; bias-corrected and accelerated); dichotomous variables were coded with 0 and 1.

Finally, we found that a scary worldview was a significant predictor of both more critical attitudes (supporting H10a) and higher presumed prevalence rates (supporting H10b). Concerning RQ2, we found that high education significantly predicted lower presumed prevalence rates (RQ2b), but no significant effect for critical attitudes (RQ2a) was identified.

Because outliers can influence model estimation, we additionally calculated alternative robust regressions using the "Imrob" function of the "robustbase" package for *R* (Maechler et al., 2024) to compare results. The only remarkable difference in the significance of the predictors was that the *p*-value for knowledge of the WHO decision on critical attitudes turned significant (unstandardized B = 0.16; p < 0.05), while it was not significant in the classical bootstrapping approach (unstandardized B = 0.14; p = 0.055).

4. Discussion

Our results show that critical views about games and their addiction potential are rather common among the German general population. A majority showed agreement that games can be addictive, that their addiction potential is similar to that of alcohol or cigarettes, that professional therapies are needed, that game addiction



is a serious societal risk, and that an acknowledgment of computer game addiction as a diagnosable disease is useful. Notably, about one-third even (rather) agreed that the addiction potential of digital games is similar to that of heroin or cocaine. Further, a considerable number of participants also (rather) agreed that stricter legal regulation of games is needed (33.8%) and that some games should be forbidden because of their addiction potential (40.2%). These findings are in line with previous research showing that even though perceptions of games and gamers have shifted to a certain degree in recent years, negative views are still widespread (Stone, 2019, 2021).

The high average presumed prevalence rate of 36.70% indicates that many participants overestimated the number of players addicted to games. In fact, the global prevalence rate of GD was recently found to lie around 2% to 3% (Stevens, Dorstyn, et al., 2021), and similar rates were also reported for Germany (e.g., Reer et al., 2021). The reasons for the overestimation of GD prevalence may be manifold. The simplest explanation could be that people are generally not very good at estimating numbers. However, it can also be interpreted as a rather widespread misperception of gaming or misunderstandings of the term addiction. Previous studies have shown that knowledge of what constitutes an addiction is rather low and that enthusiastic play and GD are often conflated (Carter et al., 2020). In general, it seems difficult for laypersons to identify (behavioral as well as substance) addictions sufficiently (Jamieson & Dowrick, 2021), and public understanding of the term addiction is complex and goes beyond the diagnostic criteria defined in the ICD-11 or DSM-5 (Weinandy, 2023). Thus, the high estimated prevalence rate could be indicative of difficulties in distinguishing between problematic, addictive, and healthy play. Likewise, the relatively high percentage of participants who stated that they knew someone whom they would consider addicted (24.7%) raises the question of whether this perhaps reflects a lack of knowledge rather than a widespread addiction problem. In this context, it is also noteworthy that only a minority (16.2%) was aware of the WHO decision to officially acknowledge GD. This indicates that the topic and the intensive scientific debate surrounding the decision (e.g., Aarseth et al., 2017; Higuchi et al., 2017; Rumpf et al., 2018; van Rooij et al., 2018) have probably not been noticed by large parts of the German public.

The results of the regression analyses give further insights into what factors play a role in how people think about games and GD. We found that females and older participants were more critical about games, and females also estimated GD prevalence higher. These findings are in line with earlier studies: For example, Jung (2019) found that older persons and females more often supported stronger regulation of games and in general had more negative opinions about games. Przybylski (2014) reported similar results concerning beliefs in aggression effects, finding that "demographic cohorts who did not grow up with games and those who lack concrete gaming experience" (p. 228) were more critical of games. Consistent with this, we found that playing time per week and identification as a gamer were associated with more liberal opinions, and gaming time negatively predicted the presumed prevalence rate. Further, participants who had never actively played a digital game themselves were more critical and estimated the prevalence rate as higher. Thus, negative perceptions of games and overestimations of the addiction problem might to a certain degree be attributed to a lack of personal experience with the subject (e.g., Ferguson & Colwell, 2017, 2020; Kort-Butler, 2021; Kowert et al., 2012; Przybylski, 2014; Quandt et al., 2015). Alternatively, one could argue that individuals who highly identify as gamers and who themselves regularly play tend to be less critical about games.

Further, regression analysis indicated that those who considered themselves addicted to gaming estimated prevalence as higher. Also, knowing someone who was thought to be addicted to gaming was associated



with more critical attitudes and higher estimations of the prevalence rate. Koski-Jännes et al. (2012) found that individuals in treatment perceived the risk of dependence for legal substances like alcohol and tobacco as higher than the general population and health professionals, while non-significant or opposing results were reported for behavioral addictions and illegal substances. Weinandy (2023) reported that individuals with personal addiction experiences perceived some objects as more addictive than individuals without such experiences. We think that it makes sense that individuals who belong to the minority of players affected by GD themselves (or who personally know someone potentially belonging to this group) estimate prevalence rates as higher due to the negative experiences they have had with games. The average player (who may have played for years without experiencing any negative consequences) may consider it less likely that a large proportion of players become addicted to gaming. However, one should consider that the group sizes were small and that the results are based on subjective assessments of one's own (addictive) gaming behavior and the (addictive) gaming behavior of others. Thus, the results should be interpreted cautiously. Further research is needed to verify the influence of personal experiences with GD on the perception of GD.

Several scholars have argued that the inclusion of addictive gaming in the DSM-5 and ICD-11 might lead to a stigmatization of players and a pathologization of a normal leisure-time activity (e.g., Aarseth et al., 2017; Quandt, 2017; van Rooij et al., 2018). However, according to our data, knowledge about the WHO's decision had no significant influence on the estimated GD prevalence rate and influence on critical attitudes was unclear. A recent experimental study indicated that framing problematic gaming as an addictive disorder (in line with the ICD-11 classification) has little influence on the stigmatization of gamers (Galanis et al., 2023). This could be interpreted as a hint that worries concerning a general pathologization of gamers due to the WHO decision could be unfounded. However, more research on this topic is needed to substantiate these findings.

Further, researchers have frequently discussed the role of media coverage in fostering moral panics about games and gaming's potentially negative effects (e.g., Bowman, 2016; Ferguson & Beaver, 2017; Sørensen, 2013). Indeed, studies have shown that the media often portray games in a rather unbalanced manner (e.g., Bigl & Schlegelmilch, 2021; Jung, 2019; Whitton & Maclure, 2017), potentially influencing audience perceptions (Carter et al., 2020; Jung, 2019; Kümpel & Haas, 2016). Accordingly, we found that having heard about the topic in the media was associated with more critical attitudes and higher presumed prevalence rates. This may be interpreted as a hint that the way media reports about GD promotes critical views.

Additionally, we found that some more general background factors play a role in the perception of games and GD: High education was negatively associated with the estimated GD prevalence rate, indicating that individuals with higher formal education estimated the prevalence as lower. A plausible explanation could be that individuals with high education have better knowledge of the topic and therefore are less likely to overestimate the prevalence of GD. Alternatively, one could also argue that persons with high formal education are perhaps in general better at giving estimations for rather abstract concepts, such as the GD prevalence rate. Further, we found that participants with a fearful personality who perceived the social surroundings as dangerous had a more skeptical view of games and estimated GD prevalence as higher.

Finally, we want to emphasize that several other factors that might influence the perception of games and GD but that were out of the scope of the current study could be examined in future research. For example, there is currently considerable discussion about the extent to which predatory mechanisms (such as loot boxes or



micropayments) can increase the addiction potential of games (e.g., Reer & Quandt, 2021; Stevens, Delfabbro, & King, 2021). For example, Stevens, Delfabbro, and King (2021, p. 1) found that "in-game spending features (microtransactions) that resemble or facilitate electronic gambling" are perceived as particularly risky. Further, new technical features that allow a more immersive gaming experience (such as virtual reality technologies) are also discussed as increasing the addictiveness of games (e.g., Reer & Quandt, 2021; Stavropoulos et al., 2019). It seems plausible that such recent developments in the games sector have a particularly large influence on how games and their addiction potential are perceived. Concerning females' critical views of games, they may in part be explained by negative experiences females have had with games. For example, several studies have shown that female gamers are often confronted with hostility and sexual harassment in online gaming contexts (e.g., Fox & Tang, 2017; Tang et al., 2020). Qualitative follow-up studies may be particularly valuable to address some of the questions left open by the current study.

4.1. Limitations

Of course, our study is not free of limitations. For example, the question on the consumption of media coverage did not distinguish between conservative and more liberal media outlets, which could differ in how they report about GD as well as in how audience opinions on games are potentially influenced. Also, one should keep the cultural context of our study in mind when interpreting the results. The study was conducted in a Western industrial country (Germany), and perceptions of GD could be quite different in other cultural contexts. For example, there is evidence that the popularity of gaming in general, but also GD rates, are higher in Asian countries (e.g., Stevens, Dorstyn, et al., 2021). This might influence societal perceptions, which could be an interesting topic for future cross-cultural studies.

A major methodological limitation concerns the cross-sectional survey approach, which did not allow testing for causality. For instance, having a critical view on games might also lead a person to consume more media coverage on the topic. Thus, further research should be conducted with longitudinal and experimental approaches to investigate the relationships between the variables in more detail. Further, it is very likely that there are several additional factors that influence the perception of games and GD that we did not consider in our survey and that could be identified following a qualitative approach. In general, we could only test a very limited set of attitudes toward games and GD and a qualitative follow-up study could help to offer a more complex picture.

Finally, we relied on self-reported data, and effects of social desirability (for example regarding gamer identity or gaming behavior) cannot be ruled out. Further, even though significant, some of the effects we detected were only small and therefore should not be over-interpreted.

4.2. Conclusion

Taken together, our results suggest that critical attitudes toward games are widespread and that the number of gamers affected by GD is often overestimated. Further, profound knowledge about GD seems to be rather low, and personal experience with games seems to play a role in how gaming and GD are perceived. More exchange between digital natives and older cohorts, as well as between gamers and non-gamers, would be desirable to prevent misunderstandings and misconceptions about gaming and GD. Health campaigns could help improve the public's understanding of what constitutes addictive playing and how it can be distinguished



from healthy forms of enthusiastic gaming. Also, research findings are perhaps not sufficiently communicated outside the scientific community. More exchange between scholars and the wider public is needed to increase knowledge on the topic. Further, the media should report on GD in a balanced way that considers the latest research findings and the opposing views of scientists.

Finally, we would like to encourage further research into the perception of games and GD in order to better understand the different opinions in society (and the reasons for these opinions). From a societal perspective, it is important that misconceptions and misunderstandings concerning games and GD are identified to avoid stigmatization of healthy players, but also to adequately help those affected by GD and to minimize the risks gaming has for some players.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the anonymous reviewers for their useful comments.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interests. In this article, editorial decisions were undertaken by Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam) and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid).

References

- Aarseth, E., Bean, A. M., Boonen, H., Carras, M. C., Coulson, M., Das, D., Deleuze, J., Dunkels, E., Edman, J., Ferguson, C. J., Haagsma, M. C., Bergmark, K. H., Hussain, Z., Jansz, J., Kardefelt-Winther, D., Kutner, L., Markey, P., Nielsen, R. K. L., Prause, N., . . . Van Rooij, A. J. (2017). Scholars' open debate paper on the World Health Organization ICD-11 gaming disorder proposal. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 6(3), 267–270.
- Altemeyer, B. (1988). Enemies of freedom: Understanding right-wing authoritarianism. Jossey-Bass.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.).
- Bean, A. M., Nielsen, R. K., van Rooij, A. J., & Ferguson, C. J. (2017). Video game addiction: The push to pathologize video games. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 48(5), 378–389.
- Bigl, B., & Schlegelmilch, C. (2021). Are video games still a boys' club? How German public television covers video games. *Games and Culture*, *16*(7), 798–819.
- Billieux, J., King, D. L., Higuchi, S., Achab, S., Bowden-Jones, H., Hao, W., Long, J., Lee, H. K., Potenza, M. N., Saunders, J. B., & Poznyak, V. (2017). Functional impairment matters in the screening and diagnosis of gaming disorder. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 6(3), 285–289.
- Bowman, N. D. (2016). The rise (and refinement) of moral panic. In R. Kowert & T. Quandt (Eds.), *The video game debate: Unravelling the physical, social, and psychological effects of video games* (pp. 22–38). Routledge.
- Carter, M., Moore, K., Mavoa, J., Gaspard, L., & Horst, H. (2020). Children's perspectives and attitudes towards Fortnite 'addiction.' *Media International Australia*, 176(1), 138–151.
- Duckitt, J., Wagner, C., du Plessis, I., & Birum, I. (2002). The psychological bases of ideology and prejudice: testing a dual process model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83(1), 75–93.
- Ellemers, N., Kortekaas, P., & Ouwerkerk, J. W. (1999). Self-categorisation, commitment to the group and group self-esteem as related but distinct aspects of social identity. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *29* (2/3), 371–389.
- Entertainment Software Association. (2023). *Essential facts about the US video game industry* 2023. https://www.theesa.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/ESA_2023_Essential_Facts_FINAL_07092023.pdf
- Ferguson, C. J., Bean, A. M., Nielsen, R. K., & Smyth, M. P. (2020). Policy on unreliable game addiction diagnoses puts the cart before the horse. *Psychology of Popular Media*, *9*(4), 533–540.



- Ferguson, C. J., & Beaver, K. M. (2017). Who's afraid of the big, bad video game? Media-based moral panics. In D. Chadee (Ed.), *Psychology of fear, crime and the media* (pp. 240–252). Psychology Press.
- Ferguson, C. J., & Colwell, J. (2017). Understanding why scholars hold different views on the influences of video games on public health. *Journal of Communication*, 67(3), 305–327.
- Ferguson, C. J., & Colwell, J. (2020). Lack of consensus among scholars on the issue of video game "addiction." *Psychology of Popular Media*, *9*(3), 359–366.
- Fox, J., & Tang, W. Y. (2017). Women's experiences with general and sexual harassment in online video games: Rumination, organizational responsiveness, withdrawal, and coping strategies. *New Media & Society*, 19(8), 1290–1307.
- Galanis, C. R., Weber, N., Delfabbro, P. H., Billieux, J., & King, D. L. (2023). Gaming disorder and stigma-related judgements of gaming individuals: An online randomized controlled trial. *Addiction*, *118*(9), 1687–1698.
- Game–Verband der deutschen Games-Branche. (2023). Jahresreport der deutschen Games-Branche 2023. https://www.game.de/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/230809GME_Jahresreport_2023_168x240_DE_ Web.pdf
- Higuchi, S., Nakayama, H., Mihara, S., Maezono, M., Kitayuguchi, T., & Hashimoto, T. (2017). Inclusion of gaming disorder criteria in ICD-11: A clinical perspective in favor. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, *6*(3), 293–295.
- Jamieson, S., & Dowrick, C. (2021). Comparing public perceptions of substance addictions and behavioural addictions. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 220, Article 108472.
- Jung, C. W. (2019). Media discourse and perception of game regulatory issues. *The Communication Review*, 22(2), 139–161.
- Kardefelt-Winther, D. (2015). A critical account of DSM-5 criteria for internet gaming disorder. *Addiction Research & Theory*, 23(2), 93–98.
- Kardefelt-Winther, D., Heeren, A., Schimmenti, A., van Rooij, A., Maurage, P., Carras, M., Edman, J., Blaszczynski, A., Khazaal, Y., & Billieux, J. (2017). How can we conceptualize behavioural addiction without pathologizing common behaviours? *Addiction*, *112*(10), 1709–1715.
- Király, O., & Demetrovics, Z. (2017). Inclusion of gaming disorder in ICD has more advantages than disadvantages. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 6(3), 280–284.
- Kort-Butler, L. A. (2021). Gamers on gaming: A research note comparing behaviors and beliefs of gamers, video game players, and non-players. *Sociological Inquiry*, 91(4), 962–982.
- Koski-Jännes, A., Hirschovits-Gerz, T., Pennonen, M., & Nyyssönen, M. (2012). Population, professional and client views on the dangerousness of addictions: Testing the familiarity hypothesis. *Nordic Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, *29*(2), 139–154.
- Kowert, R., Griffiths, M. D., & Oldmeadow, J. A. (2012). Geek or chic? Emerging stereotypes of online gamers. Bulletin of Science, Technology & Society, 32(6), 471–479.
- Kümpel, A. S., & Haas, A. (2016). Framing gaming: The effects of media frames on perceptions of game(r)s. *Games and Culture*, 11(7/8), 720–744.
- Kuss, D. J., Griffiths, M. D., & Pontes, H. M. (2017). Chaos and confusion in DSM-5 diagnosis of internet gaming disorder: Issues, concerns, and recommendations for clarity in the field. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 6(2), 103–109.
- Leiser, D., Duani, N., & Wagner-Egger, P. (2017). The conspiratorial style in lay economic thinking. *PloS one*, 12(3), Article e0171238.
- Maechler, M., Rousseeuw, P., Croux, C., Todorov, V., Ruckstuhl, A., Salibian-Barrera, M., Verbeke, T., Koller, M., Conceicao, E. L. T., & di Palma, M. A. (2024). *Basic robust statistics* [Computer software]. https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/robustbase/robustbase.pdf



- McKernan, B. (2013). The morality of play: Video game coverage in The New York Times from 1980 to 2010. *Games and Culture*, 8(5), 307–329.
- Newzoo. (2024). Global games market report: Free version released August 2024. https://best-of-gaming.be/ wp-content/uploads/2024/09/2024_Newzoo_Global_Games_Market_Report.pdf
- Parrott, S., Rogers, R., Towery, N. A., & Hakim, S. D. (2020). Gaming disorder: News media framing of video game addiction as a mental illness. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 64(5), 815–835.
- Peter, S. C., Li, Q., Pfund, R. A., Whelan, J. P., & Meyers, A. W. (2019). Public stigma across addictive behaviors: Casino gambling, eSports gambling, and Internet gaming. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 35, 247–259.
- Przybylski, A. K. (2014). Who believes electronic games cause real world aggression? *Cyberpsychology*, *Behavior*, *and Social Networking*, 17(4), 228–234.
- Quandt, T. (2017). Stepping back to advance: Why IGD needs an intensified debate instead of a consensus. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 6(2), 121–123.
- Quandt, T., Van Looy, J., Vogelgesang, J., Elson, M., Ivory, J. D., Consalvo, M., & Mäyrä, F. (2015). Digital games research: A survey study on an emerging field and its prevalent debates. *Journal of Communication*, 65(6), 975–996.
- Reer, F., Festl, R., & Quandt, T. (2021). Investigating problematic social media and game use in a nationally representative sample of adolescents and younger adults. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 40(8), 776–789.
- Reer, F., & Quandt, T. (2021). Games addiction: A comprehensive overview. In J. Nussbaum (Ed.), Oxford research encyclopedia of communication. Oxford University Press. https://oxfordre.com/communication/ display/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228613.001.0001/acrefore-9780190228613-e-1154
- Reer, F., Siitonen, M., & de La Hera, T. (2024). The dark and the light side of gaming. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14, Article 1349479.
- Reumschüssel, A. (2012, December 28). Wie der Teufelskreis der Computersucht beginnt. *Welt*. https:// www.welt.de/gesundheit/psychologie/article112274531/Wie-der-Teufelskreis-der-Computersuchtbeginnt.html
- Rumpf, H.-J., Achab, S., Billieux, J., Bowden-Jones, H., Carragher, N., Demetrovics, Z., Higuchi, S., King, D. L., Mann, K., Potenza, M., Saunders, J. B., Abbott, M., Ambekar, A., Aricak, O. T., Assanangkornchai, S., Bahar, N., Borges, G., Brand, M., Chan, E. M.-L., . . . Poznyak, V. (2018). Including gaming disorder in the ICD-11: The need to do so from a clinical and public health perspective. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 7(3), 556–561.
- Schatto-Eckrodt, T., Janzik, R., Reer, F., Boberg, S., & Quandt, T. (2020). A computational approach to analyzing the Twitter debate on gaming disorder. *Media and Communication*, 8(3), 205–218.
- Sørensen, E. (2013). Violent computer games in the German press. New Media & Society, 15(6), 963–981.
- Stavropoulos, V., Burleigh, T. L., Beard, C. L., Gomez, R., & Griffiths, M. D. (2019). Being there: A preliminary study examining the role of presence in internet gaming disorder. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 17, 880–890.
- Stevens, M. W., Delfabbro, P. H., & King, D. L. (2021). Prevention approaches to problem gaming: A large-scale qualitative investigation. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 115, Article 106611.
- Stevens, M. W., Dorstyn, D., Delfabbro, P. H., & King, D. L. (2021). Global prevalence of gaming disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *55*(6), 553–568.
- Stone, J. A. (2019). Self-identification as a "gamer" among college students: Influencing factors and perceived characteristics. *New Media & Society*, *21*(11/12), 2607–2627.
- Stone, J. A. (2021). Uncovering the meaning: Exploring semantic differences in US perceptions of "gamer" and game players. *Games and Culture*, *16*(7), 907–931.



- Tang, W. Y., Reer, F., & Quandt, T. (2020). Investigating sexual harassment in online video games: How personality and context factors are related to toxic sexual behaviors against fellow players. *Aggressive Behavior*, 46(1), 127–135.
- van den Brink, W. (2017). ICD-11 gaming disorder: Needed and just in time or dangerous and much too early? Commentary on: Scholars' open debate paper on the World Health Organization ICD-11 gaming disorder proposal (Aarseth et al.). *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 6(3), 290–292.
- van Rooij, A. J., Ferguson, C. J., Carras, M. C., Kardefelt-Winther, D., Shi, J., Aarseth, E., Bean, A. M., Bergmark, K. H., Brus, A., Coulson, M., Deleuze, J., Dullur, P., Dunkels, E., Edman, J., Elson, M., Etchells, P. J., Fiskaali, A., Granic, I., Jansz, J., . . . Przybylski, A. K. (2018). A weak scientific basis for gaming disorder: Let us err on the side of caution. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 7(1), 1–9.
- von Hayek, S. (2020, October 9). Computerspielsucht: So viel und nie genug. *Berliner Zeitung*. https://www. berliner-zeitung.de/lernen-arbeiten/computerspielsucht-so-viel-und-nie-genug-li.108462
- Weinandy, J. T. G. (2023). Understanding perceptions of levels and indicators of addictiveness and related factors. [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Bowling Green State University.
- Whitton, N., & Maclure, M. (2017). Video game discourses and implications for game-based education. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 38(4), 561–572.
- Williams, D. (2003). The video game lightning rod. Information, Communication & Society, 6(4), 523–550.
- World Health Organization. (2024). 6C51 Gaming disorder. ICD-11 for mortality and morbidity statistics (version 2024–01). https://icd.who.int/browse/2024-01/mms/en#1448597234

About the Authors



Felix Reer is a postdoctoral researcher in the Department of Communication at the University of Münster, Germany. His research interests include social media and online communication, the effects of digital games, and the use of highly immersive media technologies, such as virtual reality and augmented reality devices. He is chair of the Digital Games Research Section of the European Communication Research and Education Association (ECREA).



Lena Maria Küpper is a research associate and PhD student in the Department of Communication at the University of Münster, Germany. Her research addresses questions in the fields of media psychology and journalism, focusing on topics such as (social) media use and well-being, disordered media use, and mental health discourse.



Florian Wintterlin is a postdoctoral researcher in the Department of Communication at the University of Münster, Germany. His research interests encompass journalism and digitalization, alternative media, disinformation and misinformation, trust, and evidence construction.





Thorsten Quandt is the professor of Online Communication at the University of Münster, Germany. His research interests include online communication, digital games, VR, and journalism. He was the founding chair of the Digital Games Research Section of the European Communication Research and Education Association (ECREA).

ARTICLE



Open Access Journal 👌

Beyond Play: Researching the Transformative Power of Digital Gaming in Deeply Mediatized Societies

Christian Schwarzenegger ¹[®], Erik Koenen ²[®], Kerstin Radde-Antweiler ³[®], and Karsten D. Wolf ⁴[®]

Centre for Media, Communication and Information Research (ZeMKI), University of Bremen, Germany

Correspondence: Christian Schwarzenegger (schwarzenegger@uni-bremen.de)

Submitted: 5 June 2024 Accepted: 13 September 2024 Published: 13 February 2025

Issue: This article is part of the issue "Digital Games at the Forefront of Change: On the Meaningfulness of Games and Game Studies" edited by Felix Reer (University of Muenster), Teresa de la Hera (Erasmus University Rotterdam), and Salvador Gómez-García (Complutense University of Madrid), fully open access at https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.i460

Abstract

Digital gaming has evolved from a peripheral activity to a central aspect of mediatized lifeworlds, significantly impacting media culture and society. Despite its pervasive influence, digital gaming research often occupies a marginalized status within broader academic disciplines. This article advocates for recognizing digital gaming as an integral part of the media landscape and understanding its role within a deeply mediatized society. By adopting a holistic perspective, this study emphasizes the interconnectedness of digital gaming with other media forms and cultural practices, highlighting its significance in driving digital transformation. Therefore, we argue for a dual development: one that removes gaming from its segregated special status and recognizes it as an integral part of the media landscape, and another that situates the unique aspects of gaming within the broader context of a society deeply transformed and shaped by media; capturing both its significance and its role as part of the whole. We elaborate on the concept of gamevironments bridging deep mediatization research and communicative figurations to comprehend change brought about by the transformative power of digital gaming in deeply mediatized societies. Gamevironments encompass transmedia figurations and narratives, cross-media adaptations, social interactions, user-generated content, and the cultural and educational impacts of gaming. We discuss the analytical potential of gamevironments along five distinct yet interrelated areas (making of gamevironments, values in and of gamevironments, governance of gamevironments, education in and for gamevironments, and researching gamevironments) to provide a comprehensive view of digital gaming's transformative impact on digital society.

Keywords

communicative figurations; consequence; deep mediatization; digital gaming; emergence; gamevironment; media cultures; transformation



1. Introduction

Digital gaming is no longer a peripheral phenomenon in society. Computer, console, as well as mobile games, are now-and have been for some time-an integral part of deeply mediatized lifeworlds (Engelstätter & Ward, 2022; Wimmer, 2012). They have become one of the dominant sectors in the media industry in terms of economic relevance and user engagement (Goh et al., 2023). Furthermore, games and gaming have been catalysts for the emergence of unique media cultures, playing a crucial role in mediatized everyday culture (Thomas & Brown, 2011). Game development has become well-established and professionalized but also a vivid arena for DIY-amateurism (Aasman et al., 2021) and exploration of technologies and skills (e.g., in modding communities; Gee & Tran, 2016). In this trajectory, digital gaming has fostered innovative forms of media expression and established contexts and norms for communicative interaction. Beyond gaming-specific contexts, the consequences of digital gaming in deeply mediatized societies influence various aspects of our social and cultural interactions (Kowert & Quandt, 2017). It is remarkable that while other new media-such as written culture, radio, television, the internet, and recently communicative AI (Hepp et al., 2023; McLuhan, 1995, 2011; Meyrowitz, 2005; Ong, 2012)-have been thoroughly researched and discussed for their societal impact from their inception, a similar perspective on gaming is lacking. Despite its widespread popularity and influence, gaming's effects on digital life, thinking, and orientation remain underexplored, even though its prominence and impact rivals that of earlier media innovations. Rather than delving into the reasons for this notable absence, this article aims to illustrate how a similar approach can be applied to understanding the transformative power of digital gaming within deeply mediatized societies.

Since the very advent of gaming from the rise of arcade culture (Kocurek, 2015) to the domestication of computer gaming (Haddon, 1992), peripheral media emerged. The proliferation of video game journalism, ranging from again community-based amateurism to professionalized editorial work falls into this category (Nieborg & Foxman, 2023; Perreault & Vos, 2020). Against this backdrop, digital gaming can be seen as an incubator of creative formats of public expression, from more traditional magazines and participatory television shows to live coverage of eSports events, from print to online portals and multimedia online content, and the hybridization between journalism and opinionated influencer-style communication (Nieborg & Foxman, 2023); highlighting some of the boundary work between journalism and interlopers (Eldridge, 2018). YouTube and streaming cultures where gamers record themselves playing and commenting on games, current affairs, and whatever else (Radde-Antweiler et al., 2014) created subcultures centered around gaming entertainment and commentary (Wolf, 2012). Platforms like Twitch, perpetuating practices from the early days of gaming, became global hubs for translocally organized gaming communities, fostering a sense of community and belonging beyond their territorial location (Hepp & Vogelgesang, 2008; Quandt & Wimmer, 2008; Selnow, 1984; Wolling et al., 2008). Additionally, under the concept of gamification, principles and elements of gaming are increasingly transferred to non-gaming contexts (e.g., health prevention and educational settings; Johnson et al., 2016; Raczkowski & Schrape, 2018; Walz & Deterding, 2015). Gaming therefore diffuses a more playful and experimental approach to the appropriation of new media formats or platforms with a much wider impact on society's communication practices than more technical pioneer groups such as DIY_MAKER (Wolf & Wudarski, 2018). Digital gaming has long since found its role as an accelerator and driver of the diffusion of new digital technologies into society, bringing about particular social and cultural formations-like the arcade (Kocurek, 2015)-or impacting existing formations and arrangements of mediated communication with their long-standing logics of inclusion or exclusion



(Kiesler et al., 1985). First, the computerization of the private home (Haddon, 1992), then the proliferation of gaming whilst on the go and its huge impact on the evolution of mobile devices, mobile and smartphones respectively, and currently digital gaming's role in penetrating society with virtual reality technologies (Foxman, 2021) and shaping an understanding of AI applications in playful contexts and beyond. Imminent and possible technological futures were presented at tech fairs (Schwarzenegger & Balbi, 2020) and gaming conventions (Trattner, 2020) where new games, consoles, and technologies are showcased to the world, influencing, and synchronizing digital gaming culture and trends globally. In this regard, digital gaming opens venues to engage with digital futures that might come about and the impact they might bring to our social world—on the level of technologies to engage with the imminent future as well as through the content of the games that is simulated within a game.

Digital games and gaming are located at the forefront of change in media culture and society, as the examples above demonstrate. Yet, digital games research often occupies an "odd place" within the broader disciplines in which it is conducted, as Chess and Consalvo (2022) have noted. The study of digital games and gaming is frequently relegated to niches, and the scholars involved often hold an outsider status—whether this status is imposed or embraced—engaging in activities that are seen as out of the ordinary and beyond the typical scope of their disciplines.

In this article, we advocate for a holistic perspective that shifts from analyzing games and gaming in a separate field and in a sort of self-sufficient seclusion to understanding digital gaming as an influential part of a deeply mediatized society that has consequences for its broader communicative practices and that therefore research on digital gaming should be an integral part of communication and media studies nowadays. This approach emphasizes the necessity to place digital gaming within digital media environments. We call out to researchers of deep mediatization in and beyond media and communication scholarship, emphasizing that research into deep mediatized societies can no longer ignore gaming studies and the rich research performed there, but has to include them as part of the research objective. We elaborate on the notion and concept of gamevironments (Radde-Antweiler et al., 2014) to research how our communicative practices and their contexts/situations transform through gaming (related) practices. Digital gaming is therefore portrayed as a focal point for media theoretical, practical, and ethical challenges, allowing us to derive insights into broader dimensions of digital transformation and life in a digital society. These dimensions include media appropriation, technology acceptance, social and individual consequences, new communication formats, innovative learning practices, implications for memory culture, and the mediation of discursive worldviews, knowledge, and values. The deep integration of gaming practices into everyday practices and social relationships, and their diverse intersections with other phenomena of media communication and digital transformation raise various communication, ethical, educational, and media scientific questions. This positions computer games and gaming as a comprehensive subject within communication and media studies, demanding transmedia, diachronic, situational, and long-term transformative perspectives on (dis)empowerment and (in)equality. Integrating digital games research with perspectives on media change and deep mediatization allows us to move from merely examining the consequences of games and gaming to exploring the emergence, maintenance, transformation, and occasional disappearance of phenomena, practices, and cultures within gamevironments. This opens new vistas for change in digital gaming, with digital gaming, and through digital gaming. So, let's level up and press start to continue.



2. Research Relevance on Change in Digital Gaming in a Deeply Mediatized Society

Media and communication research is somewhat obsessed with change and newness (Menke & Schwarzenegger, 2019). Speaking metaphorically, Driessens (2023) described change as the dominant gene immediately sticking out of the DNA of communication inquiry. Change is typically seen as both imminent and perpetual (Postill, 2012), and as Balbi (2023) has noted, for decades now, people have believed they are living in a time of digital revolution. It may be reassuring and comforting for people (and academics) to believe they are witnessing a decisive moment when the most profound changes are happening or about to happen. One of the main lenses to address change over time in media and communication research is the mediatization approach.

Within mediatization research, the technologies, interactions, and implications of digital gaming have largely played a subordinate role. While the scope of mediatization research has continuously expanded-recently encompassing the deep mediatization of culture and society (Hepp, 2020)-gaming has rarely caught significant attention. As Hepp, Bolin, et al. (2024) summarized the field's evolution beyond its origins in mass media research, "expanding its scope, mediatization research now delves into a wider range of cultural and societal domains, including fashion, war, sports, finance, and everyday life." Gaming can be seen as an element subsumed within the notion of everyday life (Kaun & Fast, 2014), but it is not explicitly mentioned or indexed. While it is broadly accepted that media and their infrastructures uniquely "weave" themselves into nearly all domains of social life, there is a notable absence of gaming-related studies in the inquiry of transforming communications in times of deep mediatization (Hepp, Breiter, & Hasebrink, 2018). We find this discomforting, not so much because a topic we care about does not find the attention we argue it deserves from media and communication scholars researching the digital transformation of media, culture, and society. Instead, we argue that digital gaming provides a prime example of the emergence, diffusion, and transformation of a media phenomenon in its entirety (Wolf & Wudarski, 2018). It is very rare that the life cycle of cultural and technological innovations can be observed in its completeness. Digital gaming would provide such a case, but it is not being adopted to its full potential by media and communication scholars.

The engagement with change over time and digital transformation in media and communication history—a field devoted to transformation in media, culture, and society—again demonstrates a suspicious absence of almost anything gaming-related (Balbi, Ribeiro, et al., 2021), unless gaming or digital games are the main focus of the work. A few notable exceptions appear to prove the rule (Balbi & Magaudda, 2018; Schwarzenegger et al., 2022; Stöber, 2013). For example, Jesper Verhoef's 1980s and 1990s media history manifesto (Verhoef, 2023), an enigmatic call to inquire the neglected histories of new technologies in these seminal decades, mentions Nintendo very briefly in a footnote but does not discuss Atari, Commodore, or Amiga—the powerful and fascinating gaming systems through which many people of those generations first encountered the potentials, joys, and conflicts that digital technologies could bring into their homes. This negligence becomes significant in its outcome: While gaming might not be decisive for many questions regarding digital transformation and change, its absence leaves an incomplete picture. We need to understand digital gaming and gaming-related or gaming-derived practices not only explicitly connected to core gaming but must additionally recognize the deep-rooted influence gaming might have on all other activities in a deeply mediatized world. Consequently, a perspective that takes the transformative power of digital gaming seriously not only addresses when and how people engage with digital gaming, but also what they do when they don't and how they do other things.



A world in which digital gaming exists is fundamentally different from one without it. This seemingly banal observation gains a significant trajectory when considered comprehensively within the context of media change and transformation. Following Balbi (2015), Scolari (2013, 2023), and others, we argue that the advent of new media, such as digital games, affects and transforms all pre-existing media within a media ecology. Digital games enter the media environment and not only carve out their place and role within this ecology, but also establish relationships with previously existing media forms and their users. This process changes the functions of media and user practices, forcing established media to adapt or redefine their unique purposes. Yet, importantly, imagining these developments as just the consequence of digital gaming would be shortsighted. Instead, we observe a complex interplay of emergence, expansion, and diffusion, sometimes of resistance and persistence against change (Balbi, Hagedoorn, et al., 2023). This interplay causes consequences on the one hand, but on the other, it opens a space of possibilities for new forms and formats to emerge, including those around older media:

As games and play move from the periphery of playgrounds, living rooms and arcade halls toward the center of our cultural, social and economic life, so cultural, social economic actors become interested in shaping an harnessing them for their purposes: other realms of life impress their forms on games and play. (Deterding, 2015)

Digital gaming, therefore, should be understood not only for its direct impact but also for its broader influence within the dynamic media landscape:

The point here is that video games and their tools are integral parts of the broader media industries. Companies have bought and sold products, processes, and ideas, attempting to crack the code on video games (so to speak) for two decades now, and the result is that video game content has diffused into everything. (Chess & Consalvo, 2022)

For instance, the emergence of digital gaming expands the options for media entertainment: Listening to music, reading, watching TV, or going to the movies are complemented by the option of gaming, thereby redefining their roles in users' repertoires of practices. Digital gaming introduces-and is introduced with (Moretti, 2023)-new expectations for the "good life" (Moretti, 2023), imaginations of the future, fantasies, desires, and experiences for those who can use the technology and play games, as well as for those who cannot afford gaming or lack interest. Actively rejecting gaming offers a path to distinction in the Bourdieusian sense, but it also necessitates thoughtful communication and self-positioning. This approach sets one apart while requiring careful navigation of social perceptions. When digital gaming exists in the world, whether we engage with it or not, it calls for a stance and expression. The world is changed by the presence of digital gaming, but how this change plays out, evolves, and is appropriated in different localities around the globe or within countries remains to be observed and clarified. The dissemination of home computer technology (for gaming purposes), gaming consoles, game genres, and more, results from the transnational flow of hardware, software, and information. This process makes visible the complex and diverse local appropriation of potentially global technologies and practices (Wasiak, 2014). The advent of digital gaming can illuminate political, legal, technological, and cultural influences in the making of "glocality" (Meyrowitz, 2005) in digital gaming-specific local expressions within the context of globalized communication on the one hand and local media systems and cultures on the other.



Generally speaking, the impact of digital gaming on society is often described with a focus on the consequences for players at an individual level, particularly during vulnerable stages of the human life cycle. This focus tends to highlight mostly detrimental effects, such as cognitive and psychological harm, violence, and addiction (Burkhardt & Lenhard, 2022; Kim et al., 2022; Wolf, 2007). Occasionally, beneficial consequences are noted, particularly in the context of informal learning and education (Clark et al., 2016; Ito et al., 2009; L.-H. Wang et al., 2022; Wolf & Wudarski, 2018). Also, collective consequences playing out for the whole of specific societies or social domains can be addressed, e.g., as studies about gamification demonstrate-although these studies tend to examine gamification more from an instructional (Sailer & Homner, 2020) or a managerial (Hammedi et al., 2021) point of view. In this trajectory, gaming and gamers have long been described with a sense of exceptionalism and formalism, treating them as "the other." This perspective then characterizes individuals, collectives, or domains primarily through their relationship to games and gaming, rather than considering games as just one strand of media engagement in hybrid media environments. Communication and media researchers have otherwise acknowledged that in media-saturated societies, it is not a single media offering that drives personal or social and cultural change. Instead, the role of specific media for society, collectives, or individuals should be assessed against the whole of the media environment, domain-specific media ensembles, and individually curated media repertoires through which people navigate and make sense of the digital realm and participate in digitalized societies. With gaming, it appears, we are not there yet. It is almost a constant of communication history that the advent of new communication technologies has perpetually been welcomed with reservations, resentments, and rejection as perilous. However, it is rather unique to games and gaming that communication and media studies as a collective body of knowledge production have only partially overcome this initial stage of concerned curiosity and cursoriness. Ignorance of games and gaming is still viable for communication studies engagement with (deep) mediatization of culture and society.

Therefore, we need a dual development: one that removes gaming from its segregated special status and recognizes it as an integral part of the media landscape, and another that situates the unique aspects of gaming within the broader context of society deeply transformed and shaped by media; capturing both its significance and its role as part of the whole. Only through this dual approach can we comprehensively understand and appropriately appreciate the role of gaming in a deeply mediatized society. The strong focus on the consequences of change brought about by media, however, may play out in peculiar ways with the case of gaming, but it is characteristic of how communication and media research and related fields address their subjects of interest. In a forthcoming article, Hepp (in press) argues that most research in media and communication studies revolves around the idea that the establishment of new media and infrastructures has consequences for culture and society. According to him, this leads to an implicit questioning of the consequences of these developments and innovations as a main orientation in the field. The alleged relevance of the phenomenon under investigation is then derived from its status as an integral part of a globalized media-related transformation. The research into consequences requires retrospective and reconstructive thinking that takes the influential factor as something that is given, e.g., through the innovation of new media technologies or practices and sees change as its consequence. In contrast to that, he advocates for a re-shifting of our focus from consequence to emergence. A concept of emergence underscores that media, infrastructures, related practices, and cultures do not just appear to then have consequences but that they arise and are socially (co-)constructed within specific social configurations that must be understood within their broader societal and cultural contexts. This entails studying the development of new media technologies as well as the transformations of culture and society, thereby



offering insights into the complex interrelationships between digital gaming and broader societal trends. Research should thus encompass both the study of the development of new media and communication technologies and the transformations of culture and society. Therefore, combined research into consequence and emergence is called for.

Digital gaming, in our understanding, provides a prime example to illustrate the potential of such an emergence approach, as it calls for perspectives that situate gaming in wider social contexts and as part of changing media environments and transformative societies. We propose a perspective on digital gaming that is capable of viewing gaming as part of a whole, anchored within the overall phenomena of deep mediatization and digital transformations of society. This approach recognizes that digital gaming itself:

- a) Generates its own emergent cultural and social formations and practices;
- b) Is disseminated through these formations and practices, spreads and expands further in the process of diffusion, and has consequences as it begins to play a role in societal (transformation) processes beyond gaming;
- c) Evolves and changes through influences from beyond gaming in a complex entanglement of technological, social, cultural, economic, and legal factors;
- d) Is related to the transformation and emergence of new cultural and social formations of media communication beyond digital games, including interactions with older media;
- e) Requires agency and effort to maintain and sustain themselves over time and in the face of technological, social, and cultural change;
- f) And, furthermore, this perspective acknowledges that singular cultural and social formations and practices may disappear because they become obsolete, are replaced by others, or merge into new forms, while new digital forms and formations of gaming can continuously emerge in an ongoing process of emergence.

Combining these elements requires a complex, holistic, context-sensitive, and long-term perspective, which we believe we have found in the concept of gamevironments for the case of digital gaming. Gamevironments can be understood and conceptualized as gaming-related communicative figurations (Radde-Antweiler, 2018). Change over time, the digital transformation of societies, and the refiguration of social life are characterized, driven, and shaped by the emergence and consequences of cultural and social formations and practices. Gamevironments can provide an understanding of the broader contexts and settings in which digital gaming-related change plays out. They allow us to identify and compare varying preconditions and outcomes for change and transformation, and they highlight the subtle changes related to gaming that extend beyond the realm of gaming itself.

3. Gamevironments as Gaming-Related Communicative Figurations

Gamevironments is a concept used to describe the dynamic media environments built around digital games, extending beyond the games themselves to encompass related media content, community interactions, and various forms of engagement. The notion was coined as a neologism bringing together gaming and environment, originally in the context of the study of religion and digital gaming, but can be expanded beyond this field (Radde-Antweiler, 2018; Radde-Antweiler et al., 2014). This concept encapsulates the broader ecosystem of media and cultural practices that emerge around games, involving transmedia



narratives, cross-media adaptations, social interactions, user-generated content, and the cultural and educational impacts of gaming.

Based on the deep mediatization concept, gamevironments adopt a research paradigm of a non-media-centered analysis of communicative processes (Hepp, Breiter, & Hasebrink, 2018). Instead of games, the (empirical) starting point and element of analysis are social domains, such as groups, communities, organizations, (sub)systems, life-worlds, social worlds, or even whole social fields (Hepp & "Communicative Figurations" research network, 2017). Every social domain has its own typical constellation of actors (Schimank, 2010), which describe all relevant actors, and their shared practices and relations to each other. Furthermore, a communicative figuration is characterized by a thematic framing that serves as a guiding topic. Based on that the gamevironments approach-instead of analyzing one-way media "influences"-focuses on (a) the transformations of communicative practices; (b) media changes and adaptations to communicative practices; as well as (c) consequences of these transformations, changes, and practices to the social subsystem(s) of the respective social domains. As a theoretical framework, the concept of communicative figurations helps to tackle fundamental problems of individuals' autonomy vs. mutual dependency of individuals and society, as well as the distinction between social change and structural change. According to the process sociology approach by Norbert Elias (Elias, 1978), every structural change can be understood as a transforming interrelation between individuals and society. Elias calls these dynamic networks as figurations of individuals (Elias, 1978). In the communicative figurations approach, the constellation of actors is analysed together with their communicative practices, to describe the processes of the communicative construction of social reality within specific social domains (Hepp & "Communicative Figurations" research network, 2017). Understanding gamevironments as gaming-related communicative figurations helps to research how trends within society that are related to digital gaming are evolving and connected to transformation processes. For example, the trend of differentiation that refers to the variety of technologically-based communication media is, nowadays, quite important in relation to digital gaming: Playing a game does not only contain the game-be it on a PC or on a console, but furthermore instant messaging services such as Discord, video streaming services for Let's Plays, and discussion forums, just to name a few. This is also connected to the other trend "increasing connectivity of and through these media" (Hepp & "Communicative Figurations" research network, 2017). Another important point becomes clear here: These trends have not only an impact on the field of digital gaming but also on other fields. Due to the specific requirements of gaming, new technological platforms such as instant messaging for example were developed, which were then also discovered and used for other areas.

Originally, the gamevironments concept was used to advocate for an actor-centered approach to digital gaming, rather than focusing too much on the artifact of games, their aesthetics and symbolism. However, since and beyond that, the concept was refined to incorporate even more gaming-related and gaming-inspired aspects of digital life worlds (Radde-Antweiler, 2018). In our understanding, gamevironments offer a unique lens to understanding the pervasive influence of digital gaming on various aspects of digital culture and communication, far beyond gaming. In a similar vein, Chess and Consalvo (2022) emphasize that the exploration of human interaction within virtual environments is essential and that the insights from game studies are vital and must inform broader communication and media studies in these areas. Following their argument, we agree that by examining the intersections of gaming with broader digital phenomena, we can uncover how elements of gaming resonate in diverse—sometimes unexpected and unlikely—areas. For instance, digital activism often adopts strategies and aesthetics from gaming, utilizing



game mechanics for engagement, gamifying participation, and creating immersive narratives to drive social change. Even extremist groups have exploited game environments to recruit, communicate, and strategize, highlighting how deeply gaming's influence can permeate. Political communication and news consumption are also affected; gamified elements in apps and platforms encourage user interaction and retention, shaping how people engage with information and political discourse. From social media platforms incorporating game-like features to news outlets adopting interactive storytelling, or not least monetization strategies, the principles of game design and gaming are embedded in the fabric of digital experiences far beyond what gamers do with their video games. Digital gaming, its design logics, mechanisms, logics, language, and practices have ceased to be the exceptional or the other but have become part of the inventory of life-worlds in deeply mediatized societies. For better or worse, they can no longer be studied in isolation. Along these lines, the argument that "digital gaming is just not for me" loses traction. If, as a communication and media scholar, you aspire to research the deep mediatization of society, the digital transformation of life-worlds and how media and media-related practices are woven into the very fabric of culture and society, digital gaming should matter to you because it matters to what you are researching:

Video games should matter to media studies scholars, broadly, because as convergence culture becomes less of a special case and more of an everyday reality, the medium itself matters less. Video games are dispersed throughout all industries, not just in overt ways but in subtler ways such as gamification in streaming services, and the increasing reliance on games as a part of transmedia storytelling. Video games, as a proper and defined medium, may not be relevant to everyone, but game studies analysis and theorization is relevant to the field, in subtle yet compelling ways. (Chess & Consalvo, 2022)

Understanding gamevironments allows us to see the intricate ways gaming shapes behaviors, interactions, and perceptions across various domains, providing a comprehensive view of its transformative impact on digital society. But beyond that, gamevironments are also a vessel to observe and research change, transformation, and refiguration of culture and society as part of the deep mediatization of society between the emergence and consequence of phenomena, cultures, social formations, and practices.

For studying gamevironments and using them as a framework to examine digital gaming-related phenomena as well as changes in media culture and society, we propose an agenda comprising several key research areas to explore their multifaceted impact on digital culture and society in three dimensions.

First, the making of gamevironments area focuses on the emergence, expansion, maintenance, and transformation of gaming-related media environments and cultures over time. It aims to understand how these environments and cultures were created. For instance, this includes the rise of early gaming communities sharing online dungeons or the subcultures that "played beyond the manual" (Schäfer, 2006). Examples include the cracker-warez scene, the demoscene (Hartmann, 2017; Polgár, 2008), hacking (Gül Erdogan, 2021), community of practice building (Wolf, 2007), phreaking, and the ASCII art scene using the Commodore 64 and Amiga. These cultural formations contributed to the proliferation and expansion of gamevironments. Additionally, the evolution of games journalism as part of gamevironments, and the many stages of transformation it has undergone.

Secondly, the values in and of gamevironments area examines how values, social norms, imaginations of the good life, future visions, and ethical frameworks are portrayed, disseminated, and integrated into society



through games and around games. Grieve et al. (2020) stress that game rules, narratives, and design, as well as gaming as such, are deeply connected to decision-making processes and with specific values that give meaning to the gamers' decisions. Games then trigger the discussion of ethical and moral behavior. For example, the ethical dilemmas in games illustrate how games can shape players' understanding of moral complexities. Furthermore, games promote values of community, cooperation, and sustainable living. How games are presented, advertised, and normalized, and what values and vision of how we should strive to live are implemented in the process is also an area of inquiry. Moretti (2023), for instance, has investigated how gaming advertisements in the 1980s and 1990s have helped spread a neoliberal mindset around gaming. More recently, the potential of digital gaming to advocate for climate awareness finds scrutiny in the context of environmental-friendly gaming and ecogames (Beke et al., 2024).

And third, the governance of gamevironments strand investigates how governance—by developers, external regulators, and user communities—shapes gaming environments (Eccleston & Gray, 2013; Vasiliev et al., 2023). It seeks to uncover the impact of policies, didactical design (Wolf, 2012), and rules on these spaces, such as content moderation policies affecting online gaming communities. Questions regarding which elements of a game can be copyright protected, which are free to share and redistribute, and what limitations legal frameworks impose on creative processes are of relevance here. Additionally, it explores how governance addresses unruly actors within gamevironments, such as cheaters, glitch-users, and gold farmers. The study of governance in gamevironments demonstrates their dynamic and conflict-ridden nature, contributing to the continuous emergence of new cultural and social formations on two levels: education in and for gamevironments, and researching gamevironments.

In regards to education in and for gamevironments, this area looks at the educational potential of games and their use in learning environments. It aims to leverage the engagement factor of games to enhance educational outcomes, such as through gamified educational platforms that improve student engagement and retention. For example, games like Minecraft: Education Edition (Bar-El & E. Ringland, 2020) and platforms like Kahoot! (A. I. Wang & Tahir, 2020) illustrate how gaming can be integrated into educational settings to promote interactive and immersive learning experiences. Moreover, it also considers unintended educational outcomes, such as how players learn technical skills through activities like modding, optimizing gaming PCs, or game development (Acevedo, 2021; Valdez et al., 2023; Wolf & Wudarski, 2018).

As for researching gamevironments, this area addresses the specific methodological challenges associated with studying gamevironments. It involves developing and refining interdisciplinary methods and innovative data collection techniques to study the complex interactions within these environments. While communication and media research are well-equipped for studying consequences, the study of emergence and transformation remains a challenge. This area seeks to overcome these challenges by advancing methodologies that capture the dynamic and evolving nature of gamevironments.

By exploring these dimensions, we aim to grasp how digital gaming serves as an extraordinary catalyst for change while becoming an ordinary aspect of daily life. We see the potential of gamevironments as a framework to focus and reflect on who and what serves as agents of change within gamevironments, how their agendas influence the making of gamevironments, and what formations emerge, transform, disappear, or are reconfigured within and outside gamevironments across cultures, technological environments, and infrastructures in different times and places. Through this comprehensive approach, we seek to understand



how digital gaming reconfigures media consumption, social interactions, and cultural narratives, driving transformation and signaling broader societal shifts toward digital futures.

4. Conclusion

In this article, we argued that digital gaming should not be understood as an isolated phenomenon or "the other stuff" separate from the media we as communication and media scholars have long explored with seriousness and dedication. The transformative power of digital gaming in deeply mediatized societies influences various aspects of all our social and cultural interactions. Therefore, it must be understood both as a distinct entity and as a crucial part of the overall media environment. By recognizing its pervasive influence, we can better comprehend the full scope of its impact on contemporary media practices and societal transformations.

By integrating digital games research with perspectives on media change and deep mediatization, we have moved from merely examining the consequences of games and gaming to exploring the emergence, maintenance, transformation, and occasional disappearance of phenomena, practices, and cultures within gamevironments. The research we suggest opens new vistas for change in digital gaming, with digital gaming, and through digital gaming. We advocate for a comprehensive perspective on digital gaming, one that considers its multifaceted impact within the broader context of media and societal transformations putting it at the forefront of change. This holistic approach, embodied in the concept of gamevironments, emphasizes the interconnectedness of digital gaming with other media forms and cultural practices. By adopting this perspective in communication and media studies (with an emphasis on change), we can better grasp the complex interplay between digital gaming and broader societal dynamics. In conclusion, our work suggests shifting the focus from games research to the transformative power of digital gaming in deeply mediatized societies, emphasizing its role as both a distinct entity and a crucial part of the overall media environment.

Acknowledgments

Thanks to the academic editors and reviewers for their thorough and careful work on this thematic issue.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declares no conflicts of interests.

References

- Aasman, S., Heijden, T. V. D., & Slootweg, T. (2021). Amateurism: Exploring its multiple meanings in the age of film, video, and digital media. In G. Balbi, N. Ribeiro, V. Schafer, & C. Schwarzenegger (Eds.), *Digital roots* (pp. 245–266). De Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110740202-014
- Acevedo, A. L. (2021). Gaming in education. In I. Jaafar & J. M. Pedersen (Eds.), *Emerging realities and the future of technology in the classroom* (pp. 85–101). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-6480-6.ch006
- Balbi, G. (2015). Old and new media: Theorizing their relationships in media historiography. In S. Kinnebrock,C. Schwarzenegger, & T. Birkner (Eds.), *Theorien des Medienwandels* (pp. 231–249). Halem.
- Balbi, G. (2023). The digital revolution: A short history of an ideology. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/oso/9780198875970.001.0001
- Balbi, G., Hagedoorn, B., Haydari, N., Schafer, V., & Schwarzenegger, C. (2023). Media persistence: Theories, approaches, categorization. *Studies in Communication Sciences*, 23(3), 299–31. https://doi.org/10.24434/ j.scoms.2023.03.4620



Balbi, G., & Magaudda, P. (2018). A history of digital media: An intermedia and global perspective. Taylor & Francis.

- Balbi, G., Ribeiro, N., Schafer, V., & Schwarzenegger, C. (Eds.). (2021). Digital roots: Historicizing media and communication concepts of the digital age. De Gruyter.
- Bar-El, D., & E. Ringland, K. (2020). Crafting game-based learning: An analysis of lessons for Minecraft education edition. In G. N. Yannakakis, A. Liapis, P. Kyburz, V. Volz, F. Khosmood, & P. Lopes (Eds.), FDG '20: Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on the Foundations of Digital Games (Article 90). ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/3402942.3409788
- Beke, L., Raessens, J., Werning, S., & Farca, G. (Eds.). (2024). *Ecogames: Playful perspectives on the climate crisis*. Amsterdam University Press.
- Burkhardt, J., & Lenhard, W. (2022). A Meta-analysis on the longitudinal, age-dependent effects of violent video games on aggression. *Media Psychology*, 25(3), 499–512. https://doi.org/10.1080/15213269.2021. 1980729
- Chess, S., & Consalvo, M. (2022). "The future of media studies is game studies." *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, 39(3), 159–164. https://doi.org/10.1080/15295036.2022.2075025
- Clark, D. B., Tanner-Smith, E. E., & Killingsworth, S. S. (2016). Digital Games, design, and learning: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(1), 79–122. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315582065
- Deterding, S. (2015). 1. The ambiguity of games: Histories and discourses of a gameful world. In S. P. Walz & S. Deterding (Eds.), *The gameful world* (pp. 23–64). The MIT Press. https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/9788.003.0004
- Driessens, O. (2023). Not everything is changing: On the relative neglect and meanings of continuity in communication and social change research. *Communication Theory*, *33*(1), 32–41. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/ct/qtac022

Eccleston, R., & Gray, F. (2013). Five political realities of gaming regulation. Gambling Research, 25(1), 18-24.

- Eldridge, S. A. (2018). Online journalism from the periphery: Interloper media and the journalistic field. Routledge; Taylor & Francis.
- Elias, N. (1978). What is sociology? Hutchinson.
- Engelstätter, B., & Ward, M. R. (2022). Video games become more mainstream. *Entertainment Computing*, 42, Article 100494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.entcom.2022.100494
- Foxman, M. (2021). Making the virtual a reality: Playful work and playbour in the diffusion of innovations. *Digital Culture & Society*, 7(1), 91–110. https://doi.org/10.14361/dcs-2021-0107
- Gee, E. R., & Tran, K. M. (2016). Video game making and modding. In B. Guzzetti & M. Lesley (Eds.), *Handbook* of research on the societal impact of digital media (pp. 238–267). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-8310-5
- Goh, E., Al-Tabbaa, O., & Khan, Z. (2023). Unravelling the complexity of the video game industry: An integrative framework and future research directions. *Telematics and Informatics Reports*, *12*, Article 100100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teler.2023.100100
- Grieve, G. P., Radde-Antweiler, K., & Zeiler, X. (2020). Paradise Lost: Value formation as an analytical concept for the study of gamevironments. *gamevironments*, *12*, 77–113. https://doi.org/10.26092/elib/179
- Gül Erdogan, J. (2021). Avantgarde der Computernutzung Hackerkulturen der Bundesrepublik und DDR. Wallstein.
- Haddon, L. (1992). Explaining ICT consumption: The case of the home computer. In R. Silverstone & E. Hirsch (Eds.), *Consuming technologies: Media and information in domestic spaces* (pp. 82–96). Routledge.
- Hammedi, W., Leclercq, T., Poncin, I., & Alkire, L. (2021). Uncovering the dark side of gamification at work: Impacts on engagement and well-being. *Journal of Business Research*, 122, 256–269. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.08.032



Hartmann, D. (2017). Digital art natives: Praktiken, Artefakte und Strukturen der Computer-Demoszene. Kulturverlag Kadmos.

Hepp, A. (2020). Deep mediatization. Routledge.

- Hepp, A. (in press). Figurationen digitaler Zukünfte oder: Warum wir eine Medien-und Kommunikationsforschung der Emergenz brauchen. Berliner Journal für Soziologie.
- Hepp, A., Bolin, G., Guzman, A., & Loosen, W. (2024). Mediatization and human-machine communication: Trajectories, discussions, perspectives. *Human-Machine Communication*, 7, 7–21. https://doi.org/ 10.30658/hmc.7.1
- Hepp, A., Breiter, A., & Hasebrink, U. (Eds.). (2018). Communicative figurations: Transforming communications in times of deep mediatization. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-65584-0
- Hepp, A., & "Communicative Figurations" research network. (2017). Transforming communications: Media-related changes in times of deep mediatization (Communicative Figurations Working Paper No. 16). Universität Bremen.
- Hepp, A., Loosen, W., Dreyer, S., Jarke, J., Kannengießer, S., Katzenbach, C., Malaka, R., Pfadenhauer, M. P., Puschmann, C., & Schulz, W. (2023). ChatGPT, LaMDA, and the hype around communicative AI: The automation of communication as a field of research in media and communication studies. *Human-Machine Communication*, 6, 41–63. https://doi.org/10.30658/hmc.6.4
- Hepp, A., & Vogelgesang, W. (2008). Die LAN-Szene. In T. Quandt, J. Wimmer, & J. Wolling (Eds.), *Die Computerspieler* (pp. 97–112). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-531-90823-6_6
- Ito, M., Antin, J., Finn, M., Law, A., Manion, A., Mitnick, S., Schlossberg, D., Yardi, S., & Horst, H. A. (2009). Hanging out, messing around, and geeking out: Kids living and learning with new media. The MIT Press.
- Johnson, D., Deterding, S., Kuhn, K.-A., Staneva, A., Stoyanov, S., & Hides, L. (2016). Gamification for health and wellbeing: A systematic review of the literature. *Internet Interventions*, *6*, 89–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.invent.2016.10.002
- Kaun, A., & Fast, K. (2014). Mediatization of culture and everyday life. Södertörn University.
- Kiesler, S., Sproull, L., & Eccles, J. S. (1985). Pool halls, chips, and war games: Women in the culture of computing. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 9(4), 451–462. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.1985. tb00895.x
- Kim, H. S., Son, G., Roh, E.-B., Ahn, W.-Y., Kim, J., Shin, S.-H., Chey, J., & Choi, K.-H. (2022). Prevalence of gaming disorder: A meta-analysis. *Addictive Behaviors*, 126, Article 107183. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.addbeh.2021.107183
- Kocurek, C. A. (2015). Coin-operated Americans: Rebooting boyhood at the video game arcade. University of Minnesota Press.
- Kowert, R., & Quandt, T. (2017). New perspectives on the social aspects of digital gaming: Multiplayer 2. Routledge. McLuhan, M. (1995). Understanding media: The extensions of man (2nd printing). The MIT Press.
- McLuhan, M. (2011). The Gutenberg galaxy: The making of typographic man (1st ed.). University of Toronto Press.
- Menke, M., & Schwarzenegger, C. (2019). On the relativity of old and new media: A lifeworld perspective. *Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies*, 25(4), 657–672. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354856519834480
- Meyrowitz, J. (2005). The rise of glocality: New senses of place and identity in the global village. In K. Nyiri (Ed.), A sense of place: The global and the local in mobile communication (pp. 21–30). Passagen Verlag.
- Moretti, M. (2023). Keeping up with Atari: Neoliberal expectations in early electronics advertising. *TMG Journal* for Media History, 26(2), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.18146/tmg.847
- Nieborg, D. B., & Foxman, M. (2023). Mainstreaming and game journalism. The MIT Press.



Ong, W. J. (2012). Orality and literacy: The technologizing of the word (3rd ed.). Routledge.

- Perreault, G., & Vos, T. (2020). Metajournalistic discourse on the rise of gaming journalism. *New Media & Society*, 22(1), 159–176. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444819858695
- Polgár, T. (2008). Freax. A brief history of the demoscene. CSW-Verlag.
- Postill, J. (2012). Media and social changing since 1979: Towards a diachronic ethnography of media and actual social changes. Unpublished manuscript. https://johnpostill.wordpress.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/medsocchang1979-dr51.pdf
- Quandt, T., & Wimmer, J. (2008). Online-Spieler in Deutschland 2007. In T. Quandt, J. Wimmer, & J. Wolling (Eds.), *Die Computerspieler* (pp. 169–192). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-531-90823-6_10
- Raczkowski, F., & Schrape, N. (2018). Gamification. In B. Beil, T. Hensel, & A. Rauscher (Eds.), *Game studies* (pp. 313–329). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-13498-3_17
- Radde-Antweiler, K. (2018). Religion as communicative figurations—Analyzing religion in times of deep mediatization. In K. Radde-Antweiler & X. Zeiler (Eds.), Mediatized religion in Asia: Studies on digital media and religion (pp. 209–233). Routledge.
- Radde-Antweiler, K., Waltemathe, M., & Zeiler, X. (2014). Video gaming, let's plays, and religion: The relevance of researching gamevironments. *gamevironments*, 1(1), 1–36.
- Sailer, M., & Homner, L. (2020). The gamification of learning: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 32(1), 77–112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-019-09498-w
- Schäfer, M. T. (2006). Spielen jenseits der Gebrauchsanweisung. Partizipation als Output des Konsums softwarebasierter Produkte. In B. Neitzel & R. F. Nohr (Eds.), Das Spiel mit dem Medium: Partizipation, Immersion, Interaktion (pp. 296–310). Schüren.
- Schimank, U. (2010). Handeln und Strukturen. Einführung in die akteurstheoretische Soziologie. Juventa.
- Schwarzenegger, C., & Balbi, G. (2020). When the 'Messiah' went to 'Mecca': Envisioning and reporting the digital future at the CeBIT tech fair (1986–2018). *Convergence*, *26*(4), 716–731. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1354856520909528
- Schwarzenegger, C., Koenen, E., Pentzold, C., Birkner, T., & Katzenbach, C. (Eds.). (2022). Digitale Kommunikation und Kommunikationsgeschichte: Perspektiven, Potentiale, Problemfelder. Digital Communication Research. https://doi.org/10.48541/dcr.v10.0
- Scolari, C. A. (2013). Media evolution: Emergence, dominance, survival, and extinction in the media ecology. *International Journal of Communication*, *7*, 1418–1441.
- Scolari, C. A. (2023). On the evolution of media: Understanding media change. Routledge. https://doi.org/ 10.4324/9781003215233
- Selnow, G. W. (1984). Playing videogames: The electronic friend. *Journal of Communication*, 34(2), 148–156. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1984.tb02166.x
- Stöber, R. (2013). Neue Medien: Geschichte: von Gutenberg bis Apple und Google: Medieninnovation und Evolution. Edition Lumière.
- Thomas, D., & Brown, J. S. (2011). A new culture of learning: Cultivating the imagination for a world of constant change. CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform.
- Trattner, K. (2020). Politics at the heart of gaming. A critical retrospective of gamescom 2019. *gamevironments*, 12, 144–156.
- Valdez, P. N., Mariano, J., & Cordova, M. S. G. (2023). Using mobile gaming in virtual physical education: Challenges and opportunities. Scholarship of Teaching and Learning in the South, 7(2), Article 2. https:// doi.org/10.36615/sotls.v7i2.356



- Vasiliev, A., Arkhipov, V., Andreev, N., & Pechatnova, Y. (2023). Computer games vs law: Virtualization and transformation of political and legal institutions. *Legal Issues in the Digital Age*, 4(1), 77–92. https://doi.org/ 10.17323/2713-2749.2023.1.77.92
- Verhoef, J. (2023). A 1980s and 1990s media history manifesto. TMG Journal for Media History, 26(2), 1–34. https://doi.org/10.18146/tmg.878
- Walz, S. P., & Deterding, S. (Eds.). (2015). The gameful world: Approaches, issues, applications. The MIT Press. https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/9788.001.0001
- Wang, A. I., & Tahir, R. (2020). The effect of using Kahoot! for learning—A literature review. *Computers & Education*, 149, Article 103818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103818
- Wang, L.-H., Chen, B., Hwang, G.-J., Guan, J.-Q., & Wang, Y.-Q. (2022). Effects of digital game-based STEM education on students' learning achievement: A meta-analysis. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 9(1), Article 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-022-00344-0
- Wasiak, P. (2014). Playing and copying: Social practices of home computer users in Poland during the 1980s. In G. Alberts & R. Oldenziel (Eds.), *Hacking Europe* (pp. 129–150). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-5493-8_6
- Wimmer, J. (2012). Digital game culture(s) as prototype(s) of mediatization and commercialization of society: The world cyber games 2008 in Cologne as an example. In J. Fromme & A. Unger (Eds.), *Computer games and new media cultures*: A handbook of digital games studies (pp. 525–540). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-94-007-2777-9_33
- Wolf, K. D. (2007). Communities of practice in MMORPGs: An entry point into addiction? In C. Steinfield,
 B. T. Pentland, M. Ackerman, & N. Contractor, (Eds.), *Communities and Technologies* 2007 (pp. 191–208).
 Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-84628-905-7_10
- Wolf, K. D. (2012). The instructional design and motivational mechanisms of World of Warcraft. In J. Fromme & A. Unger (Eds.), Computer games and new media cultures (pp. 557–569). Springer. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-94-007-2777-9_35
- Wolf, K. D., & Wudarski, U. (2018). Communicative figurations of expertization: DIY_MAKER and multi-player online gaming (MOG) as cultures of amateur learning. In A. Hepp, A., Breiter, & U. Hasebrink (Eds.), *Communicative figurations* (pp. 123–149). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-65584-0_6
- Wolling, J., Quandt, T., & Wimmer, J. (2008). Warum Computerspieler mit dem Computer spielen. In T. Quandt, J. Wimmer, & J. Wolling (Eds.), *Die Computerspieler* (pp. 13–21). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-531-90823-6_1

About the Authors



Christian Schwarzenegger is professor of communication and media studies with a focus on media change at the University of Bremen. He heads the Media Change and Longterm Transformation Processes lab at the Centre for Media and Communication Research (ZeMKI). His research focuses on public sphere research, in particular digital and alternative public spheres, emergence, transformation, and disappearance of media cultures, digital gaming and media change, theory and history of digital media, and qualitative methods of communication and media research.





Erik Koenen is senior lecturer (in interim) at the Centre for Media and Communication Research (ZeMKI) at the University of Bremen. His research focuses on digital methods and methodologies in communication and media research, contexts, processes, and structures of the emergence of digital media cultures, media and communication history, media usage in the context of media change and long-term transformations of journalism, political communication, and the public sphere in transnational contexts.



Kerstin Radde-Antweiler is professor of religious studies with a focus on media and religion at the University of Bremen. She heads the Media and Religion lab at the Centre for Media and Communication Research (ZeMKI). Her research focuses on a dual perspective: On the one hand, current as well as religious discourses and their authorities are shaped by media; on the other hand, religious practices are always also media practices and religious identities are always media identities likewise.



Karsten D. Wolf is professor of media education and didactic design of multimedia learning environments at the University of Bremen. He heads the Media and Educational lab at the Centre for Media and Communication Research (ZeMKI). His research focuses on audiovisual educational spaces, explanatory videos, communicative figurations of informal learning, digital gaming and education, teaching experience research, and AI for formative feedback.



MEDIA AND COMMUNICATION ISSN: 2183-2439

Media and Communication is an international, peer-reviewed open access journal dedicated to a wide variety of basic and applied research in communication and its related fields. It aims at providing a research forum on the social and cultural relevance of media and communication processes.

The journal is concerned with the social development and contemporary transformation of media and communication and critically reflects on their interdependence with global, individual, media, digital, economic and visual processes of change and innovation.



www.cogitatiopress.com/mediaandcommunication